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1.

Press release and subsequent events to the May 31, 2018 (filing
date of the first update to the 2017 Registration Document)

1.1

Press release on June 26, 2018

Groupe BPCE launches a project geared to
Integrating Crédit Foncier’s activities and teams into
the Group
Paris, June 26, 2018
Groupe BPCE is keen to respond fully to the new requirements of the real-estate
finance sector and its customers. It is therefore seeking to combine Crédit Foncier’s
competencies and expertise with the know-how of the Banques Populaires and
Caisses d’Epargne banks throughout France regions and with that of Natixis, Banque
Palatine and BPCE SA.
This integration project stems from recognition that the pure real-estate financing model is no
longer competitive or suited to circumstances. This is primarily due to the model’s nonprovision of banking services to customers and its reliance on refinancing solely on financial
markets.
Groupe BPCE is therefore seeking to adapt its organization to the new requirements of the
realestate finance market to better meet customers’ expectations, use of new technology,
competition from new players and the need to set up comprehensive industrial processes
underpinned by new digital tools, including virtual assistants.
With this project, Groupe BPCE’s Supervisory Board and Crédit Foncier’s Board of Directors
having approved the project in principle today, Groupe BPCE intends to consolidate its market
share in France, which currently exceeds 25% of all real-estate lending in France.
The proposed new organization would cement the Group’s leadership on real-estate finance
markets, by combining the competencies and many talents of Crédit Foncier with the power of
the Banque Populaire and Caisse d’Epargne networks throughout France. Execution of the
project would comply with two requirements:


the Group aims to maintain and strengthen its presence with all categories of
customers, first and foremost with those wishing to purchase their first home and
particularly in the subsidized sector;



the integration of Crédit Foncier employees within other Groupe BPCE companies would
proceed in a socially responsible manner, in accordance with the companies’ traditions.
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Comprehensive integration of expertise and talents
The new organization would be underpinned by the integration of Crédit Foncier’s know-how
and expertise into Groupe BPCE’s companies from three angles:
1- New production of loans would be redeployed in the Group’s banks:


Financing activities for individuals would be integrated into the Banques Populaires and
Caisses d’Epargne banks, and coupled with an offer of banking services to new
customers;



Corporate financing activities would be redeployed within the Banques Populaires and
Caisses d’Epargne banks for social housing and within Natixis for project and
infrastructure finance.



Socfim, which would become a subsidiary of BPCE S.A, would be positioned as a
fullservice corporate real-estate finance player, by grouping together long-term finance
for real-estate professionals with that for developers.



Crédit Foncier Immobilier, the real-estate services, expertise and commercialization
subsidiary, would become a subsidiary of BPCE SA and work on behalf of the whole
Group.

During the transition phase, commercial activity with Crédit Foncier’s clients and partners
would continue as normal.
2- Groupe BPCE would capitalize on the specific expertise of Crédit Foncier’s teams:




by creating a national platform for driving real-estate partnerships;
by developing a digital platform offering a full loan-subscription experience;
by reinforcing the Group’s national loan monitoring and management platform.

3 – Crédit Foncier would be refocused on two objectives:
 refinancing the Groupe via Compagnie de Financement Foncier, which would itself be
repositioned on refinancing public sector assets.
 managing the existing portfolio of loans until their maturity.
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A socially responsible process offering a solution for each member of
staff
In accordance with the culture of social dialogue that has always prevailed within Groupe BPCE
and Crédit Foncier, the proposed project would provide a solution for each staff member based
on the following engagements:


All personnel whose positions would become redundant would be offered a position
within a Groupe BPCE company (Banques Populaires, Caisses d’Epargne, Natixis,
Banque Palatine, BPCE SA). This position would be of the same nature, of an equivalent
classification and in the same local job market;



On a voluntary basis and for staff members presenting a project that envisages their
future outside the Group, Crédit Foncier would also open an Employment Protection
Plan (Plan de Sauvegarde de l’Emploi).



Crédit Foncier staff called upon to manage the existing portfolio of loans would benefit
over time from the same financial measures earmarked initially.



In order to support staff in their mobility within the Group and offer them the best
integration possible, the project aims to provide them with an ambitious and
personalized multi-year training plan geared to rounding out their expertise.

Following constructive internal dialogue, the project’s announcement underlines the Group’s
ability to put together a lasting solution backed by all stakeholders and designed to integrate
the activities, know-how and competencies of Crédit Foncier’s teams into the Banques
Populaires and the Caisses d’Epargne banks, Natixis, Banque Palatine and BPCE SA.
Groupe BPCE is committing to this project at a time when its financial solidity, prospects and
results provide a strong platform to support this change in the best possible conditions.
The project has been presented to union organizations representing Crédit Foncier staff. It will
be subject to an information-consultation process involving the works councils of Crédit Foncier
and of the Group entities concerned.
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2.

Update to chapter 2 Report on corporate governance

New composition of the Supervisory Board:
At its meeting on June 19, 2018, BPCE’s Supervisory Board:
•
accepted the resignation of André Joffre, member of the Supervisory Board, member of
the Appointments Committee, and member of the Remuneration Committee, effective at the
close of the Supervisory Board’s meeting;
•
appointed Gérard Bellemon as member of the Supervisory Board, member of the
Appointments Committee, and member of the Remuneration Committee, for the remainder of
his predecessor’s term of office, i.e. until the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting convened
to approve the financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2020;
•
accepted the resignation of Dominique Martinie as non-voting director of BPCE’s
Supervisory Board, effective June 6, 2018; and then appointed André Joffre as non-voting
director of the Supervisory Board for the remainder of his term as Chairman of the Fédération
Nationale des Banques Populaires;
•
appointed Jean Arondel, Chairman of the Fédération Nationale des Caisses d’Epargne,
as Chairman of the Cooperative and CSR Committee for a period of two years i.e. until no later
than June 30, 2020.
At its meeting on August 2, 2018, BPCE’s Supervisory Board:
•
accepted the resignation of Marwan Lahoud, independent member of the Supervisory
Board, Chairman of the Audit Committee, and member of the Risk Committee, effective at the
close of the Supervisory Board meeting on June 19, 2018;
•
appointed Kadidja Sinz as independent member of the Supervisory Board, Chairman of
the Audit Committee, and member of the Risk Committee, for the remainder of her
predecessor’s term of office, i.e. until the Annual Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting
convened to approve the financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2020;
•
accepted the resignation of Astrid Boos, member of the Supervisory Board and member
of the Appointments and Remuneration committees, effective June 23, 2018;
•
appointed Dominique Goursolle-Nouhaud as member of the Supervisory Board, member
of the Appointments Committee, and member of the Remuneration Committee, for the
remainder of her predecessor’s term of office, i.e. until the Annual Ordinary General
Shareholders’ Meeting convened to approve the financial statements for the year ending
December 31, 2020;
•
accepted the resignation of Pierre Desvergnes, member of the Supervisory Board and
member of the Appointments and Remuneration Committees, effective June 27, 2018;
•
appointed Bernard Dupouy as member of the Supervisory Board, member of the
Appointments Committee, and member of the Remuneration Committee, for the remainder of
his predecessor’s term of office, i.e. until the Annual Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting
convened to approve the financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2023;
As a result, the new composition of the Supervisory Board is as follows:
As representatives of category A shareholders:
•
Nicolas Plantrou, Chairman of the Steering and Supervisory Board of Caisse d’Epargne
Normandie, Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board of BPCE since May 19, 2017;
•
Catherine Amin-Garde, Chairman
Caisse d’Epargne Loire Drôme Ardèche;

of

the

Steering

and

Supervisory

Board

of

•
Dominique Goursolle-Nouhaud, Chairman of the Steering and Supervisory Board of
Caisse d’Epargne Aquitaine Poitou-Charentes;
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•
Françoise Lemalle, Chairman of the Steering and Supervisory Board of Caisse d’Epargne
Côte d’Azur;
•

Stéphanie Paix, Chairman of the Management Board of Caisse d’Epargne Rhône Alpes;

•

Didier Patault, Chairman of the Management Board of Caisse d’Epargne Ile-de-France;

•
Pierre Valentin, Chairman of the Steering and Supervisory Board of Caisse d’Epargne
Languedoc-Roussillon.
As representatives of category B shareholders:
•
Michel Grass, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Bourgogne
Franche-Comté, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of BPCE since May 19, 2017;
•
Gérard Bellemon, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Val de
France;
•
Thierry Cahn, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Alsace Lorraine
Champagne;
•

Alain Condaminas, Chief Executive Officer of Banque Populaire Occitane;

•
Bernard Dupouy, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Aquitaine
Centre Atlantique;
•

Yves Gevin, Chief Executive Officer of Banque Populaire Rives de Paris;

•

Catherine Mallet, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Occitane.

As independent members:
•

Maryse Aulagnon, independent member, Chairman of Groupe Affine;

•

Anne-Claude Pont, independent member, Chairman, and co-founder of WILOV;

•

Kadidja Sinz, independent member, Europe director of Liberty Specialty Market.

As employee representatives:
•

Vincent Gontier;

•

Frédéric Hassaine.

As non-voting directors:
•
André Joffre, non-voting director, Chairman of the Fédération Nationale des Banques
Populaires;
•
Jean Arondel, non-voting director, Chairman of the Fédération Nationale des Caisses
d’Epargne;
•
Pierre Carli, non-voting director, Chairman of the Management Board of Caisse
d’Epargne Midi-Pyrénées;
•

Joël Chassard, non-voting director, Chairman of the Management Board of CEPAC;

•
Dominique Garnier, non-voting director, Chief Executive Officer of Banque Populaire
Aquitaine Centre Atlantique, since May 9, 2017;
•
Daniel Karyotis, non-voting director, Chief Executive Officer of Banque Populaire
Auvergne Rhône Alpes.
As such, the new composition of the Supervisory Board committees is as follows:
Supervisory Board Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is chaired by Kadidja Sinz, independent member, Europe director of
Liberty Specialty Market.
The other members of the Audit Committee are:
•
Thierry Cahn, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Alsace Lorraine
Champagne;
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•

Yves Gevin, Chief Executive Officer of Banque Populaire Rives de Paris;

•

Anne-Claude Pont, independent member, Chairman, and co-founder of WILOV;

•

Didier Patault, Chairman of the Management Board of Caisse d’Epargne Ile-de-France;

•
Pierre Valentin, Chairman of the Steering and Supervisory Board of Caisse d’Epargne
Languedoc-Roussillon.
Supervisory Board Risk Committee
The Risk Committee is chaired by Anne-Claude Pont, independent member, Chairman, and cofounder of WILOV.
The other members of the Risk Committee are:
•

Alain Condaminas, Chief Executive Officer of Banque Populaire Occitane;

•
Françoise Lemalle, Chairman of the Steering and Supervisory Board of Caisse d’Epargne
Côte d’Azur;
•

Stéphanie Paix, Chairman of the Management Board of Caisse d’Epargne Rhône Alpes;

•

Kadidja Sinz, independent member, Europe director of Liberty Specialty Market.

Supervisory Board Appointments Committee
The Appointments Committee is chaired by Maryse Aulagnon, independent member and
Chairman of Affine.
The other members of the Appointments Committee are:
•
Catherine Amin-Garde, Chairman
Caisse d’Epargne Loire Drôme Ardèche;

of

the

Steering

and

Supervisory

Board

of

•
Gérard Bellemon, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Val de
France;
•
Bernard Dupouy, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Aquitaine
Centre Atlantique;
•

Yves Gevin, Chief Executive Officer of Banque Populaire Rives de Paris;

•
Dominique Goursolle-Nouhaud, Chairman of the Steering and Supervisory Board of
Caisse d’Epargne Aquitaine Poitou-Charentes;
•

Didier Patault, Chairman of the Management Board of Caisse d’Epargne Ile-de-France.

Supervisory Board Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Maryse Aulagnon, independent member and
Chairman of Affine.
The other members of the Remuneration Committee are:
•
Catherine Amin-Garde, Chairman
Caisse d’Epargne Loire Drôme Ardèche;

of

the

Steering

and

Supervisory

Board

of

•
Gérard Bellemon, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Val de
France;
•
Bernard Dupouy, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Aquitaine
Centre Atlantique;
•

Yves Gevin, Chief Executive Officer of Banque Populaire Rives de Paris;

•

Vincent Gontier, employee representative;

•
Dominique Goursolle-Nouhaud, Chairman of the Steering and Supervisory Board of
Caisse d’Epargne Aquitaine Poitou-Charentes;
•

Didier Patault, Chairman of the Management Board of Caisse d’Epargne Ile-de-France.
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Supervisory Board Cooperative and CSR Committee
The Cooperative and CSR Committee is chaired by Jean Arondel, non-voting director as of
right, Chairman of the Fédération Nationale des Caisses d’Epargne.
The other members of the Cooperative and CSR Committee are:
•
André Joffre, non-voting director as of right, Chairman of the Fédération Nationale des
Banques Populaires;
•

Yves Gevin, Chief Executive Officer of Banque Populaire Rives de Paris;

•
Michel Grass, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Banque Populaire Bourgogne
Franche-Comté, Chairman of the Supervisory Board of BPCE;
•

Didier Patault, Chairman of the Management Board of Caisse d’Epargne Ile-de-France;

•
Nicolas Plantrou, Chairman of the Steering and Supervisory Board of Caisse d’Epargne
Normandie, Vice-Chairman of the Supervisory Board of BPCE.
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3.

Update to chapter 3 Risk management and the Pillar III report

3.1

Summary of risks

3.1.1 Key figures

3.1.2 Risk factors
Risk factors have not changed significantly from those described in the Groupe BPCE 2017
Registration Document (Chapter 3 - pages 122 to 129).

3.2

Capital management and capital adequacy

3.2.1 Regulatory framework
The regulatory framework is described in the Groupe BPCE 2017 Registration Document
(Chapter 3 – pages 130 to 131), and has been updated as described below.
The capital ratios are calculated as the ratio of total capital to the sum of:
• credit and dilution risk-weighted assets; and
• capital requirements for the prudential supervision of market risk and operational risk,
multiplied by 12.5.
They are subject to a phase-in calculation aimed at gradually transitioning from Basel 2.5 to
Basel III. These phase-in measures mainly cover:
• changes in capital ratios before buffers: since 2015, the minimum Common Equity Tier 1
ratio has been 4.5%, the minimum Tier 1 capital ratio 6%, and the minimum total capital
ratio 8%;
• changes in capital buffers, applied gradually from fiscal year 2016 until 2019:

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 10

- the capital conservation buffer, comprised of Common Equity Tier 1, is set for 2019 at
2.5% of the total amount of risk exposures (0.625% as from January 1, 2016, plus
0.625% per year until 2019);
- Groupe BPCE’s countercyclical buffer is the EAD-weighted average of the buffers defined
for each of the Group’s countries of operation. Groupe BPCE’s maximum countercyclical
buffer as from January 1, 2016 is 0.625%. As most of Groupe BPCE’s exposures are
located in countries whose countercyclical buffer has been set at 0%, the Group
considers that this rate will be very close to 0%;
The buffer for G-SIBs is currently set at 1% for the Group by 2019 (0.25% as from
January 1, 2016, plus an additional 0.25% per year until 2019);
• the gradual incorporation of Basel III provisions:
- the new regulation has eliminated the majority of the prudential filters, and in particular
those relating to unrealized capital gains and losses on equity instruments and debt
securities at fair value through other comprehensive income. This elimination has been
implemented gradually each year in 20% increments for Common Equity Tier 1 capital.
Accordingly, unrealized capital gains have been fully included since January 1, 2018.
Unrealized capital losses have been included since 2014,
- in accordance with Articles 14 and 15 of ECB Regulation (EU) No. 2016/445 dated
March 14, 2016, unrealized capital gains and losses on sovereign securities are no longer
subject to an exemption. They have been fully included since January 1, 2018,
- the capped or excluded share of non-controlling interests was gradually deducted from
each capital tier in 20% increments every year starting in 2014, and has therefore been
fully deducted since January 1, 2018,
- deferred tax assets dependent on future profits and linked to tax loss carryforwards have
been gradually deducted in 10% increments since 2015. In accordance with Article 19 of
ECB Regulation (EU) No. 2016/445 dated March 14, 2016, deferred tax assets have been
deducted at a rate of 80% since January 1, 2018 and will be fully deducted in 2019,
- deferred tax assets depending on future taxable income and related to temporary
differences were gradually deducted in 20% increments starting in 2014 (and have
therefore been fully deducted since January 1, 2018) for the share exceeding the
common allowance for equity interests of more than 10%. The items covered by the
allowance were weighted at 250%,
- Common Equity Tier 1 instruments held in equity interests of more than 10% have been
fully deducted since January 1, 2018: the residual amount of the share exceeding the
allowance, applicable to DTAs as referred to in the previous point, is deducted using the
same methods as in the point above. The items covered by the allowance were weighted
at 250%,
- hybrid debt instruments eligible to be included in capital under Basel II, and which are no
longer eligible under the new regulation, may under certain conditions be eligible for the
grandfathering clause. In accordance with this clause, they are gradually excluded over
an eight-year period, with a 10% decrease each year. Since January 1, 2018, 40% of all
such instruments declared at December 31, 2013 have been recognized, then 30% in
2019 and so forth in subsequent years. The unrecognized share may be included in the
lower equity tier if it meets the relevant criteria.
Pillar II requirements
Pillar II establishes a process of prudential supervision that complements Pillar I. It consists of:


an analysis by the bank of all of its risks, including those already covered by Pillar I;

•

an estimate by the bank of the capital requirement for these risks;

•

comparison by the banking supervisor of its own analysis of the bank’s risk profile with
the analysis conducted by the bank, in order to adapt its choice of prudential measures
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where applicable, which may take the form of capital requirements exceeding the
minimum requirements or any other appropriate technique.
For fiscal year 2018, the total capital ratio in force for Groupe BPCE under Pillar II (P2R) is
9.5%, plus a 1.875% capital conservation buffer and a 0.75% buffer for global systemically
important banks.
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Regulatory scope
Groupe BPCE is required to submit consolidated regulatory reports to the European Central
Bank (ECB), the supervisory authority for euro zone banks. Pillar III is therefore prepared on a
consolidated basis.
The regulatory scope of consolidation is established based on the statutory scope of
consolidation. The main difference between these two scopes lies in the consolidation method
for insurance companies, which are accounted for by the equity method within the regulatory
scope, regardless of the statutory consolidation method.
The following insurance companies are accounted for by the equity method within the
regulatory scope of consolidation:
• Surassur;
• Muracef;
• Coface;
• Natixis Assurances;
• Compagnie Européenne de Garanties et de Cautions;
• Prépar-Vie;
• Prépar-IARD;
• Nexgen Reinsurance Limited.
The following insurance companies are accounted for by the equity method within both the
statutory and regulatory scopes of consolidation:
• CNP Assurances;
• Caisse Garantie Immobilière du Bâtiment;
• Parnasse Garanties.
Transition from accounting balance sheet to regulatory balance sheet
The table below shows the transition from an accounting balance sheet to a regulatory balance
sheet for Groupe BPCE at June 30, 2018.
The transition from the accounting balance sheet to the prudential balance sheet at
December 31, 2017 is presented on page 132 and 133 of the 2017 Registration Document.
The differences between the statutory and regulatory scopes of consolidation can mainly be
attributed to restatements for subsidiaries excluded from the regulatory scope of consolidation
(see description of regulatory scope of consolidation above) and the reincorporation of intragroup transactions associated with these subsidiaries.
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Assets at 6/30/2018 (in €m )
Cash and amounts due from central banks
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

BPCE statutory
scope
91,735

Prudential
restatem ents
56

BPCE prudential
scope
91,791

213,581

8

213,589

- o/w debt securities

30,176

4

30,180

- o/w equity instruments

35,889

-

35,889

8,013

-

8,013

- o/w repurchase agreements

76,404

3

76,407

- o/w trading derivatives

47,570

-

47,570

- o/w security deposits paid

15,529

1

15,530

8,938

-

8,938

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Debt securities at amortized cost

35,919

90

36,009

33,771

16

33,787

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions at amortized cost

94,876

-948

93,928

642,856

2,824

645,680
5,581

- o/w loans (excluding repurchase agreements)

Hedging derivatives

Loans and receivables due from customers at amortized cost
Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios
Insurance business investments
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets

5,581

0

107,688

-107,688

0

259

-46

213

2,931

-41

2,890

Accrued income and other assets

30,271

-163

30,108

Non-current assets held for sale

3,942

-707

3,235

Investments in associates

4,011

3,459

7,470

751

-

751

Property, plant and equipment

4,408

-48

4,360

Intangible assets

1,139

-214

925

Goodw ill

4,350

-331

4,019

1,287,007

-103,733

1,183,274

BPCE statutory
scope
204,341

Prudential
restatem ents
-2,614

BPCE prudential
scope
201,727

- o/w short sales

24,313

1

24,314

- o/w other financial liabilities issued for trading
- o/w trading derivatives

94,866

0

94,866

48,135

6

48,141

8,528

0

8,528

28,499

-2,621

25,878

Investment property

TOTAL ASSETS

Liabilities at 6/30/2018 (in €m )
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

- o/w security deposits received
- o/w financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Debt securities
Amounts due to credit institutions
Amounts due to customers

14,394

-

14,394

224,309

1,031

225,340

90,816

-3,652

87,164

523,483

1,549

525,032

Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios

265

-

265

Current tax liabilities

328

-45

283

Deferred tax liabilities

557

-223

334

33,290

44

33,334
2,555

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

3,262

-707

97,591

-97,591

-

6,392

-112

6,280

Subordinated debt
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

17,132

-603

16,529

64,110

7

64,117

Share capital and reserves

22,881

0

22,881

Retained earnings

38,887

8

38,895

699

0

699

1,643

-1

1,642

Liabilities associated w ith non-current assets held for sale
Liabilities related to insurance policies
Provisions

Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income
Net income for the period
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

6,737

-817

5,920

1,287,007

-103,733

1,183,274
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3.2.2 Regulatory capital
Regulatory capital is determined in accordance with regulation No. 575/2013 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of June 26, 2013 on prudential requirements for credit
institutions and investment firms.
It is divided into three categories: Common Equity Tier 1, Additional Tier 1 capital and Tier 2
capital. Deductions are made from these categories. Details of the composition of the different
categories of regulatory capital are provided on pages 134 to 136 of the 2017 Registration
Document.
These categories are broken down according to decreasing degrees of solidity and stability,
duration and degree of subordination.

6/30/2018 Basel III
phased-in (1)

in millions of euros

12/31/2017 Basel III
phased-in (1)

Share capital and reserves

22,881

22,722

Retained earnings

38,895

36,894

1,642

3,024

Net income for the period
Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income
Consolidated equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Perpetual deeply subordinated notes classified as equity
Consolidated equity attributable to equity holders of the parent excluding
perpetual deeply subordinated notes classified as equity
Non-controlling interests
- o/w prudential filters

699

1,400

64,117

64,039

-683

-683

63,434

63,356

4,544

4,568

0

229

Deductions

-4,979

-4,912

- o/w goodwill (2)

-4,045

-3,962

- o/w intangible assets (2)

-934

-951

-2,527

-3,970

- o/w shortfall of credit risk adjustments to expected losses

-329

-1,285

- o/w prudent valuation

-387

-409

60,472

59,042

Prudential restatements

Com m on Equity Tier 1(3)
Additional Tier 1 capital

340

448

Tier 1 capital

60,812

59,490

Tier 2 capital

14,518

14,557

TOTAL REGULATORY CAPITAL

75,331

74,047

(1)

Phased-in: after taking phase-in measures into account.

(2)

Including non-current assets and entities held for sale classified as held-for-sale

(3)

Common Equity Tier 1 included €23,426 million in cooperative shares (after taking deductions into account) at June 30, 2018 and
€22,477 million at December 31, 2017.

A detailed breakdown of regulatory capital by category, as required by implementing
regulation
No. 1423/2013,
is
published
at
the
following
address:
https://www.groupebpce.fr/en/Investors/Regulated-information/Regulatory-publication.
A detailed breakdown of debt instruments recognized as AT1 and AT2 capital, as required by
implementing regulation No. 1423/2013, is published at the following address:
https://www.groupebpce.fr/en/Investors/Regulated-information/Regulatory-publication.
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Changes in CET1 capital
in millions of euros

CET1 capital
12/31/2017

59,042

Cooperative share issues

395

Income net of proposed dividend payout

494

Other items

541
6/30/2018

60,472

Breakdown of non-controlling interests (minority interests)
Non-controlling
interests

in millions of euros
Carrying amount (regulatory scope) – 6/30/2018

5,920

Perpetual deeply subordinated notes classified as non-controlling interests

-152

Ineligible non-controlling interests

-732

Proposed dividend payout

0

Caps on eligible non-controlling interests

-329

Other items

-163

Prudential amount – 6/30/2018

4,544

Additional Tier 1 capital
6/30/2018 Basel III
phased-in

12/31/2017 Basel III
phased-in

Ineligible AT1 capital instruments subject to grandfathering clause*

362

600

AT1 instruments issued by financial institutions in which the Group holds more than 10%

-22

-22

0

-131

340

448

in millions of euros

Phase-in measures applicable to AT1 capital
ADDITIONAL TIER 1 (AT1) CAPITAL

* Amount after the application of phase-in measures, i.e. 40% of outstanding perpetual subordinated notes at 6/30/2018 and 50% at 12/31/2017.

Changes in AT1 capital

in millions of euros

AT1 capital
12/31/2017

Redemptions

448
-266

Issues

0

Foreign exchange effect

29

Phase-in adjustments

130
6/30/2018

340

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 16

Tier 2 capital

6/30/2018 Basel III
phased-in

in millions of euros
Eligible Tier 2 capital instruments

12/31/2017 Basel III
phased-in

15,204

15,132

Own Tier 2 instruments

-75

-75

Ineligible Tier 2 capital instruments subject to grandfathering clause *

25

42

-1,249

-1,245

0

160

Tier 2 instruments issued by financial institutions in which the Group holds more than 10%
Phase-in measures applicable to Tier 2 capital
Provisions in excess of expected losses
TIER 2 CAPITAL

613

542

14,518

14,557

* Amount after the application of phase-in measures, i.e. 40% of outstanding perpetual subordinated notes at 6/30/2018 and 50% at 12/31/2017.

Changes in Tier 2 capital
in millions of euros
12/31/2017
Redemption of subordinated notes
Prudential haircut
New subordinated note issues
Phase-in deductions and adjustments
Foreign exchange effect
6/30/2018

Tier 2 capital
14,557
-9
-129
0
-111
210
14,518
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3.2.3 Regulatory capital requirements and risk-weighted assets
Regulatory capital requirements for credit risk and counterparty risk
The table below complies with the CRR format, presenting capital requirements for credit and
counterparty risks, before the CVA and after the application of risk mitigation techniques.
12/31/2017

6/30/2018
RWA

in millions of euros

Credit risk (excluding counterparty credit risk) (CCR)

Capital
requirements

RWA

318,460

25,477

313,064

133,319

10,666

126,916

- o/w internal ratings-based (IRB) approac h

49,288

3,943

51,357

- o/w advanc ed measurement approac h

97,313

7,785

94,978

38,539

3,083

39,813

12,079

966

10,281

8,597

688

8,096

- o/w standardized approac h (SA)

- o/w equity IRB under the simple risk-weight approac h or the internal
models approac h
Counterparty credit risk
- o/w marked-to-market
- o/w original exposure

-

-

-

- o/w standardized approac h

-

-

-

- o/w internal model method (IMM)

-

-

-

- o/w risk exposure amount for c ontributions to the default fund of a
CCP

- o/w CVA
Settlement risk
Securitization exposures in banking book
- o/w internal ratings-based (IRB) approac h
- o/w IRB Supervisory Formula Approac h (SFA)
- o/w standardized approac h (SA)

405

32

337

3,077

246

1,848

18

1

10

6,149

492

5,310

1,708

137

1,392

-

-

-

4,441

355

3,918

10,792

863

10,700

- o/w standardized approac h (SA)

6,777

542

6,471

- o/w internal model approac hes (IM)

4,015

321

4,229

38,055

3,044

38,055

Market risk

Operational risk
- o/w basic indic ator approac h
- o/w standardized approac h
- o/w advanc ed measurement approac h
Amounts below the thresholds for deduction (subject to 250% risk
weight)
Floor adjustment
TOTAL

38,055
9,309
394,862

3,044
745
31,589

38,055
8,911
386,331

Note: risk-w eighted assets (RW A) and capital requirements for counterparty risk are presented according to the model recommended
by the EBA in its final report dated December 14, 2016 (counterparty risk apart and including CVA and risk linked to the contribution to
the default fund.)
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Risks weighted by type of risk and by business line
in millions of euros

Basel III phased-in
Credit risk*

Retail Banking

Asset & Wealth Management

Corporate & Investment Banking

Other

Total risk-w eighted assets

CVA

Operational
risk

Market risk

Total

December 31, 2017

250,837

393

962

26,266

278,458

June 30, 2018

260,587

589

1,422

26,266

288,865

December 31, 2017

6,935

-

-

4,424

11,359

June 30, 2018

6,869

5

-

4,424

11,298

December 31, 2017

42,930

1,162

7,577

6,866

58,535

June 30, 2018

43,965

2,337

7,220

6,866

60,388

December 31, 2017

35,026

293

2,161

499

37,979

June 30, 2018

31,517

146

2,150

499

34,312

December 31, 2017

335,729

1,848

10,700

38,055

386,332

June 30, 2018

342,938

3,077

10,792

38,055

394,862

* including settlement/delivery risk

3.2.4 Management of capital adequacy
Regulatory capital and capital adequacy ratios
6/30/2018 Basel III
phased-in

in millions of euros

12/31/2017 Basel III
phased-in

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1)

60,472

59,042

Additional Tier 1 (AT1) capital

340

448

TOTAL TIER 1 (T1) CAPITAL

60,812

59,490

Tier 2 (T2) capital

14,518

14,557

TOTAL REGULATORY CAPITAL
Credit risk exposure
Settlement/delivery risk exposure
CVA risk exposure
Market risk exposure

75,331

74,047

342,919

335,718

18

10

3,077

1,848

10,792

10,700

Operational risk exposure

38,055

38,055

TOTAL RISK EXPOSURE

394,862

386,331

Common Equity Tier 1 ratio

15.3%

15.3%

Tier 1 ratio

15.4%

15.4%

Total capital ratio

19.1%

19.2%

Capital adequacy ratios
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Changes in Groupe BPCE’s capital adequacy under Basel III during first-half 2018
(with phase-in measures)
Groupe BPCE’s capital adequacy remained stable over the first half of 2018, despite the
adverse impact related to the first-time application of IFRS 9 (-17 basis points on the Common
Equity Tier 1 ratio). The Common Equity Tier 1 ratio, which takes into account phase-in
measures set out in CRR/CRD IV, was 15.3% at June 30, 2018.
The change in the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio over the first half of 2018 is related to:
 the €1.4 billion rise in Common Equity Tier 1 capital, driven by retained earnings;
 the approximately €8 billion increase in risk-weighted assets compared with December 31,
2017, related to the growth of the business.
In addition, the external growth operations carried out by Natixis over the first half of 2018
had a limited effect on the group’s ratio, with the acquisitions of Fenchurch, Vermilion,
Clipperton, and Comitéo having a total impact of approximately -3 basis points on the
Common Equity Tier 1 ratio.
At June 30, 2018, the Tier 1 ratio stood at 15.4%, stable compared with December 31, 2017.
Finally, the overall ratio stood at 19.1% at June 30, 2018, a slight decrease relative to
December 31, 2017.
Excluding the CRR/CRD IV phase-in measures, the Common Equity Tier 1 ratio was 15.3% at
June 30, 2018 versus 15.4% at December 31, 2017.

Capital allocation measures and capital adequacy supervision
The Group implemented action plans in the first half of 2018 aimed specifically at ensuring the
capital adequacy of its networks and its subsidiaries. BPCE thus subscribed to a perpetual
deeply subordinated note issued by Banque Palatine (€100 million) and a capital increase by
BPCE International (€70 million).
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Transition from the statutory balance sheet to leverage exposure
Groupe BPCE’s leverage ratio, as calculated under the rules of the Delegated Regulation
published by the European Commission on October 10, 2014, was 5.1% at June 30, 2018
based on phased-in Tier 1 capital.
It should be noted that Groupe BPCE does not exempt centralized outstandings of regulated
savings when determining its exposure pursuant to the European Central Bank’s decision. If
this exemption were to be authorized again, following the Court of Justice of the European
Union’s ruling on July 13, 2018 and the new exemption request submitted to the ECB by
Groupe BPCE, the leverage ratio would be 5.4%.

6/30/2018

in millions of euros

Total consolidated assets as per published financial statements
Adjustment for investments in banking, financial, insurance or commercial entities
that are consolidated for accounting purposes but outside the scope of regulatory
consolidation

1,287,007

12/31/2017
1,259,850

-103,733

-99,239

Adjustments for derivative financial instruments

-34,978

-36,598

Adjustment for securities financing transactions (i.e. repos and similar secured
lending)

-17,363

-13,400

Adjustment for off-balance sheet items (i.e. conversion to credit equivalent
amounts of off-balance sheet exposures)

73,785

73,177

Adjustment for fiduciary assets recognized on the balance sheet pursuant to the
operative accounting framework but excluded from the leverage ratio exposure
measure

Other adjustments
LEVERAGE RATIO EXPOSURE

-5,662
1,199,056

-6,377
1,177,414

Without applying the phase-in measures (except for the 10% deduction of deferred tax assets
on tax loss carryforwards) and without taking into account subordinated debt issues not
eligible as additional Tier 1 capital, Groupe BPCE’s leverage ratio also stands at 5.1%.
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Financial conglomerate ratio

TLAC ratio
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3.3

Credit risk and counterparty risk

Credit and counterparty risk management, and the methodology used to measure risks are
described in detail in the 2017 Registration Document. Credit risk measurement relies on
rating systems adapted to each category of customer and transaction. The Risks, Compliance
and Permanent Control division is responsible for defining and controlling the performance of
these rating systems.
In the first half of 2018, several standards were published and applied within the group:
The guidance-leveraged finance standards were applied, and initial reporting was developed;
The watchlist standard was improved;
The standard defining shadow banking was enacted and is currently being rolled out.
The monitoring system was completed with the implementation of risk division monitoring of
large borrowers exceeding 5% of Groupe BPCE’s capital, as recommended by the Financial
Stability Board.
In addition, the project financing rating system was rolled out, providing the group with a
consistent tool in all of its institutions.
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Non-performing loans and impairement

Cost of risk
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3.4

Market risks

Market risk management
Market risk management and the methodology used to measure risks are described in detail in
the 2017 Registration Document.
The Risks, Compliance and Permanent Control division is responsible for the control of capital
market activities within Groupe BPCE, which is subject to regular review by the Group Market
Risk Committee.

Breakdown of VaR (99 % – 1-day) – Groupe BPCE
In millions of euros

6/30/2018

12/31/2017

Interest rate risk

3.5

2.8

Credit risk

2.1

2.1

Equity risk

7.7

3.5

Exchange rate risk

1.9

1.3

Commodity risk

0.6

0.4

(7.0)

(4.8)

8.8

5.3

Netting
GROUPE BPCE VAR

Consolidated VaR for Groupe BPCE’s trading scope (99% one-day Monte Carlo VaR) amounted
to €8.8 million at June 30, 2018, an increase of €3.5 million over the first half of the year. A
maximum VaR of €11.4 million was reached on 1/26/2018, with a minimum of €5.3 million on
12/31/2017, for an average of €7.9 million over the period.
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Stress test results
Main hypothetical stress tests

6/30/2018

In millions of euros

Natixis trading
Natixis Corporate
and
Investment
Banking
BRED trading
Trading floor
Financial
management
BPCE
trading
subsidiaries
OVERALL
TRADING BOOK

Fall in
stock
market
indices

Increase
in interest
rates

Default
by a bank

Commodities

Emerging
market
crisis

Default by
an
Liquidity
influential
crisis
corporation

162

-4

76

15

33

42

39

162

-4

76

15

33

42

39

-2

-6

-36.5

-15.8

-0.2

-4.1

-7.1

-4.1

-6.1

-36.7

-14.7

-0.2

-4.1

-7.6

2.2

0.1

0.2

-1.1

0.0

0.0

0.5

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

160

-10

39.5

-0.8

32.8

37.9

31.9

The most sensitive hypothetical stress test overall for the group is the “Increase in interest
rates”1 stress test, primarily for the BRED trading floor.

1

“Increase in interest rates”: sharp increase in interest rates and volatility, moderate decrease in stock market indices.
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Main historical stress tests

6/30/2018
2011
sovereign debt
crisis

Fed. post-2007
subprime crisis
measures

-77

13

8

0

15

26

-77

13

8

0

15

26

-3.4

-13.1

-4.8

3.5

-7.8

-18.6

Trading floor

-3.3

-12.5

-5

3.5

-7.2

-18.5

Financial
management

-0.1

-0.6

0.2

0

-0.6

-0.1

BPCE
trading
subsidiaries

0

0

0

0

0

0

OVERALL TRADING
BOOK

-80.4

-0.1

3.2

3.5

7.2

7.4

In millions of euros

Natixis trading
Natixis Corporate and
Investment Banking
BRED trading

1994 bond
market
crash

2002 credit
crunch

2008
Lehman
crisis

2008
corporate
ABS & MBS
crisis

The historical scenario with the largest impact for the group at June 30, 2018 was the “2011
sovereign debt crisis” scenario.2
Group stress test average for H1 2018 (in millions of euros)

250
200
150
100
50
0
-50
-100

2

“2011 sovereign debt crisis”: Reproduces market variations in response to the 2011 sovereign debt crisis, which significantly widens
peripheral European sovereign credit spreads with no major changes in interest rates.
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3.5

Liquidity, interest rate and foreign exchange risks

Like all credit institutions, Groupe BPCE is exposed to structural liquidity, interest rate and
exchange rate risks. These risks are closely monitored by the Group and its institutions to
secure immediate and future income, ensure that balance sheets are balanced and promote
the Group’s development.
Management of liquidity risk and organization of refinancing within Groupe BPCE
The system used to steer and manage liquidity risk and the organization of refinancing within
Groupe BPCE is described in detail in the 2017 Registration Document (Chapter 3 – pages 183
to 189).
The main aim of the Group’s liquidity risk management system is to always be in a position to
cope with a prolonged, highly intense liquidity crisis while keeping costs under control,
promoting the balanced development of the business lines and complying with regulations in
force.
The Group Finance division organizes, coordinates and supervises the funding of Groupe BPCE
in the markets.
The short-term funding of Groupe BPCE is carried out by a single treasury and central bank
collateral management team, created following the merger of BPCE and Natixis’ cash
management teams.
For medium and long-term funding requirements (more than one year), in addition to deposits
from customers of the Banque Populaire and Caisse d’Epargne networks, which are the primary
source of funding, the Group also issues bonds through two main operators:
•
BPCE (directly as BPCE or through BPCE SFH, which issues legal covered bonds
(obligations de financement de l’habitat or “OH"); and
•
its subsidiary Crédit Foncier (essentially with Compagnie de Financement Foncier, a
subsidiary of Crédit Foncier, which issues covered bonds known as “obligations foncières” or
“OF”).
Achievements in the first half of 2018/main changes
Coverage of short-term funding requirements by liquidity reserves was relatively stable in the
first half of 2018.
At June 30, 2018, liquidity reserves covered 169% of the Group’s short-term funding and the
short-term maturities of MLT debt. The coverage ratio was 174% at December 31, 2017.
Furthermore, the Group's LCR remains above 110%.
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2018 MLT funding plan: achievements at July 5, 2018

Liquidity reserves and short-term funding as at June 30, 2018
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Changes in liquidity gaps
The Group’s liquidity gap complies with internal limits.

in billions of euros
Liquidity gap

7/1/2018 to
6/30/2019

7/1/2019 to
6/30/2022

7/1/2022 to
6/30/2026

29.0

17.8

13.6

Interest rate risk management
The system used to steer and manage liquidity risk throughout Groupe BPCE is described in
detail in the 2017 Registration Document (Chapter 3 – page 188).
The objective of the Group’s interest rate risk management mechanism is to monitor the level
of institutions’ changes in interest rates in order to contribute to the growth of the Group and
the business lines while evening out the impact of any unfavorable interest rate changes on
the value of the Group’s banking books and future income.
Structural interest rate risk is controlled by a system of indicators and limits defined by the
Group Asset and Liability Management Committee. It measures structural risks on the balance
sheet, excluding any kind of independent risk (trading, own accounts, etc.). The indicators
used are divided into two approaches: a static approach that only takes into account on
balance sheet and off-balance sheet positions at a set date and a dynamic approach which
includes commercial and financial expectations.
Changes in sensitivity indicators
The sensitivity of the net present value of the Group’s balance sheet to a 200 basis point drop
or increase in interest rates (Standard Outlier Test) remains much lower than the 20%
regulatory capital limit. Groupe BPCE’s sensitivity to interest rate rises was -4.7% at June 30,
2018, compared with -1.9% at December 31, 2017.
The change in projected one-year net interest income is measured using four scenarios
(moderate increase in rates, moderate decrease in rates, steepening of the curve, flattening of
the curve) compared to the central scenario. At March 31, 2018, a decrease in rates was the
most unfavorable scenario, with the possibility of a €239 million loss over a rolling 12-month
period.
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3.6

Legal risks

3.6.1 Legal and arbitration proceedings – BPCE
The following legal disputes are updated compared with the 2017 Registration document:
Check imaging exchange (échange image chèques) commissions
Marketplace antitrust case involving initially Banques Populaires Participations
(BP Participations) and Caisses d’Epargne Participations (CE Participations) and
BPCE since it merged with and absorbed BP Participations and CE Participations
On March 18, 2008, BFBP and CNCE received, as was the case for other banks on the
marketplace, a notice of grievance from the French anti-trust authority. The banks are accused
of having established and mutually agreed on the amount of the check imaging exchange
commission, as well as related check commissions.
The anti-trust authority delivered its decision on September 20, 2010 to fine the banks found
guilty (€90.9 million for BPCE). These banks (except for the Banque de France) lodged an
appeal.
On February 23, 2012, the Paris Court of Appeals overruled the anti-trust authority’s decision
and the €90.9 million fine paid by BPCE was refunded.
On March 23, 2012, the anti-trust authority launched an appeal of the Court of Appeals’ ruling.
On the referral of the anti-trust authority, on April 14, 2015, the Court of Cassation overturned
the Court of Appeals’ 2012 ruling due to breach of procedure. The banks were once again
required to pay the fine.
BPCE, along with the other incriminated banks, referred this ruling to the Paris Court of
Appeals requesting that it purge this breach of procedure and uphold its 2012 decision,
ensuring that BPCE will ultimately be reimbursed for the fine.
The Second Court of Appeals ruled on December 21, 2017 and confirmed the 2010 analysis of
the anti-trust authority, thus contradicting the initial decision by the Paris Court of Appeals in
2012.
The Court considered that the introduction of the EIC commission and CSCs constitute anticompetitive practice in its nature and confirmed the conviction to pay the fine set by the ADLC.
However, the Court reduced the amount of the Caisse d’Epargne’s fine by €4.07 million, by
canceling the 10% increase to the fine imposed by ADLC on certain banks for their key roles in
negotiations. BPCE, taking over the rights of CE Participations, should retrieve this amount of
€4.07 million from the Treasury.
On January 22, 2018, the banks filed an appeal with the Court of Cassation.
Proceedings are currently underway before the Court of Cassation.
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3.6.2 Legal and arbitration proceedings – Natixis
Madoff fraud
Outstanding Madoff assets, net of insurance, were estimated at €388.8 million at December
31, 2017, and were fully provisioned at this date. The effective impact of this exposure will
depend on both the extent of recovery of assets invested in Natixis' name and the outcome of
the measures taken by the bank, primarily legal. With this in mind, Natixis has appointed law
firms to assist it in these recovery efforts. Furthermore, in 2011 a dispute emerged over the
application of the insurance policy for professional liability in this case, which had been taken
out with successive insurers for a total amount of €123 million. In November 2016, the Paris
Court of Appeal confirmed (like the Commercial Court before it) the liability of the first-line
insurers, in the amounts of the policies taken out, for the losses incurred by Natixis as a
result of the Madoff fraud. The implementation of this ruling by all of the insurers is ongoing.
In January and February 2017, both of the first-line insurers submitted an appeal to the Court
of Cassation. The hearing was held on January 31, 2018. Deliberations are in progress and
the case has been transferred to the Second Civil Chamber of the Commercial Division of the
Court of Cassation. The hearing took place on July 3 and the ruling will be issued on
September 19.
Irving H. Picard, the court-appointed trustee for Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC
(BMIS), submitted a restitution claim concerning the liquidation of amounts received prior to
the discovery of the fraud through a complaint filed with the United States Bankruptcy Court
for the Southern District of New York against several banking institutions, including a
$400 million claim against Natixis. Natixis denies the allegations made against it and has
taken the necessary steps to defend its position and protect its rights. Natixis has launched
appeals, including a motion to dismiss, requesting that the case be dismissed on a preliminary
basis or prior to any ruling on merit, and a motion to withdraw the reference to transfer
certain matters to the United States district court. These proceedings have been subject to
numerous rulings and appeals and are still ongoing. A November 2016 ruling by the
bankruptcy court dismissed a number of restitution claims initiated by the trustee on the
grounds of extraterritoriality. The case is ongoing.
Furthermore, the liquidators of Fairfield Sentry Limited and Fairfield Sigma Limited have
initiated numerous proceedings against investors having previously received payments from
these funds for redemptions of shares (over 200 proceedings have been filed in New York).
Some Natixis entities have been named as defendants in some of these proceedings. Natixis
deems these proceedings to be entirely unfounded and is vigorously defending its position.
These proceedings have been suspended for several years, and in October 2016 the
bankruptcy court authorized the trustees to modify their initial claim. The defendants jointly
responded in May and June 2017 and are awaiting the announcement of the hearing date.
Natixis Asset Management (formerly CDC Gestion) – Profit sharing
In 2012, a complaint was filed against Natixis Asset Management before the Paris District
Court (Tribunal de Grande Instance de Paris) by 187 former employees of CDC Gestion
(current name Natixis Asset Management). The subject of the complaint is the legal
recognition of their rights to common law profit-sharing schemes from 1989 to 2001.
Following the application for a priority preliminary ruling on the issue of administrative
constitutionality raised by Natixis Asset Management on the interpretation of an article of the
French Labor Code, on August 1, 2013, the Constitutional Council declared the first
paragraph of Article L.442-9 of the French Labor Code in its version prior to Law No. 20041484 of December 30, 2005, to be unconstitutional and ruled that employees of companies
whose share capital is predominantly held by public entities cannot call for a profit-sharing
scheme to be applicable to them for the period during which the provisions declared
unconstitutional were in force. In September 2014, the Paris District Court ruled in favor of
Natixis Asset Management and dismissed all of the employees’ complaints. The employees
appealed the ruling to the Paris Court of Appeal. On May 9, 2016 the Court of Appeal upheld
the ruling and rejected the appeal filed by the plaintiffs. Employees have collectively
submitted an appeal to the Court of Cassation. In a ruling on February 28, 2018, the Court of
Cassation rejected the employees’ collective appeal. The case is closed.
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Union Mutualiste Retraite
In June 2013, Union Mutualiste Retraite (UMR) filed three complaints against AEW SA
(previously AEW Europe) in relation to the acquisition and management of two real estate
portfolios in Germany between 2006 and 2008. The amounts claimed by UMR total
€139 million.
On October 25, 2016, the Commercial Court of Paris ordered the two insurance schemes
involved to honor, in respect of AEW SA, the sanctions covered by the policies that may be
ruled in favor of UMR in connection with the litigation and to cover the defense costs incurred
by AEW SA. Several of the insurers concerned appealed this decision.
On June 26, 2018, the Paris Court of Appeal ordered a stay of proceedings opposing AEW SA
and its insurers, until a final ruling is issued on the case opposing UMR and AEW SA, currently
before the Commercial Court of Paris. The matter of the insurance cover provided by the
insurers, as set by the ruling issued by the Commercial Court of Paris on October 25, 2016,
and the coverage of AEW SA’s legal fees, were not challenged by the Paris Court of Appeal.
The proceeding opposing UMR and AEW SA is ongoing.
Securitization in the United States
Since 2012, five separate legal proceedings regarding residential mortgage-backed security
(RMBS) transactions executed between 2001 and mid-2007 have been initiated against
Natixis Real Estate Holdings LLC before the New York Supreme Court.
Two of these proceedings relate to accusations of fraud. One was dismissed in 2015 as timebarred as were some of the claims related to the second proceeding, and in 2018 Natixis
settled the outstanding claims before the court issued a final ruling on the merits of the case.
Three of these five proceedings have been brought against Natixis, purportedly on behalf of
certificate holders, alleging that Natixis failed to repurchase defective mortgages from certain
securitizations. Natixis considers the claims brought against it before the New York Supreme
Court to be without merit for multiple reasons, including that they are time-barred under
applicable statute of limitations (two proceedings have already been dismissed for these
reasons but are open to appeal) and that the claimants do not have the legal standing to file
the suit, and intends to defend itself vigorously.

Société Wallonne du Logement
On May 17, 2013, Société Wallonne du Logement (SWL) filed a complaint against Natixis
before the Charleroi Commercial Court (Belgium), contesting the legality of a swap agreement
entered into between SWL and Natixis in March 2006 and requesting that it be annulled.
All of SWL's claims were dismissed in a ruling by the Charleroi Commercial Court on
November 28, 2014. On September 12, 2016, the Mons Court of Appeal annulled the
contested swap agreement and ordered Natixis to repay to SWL the amounts paid by SWL as
part of the swap agreement, less any amounts paid by Natixis to SWL under the same
agreement and taking into account any amounts that would have been paid had the previous
swap agreement not been terminated.
The Cour de Cassation of Belgium overturned this ruling on June 22, 2018.
Furthermore, on March 16, 2017 Natixis filed an appeal with the Paris Court of Appeal
challenging the appeal ruling’s legal enforceability in France. In a ruling dated June 19, 2018,
the Paris Court of Appeal rejected Natixis’ appeal. Said ruling was null and void in light of the
aforementioned ruling by the Cour de Cassation.
In addition, on August 3, 2017, Natixis summoned the Walloon regional authority to appear
before the Namur Court of First Instance regarding the appeal of its performance bond as part
of the aforementioned swap agreement.
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SFF/Contango Trading SA
In December 2015 the South African Strategic Fuel Fund (SFF) entered into agreements to
sell certain oil reserves to several international oil traders. Contango Trading SA (a subsidiary
of Natixis) provided funding for the deal.
In March 2018, SFF launched a proceeding before the South African Supreme Court (Western
Cape Division, Cape Town) primarily against Natixis and Contango Trading SA to have the
agreements invalidated, declared null and void, and to obtain fair and equitable
compensation.
Lucchini Spa
In March 2018 Natixis SA was summoned, jointly and severally with other banks, by Lucchini
Spa (under extraordinary administration) to appear before the Court of Milan, with Lucchini
Spa’s receiver alleging improprieties in the implementation of the loan restructuring
agreement granted to Lucchini Spa.
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3.7

Security and compliance

Banking compliance and customer protection
In the first half of 2018, several normative documents were completed and distributed,
including:
“Customer Regulatory File Composition and Conservation” standard and its associated
compliance guide;
“Automatic Information Exchange – Reference Document” standard and its associated
compliance guide;
“Non-Compliance Risk Mapping” standard;
Groupe BPCE’s outsourcing policy was rolled out, along with the associated compliance guide.
Financial security
ANTI-CORRUPTION MEASURES
For the purposes of implementing the Act of December 9, 2016 on transparency, prevention of
corruption, and economic modernization (“Sapin II Act”), Groupe BPCE has already mapped
out the group corruption risk exposures, based on an analysis of their activities and associated
risk management systems.
In the first half of 2018, this mapping was supplemented by “corruption prevention and ethics”
e-learning materials and by new standard contracts for the group’s suppliers and partners,
including whistleblower protection and anti-corruption measures.
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3.8

Technical insurance risks

3.8.1 Natixis Assurances
Natixis Assurances is the insurance division of Natixis and is structured into two businesses:
▪

The personal insurance business, focused on developing portfolios in life insurance, savings
and retirement capitalization, as well as provident insurance;

▪

The non-life insurance business, focused on developing portfolios for motor and multi-risk
home insurance, personal accident insurance, legal protection, healthcare and property and
casualty insurance.

Given the predominance of the Investment Solutions activity, the main risks to which Natixis
Assurance is exposed are financial. The company is also exposed to underwriting risks (life and
non-life), as well as counterparty risk.
MARKET RISK
Market risk is in large part borne by the subsidiary BPCE Vie on the financial assets that
underpin its commitments with guaranteed principal and returns (euro-denominated policies:
€50.5 billion on the main fund balance sheet at June 30, 2018). The company is exposed to
asset depreciation risk (fall in the equity or real estate market, wider spreads, interest rate
hikes) as well as the risk of lower interest rates which would generate a shortfall in terms of
principal and meeting its the guaranteed rate of return. To deal with this risk, BPCE Vie has
only sold policies without a minimum guaranteed return in recent years: more than 94% of the
policies have a zero minimum guaranteed return. The minimum guaranteed return averages
0.15%.
To manage market risk, the sources of return have been diversified, namely via investments in
new asset classes (financing the economy, low-volatility equity, etc.). This diversification is
managed by a strategic allocation, defined on a yearly basis, that takes into account regulatory
constraints, commitments to policyholders and commercial requirements.
CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is monitored and managed in compliance with Natixis Assurances’ standards and
internal limits. At June 30, 2018, 63% of the fixed-income portfolio is invested in securities
rated A- or higher.
LIFE INSURANCE UNDERWRITING RISK
The main risk to which life insurance underwriting is exposed is linked to the Investment
Solutions activity. In an especially low interest-rate environment, the biggest risk is that of
fewer redemptions and/or excessive inflows in euro-denominated vehicles, as reinvestments in
securities dilute the main fund’s return. To encourage inflows in unit-linked policies, measures
have been taken, such as the creation of unit-linked policy products and communication
campaigns, and a communication campaign targeting customers and the network.
NON-LIFE INSURANCE UNDERWRITING RISK
The general insurance underwriting risk to which Natixis Assurances is exposed is borne by its
subsidiary BPCE Assurances:
▪

Premium risk: in order to ensure that the premiums paid by the policyholders
corresponds to the transferred risk, BPCE Assurances implemented a portfolio monitoring
policy whereby each policy is given a score based on its track record over three years.
Factored in are types of claims, number of claims, their cost and other variables specific
to the activity in question (degree of liability and bonuses/penalties for motor insurance,
for instance). This monitoring policy also contributes to detecting potential risks arising
from large claims, and to arranging adequate reinsurance coverage;
GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 36

▪

Risk of loss: each time inventory is taken, an actuarial assessment of the reserves for
claims to be paid is conducted based on methods widely recognized by the profession
and required by the regulator.

▪

Catastrophe risk: catastrophe risk is the exposure to an event of significant magnitude
generating a multitude of claims (storm, risk of civil liability, etc.). This risk is therefore
reinsured either through the government in the event of a natural disaster or an attack,
for example, or through private reinsurers, specifically in the event of a storm or a civil
liability claim, or through reinsurance pools.

COUNTERPARTY RISK
The counterparty risk to which Natixis Assurances is exposed mainly concerns reinsurance
counterparties. The selection of reinsurers is a key component of managing this risk:
▪

Natixis Assurances deals with reinsurers who are subject to a financial rating by at least one
of the three internationally recognized rating agencies, and who have a Standard & Poor’s
equivalent rating of A- or higher.

▪

Using several reinsurers ensures counterparty diversification and limits counterparty risk.

3.8.2 Coface

Through its activities, Coface is exposed to five main types of risk (strategic risk, credit risk,
financial risk, operational and non-compliance risk, and reinsurance risk), of which the two
principal risks are credit risk and financial risk. Credit risk is defined as the risk of loss, due to
non-payment by a debtor, of a receivable owed to a policyholder of the Group. Financial risk
relates to the risk of losses arising from adverse changes in interest rates, exchange rates or
the market value of securities or real estate investments. The Coface Group has implemented
the appropriate tools to control these risks and to ensure they remain within conservative
limits.
Given its listing on the stock market, the main risk factors and uncertainties to which Coface is
exposed are set out in detail under paragraph 5 "Main Risk Factors and their Management
within the Group” in the Coface Group registration document, submitted to the AMF on April 5,
2018 under number D.18-0267.
In the first half of 2018, the Coface Group’s risk management is being applied in accordance
with the previously established management principles and in line with the actions taken in
2016 to reduce corporate risks in certain sensitive geographic areas and business sectors
deemed high-risk.

3.8.3 CEGC
Compagnie Européenne de Garanties et Cautions is the Group’s multiple business line security
and guarantee platform. It is exposed to underwriting risk, market risk and the risk of the
reinsurers defaulting, as well as operational risk.
Under the Solvency II supervisory regime, which came into effect on January 1, 2016, CEGC
uses a partial internal model. The ACPR (French Prudential Supervisory Authority for the
Banking and Insurance Sector) approved the model in March 2017. CEGC’s partial internal
model therefore meets the specific requirement applicable to mortgage loan guarantors to
improve the robustness of the French banking system for home loans.
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Underwriting risk
Underwriting risk is the main risk incurred by CEGC. It is essentially a counterparty risk, as the
commitments given by CEGC to beneficiaries of guarantees result in direct exposure to
underwriters. These regulated commitments recorded on the liabilities side of the balance
sheet amounted to €1.925 billion at June 30, 2018 (up 4.1% compared to the end of 2017).
This increase was in line with fiscal year 2017, driven mainly by mortgage guarantees for
individual customers.



CEGC’S OUTSTANDINGS (IN MILLIONS OF EUROS)
Change
June 2018

(June 2018 vs.
December 2017)

1,715

3.4%

Individual home builders

21

5.0%

Property administrators - Realtors

20

81.8%

Corporates

27

(6.9%)

Real estate developers

15

0.0%

Professional customers

73

4.3%

Social economy - Social housing

45

7.1%

9

80.0%

1,925

4.1%

CEGC’s activities
Individual customers

Run-off activities
TOTAL
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Market risk
CEGC holds an investment portfolio of about €1.86 billion on its balance sheet as at June 30,
2018, hedging underwriting provisions. The portfolio is down 3% since the end of 2017. Market
risk from the investment portfolio is limited by the Company's investment choices.
The company's risk limits are set out in the asset management agreement established with
Ostrum. By collecting surety insurance premiums at the time of commitment, CEGC does not
require funding. Neither does CEGC carry transformation risk: the investment portfolio is
entirely backed by equity and technical reserves.

06.30.2018
Net
balance
sheet value
of the
%
provision breakdown

(in millions of euros)
Equities
Bonds
Diversified
Cash
Real estate
Private equity investment
funds
Other
TOTAL

Fair value

12.31.2017
Net
balance
sheet value
of the
%
provision breakdown Fair value

143

7.7%

155

137

7.2%

164

1,380

74.3%

1,501

1,338

69.8%

1,476

116

6.2%

118

131

6.8%

137

38

2.0%

38

124

6.5%

124

167

9.0%

165

169

8.8%

174

13

0.7%

19

14

0.7%

19

2

0.1%

2

3

0.2%

2

1,859

100%

1,998

1,915

100%

2,096

Reinsurance risk
CEGC hedges its liability portfolio by implementing a reinsurance program tailored to its
activities.
In loan guarantees, reinsurance is used as a way to manage regulatory capital by protecting
guarantee beneficiaries in the event of an economic recession leading to a loss of up to 2% of
outstanding guaranteed loans.
In the Corporate segments, the program is used to protect CEGC’s capital by covering highseverity risks. It has been calibrated to protect against three individual loss events (loss
related to a counterparty or a group of counterparties) which could have a significant impact
on the Corporate segment’s income statement.
Any modification of the reinsurance program (reinsurers, pricing, structure) is subject to the
validation of the Capital and Solvency Management Committee chaired by a corporate officer.
Reinsurer default risk is governed by counterparty concentration and rating limits. CEGC's
reinsurance programs are underwritten by a broad panel of international reinsurers with a
minimum rating of A on the S&P scale.
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4.

4.1

Update to chapter 4 Second-quarter and first-half 2018 activities
and financial information

Economic and financial environment in the first half of 2018

The global economic situation benefited in 2017 from synchronized growth in multiple
economic areas, thanks to lower oil prices in 2014-2015, lower interest rates, and the
favorable impact of the euro’s depreciation in 2015-2016 on the euro zone. Since the
beginning of 2018, after having peaked, the cycle’s pace seems to be slowing and becoming
more sustainable, as inflationary signs, which remain modest in Europe, are showing up in
advanced countries, due to the emergence of a minor oil crisis in mid-2017, pressure on
production, and the amount of liquidity discharged by the central banks. Recent trajectory
deviations between the major economies reflect this. As the United States continues to focus
on pro-cyclical fiscal and budgetary stimulus with rather inflationary effects, the euro zone is
now unable to sustain economic growth beyond its potential growth. Similarly, the economic
situation of emerging countries is fragmented, with China experiencing a measured slowdown
driven by political authorities and structurally fragile countries, like Brazil, Argentina, and
Turkey, suffering from uncontrolled capital outflows, mainly due to the trend of rising US
interest rates.
Growth in France, where activity grew by 2.3% in 2017, well above the trend growth rate
(about 1% per year), came up against supply problems, particularly in terms of hiring. This
earlier momentum was therefore broken rather suddenly in the first quarter of 2018, with GDP
growing at only 0.7% per year, in contrast to rather solid quarterly growth of 2.4% to 3.2%
per year since the end of 2016. Exports are noticeably down, but they received a boost at the
end of last year thanks to an exceptional volume of deliveries in aerospace. Investment
experienced a much more significant slip, with the slowdown coming from both households and
particularly companies. Consumption suffered from increased Brent prices, higher taxes on
petroleum and tobacco products, and a 1.7 point increase in the CSG [contribution sociale
généralisée – general social security tax] on January 1. Meanwhile, lower salary expenses
intended to offset the CSG increase were only partially implemented, with the remainder to
come in October. In the second quarter of 2018, business rebounded by 1.8% per year, after
the first quarter slowdown. Inflation rose to 2.1% per year in June, due to soaring oil prices,
driven by the announcement of renewed US sanctions against Iran in November. Core
inflation, however, remained at 1% annually in May.
For the sixth (March 21) and seventh (June 13) time since December 2015, the Fed raised its
key interest rate, which is now in the 1.75% to 2% range, while continuing to slowly reduce
the size of its balance sheet. In contrast, the ECB has upheld its ultra-accommodating
monetary policy, despite the June 14 announcement that it would reduce its net monthly asset
purchases to €15 billion from next October to December (compared to €30 billion through
September), before stopping on January 1, 2019, with no tightening up of key interest rates
before summer 2019. Long-term rates, which remain extremely low, initially rose moderately,
particularly in the United States, due to the gradual or anticipated withdrawal of
accommodating monetary policies, the improved economic situation, and the uptick in
inflation. After a high of 1.02% on February 15, the 10Y OAT sat at approximately 0.7% at the
end of June, due to increased distrust related to escalating tensions in US-China trade and the
ECB’s reaffirmation of its extreme monetary caution.
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4.2

H1 2018 highlights

APPOINTMENT OF LAURENT MIGNON AS CHAIRMAN OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD
OF GROUPE BPCE
The Supervisory Board of Groupe BPCE, which met on April 26, 2018, chaired by Michel Grass,
decided unanimously and in accordance with the opinion submitted by the Appointments
Committee to appoint Laurent Mignon as Chairman of Groupe BPCE, replacing François Pérol,
as of June 1, 2018.
FRANÇOIS RIAHI APPOINTED CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF NATIXIS
The Board of Directors of Natixis appointed François Riahi as Chief Executive Officer of Natixis.
He succeeds Laurent Mignon, appointed as Chairman of the Management Board of Groupe
BPCE on April 26, 2018. Laurent Mignon becomes Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Natixis.
GROUP’S FINANCIAL RATING REVISED UPWARD
The rating agency Moody’s raised the group’s long-term credit rating from A2 to A1, with a
stable outlook. The agency acknowledges the constant improvement in the group’s financial
fundamentals and particularly its stronger capitalization. The agency also points out the
successful diversification of the group’s sources of income.
GROUPE BPCE LAUNCHES PLANS TO INTEGRATE CRÉDIT FONCIER’S TEAMS AND
BUSINESS
The new proposed system would strengthen the Group’s leading position in the real estate
finance market, thanks mainly to the contribution of Crédit Foncier’s skills, expertise, and
talent and to the strength of the Banque Populaire and Caisse d’Epargne networks in the
regions, with a view to increasing banking penetration among customers. The project will focus
on two requirements:
-

The Group aims to extend and increase its presence among all customers, particularly
among low-income, first-time home buyers.

-

Crédit Foncier employees would be integrated within other Groupe BPCE companies in a
socially responsible manner, in accordance with their respective traditions.

GROUPE BPCE IS THE FIRST BANKING GROUP TO LAUNCH SAMSUNG PAY IN FRANCE
The Samsung Pay mobile payment solution is available exclusively to Banque Populaire and
Caisse d’Epargne customers with Samsung smartphones that are compatible with Samsung
Pay. With this new mobile payment solution, Banque Populaire and Caisse d’Epargne
customers can make purchases with their smartphone wherever Visa contactless payments are
accepted in France and abroad.
INAUGURATION OF 89C3 IN METZ
Banque Populaire Alsace Lorraine Champagne, Caisse d’Epargne Lorraine ChampagneArdenne, and Groupe BPCE inaugurated 89C3 Metz, a unique collaboration and co-building site
for the rollout of Groupe BPCE’s digital system.
CAISSE D’EPARGNE GRAND EST EUROPE FORMED FROM THE MERGER OF CAISSES
D’EPARGNE D’ALSACE AND LORRAINE CHAMPAGNE-ARDENNE
On June 23, 2018, the Annual General Shareholders’ Meetings of Caisses d’Epargne d’Alsace
and Lorraine Champagne-Ardenne unanimously ratified the merger agreement between the
GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 41

two Caisses. With its registered office located in Strasbourg, it serves the 10 departments of
the Grand Est administrative region.
With more than 3,000 employees, 436,000 cooperative shareholders, and €2.6 billion in
equity, Caisse d’Epargne Grand Est Europe supports 1.7 million individual customers,
professional customers and corporates, and contributes to the development of the regional
economy. It has administrative sites in Metz, Reims, and Nancy.
CAISSE D’EPARGNE TURNS 200!
Founded in 1818, Caisse d’Epargne celebrated its bicentennial with numerous events and
communications.
PARTNERSHIP SIGNED BETWEEN BANQUE POPULAIRE AND BPIFRANCE TO COMBINE
THEIR EXPERTISE TO GROW INNOVATIVE COMPANIES
Banque Populaire and Bpifrance are bolstering their collaboration for the financing and support
of innovative companies, during joint regional operations and through the promotion of
support systems in key phases of the life of the companies (creation and development). The
two banks will analyze the synergy between their financing lines and develop new business
intelligence tools for their customers. International business will also be covered, and new
offerings will be made available to business customers.
THE PERMANENT ASSEMBLY OF CHAMBERS OF TRADE AND CRAFTS AND GROUPE
BPCE LAUNCH A “CRAFT AGREEMENT” TO PROVIDE GUIDANCE AND SUPPORT TO
CRAFTSPEOPLE
The Craft Agreement includes five commitments:


The provision of €1 billion in medium- and long-term loans for craftspeople;



The designation of a Craft Agreement spokesperson;



The establishment of interventions by regional bank representatives within participating
departmental chambers of trade and crafts;



Priority service, within 48 hours;



A clear explanation of loan refusals and guidance toward alternative solutions.

NATIXIS STRENGTHENS ITS PRIVATE DEBT OFFERING WITH THE ACQUISITION OF
MV CREDIT
To meet the diversification needs of investors and their demand for alternative investment
solutions, Natixis Investment Managers is expanding its private debt offering with the
acquisition of an expert in European lending, whose investment strategy targets the financing
of upper mid-cap companies. Like the other affiliates, MV Credit will maintain its management
autonomy while benefiting from the international distribution platform of Natixis Investment
Managers.
BANXY, THE FIRST MOBILE BANK IN ALGERIA, LAUNCHED BY NATIXIS
NATIXIS Algérie, a subsidiary of NATIXIS, is launching “BANXY”, an innovative concept making
it easier to access banking services in Algeria with a secure mobile account, available from any
Android or iOS smartphone.
NATIXIS IS FINALIZING THE ACQUISITION OF COMITEO
REAFFIRMS ITS COMMITMENT TO PREPAID PAYMENTS

(ALTER

CE)

AND
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Natixis has entered into exclusive negotiations with the shareholders of Comitéo (Alter CE)
over plans to acquire a majority stake in the company. The founders would retain a portion of
the capital and operational management after the transaction. The goal of this operation is to
speed up the growth of Natixis in its payment activities, especially in the prepaid field.
Created in 2008, Alter CE offers works councils the Comitéo solution, a software platform
containing business functions (management, accounting, finance, employee communication
tools, and a private social network) and a marketplace with many listings (show tickets, movie
tickets, gift cards and certificates, etc.).
NATIXIS GETS A BOOST IN MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS CONSULTING WITH
STRATEGIC INVESTMENTS IN FENCHURCH ADVISORY PARTNERS (UNITED
KINGDOM), VERMILION PARTNERS (CHINA), AND CLIPPERTON (FRANCE)
These strategic investments in three independent Mergers & Acquisitions consulting firms,
leaders in their respective market segments (financial services, M&A operations in China, and
technology), round out already completed acquisitions of Leonardo & Co France and 360
Corporate (renamed Natixis Partners and Natixis Partners España) in 2015 and PJ SOLOMON in
New York in 2016. These new investments will allow Natixis to speed up its business
internationalization efforts and grow its Mergers & Acquisitions consulting offerings in financial
services and technology, while furthering its expansion in Europe and Asia Pacific.
NATIXIS ASSET MANAGEMENT, AN AFFILIATE OF NATIXIS INVESTMENT MANAGERS,
ADOPTS THE OSTRUM ASSET MANAGEMENT BRAND
To meet the needs of investors, Ostrum Asset Management is refocusing on its historical bond
management expertise, its targeted asset management skills, and its recognized insurance
management knowledge.
GROUPE BPCE, WITH NATIXIS PAYMENTS, BECOMES THE FIRST BANKING GROUP IN
FRANCE TO OFFER ITS CUSTOMERS INSTANT PAYMENT
Instant Payment allows money to be transferred from one account to another in just 10
seconds. This new service by Groupe BPCE, the first of its kind in France, offers numerous
benefits for all categories of users in banking and insurance: individuals, consumers,
merchants, companies, and administrations.
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4.3

Results press release on August 2, 2018
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4.4

Analysts presentation
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4.5

BPCE SA group financial data

BPCE SA group’s net income is calculated after restating the contribution of non-consolidated
entities.
In the first half of 2018, the transition from Groupe BPCE’s net income to BPCE SA group’s net
income can be broken down as follows:

in millions of euros
H1-18
Groupe BPCE net income
1,643
Entities not consolidated or consolidated under a different method (1)
-1,127
Other items
17
BPCE SA group net income
533
(1) including the Banque Populaire banks, the Caisses d’Epargne and their consolidated subsidiaries.

BPCE SA group recorded net income attributable to equity holders of the parent of
€533 million.
Retail Banking and
Insurance *
in millions of euros
Net banking income
Operating expenses
Gross operating income
Cost of risk
Share in income of equity-accounted associates
Gains or losses on other assets

Asset & Wealth
Management

Corporate & Investment
Banking

Corporate Center

BPCE SA group

H1-18

H1-17 pf

H1-18

H1-17 pf

H1-18

H1-17 pf

H1-18

H1-17 pf

H1-18

H1-17

1 770
(1 190)
579

1 740
(1 175)
565

1 596
(1 078)
517

1 448
(1 039)
408

1 904
(1 112)
791

1 990
(1 121)
869

374
(915)
(541)

209
(834)
(624)

5 643
(4 296)
1 347

5 387
(4 169)
1 218

(69)
4
(18)

(172)
8
2

(1)
0
(0)

0
0
9

(68)
6
3

(78)
5
(0)

(5)
105
6

(36)
110
18

(143)
115
(9)

(285)
123
30

Income before tax

497

403

516

418

733

796

(435)

(531)

1 310

1 086

Income tax
Non-controlling interests

(174)
(86)
237

(174)
(56)
173

(145)
(163)
209

(145)
(110)
163

(198)
(157)
378

(245)
(161)
390

134
11
(290)

159
62
(311)

(383)
(394)
533

(405)
(266)
415

Net income attributable to equity holders of the parent

* Excluding the Banque Populaire banks, the Caisses d’Epargne and their consolidated subsidiaries.

The performance of Retail Banking and Insurance, at €237 million, increased 36.6% relative to
the first half of 2017, thanks to the growth drivers, Insurance and Payments.
The Asset & Wealth Management business line generated income of €209 million, a sharp
increase of 28.5% over the first half of 2017.
Meanwhile, the Corporate & Investment Banking business line posted €378 million in income in
the first six months of 2018, down 3.1% over the first half of the previous year.
The Corporate Center business line generated - €290 million, which is €21 million better than
the first half of 2017.
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent totaled €19.1 billion at June 30, 2018,
compared with €18.7 billion at January 1, 2018. This increase of +€0.4 billion was mainly due
to:
•

incorporation of income for the period: +€0.5 billion;

•

dividends paid: -€0.2 billion;

•

a capital increase for BPCE SA: +€0.2 billion.
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4.6

Post-closing events

On June 25 and 26, 2018, respectively, the BPCE Supervisory Board and the Crédit Foncier
Board of Directors gave their approval, in principle, to start a project to integrate Crédit
Foncier’s operations and teams to meet the new requirements of the sector and its customers.
This project would focus on integrating the knowledge and expertise of Crédit Foncier into the
various companies of Groupe BPCE.
Therefore:
-

new loans would be redeployed in the Group’s entities: Individual financing within the
Banque Populaire banks and Caisses d’Epargne, Corporate financing within the Caisses
d’Epargne and Banque Populaire banks for social housing, and Natixis for project
financing and infrastructure;

-

Socfim, which would become a subsidiary of BPCE SA, would position itself as a global
player in corporate real estate financing by integrating long-term financing for real
estate professionals with financing for developers;

-

Crédit Foncier Immobilier would become a subsidiary of BPCE SA;

-

the special expertise and the projects initiated by Crédit Foncier would continue on a
national level;

-

Crédit Foncier would be refocused on the funding, through Compagnie de Financement
Foncier, of public sector assets originated by the Group and on the management of
currently outstanding loans.

Also, as part of this project, any delisting offer involving Locindus shares would be filed with
the Autorité des Marchés Financiers (French Financial Markets Authority — AMF).
In keeping with the project’s objective — to develop Crédit Foncier’s activities by integrating
them into the various Groupe BPCE companies — and as part of an employment preservation
plan, employees whose activity would be redeployed as outlined above (approximately 1,400
people) would be offered a similar position, with an equivalent classification and in the same
employment area, at another Groupe BPCE company. Alternatively, for employees with a
project who are not interested in pursuing the reclassification proposal mentioned above,
Crédit Foncier would allow the option to volunteer for external mobility, with financial and
other support.
Accounting impacts at June 30, 2018
At June 30, 2018, as detailed information is not available, the criteria for recording a provision
have not been met; the institution is furthermore unable to reliably quantify the final cost of
the project, based primarily on redeploying the affected operations and teams.
The information and consultation process, which began on July 20, 2018, defined the scope of
staff members affected at this stage and the support measures that would be proposed for
their reclassification (continued payment of compensation, training, support for mobility, etc.)
or, if applicable, their voluntary departure plan (compensation based on employees’ length of
service, capped at 24 months of wages). At this information and consultation stage, the cost of
these measures (and their resulting effects on the group’s business relationships) cannot
reliably be determined.
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4.7

Outlook

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK
In the second half of 2018 and 2019, the proper functioning of the cycle faces events that are
likely to at least slow it down. The renewed embargo against Iran brings about a natural rise in
equilibrium oil prices ($75 per barrel in 2018 and $85 per barrel in 2019), pending the likely
effects of another round of inflation on the back of higher wages. After Brexit, Italy has again
become the harbinger of fears surrounding the break-up of the euro zone. Abroad, the threat
of a trade war is becoming more apparent, primarily between the United States and China and
then with Canada and Europe. Also, there is still a risk of the US and China cycles halting
abruptly, with the US affected by inflation that could lead to additional monetary tightening
unanticipated by the Fed as well as a contagious bond crash and with China burdened by
omnipresent financial risks due to excessive private debt. Furthermore, monetary policies
appear to be less predictable than before, due to the resurgence of cyclical inflation and the
anticipated end of Mario Draghi’s term on October 31, 2019. Without exacerbating tensions,
the highly indebted global economy is expected to enter a period of well-ordered slowdown,
which would be fairly pronounced beginning in 2019, curbing any possible risk of rampant
inflation.
France remains highly dependent on the global economic environment, because its structural
weaknesses curb its intrinsic momentum. Moderation of the global and European economy
therefore can only influence France’s economic trajectory. However, this economic slowdown
does not seem to be becoming more intense, according to economic surveys. Although the
business climate has clearly declined in all sectors except building, observed indices remain
above their long-term averages. We may even see a slight rebound in the second half of 2018,
which would allow growth to be approximately 1.7% for the full year, before slowing more
significantly to 1.4% annually in 2019. Job creation (183,000 jobs in 2018) is expected to
remain strong, particularly in the service sector, but is likely drop off in the wake of economic
activity. Consumption is expected to gain back some momentum in the second half of 2018
and in 2019, despite rising inflation (annual average of about 1.8% in 2018-2019) for various
reasons, including strong business revenues, with favorable job creation numbers and the
likely boost in wages, after the price increases observed in recent months. Purchasing power is
expected to increase, especially in the last quarter of 2018, due to lower employee
contributions and the reduced housing tax. In addition, difficulties in hiring are expected to
further fuel corporate investment intentions, as would pressures on manufacturing production
capacities, which are high (above 85%) relative to their 1976-2017 average (82.5%).
Prevailing financing conditions are also expected to be extremely favorable due to low pressure
on interest rates.
The Fed is expected to continue its cautious move toward monetary policy normalization while
simultaneously reducing the size of its balance sheet. Two additional key interest rate
increases of 25 basis points are scheduled in the second half of 2018 (bringing the fed funds
rate to 2.5% in December), along with three increases in 2019 (to 3.25% at the end of
December). The ECB is expected to be especially careful not to destabilize the bond markets,
given the implicit political risks of the breakup of the euro zone. The return of cyclical inflation
would make a moderate increase in long-term interest rates even more unavoidable, as
monetary policies are expected to gradually normalize as early as 2019, considering that the
Fed is surely four years ahead of the ECB. European and French long-term interest rates,
which remain extremely low with respect to nominal growth, are expected to increase, despite
the projected economic slowdown, especially after January 1, 2019, when the ECB ceases its
net purchases of assets. This upward movement is likely to continue to pose risks, due to a
reversal of inflationary expectations or even the ECB’s strategy – similar to the Fed’s – of
extending the average maturity of its portfolio. As such, the 10Y OAT is unlikely to exceed an
annual average of 0.9% in 2018, but it could reach 1.6% in 2019, due to the contagious
effects of US interest rates.
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5.

Update to chapter 5 Financial Report

5.1

IFRS Consolidated Financial Statements of Groupe BPCE as at June 30,
2018

5.1.1 Consolidated balance sheet

ASSETS
12/31/2017
IAS 39 after
IFRS 9
reclassificatio
ns (2)

Notes

6/30/2018

91,735

94,697

94,702

4.1.1

213,581

212,496

212,496

8,938

9,793

9,793

4.2

35,919

35,446

35,449

4.4.1

33,771

33,495

33,544

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions and similar items at amortized cost 4.4.2

94,876

90,222

90,228

4.4.3

642,856

626,437

628,049

5,581

5,798

5,798

6.1.1

107,688

103,182

103,182
1,470

C ash and amounts due from central banks
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Securities at amortized cost
Loans and receivables due from customers at amortized cost
Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios
Insurance business investments
C urrent tax assets
Deferred tax assets

1/1/2018

(1)

259

1,470

2,931

3,754

3,048

Accrued income and other assets

4.5

30,271

26,061

26,061

Non-current assets held for sale

1.3

3,942

1,195

1,195

Investments in associates

7.1

4,011

4,105

4,113

751

790

790

4,408

4,461

4,461

1,139

1,167

1,167

4,350

4,304

4,304

1,287,007

1,258,873

1,259,850

Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
TOTAL ASSETS
(1)

(2)

4.6

The transition from the balance sheet at December 31, 2017 under IAS 39 to the balance sheet at January 1, 2018 under IFRS 9 is
presented in section 5.1.6;
The December 31, 2017 amounts correspond to the balance sheet published after reclassifications with no change in the method
for valuing financial assets and liabilities presented in IFRS 9 format (see Note 5.1.6 § 1).
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LIABILITIES
12/31/2017
IAS 39 after
IFRS 9
reclassifications
(2)

Notes

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

(1)

4.1.2

204,341
14,394

14,725

14,725

4.8

224,309

217,127

217,127

Amounts due to credit institutions and similar items

4.7.1

90,816

84,644

84,644

Amounts due to customers

4.7.2

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Debt securities

206,938

206,938

523,483

516,689

516,689

Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios

265

367

367

Current tax liabilities

328

311

311

Deferred tax liabilities

557

880

645

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

4.9

33,290

28,958

28,958

Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale

1.3

3,262

717

717

Liabilities related to insurance policies

6.1.3

97,591

93,728

93,728

Provisions

4.10

6,392

6,796

6,388

Subordinated debt

4.11

17,132

17,411

17,411

70,847

69,582

71,201

64,110

62,476

64,028

22,881

22,722

22,722

38,887

39,104

39,907
1,399

Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
4.12.1

Share capital and reserves
Retained earnings
Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income
Net income for the period
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
(1)

(2)

699

650

1,643

0

0

6,737

7,106

7,173

1,287,007

1,258,873

1,259,850

The transition from the balance sheet at December 31, 2017 under IAS 39 to the balance sheet at January 1, 2018 under IFRS 9 is
presented in section 5.1.6;
The December 31, 2017 amounts correspond to the balance sheet published after reclassifications with no change in the method
for valuing financial assets and liabilities presented in IFRS 9 format (see Note 5.1.6 § 1).
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5.1.2 Consolidated income statement
Notes

H1 2018

Interest and similar income

5.1

12,055

Interest and similar expenses

5.1

(7,643)

Commission income

5.2

5,780

Commission expenses

5.2

(1,154)

Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

5.3

1,398

Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income

5.4

108

Net gains or losses resulting from the derecognition of financial assets at amortized cost

5.5

Net income from insurance businesses

8

6.2.1

1,541

Income from other activities

5.6

793

Expenses from other activities

5.6

(635)

Net banking income

12,251

Operating expenses

5.7

(8,387)

Depreciation, amortization and impairment for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

(454)

Gross operating income

3,410

Cost of credit risk

5.8

(576)

Operating income

2,834

Share in net income of associates and joint ventures

7.2

135

Gains or losses on other assets

(3)

Income before tax

2,966

Income tax

5.9

(927)

Net income

2,039

Non-controlling interests

(396)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

1,643

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
in millions of euros

Notes

H1 2017

Interest and similar income

5.1

13,130

Interest and similar expenses

5.1

(7,976)

Commission income

5.2

5,902

Commission expenses

5.2

(1,165)

Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or
loss

5.3

Net gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets

5.4

565

Income from other activities

5.6

6,748

Expenses from other activities

5.6

Net banking income

2,068

(7,158)
12,114

Operating expenses

5.7

Depreciation, amortization and impairment for property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets

(8,288)
(412)

Gross operating income

3,414

Cost of risk

5.8

Operating income

(699)
2,715

Share in net income of associates

7.2

Gains or losses on other assets

143
30

Income before tax

2,888

Income tax

5.9

Net income

(1,023)
1,865

Non-controlling interests

(269)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

1,596

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 103

5.1.3 Comprehensive income
in millions of euros

H1 2018

Net income

2,039

Items recyclable to income

(85)

Foreign exchange rate adjustments

106

Revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income recyclable to income

26

Available-for-sale assets in the insurance business

(214)

Revaluation of derivatives hedging items that can be recycled to income

48

Share of gains and losses recognized directly in the equity of associates

(131)

Related taxes

80

Items not recyclable to income

192

Revaluation (or actuarial gains and losses) in respect of defined-benefit plans

63

Revaluation of own credit risk on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

241

Revaluation of equity financial assets recognized at fair value through other comprehensive income

(13)

Share of gains and losses recognized directly in the equity of associates

1

Other items recognized through other comprehensive income not recyclable to income

(4)

Related taxes

(95)

Total gains and losses recognized directly in equity

108

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2,146

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

1,692

Non-controlling interests

454

For informational purposes: Amount of items not recyclable to income that were transferred to retained earnings

2

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39

in millions of euros

H1 2017

Net income

1,865

Revaluation differences on defined-benefit plans
Revaluation of own credit risk on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Income taxes

80
(57)
(6)

Items not recyclable to income

17

Foreign exchange rate adjustments

(404)

Change in the value of available-for-sale financial assets

(32)

Change in the value of hedging derivatives

146

Income taxes

9

Share of gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income of associates recyclable to income

(20)

Items recyclable to income

(301)

GAINS AND LOSSES RECOGNIZED DIRECTLY IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (AFTER INCOME TAX)

(284)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

1,581

Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests

1,422
159
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5.1.4 Statement of changes in equity

Share capital and
additional paid-in capital

Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income
Recyclable

in millions of euros
Share
capital
Shareholders’ equity at January 1, 2017

(1 )

18,113

Additional
paid-in
capital

(1 )

3,834

Perpetual
deeply
subordinated
notes

Retained
earnings

Foreign
exchange
rate
adjustments

1,230

36,560

603

Distribution
Capital increase (2)

431

Interest on deeply subordinated notes
Impact of acquisitions and disposals on non-controlling interests (3)
Total activity arising from relations with shareholders

431

Non-recyclable

Debt financial
assets at fair
value through Available-forother sale assets in
comprehensive the insurance
income
business

7,674

69,136

(406)

(748)

600

13

(50)

(50)

(24)

(24)

(26)

(50)

(247)

184

(419)

(235)
(284)

(28)

52

Net income for the period
Comprehensive income
Other changes (4)
Shareholders’ equity at June 30, 2017

Shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2017

269

1,865

83

(28)

52

1,596

1,422
(27)

159
5

1,581
(22)

1,596

63,041

7,419

70,460

3,024

64,028

7,173

71,201

(1,552)

(67)

(1,619)

62,476

7,106

69,582

(335)

(511)

(846)

3,834

1,230

36,286

300

1,911

(351)

(86)

(223)

18,888

3,834

683

36,200

84

2,101

(361)

(167)

(258)

3,024

(3,024)

(1,055)
(796)
18,888

3,834

683

Distribution
Capital increase (2)

(110)

1,596

22

New presentation of gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income of
the insurance business

Shareholders’ equity at January 1, 2018

(174)

(303)

18,544

Impacts of changes related to first-time application of IFRS 9 (7)

38,428

1,055

(1,824)
84

277

1,055

59

(46)

(302)

(46)

(167)

(258)

(335)
159

613
(50)

1,596
(27)

Allocation of net income for 2017

Total
Non-controlling consolidated
interests
equity

(342)

83

(275)

Total equity
attributable
to equity
holders of
the parent
61,462

22

(58)

Net income
attributable to
equity holders
of the parent

169

(303)

(434)

Revaluation
differences
on employee
benefits

(342)

Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income

1,889

Equity financial
assets
recognized at
Revaluation of own
fair value credit risk on financial
Change in fair
through other liabilities designated at
value of hedging comprehensive
fair value through
derivatives
income
profit or loss

236

395

3

398

Redemption of deeply subordinated notes (5)

(31)

(31)

(267)

(298)

Interest on deeply subordinated notes

(30)

(30)

Impact of acquisitions and disposals on non-controlling interests (6)
Total activity arising from relations with shareholders

159

(42)

(42)

(46)

(88)

(202)

(43)

(821)

(864)

Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income

45

(48)

(119)

23

(18)

125

41
1,643

1,643

396

2,039

45

(48)

(119)

23

(18)

125

41

1,643

1,692

454

2,146

(15)

(2)

(17)

129

229

936

(279)

(64)

(42)

(217)

1,643

64,110

6,737

70,847

Net income for the period
Comprehensive income
Other changes (4)
Shareholders’ equity at June 30, 2018

49

(15)
19,047

3,834

683

(30)

38,211

58

107
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(1)

At June 30, 2018, “Share capital” and “Additional paid-in capital” consisted of the share capital in the Banque Populaire banks and the Caisses d’Epargne (see Note 4.12.1);

(2)

Since January 1, 2018, the Banque Populaire banks and the Caisses d’Epargne have carried out capital increases of €159 million (€431 million in first-half 2017), resulting in an increase in “Share capital”
and “Additional paid-in capital.” The shareholders’ equity of the local savings companies is also included in “Retained earnings” after the elimination of the Caisses d’Epargne cooperative shares held. The
issuance of cooperative shares by the local savings companies since January 1, 2018 resulted in an increase in retained earnings of €236 million;

(3)

Including, in first-half 2017, a reduction in retained earnings of -€50 million (-€24 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€26 million attributable to non-controlling interests) arising from
the impact of acquisitions and other movements. This reduction was mainly due to the following:

-€31 million for the revaluation and unwinding of the discount on call options granted to the minority shareholders of DNCA France and Ciloger,

-€4 million for call options granted to the minority shareholders of PayPlug;
Other changes include interest on perpetual deeply subordinated notes for the portion subscribed for by minority shareholders (non-controlling interests);
The redemption in first-half 2018 of two perpetual deeply subordinated notes issued by Natixis in 2008 amounted to -€253 million, fully subscribed for by non-controlling interests. These redemptions
led to the reversal of the capital gain recorded in equity in the amount of -€43 million (-€31 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€12 million attributable to non-controlling
interests);
Including, in first-half 2018, a reduction in retained earnings of -€88 million (-€42 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€46 million attributable to non-controlling interests) arising
from the impact of acquisitions and other movements. This reduction was mainly due to the following:

-€17 million for the unwinding of the discount on call options granted to minority shareholders (-€12 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€5 million attributable to noncontrolling interests),

The transfer of the minority share in net equity of the entities representing these call options (-€18 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and +€18 million attributable to noncontrolling interests),

-€49 million (-€35 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€14 million attributable to non-controlling interests) for call options granted to the minority shareholders of Vermilion
for -€15 million, of Fenchurch for -€27 million and of Alter CE for -€8 million;
The impact of first-time application of IFRS 9 on the opening balance sheet at January 1, 2018 is detailed in Note 5.1.6.

(4)
(5)

(6)

(7)
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5.1.5 Consolidated cash flow statement
in millions of euros
Income before tax
Net depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
Net charge to provisions and provisions for impairment (including insurance companies’ technical
reserves)
Share in net income of associates
Net cash flows generated by investing activities
Income/expense from financing activities
Other changes
Total non-monetary items included in net income before tax
Net increase or decrease arising from transactions with credit institutions

H1 2018

H1 2017

2,966

2,888

469

465

3,503

4,871

(26)

(37)

(642)

(396)

45

44

3,401

3,986

6,750

8,933

4,242

12,888

Net increase or decrease arising from transactions with customers

(9,949)

Net increase or decrease arising from transactions involving financial assets and liabilities

(3,253)

(14,815)

(598)

(6,395)

Net increase or decrease arising from transactions involving non-financial assets and liabilities
Income taxes paid
Net increase (decrease) in assets and liabilities resulting from operating activities
Net cash flows generated by operating activities (A) - Continuing operations
Net cash flows generated by operating activities (A) - Discontinued operations
Net increase or decrease related to financial assets and equity investments
Net increase or decrease related to investment property

486

(194)

(9,072)

(5,990)

548

Net cash flows generated by investing activities (B) - Continuing operations
Net cash flows generated by investing activities (B) - Discontinued operations
Net increase (decrease) arising from transactions with shareholders
Other increases or decreases generated by financing activities

(1)

(2)

Net cash flows generated by financing activities (C) – Continuing operations

266
(402)
375

(207)
(1,071)

(1,061)

(1,278)

(51)

C urrent accounts with overdrafts

(4)

Demand accounts and loans

5,019
83,919

(6,454)

(7,966)

6,991

8,216

(9,490)

Demand repurchase agreements

(1,091)

94,702

142

Demand accounts in credit

1,557

(285)

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS (A+B+C+D)
Net balance of demand transactions with credit institutions

148
(417)

(776)

410

(3)

1,826

(419)

Impact of changes in exchange rates (D) - Continuing operations
Cash and net balance of accounts with central banks

5,831

96
92

Net increase or decrease related to property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets

2,526

(4,097)

60
(11,235)
(5,007)

Opening cash and cash equivalents

88,248

75,953

Cash and net balance of accounts with central banks

91,735

89,449

Net balance of demand transactions with credit institutions

(3,538)

(8,477)

9,419

6,531

C urrent accounts with overdrafts

(4)

Demand accounts and loans

115

Demand accounts in credit

(9,629)

Demand repurchase agreements
Closing cash and cash equivalents
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(1)

(2)

5,019

•

the redemption of deeply subordinated notes recorded in equity for -€298 million (there were no redemptions in H1 2017);

•

interest paid on deeply subordinated notes recorded in equity for -€30 million (-€72 million in H1 2017);

•

net changes in share capital and additional paid-in capital of the Banque Populaire banks and Caisses d’Epargne amounting to
+€398 million (+€600 million in H1 2017);

•

the impact of dividend payouts for -€846 million (-€748 million in H1 2017).

Other increases or decreases generated by financing activities mainly include:

•
(4)

(51)

(6,027)
80,972

Cash flows from or to the shareholders mainly include:

•
(3)

(3,443)
88,197

195
(9,176)

the impact of issuances of subordinated notes and loans for €3 million (+€26 million in H1 2017);
the impact of redemptions of subordinated notes and loans for -€288 million (-€1,075 million in H1 2017);
Excluding -€4 million in value adjustments to opening cash and cash equivalents;
Current accounts with overdrafts do not include Livret A, LDD and LEP savings accounts centralized with the Caisse des Dépôts et
Consignations.
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5.1.6 First-time application of IFRS 9
1.

Impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 at January 1, 2018

Groupe BPCE has applied IFRS 9 on financial instruments, which replaces IAS 39, since January 1, 2018. The options
selected are described in Note 2.2 and the accounting principles in Note 3. The main impacts of first-time application
of IFRS 9 on the balance sheet at January 1, 2018 are as follows:
Classification and measurement
Most financial assets that were measured at amortized cost under IAS 39 continue to meet the conditions for
measurement at amortized cost under IFRS 9. Similarly, most financial assets measured at fair value under IAS 39
(available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) continue to be measured at
fair value under IFRS 9.
The main reclassifications are as follows:
for the retail banking loan book, the impact is limited and primarily concerns:



-

certain instruments that were measured at amortized cost and classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39,
but which are recognized at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9 because their contractual cash flows
do not represent solely payments of principal and interest,

-

the structured loans granted to local authorities that were designated at fair value through profit or loss under
IAS 39 and are now classified as non-SPPI financial assets under IFRS 9 in “Assets at fair value through profit
or loss.” As these assets were previously measured at fair value through profit or loss under IAS 39, this
reclassification has no impact on the group's capital.
for other loan books:



-

repurchase agreements classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss under IAS 39 (fair value
option) and considered part of a trading business model under IFRS 9 are recognized in assets at fair value
through profit or loss,

-

repurchase agreements classified as loans and receivables or as liabilities and measured at amortized cost
under IAS 39, and considered part of a trading business model under IFRS 9, are now recognized in assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
for securities portfolios:



-

under IAS 39, liquidity reserve securities were either carried at amortized cost because they were classified as
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity financial assets, or they were measured at fair value because they
were classified as available-for-sale securities, depending on their characteristics, how they were managed and
whether or not they were hedged against interest rate risk. The breakdown of these debt securities has
changed under IFRS 9, with a choice, for each group entity, between measurement at amortized cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income, depending on whether they are managed with the objective of
collecting cash flows or with the objective of collecting cash flows and selling the assets,

-

units of UCITS and private equity investment funds, except for those in the insurance business, qualified as
equity instruments and classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets” under IAS 39 are measured at fair
value through profit or loss under IFRS 9, as they are considered debt instruments under the IFRS 9 definition,
and as their contractual cash flows do not represent solely payments of principal and interest,

-

investments in associates classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets” under IAS 39 are classified at fair
value through profit or loss under IFRS 9. Once Groupe BPCE companies have individually made a final
decision, the securities are classified at fair value through other comprehensive income not recyclable to
income, and securitization fund units measured at amortized cost and classified as loans and receivables under
IAS 39 (i) are measured at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9 if their contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest, (ii) are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if
they are managed under a business model with the objective of collecting cash flows and selling the assets and
are solely payments of principal and interest, and (iii) continue to be recognized at amortized cost if they are
managed under a business model with the objective of collecting cash flows and are solely payments of
principal and interest.

Reclassifications between categories of financial assets measured at amortized cost and fair value through profit or
loss or through other comprehensive income have a net impact on Groupe BPCE’s consolidated equity owing to the
different calculation methods applicable to these assets and to the retrospective application of the standard.
Nevertheless, as these reclassifications are limited or affect assets whose fair value does not vary significantly from
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their value at amortized cost due notably to the residual maturity of the transactions in question, these
reclassifications do not have a material impact on Groupe BPCE’s opening equity at January 1, 2018.
Groupe BPCE has moreover decided to apply the option available under recommendation no. 2017-02 of the Autorité
des Normes Comptables (ANC – French accounting standards setter) of June 2, 2017 on the format of the consolidated
financial statements of banking institutions in accordance with international accounting standards, namely to present
the insurance businesses separately on the balance sheet and income statement.
In accordance with this same recommendation, the margin calls and deposits paid that had been recorded under
accrual accounts at December 31, 2017 (€20.7 billion) were reclassified at January 1, 2018 to loans and receivables
due from credit institutions or to assets at fair value through profit or loss, depending on their business model.
Similarly, the margin calls and deposits received that had been recorded in accrual accounts at December 31, 2017
(€10.2 billion) were reclassified at January 1, 2018 to amounts due to credit institutions or to liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, depending on their business model.

Impairment
The new IFRS 9 provisioning model points to an increase in the amount of impairment on loans and securities
measured at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI recyclable to income, and on off-balance sheet commitments
as well as on lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets.
Under IAS 39, there was a separate provisioning model for: (i) instruments measured at amortized cost, (ii) debt
instruments measured as “Available-for-sale assets,” (iii) equity instruments measured as “Available-for-sale assets,”
and (iv) instruments recognized at cost. In contrast, under IFRS 9, there is just one provisioning model. This model
applies equally to instruments measured at amortized cost and to debt instruments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income recyclable to income. Additionally, under IFRS 9, equity instruments are no longer
impaired since they are either measured at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other
comprehensive income and not recyclable to income.
Under IAS 39, impairments on initial recognition were expressly prohibited. An asset or group of assets could be
impaired only if:



there was objective evidence of impairment resulting from one or more events having occurred since the initial
recognition of the asset (i.e. loss events); and
these loss events had an impact on the estimated cash flows of the financial asset.

IFRS 9 now requires that entities recognize impairments at an earlier stage than under IAS 39, i.e., from the date of
initial recognition of the financial instrument. Accordingly, application of the new IFRS 9 provisioning model leads to an
increase in the amount of impairment recorded on loans and securities carried at amortized cost or at fair value
through OCI recyclable to income and on loan or guarantee commitments given (excluding those recognized at fair
value through profit or loss) as well as on lease receivables.
The impact of first-time application of IFRS 9 on opening equity related to the implementation of the new impairment
model is -€2,078 million before tax (-€1,619 million after tax).
Impairment for credit risk is now €14,350 million under IFRS 9 versus €12,259 million at December 31, 2017 under
IAS 39 and IAS 37.
It includes €1,282 million for financial assets and loan and guarantee commitments
(corresponding to a calculation based on 12-month expected losses), €2,090 million
(corresponding to a calculation based on lifetime expected losses) and €10,978 million
corresponding to non-performing assets and commitments. Impairment on a portfolio basis
was €1,350 million at December 31, 2017.

classified as Stage 1
classified as Stage 2
classified as Stage 3,
recorded under IAS 39

It related primarily to loans and receivables at amortized cost (€13,427 million) and, to a lesser extent, loan and
guarantee commitments (€707 million), securities at amortized cost (€159 million) and debt instruments at fair value
through OCI recyclable to income (€57 million).
Reclassifications between categories of financial assets did not have a significant impact on the Group’s equity at
January 1, 2018. Most financial assets measured at amortized cost under IAS 39 continue to meet the conditions for
measurement at amortized cost under IFRS 9. Similarly, most assets measured at fair value under IAS 39 (availablefor-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) continue to be measured at fair value
under IFRS 9.
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The following table provides a breakdown of the impacts of the change related to the reclassifications and to application of the new provisioning method between IAS 39 and
IFRS 9 by class of financial asset and liability. The principles for classifying financial instruments under IFRS 9 are presented in Note 3.1.
Impacts of the change
ASSETS (in millions of euros)
IAS 39

Insurance
IAS 39
businesses

C ash and amounts due from central banks
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Available-for-sale financial assets

94,702
169,768
9,809
104,669

(23,923)
1
(51,310)

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions
Loans and receivables due from customers

92,061
693,128

(500)
(10,268)

Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios
Held-to-maturity financial assets

5,805

C urrent tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Accrued income and other assets

1,470
3,081

7,834

(2,655)

Reclassifications

66,652
(17)
(53,359)
35,449
(1,333)
(54,811)
33,544
(8)

Investments in associates
Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES (in millions of euros)
IAS 39
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Amounts due to credit institutions
Amounts due to customers
Debt securities
Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios
C urrent tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Liabilities on assets held for sale
Technical reserves of insurance companies
Provisions
Subordinated debt
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital and reserves
Retained earnings
Unrealized gains and losses
Net income for the period
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL LIABILITIES
(1)
(2)

60,290

(13,313)

IAS 39

135,917
14,725
92,145
569,879
216,957
367
311
687
49,431
717
83,711
6,392
17,410
71,201
64,029
22,722
39,908
1,399
7,172
1,259,850

(3)
(6)
(1,612)
(49)

94,698
212,497
9,793

C ash and amounts due from central banks
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives - positive fair value

35,446
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
90,222
Loans and receivables due from credit institutions
626,437
Loans and receivables due from customers
33,495
Debt securities at amortized cost
5,798
Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios

(20,905)

26,061

26,061

1,195

1,195

Non-current assets held for sale
Deferred profit-sharing

4,105
790
4,461
1,167
4,304
1,258,873

Investments in associates
Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
TOTAL ASSETS

706

4,113
790
4,461
1,167
4,304
1,259,850

Reclassifications

(183)

71,203

15

(7,516)
(53,190)
170

(9,849)

35,449
90,228
628,049
33,544
5,797

ASSETS (in millions of euros)
IFRS 9

IFRS 9

103,182
1,470
3,048

(1,204)

Insurance
businesses

94,702
212,497
9,793

Value
adjustment
for credit
losses
(4)

(32)

1,195
4,112
1,994
4,461
1,167
4,304
1,259,850

Valuation (1)

(5,179)

103,182

Non-current assets held for sale
Deferred profit-sharing

Total after
reclassifications

(42)
(10,625)

10,016
(4)
1

Total after
reclassifications
206,938
14,725
84,644
516,689
217,127
367
311
645
28,958
717
93,728
6,388
17,411
71,201
64,028
22,722
39,907
1,399
7,172
1,259,850

(8)

(976)
Impacts of the change
Value
adjustment
Valuation (1)
for credit
losses

749
(749)

103,182
1,470
3,754

IFRS 9

Insurance business investments
C urrent tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Accrued income and other assets

LIABILITIES (in millions of euros)
IFRS 9

206,938
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
14,725
Hedging derivatives
84,644
Amounts due to credit institutions and similar items
516,689
Amounts due to customers
217,127
Debt securities
367
Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios
311
C urrent tax liabilities
235
880
Deferred tax liabilities
28,958
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Liabilities associated with
717non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
93,728
Liabilities related to insurance policies
408
6,796
Provisions
17,411
Subordinated debt
(1,619)
69,582
Equity
(1,552)
62,476
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
22,722
Share capital and reserves
(1,553)
39,104
Retained earnings
650
Gains and losses recognized directly in OC I
Net income for the period
Non-controlling interests
(68)
7,106
TOTAL LIABILITIES
(976)
1,258,873

This relates to the change in the way the asset is measured. For example, an asset at amortized cost under IAS 39 can be measured at fair value under IFRS 9;
The impact of first-time application of the new impairment model is provided in Note 5.1.6 §3.
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2.

Summary of reclassifications between IAS 39 and IFRS 9 by category

Financial assets
1/1/2018
Financial assets under IAS 39

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
Of which fair value through profit or
loss of assets held for trading
Derivatives
Fixed-income securities
Variable-income securities
Loans and receivables

Of which designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Fixed-income securities
Variable-income securities
Loans or receivables due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables due from customers
Securities received under repurchase
agreements

Classification under IFRS 9

Note

104,664
Financial assets at fair value through
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

47,159

profit or loss

15,100

profit or loss

40,467

46,940
214
9,536
5,564
40,467

1,938

1,938

profit or loss

(c)

65,104
(a)
(l)
(b)
(l)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(c)

2

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments

(c)
(l)

8,322

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(d)

34,504

600
2,085
5542
14,049
2
6,311
2,011
34,504

9,793

104,669
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Insurance business investments
Debt instruments at amortized cost

(e)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive

(g)
(l)
(h)

(f)

325
89,870

(l)
(f)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers

14,761
38

Loans and receivables (*)

32,073
42,433
15,212
8,506
3,637
2,648
36
2

785,189
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments

Accounts and loans

C urrent accounts with overdrafts

Fixed-income securities

Finance leases

Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

70,418
588,851
87
10,762

6,989
11,634

6,989
11,634

13,970

13,115
149

(j)
(l)
(j)

(k)

Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers

Held-to-maturity financial assets
Fixed-income securities

70,827
601,078
(i)
(l)

Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers
Debt instruments at amortized cost
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Securities received under term repurchase
agreements

688

13,943
50,467

7,867
9,226
47,317

16,281

16,281

7,834
Insurance business investments
Debt instruments at amortized cost

(l)
7,834

Accrued income and other assets
Accrued income and other assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers
Insurance business investments

60,290
60,290

2,655
5,168

26,061
15,518
4,948
443
13,322

(l)

Investment property

1,994
Insurance business investments
Investment property

Cash and amounts due from central banks
Revaluation differences on interest rate riskCurrent tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Non-current assets held for sale
Investments in associates
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total

19,591

9,809
9,809

Available-for-sale financial assets

Loans or receivables

2,685

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments

Hedging derivatives
Insurance business investments

Variable-income securities

Carrying amount
under IFRS 9

169,768

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Hedging derivatives

Fixed-income securities

Carrying amount
under IAS 39

(l)
1,994

1,204
790

94,702
5,805
1,470
3,081
1,195
4,112
4,461
1,167
4,304

94,698
5,798
1,470
3,754
1,195
4,105
4,461
1,167
4,304

1,259,850

1,258,873

(*) Impairment on a portfolio basis is recognized as a deduction from assets, like individual impairment, and is therefore included in the
carrying amount of the instruments.
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Application of IFRS 9 criteria (Note 3.1) relating to the business models and contractual characteristics of financial
instruments led the Group to make the following modifications to the classification of financial assets compared with
IAS 39:
(a)

Fixed-income securities classified as “Financial assets designated at fair value” according to IAS 39 were
classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 for €208 million, as they are
managed under a trading business model.
Fixed-income securities reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 because
they failed the SPPI test stood at €474 million.

(b)

Variable-income securities classified as “Financial assets designated at fair value” under IAS 39 and managed
under a trading business model were classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under
IFRS 9 for €242 million.

(c)

Loans and receivables classified as “Financial assets designated at fair value” under IAS 39 managed according to
a trading business model were classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 for
€2,421 million.
Loans and receivables reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 because
they failed the SPPI test stood at €3,691 million.

(d)

Securities received under repurchase agreements classified as “Financial assets designated at fair value” under
IAS 39, managed under a trading business model, were classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss” under IFRS 9 for €34,504 million.

(e)

Debt instruments classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets” under IAS 39 were classified as “Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 in the amount of €325 million because they failed the
SPPI test.

(f)

Debt instruments corresponding mainly to the liquidity reserve securities portfolio, managed under a hold to
collect and sell business model, were reclassified in the amount of €32,073 million as “Financial assets at fair
value through OCI” under IFRS 9. This reclassification had no impact on opening equity.
Debt instruments classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets” under IAS 39 and reclassified as assets at
amortized cost under IFRS 9 stood at €15,212 million.
This reclassification did not have a material impact on opening equity.

(g)

Unconsolidated UCITS units in the amount of €4,493 million are considered non-SPPI debt instruments under
IFRS 9 and are therefore classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.”
Other variable-income securities (excluding investments in associates) managed under a trading business model
are reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9.
Investments in associates reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 stood
at €789 million.

(h)

Investments in associates reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through OCI” (non-recyclable) under
IFRS 9 represented €2,098 million.

(i)

These are loans or receivables classified as “Loans and receivables” under IAS 39 and reclassified as “Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 because they failed the SPPI test for €87 million.
This reclassification did not have a material impact on equity.

(j)

These are debt instruments classified as “Loans and receivables” under IAS 39 and reclassified as “Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 because they failed the SPPI test for €149 million.
Debt instruments managed under a hold to collect and sell business model were reclassified in the amount of
€688 million as “Financial assets at fair value through OCI” under IFRS 9. This reclassification did not have a
material impact on opening equity.

(k)

Securities received under repurchase agreements classified as “Loans and receivables” under IAS 39 and
managed under a trading business model are recognized as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”
under IFRS 9 for €47,317 million.
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(l)

Reclassification of financial assets of the insurance businesses to “Insurance business investments” in accordance
with the ANC recommendation.

The impacts of the change related to changes in classification and to implementation of the new provisioning method
are provided in Note 5.1.6 §1.

Financial liabilities
1/1/2018
Financial liabilities under IAS 39

Classification under IFRS 9

Note

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Of which fair value through profit or loss of
assets held for trading
Derivatives

Carrying amount
under IFRS 9

135,917
74,660

Securities
Other liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Liabilities related to insurance policies
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Of which designated at fair value through
profit or loss
Securities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements
Other liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

47,670
26,948
42

47,487
183
26,948
42

61,257
(a)

Hedging derivatives
Hedging derivatives
Amounts due to credit institutions and customers

22,798
34,965
3,494

22,798
34,965
3,494

14,725
14,725

14,726

662,024

Deposits and loans

Amounts due to credit institutions
Amounts due to customers

64,385
336,273

64,385
336,273

Current accounts in credit

Amounts due to credit institutions
Amounts due to customers

9,488
172,889

9,488
172,889

Securities sold under repurchase agreements

Amounts due to credit institutions
Amounts due to customers
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

18,272
60,717

8,890
6,934
63,165

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Technical reserves of insurance companies
Debt securities
Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Liabilities on assets held for sale
Provisions
Subordinated debt
Total equity

(b)
49,431

Accrued income and other assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Amounts due to credit institutions
Amounts due to customers
Liabilities related to insurance policies

Total

Carrying amount under
IAS 39

Liabilities related to insurance policies

49,431

28,951
8,031
1,881
593
9,849

83,711

83,711

216,957
367
311
687
717
6,392
17,410
71,201

217,127
367
311
880
717
6,796
17,411
69,582

1,259,850

1,258,873

(a)

Securities sold under repurchase agreements classified as “Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss” under IAS 39 and managed under a trading business model are classified as “Financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 for €34,965 million;

(b)

Securities sold under repurchase agreements classified as “Amounts due to credit institutions and customers”
under IAS 39 and managed under a trading business model are classified as “Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 for €63,165 million.
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3.

Impacts of the change in impairments or provisions for expected credit losses

This table provides a breakdown of the impacts of the change related to application of the new rules on the
impairment or provisioning of credit risk between IAS 39 and IFRS 9.

Reconciliation of impairments and provisions (in millions of
euros)

Loans and receivables at amortized cost

Impairment or
provision under IAS
39

Reclassifications

IFRS 9 impacts

Impairment or
provision under
IFRS 9

11,731

78

1,618

13,427

Debt securities at amortized cost

122

(12)

49

159

Debt instruments available for sale/at fair value through other
comprehensive income recyclable to income

107

(53)

3

57

11,960

13

1,670

13,643

Total balance sheet

Provisions for off-balance sheet commitments
Total impairments and provisions

299

0

408

707

12,259

13

2,078

14,350
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Note 1
1.1

General background

GROUPE BPCE

Groupe BPCE comprises the Banque Populaire network, the Caisse d’Epargne network, the BPCE central institution and
its subsidiaries.
Two banking networks: the Banque Populaire banks and the Caisses d’Epargne
Groupe BPCE is a cooperative group whose shareholders own the two local retail banking networks: the 14 Banque
Populaire banks and the 15 Caisses d’Epargne. Each of the two networks owns an equal share in BPCE, the Group’s
central institution.
The Banque Populaire network consists of the Banque Populaire banks and the Mutual Guarantee Companies granting
them the exclusive benefit of their guarantees.
The Caisse d’Epargne network consists of the Caisses d’Epargne and the local savings companies (LSCs).
The Banque Populaire banks are wholly-owned by their cooperative shareholders.
The capital of the Caisses d’Epargne is wholly-owned by the LSCs. Local savings companies are cooperative structures
with open-ended share capital owned by cooperative shareholders. The LSCs are tasked with coordinating the
cooperative shareholder base, in line with the general objectives defined by the individual Caisse d’Epargne with which
they are affiliated, and cannot perform banking transactions.
BPCE
BPCE, a central institution as defined by the French Banking Law and a credit institution licensed to operate as a bank,
was created pursuant to law No. 2009-715 of June 18, 2009. BPCE was incorporated as a French limited liability
company governed by a Management Board and a Supervisory Board, whose share capital is owned jointly and equally
by the 14 Banque Populaire banks and the 15 Caisses d’Epargne.
BPCE’s corporate mission embodies the continuity of the cooperative principles underlying the Banque Populaire banks
and the Caisses d’Epargne.
Specifically, BPCE represents the interests of its various affiliates in dealings with the supervisory authorities, defines
the range of products and services offered by them, organizes depositor protection, approves key appointments of
company directors and oversees the smooth functioning of the Group’s institutions.
As a holding company, BPCE is the head entity of the Group and holds the joint ventures between the two networks in
retail banking and insurance, corporate banking and financial services, and their production units. It defines the
Group’s corporate strategy and growth and expansion policies.
The network and BPCE’s main subsidiaries, including Natixis, a 71.03%-owned listed company, are organized around
three core business lines:


Retail Banking and Insurance includes the Banque Populaire and Caisse d’Epargne networks, the Natixis
Specialized Financial Services and Insurance business line and Other networks (Crédit Foncier, Banque Palatine
and BPCE International);



Asset & Wealth Management;



Corporate and Investment Banking.

In respect of the Group’s financial functions, BPCE is responsible, in particular, for the centralized management of
surplus funds, for the execution of any financial transactions required to develop and fund the Group, and for choosing
the most appropriate counterparty for these transactions in the broader interests of the Group. BPCE also provides
banking services to the other Group entities.

1.2

GUARANTEE MECHANISM

Pursuant to Articles L. 511-31 and L. 512-107-6 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, the guarantee and
solidarity mechanism was set up to ensure the liquidity and capital adequacy of the Group and its associates, and to
organize financial support within the Banque Populaire and Caisse d’Epargne networks.
BPCE is tasked with taking all measures necessary to guarantee the capital adequacy of the Group and each of the
networks, including implementing the appropriate internal financing mechanisms within the Group and establishing a
Mutual Guarantee Fund common to both networks, for which it determines the operating rules, the conditions for the
provision of financial support to the existing funds of the two networks, as well as the contributions of associates to
the fund’s initial capital endowment and reconstitution.
BPCE manages the Banque Populaire Network Fund and the Caisse d’Epargne Network Fund and has put in place the
Mutual Guarantee Fund.
The Banque Populaire Network Fund was formed by a deposit made by the Banque Populaire banks of €450 million
that was booked by BPCE in the form of a 10-year term account which is indefinitely renewable.
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The deposit made to the Caisse d’Epargne Network Fund by the Caisses d’Epargne of €450 million was booked by
BPCE in the form of a 10-year term account which is indefinitely renewable.
The Mutual Guarantee Fund was formed by deposits made by the Banque Populaire banks and the Caisses
d’Epargne. These deposits were booked by BPCE in the form of 10-year term accounts which are indefinitely
renewable. The amount of the deposits by network was €181 million as of June 30, 2018.
The total amount of deposits made to BPCE in respect of the Banque Populaire Network Fund, the Caisse d’Epargne
Network Fund and the Mutual Guarantee Fund may not be less than 0.15% and may not exceed 0.3% of the total riskweighted assets of the Group.
The booking of deposits in the institutions’ individual accounts under the guarantee and solidarity system results in the
recording of an item of an equivalent amount under a dedicated capital heading.
The mutual guarantee companies (sociétés de caution mutuelle), whose sole corporate purpose is to guarantee loans
issued by Banque Populaire banks, are covered by the liquidity and capital adequacy guarantee of the Banque
Populaire banks.
The liquidity and capital adequacy of the Caisses de Crédit Maritime Mutuel are guaranteed in respect of each
individual Caisse, by the Banque Populaire bank which is both the core shareholder and provider of technical and
operational support for the Caisse in relation to the partner Banque Populaire bank.
The liquidity and capital adequacy of the local savings companies are secured, firstly, at the level of each individual
local savings company by the Caisse d’Epargne of which the local savings company in question is a shareholder.
BPCE’s Management Board holds all the requisite powers to mobilize the resources of the various contributors without
delay and in accordance with the agreed order, on the basis of prior authorizations given to BPCE by the contributors.
1.3

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Application of IFRS 5 to BPCE International’s African subsidiaries
On February 20, 2018, Groupe BPCE announced the signature of an agreement to sell all of the capital of Banque des
Mascareignes, a bank located in Mauritius, and its subsidiary in Madagascar (Banque des Mascareignes Madagascar) to
the Moroccan cooperative group Banque Centrale Populaire.
The completion of the sale is subject to the usual conditions precedent for this type of transaction, including in
particular the approval of the regulatory authorities in Mauritius, Madagascar and Morocco. It should be finalized by
the end of 2018.
Groupe BPCE is also in discussions with potential financial and industrial partners about its banks’ activity in Africa.
This mainly concerns Banque Tuniso Koweitienne and its subsidiaries, Banque Commerciale Internationale (BCI) in the
Congo, BICEC in Cameroon and Banque Malgache de l’Océan Indien in Madagascar.
These various transactions are part of the Group’s strategy of refocusing on priority development sectors and regions.
At June 30, 2018, these entities’ assets and liabilities were therefore presented in accordance with IFRS 5 (Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations) and aggregated on a single line, i.e., €2,705 million on the
assets side (of which €1,749 million from loans and receivables due from customers) and €2,478 million on the
liabilities side (of which €1,969 million from amounts due to customers).

Establishment of Caisse d’Epargne Grand Est Europe
On June 23, 2018, the Annual General Shareholders' Meetings of Caisses d’Epargne d’Alsace and Lorraine ChampagneArdenne ratified the merger agreement between the two Caisses. Caisse d’Epargne Grand Est Europe was created two
hundred years after the establishment of the first Caisse d’Epargne in France.
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1.4

POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Project to integrate Crédit Foncier’s operations into Groupe BPCE

Scope and status of the project

On June 25 and 26, 2018, respectively, the BPCE Supervisory Board and the Crédit Foncier Board of Directors gave
their approval, in principle, to start a project to integrate Crédit Foncier’s operations and teams to meet the new
requirements of the sector and its customers. This project would focus on integrating the knowledge and expertise of
Crédit Foncier into the various companies of Groupe BPCE.

Accordingly:
 new loans would be redeployed in the Group’s entities: Individual Customer financing within the Banque Populaire
banks and Caisses d’Epargne, Corporate financing within the Caisses d’Epargne and Banque Populaire banks for
social housing, and Natixis for project and infrastructure financing;
 Socfim, which would become a subsidiary of BPCE SA, would position itself as a global player in corporate real
estate financing by integrating long-term financing for real estate professionals with financing for developers;
 Crédit Foncier Immobilier would become a subsidiary of BPCE SA;
 the special expertise and the projects initiated by Crédit Foncier would continue on a national level;
 Crédit Foncier would be refocused on the funding, through Compagnie de Financement Foncier, of public sector
assets originated by the Group and on the management of currently outstanding loans.

Also, as part of this project, any delisting offer involving Locindus shares would be filed with the Autorité des Marchés
Financiers (French Financial Markets Authority — AMF).

In keeping with the project’s objective — to develop Crédit Foncier’s activities by integrating them into the various
Groupe BPCE companies — and as part of an employment preservation plan, employees whose activity would be
redeployed as outlined above (approximately 1,400 people) would be offered a similar position, with an equivalent
classification and in the same employment area, at another Groupe BPCE company. Alternatively, for employees with a
project who are not interested in pursuing the reclassification proposal mentioned above, Crédit Foncier would allow
the option to volunteer for external mobility, with financial and other support.

Accounting impacts at June 30, 2018

At June 30, 2018, as detailed information is not available, the criteria for recording a provision have not been met; the
institution is furthermore unable to reliably quantify the final cost of the project, based primarily on redeploying the
affected operations and teams.

The information and consultation process, which began on July 20, 2018, defined the scope of staff members affected
at this stage and the support measures that would be proposed for their reclassification (continued payment of
compensation, training, support for mobility, etc.) or, if applicable, their voluntary departure plan (compensation
based on employees’ length of service, capped at 24 months of wages). At this information and consultation stage, the
cost of these measures (and their resulting effects on the group’s business relationships) cannot reliably be
determined.

Agreement to acquire MV Crédit, a European credit specialist focused on private debt

On July 11, 2018, Natixis Investment Managers announced the signature of an agreement to acquire a minority stake
in US management company WCM Investment Management (WCM). Natixis Investment Managers will thus become
WCM’s exclusive third-party distributor. This acquisition is expected to close by the end of 2018, subject to customary
regulatory approvals.
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Note 2
2.1

Applicable accounting standards and comparability

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

The consolidated financial statements of Groupe BPCE were prepared under International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and applicable at that date, excluding certain provisions of lAS 39
relating to hedge accounting.

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2018 were prepared according to IAS 34
“Interim Financial Reporting.” The notes therefore apply to the most significant aspects of the half-year and should be
read in conjunction with the Group's consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2017.

2.2

STANDARDS

The standards and interpretations used and detailed in the annual financial statements as at December 31, 2017 were
complemented by standards, amendments and interpretations whose application is mandatory for reporting periods
starting from January 1, 2018.
New IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” was adopted by the European Commission on November 22, 2016 and is
applicable retrospectively as of January 1, 2018.
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 and defines the new rules for classifying and measuring financial assets and liabilities, the new
impairment methodology for the credit risk of financial assets, and hedge accounting, except for macro-hedging, which
the IASB is currently studying in a separate draft standard.
Groupe BPCE used the option available in IFRS 9 not to apply the provisions of the standard relative to hedge
accounting, and to continue to apply IAS 39 for the recognition of these transactions, as adopted by the European
Union, i.e., excluding certain provisions relating to macro-hedging. In view of the limited volume of asset
reclassifications, most transactions recognized using hedge accounting under IAS 39 continue to be disclosed in the
same way from January 1, 2018. However, the information provided in the Notes observes the provisions of IFRS 7 as
amended by IFRS 9.
Furthermore, on November 3, 2017, the European Commission adopted the amendment to IFRS 4 applying IFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” with IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” with specific provisions for financial conglomerates,
applicable as of January 1, 2018. The European regulation will allow insurance sectors within European financial
conglomerates to defer application of IFRS 9 until January 1, 2021 (effective date of the new IFRS 17 standard
“Insurance Contracts”) as long as they:





do not transfer financial instruments between the insurance sector and other sectors of the conglomerate (with the
exception of financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss for the two sectors affected by the
transfer);
indicate the insurance entities that apply IAS 39;
disclose specific additional information in the notes to the financial statements.

As Groupe BPCE is a financial conglomerate, it elected to apply this provision to its insurance businesses, which
continue to be covered by IAS 39. The main entities affected by this measure are CEGC, the insurance subsidiaries of
COFACE, Natixis Assurances, BPCE Vie and its consolidated funds, Natixis Life, ADIR, BPCE Prévoyance, BPCE
Assurances, BPCE IARD, Muracef, Surassur, Prépar Vie and Prépar Iard.
In accordance with the adoption regulation of November 3, 2017, the group took the necessary steps to prohibit any
transfer of financial instruments between its insurance sector and the rest of the group that would lead to a
derecognition for the transferring entity; this restriction is not, however, required for transfers of financial instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss by the two sectors involved.
Under the option available in IFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate previous fiscal years published as comparative
information for its financial statements.
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Groupe BPCE holds some fixed-rate loans with symmetrical prepayment clauses in its loan book. In an amendment to
IFRS 9 published in October 2017, the IASB stated that negative prepayment compensation is not in itself
incompatible with the notion of SPPI. The application of this amendment is mandatory as of January 1, 2019 and early
application is possible. The “Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation” amendment was adopted by the
European Commission on March 22, 2018. Groupe BPCE applied this amendment early, as of January 1, 2018.

Regulation (EU) 2017/2395 dated December 12, 2017 relating to transitional arrangements for mitigating the impact
of the introduction of IFRS 9 on capital and for the large exposures treatment of certain public-sector exposures was
published in the OJ on December 27, 2017. Groupe BPCE has decided not to opt to neutralize IFRS 9 transitional
impacts at the prudential level due to the limited impact when applying the standard.

IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” replaces the current standards and interpretations related to the
recognition of income. IFRS 15 was adopted by the European Union and published in the OJ on October 29, 2016. It
has been applicable retrospectively since January 1, 2018. The amendment entitled “Clarifications to IFRS 15,”
published by the IASB on April 12, 2016, was adopted by the European Commission on October 31, 2017 and is also
applicable retrospectively as of January 1, 2018.

Under this standard, recognition of revenue from ordinary activities now reflects the transfer of control of goods and
services promised to customers in an amount corresponding to the consideration that the entity expects to receive in
exchange for these goods and services. IFRS 15 thus introduces a new five-stage general approach for the recognition
of income:

identification of contracts with customers;

identification of specific performance obligations (or items) to be recognized separately from one another;

determination of overall transaction price;

allocation of transaction price to the various specific performance obligations;

recognition of revenue when performance obligations are met.

IFRS 15 applies to contracts entered into by an entity with its customers, with the exception of leases (covered by
IAS 17), insurance contracts (covered by IFRS 4) and financial instruments (covered by IFRS 9). If specific stipulations
relating to revenue or contract costs are given under a different standard, these will first be applied.

The work related to the first-time application of IFRS 15 notably drew on self-assessments carried out by certain pilot
institutions and subsidiaries, which were then transposed by all the Group’s significant institutions and subsidiaries.
This work helped identify the main items concerned, in particular:

fee and commission income, notably that relating to banking services when this income is not included in the
effective interest rate, or that relating to asset management or financial engineering services;

income from other activities, in particular for services included in leases.
This work also confirmed that the Group is either only slightly or not affected by certain first-time application of
IFRS 15 issues such as real estate development, loyalty programs and telephony.

Based on the work performed, the Group did not recognize any material impact related to application of IFRS 15, on
either opening equity at January 1, 2018 or on income and expense items in fiscal year 2018.

Under the option available in IFRS 15, the Group elected not to restate previous fiscal years published as comparative
information for its financial statements.
The other standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the European Union did not have a material impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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New standards published and not yet applicable

IFRS 16

IFRS 16 “Leases” will replace IAS 17 “Leases” and the interpretations related to the accounting of such contracts. The
standard was adopted by the European Commission on October 31, 2017. It will be applicable as of January 1, 2019.

As defined under IFRS 16, leases shall identify an asset and convey the right to use this asset for a period of time.
From the lessor's perspective, the impact is expected to be limited, as the provisions will not change substantially in
relation to the current IAS 17.

Under the current IAS 17, operating leases are not recognized on the balance sheet, only the corresponding rental
income is recorded in income.

In contrast, for lessees, IFRS 16 requires that leases be recorded in the balance sheet such that they convey the right
to use the leased asset presented, as the case may be, among property, plant & equipment or investment property,
and a lease liability. The lease liability corresponds to the discounted value of lease payments that have not yet been
paid. The Group has decided to opt for the exception included in the standard of not modifying the accounting method
for short-term leases (less than 12 months) or leases related to low value underlying assets. The right to use the asset
will be amortized on a straight-line basis and the lease liability will be calculated on an actuarial basis over the term of
the lease.

The expense on the lease debt will thus be included in interest income under net banking income and the amortization
expense on the right to use the asset will be recognized in operating expenses.

The Group began to analyze the impact of the application of this new standard following its publication by the IASB at
the start of 2016. This work continued during first-half 2018 and entered the stage where structural choices were
made in terms of organization and information systems.

Regarding Groupe BPCE’s activities, the implementation of IFRS 16 will mainly affect real estate assets leased for
operational purposes as offices and sales branches. A material impact is therefore expected on “Property, plant &
equipment” without modifying in itself the relatively weak weighting of property, plant & equipment in total assets.

For the first-time application of this standard, the Group has chosen the modified retrospective method, which
recognizes the cumulative impact at January 1, 2019, with no comparison with 2018, and listing in the Notes to the
financial statements any of the standard’s impacts on the various items in said financial statements.

IFRS 17

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” was published by the IASB on May 18, 2017 and will replace IFRS 4 “Insurance
Contracts.” Subject to adoption by the European Commission, this standard will be applicable as of January 1, 2021,
with a comparison to January 1, 2020.

IFRS 17 establishes the principles of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure for the insurance
contracts that fall within its scope.

Liabilities under these contracts, which are currently valued at historical cost, will have to be recognized at present
value under IFRS 17. As such, insurance contracts will be valued based on their future cash flows, including a risk
margin in order to factor in the uncertainty relating to these cash flows. IFRS 17 also introduces the concept of
contractual service margin. This represents the insurer's unearned profit and will be released over time as the services
are rendered to the insured.
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These accounting changes could modify the profile of insurance income (in particular for life insurance) and also
introduce greater volatility in income.

Given the extent of the changes made under IFRS 17, Groupe BPCE's insurance entities began their impact analyses
and, in first-half 2018, established specific structures to help them to understand all aspects of the standard as it
applies to the different projects: modeling, adjustments to systems and organizations, production of the financial
statements, investor relations and change management.

2.3

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Preparation of the financial statements requires Management to make estimates and assumptions in certain areas with
regard to uncertain future events.
These estimates are based on the judgment of the individuals preparing these financial statements and the information
available at the balance sheet date.
Actual future results may differ from these estimates.
With respect to the financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2018 in particular, accounting estimates
requiring assumptions were mainly used for the following measurements:
•

the fair value of financial instruments determined on the basis of valuation models (Note 3.1.9);

•

the amount of expected credit losses on financial instruments as well as on loan and guarantee commitments
(Note 3.1.10);

•

provisions recorded under liabilities in the balance sheet and more specifically the provision for regulated home
savings products and provisions for insurance policies (Note 4.10);

•

calculations related to the cost of pensions and future employee benefits;

•

deferred taxes;

•

goodwill impairment testing (Note 4.6).

Judgment must also be exercised to assess the business model and whether the financial instrument can be
categorized as SPPI. The procedures are described in the relevant paragraphs (Note 3.1.1).

2.4

PRESENTATION OF THE INTERIM
INTERIM BALANCE SHEET DATE

CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

AND

As no specific format is required under IFRS, the presentation used by the Group for summarized statements follows
Recommendation No. 2017-02 issued by the Autorité des Normes Comptables (ANC – French national accounting
standards authority) on June 2, 2017.
The consolidated financial statements are based on the financial statements at June 30, 2018. The Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2018 were approved by the Management Board on
July 30, 2018.
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Note 3
3.1

Accounting principles and valuation methods

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

IFRS 9 is applicable to Groupe BPCE excluding the insurance subsidiaries which continue to apply IAS 39.

3.1.1 Principles for the classification of financial assets
Classification and measurement
On initial recognition, financial assets are classified at amortized cost, at fair value through other comprehensive
income, or at fair value through profit of loss, according to the type of instrument (debt or equity), the characteristics
of their contractual cash flows and how the entity manages its financial instruments (its business model).
Business model
The entity’s business model represents the way in which it manages its financial assets to produce cash flow.
Judgment must be exercised to assess the business model.
The choice of business model must take into account all information regarding the manner in which cash flows were
generated in the past, along with all other relevant information.
For example:
-

the way in which the performance of financial assets is assessed and presented to the main company directors;
risks which have an impact on the business model’s performance, in particular the way in which these risks are
managed;
the way in which directors are paid (for example, if pay is based on the fair value of assets under management or
on the contractual cash flows received);
the frequency of, volume of and reason for sales.

Moreover, the choice of business model must be made at a level which reflects the way in which groups of financial
assets are managed collectively with a view to achieve a given economic objective. The business model is therefore
not decided on an instrument by instrument basis, but rather at a higher level of aggregation, by portfolio.
The standard uses three business models:
-

a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to receive contractual cash flows (“hold to
collect model”). This model, under which the concept of “holding” is relatively similar to holding to maturity,
remains valid if disposals occur under the following conditions:
o
the disposals are due to an increase in credit risk;
o
the disposals occur just before maturity and at a price that reflects the contractual cash flows that are
still owed;
o
other disposals may also be compatible with the “hold to collect” model’s objectives if they are infrequent
(even if their value is significant) or if their value is insignificant when considered both individually and
overall (even if they are frequent).
For Groupe BPCE, the “hold to collect” model applies to financing activities (excluding the loan syndication
activity) carried out by Retail Banking, Corporate & Investment Banking and Specialized Financial Services;

-

a mixed-business model under which assets are managed with the objective of both receiving contractual cash
flows and disposing of financial assets (“hold to collect and sell model”).
Groupe BPCE applies the hold to collect and sell model primarily to the portion of portfolio management activities
for securities in the liquidity reserve that is not managed solely under a hold to collect model;

-

a model intended for other financial assets, especially those held for trading, for which the collection of contractual
cash flows is incidental. This business model applies to the loan syndication activity (for the portion of
outstandings to be sold that was identified at the outset) and to the capital market activities carried out primarily
by Corporate & Investment Banking.
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Types of contractual cash flows: the SPPI (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest) test
A financial asset is classified as generating solely payments of principal and interest if, on specific dates, it gives rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding amount due. The SPPI test should be
performed for each financial asset on initial recognition.
The principal amount is defined as the financial asset’s fair value at its acquisition date. Interest is the consideration
for the time value of money and the credit risk incurred on the principal amount, as well as other risks such as liquidity
risk, administrative costs and the profit margin.
The instrument’s contractual terms must be taken into account to assess whether contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest. All elements that may cast doubts as to whether only the time value of money and
credit risk are represented must therefore be analyzed. For example:
-

events that would change the amount and date of the cash flows;
Any contractual option that creates risk exposure or cash-flow volatility that is not consistent with a basic lending
arrangement, such as exposure to fluctuations in the price of stocks or of a market index, or the introduction of
leverage, would make it impossible to categorize contractual cash flows as SPPI.

-

the applicable interest rate features (for example, consistency between the rate refixing period and the interest
calculation period);
If a clear determination cannot be made through qualitative analysis, a quantitative analysis (a benchmark test)
is carried out. This test involves comparing the contractual cash flows for the asset in question with the
contractual cash flows of a benchmark asset.

-

early redemption and extension conditions;
For the borrower or lender, a contractual option permitting prepayment of financial instruments does not violate
the SPPI test for contractual cash flows if the prepayment amount mainly represents the unpaid amounts of
principal and interest and, if applicable, a reasonable additional compensation for the early termination of the
contract.

If a clear determination cannot be made through qualitative analysis, a quantitative analysis (a benchmark test) is
carried out. This test involves comparing the contractual cash flows for the asset in question with the contractual cash
flows of a benchmark asset.
Furthermore, although they do not strictly meet the criteria for compensation of the time value of money, certain
assets with a regulated rate are considered SPPI if this regulated interest rate provides consideration that corresponds
substantially to the passage of time and presents no exposure to a risk that would be inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement. That is the case in particular for financial assets representing the portion of Livret A passbook savings
account inflows that is centralized with the CDC's savings fund.
Basic financial assets (those that generate SPPI) are debt instruments such as fixed-rate loans, variable-rate loans
without an interest rate tenor mismatch or that are not linked to a security or to a market index, and fixed-rate or
variable-rate debt securities.
Non-SPPI financial assets include UCITS units and convertible bonds or mandatory convertible bonds with a fixed
conversion ratio.
To qualify as SPPI assets, the securities held in a securitization vehicle must meet specific conditions. The contractual
terms of the tranche must meet the SPPI criteria. The pool of underlying assets must meet the SPPI conditions. The
risk inherent in the tranche must be lower than or equal to the exposure to the underlying assets of the tranche.
A non-recourse loan (e.g., infrastructure financing-type project financing) is a loan secured only by physical collateral.
If there is no possible recourse to the borrower, the structure of other possible recourses or protection mechanisms for
the lender in the event of default must be examined in order to categorize these loans as SPPI assets: acquisition of
the underlying asset, collateral provided (security deposits, margin call, etc.), enhancements provided.
Accounting categories
Debt instruments (loans, receivables or debt securities) may be valued at amortized cost, at fair value through other
comprehensive income recyclable to income or at fair value through profit and loss.
A debt instrument is valued at amortized cost if it meets the following two conditions:
-

the asset is held under a business model where the objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset define it as basic (SPPI) within the meaning of the standard.

A debt instrument is valued at fair value through other comprehensive income if it meets the following two conditions:
-

the asset is held under a business model where the objective is both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell
financial assets; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset define it as basic (SPPI) within the meaning of the standard.

Equity instruments are, by default, recorded at fair value through profit or loss unless they qualify for an irrevocable
option for valuation at fair value through other comprehensive income not recyclable to income (provided they are not
held for trading purposes and accordingly classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss), without
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subsequently being reclassified through profit or loss. If opting for the latter category, dividends continue to be
recognized in income.
All other financial assets are recorded at fair value through profit or loss. These financial assets include financial assets
held for trading purposes, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and non-basic (non-SPPI) assets.
Recognition at fair value through profit or loss as an option for financial assets only applies in the case of the
elimination or significant reduction of an accounting mismatch. This option enables the elimination of accounting
mismatches stemming from the application of different valuation rules to instruments managed in accordance with a
single strategy.
Embedded derivatives are no longer recognized separately to their host contract when these are financial assets, such
that the entire hybrid instrument must now be recognized at fair value through profit or loss.
For financial liabilities, the classification and measurement rules set out in IAS 39 are carried forward to IFRS 9
unchanged, with the exception of those applicable to financial liabilities that the entity chooses to record at fair value
through profit or loss (fair value option), for which revaluation adjustments related to changes in own credit risk are
recorded under gains and losses recognized directly in equity, without being subsequently reclassified through profit or
loss.
The provisions of IAS 39 on the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities remain unchanged in IFRS 9. The
amendment to IFRS 9 of October 12, 2017 clarified the treatment under IFRS 9 of modifications of liabilities
recognized at amortized cost, if the modification does not result in derecognition: the profit or loss resulting from the
difference between the original cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate
must be recognized in profit or loss.

3.1.2 Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at amortized cost include loans and receivables due from credit institutions and customers as well as
securities at amortized cost such as treasury bills and bonds.
Loans and receivables are initially recorded at fair value plus any costs directly related to their issuance, less any
proceeds directly attributable to issuance. On subsequent balance sheet dates, they are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows (payments or receipts) to the
carrying amount of the loan at inception. This rate includes any discounts recorded in respect of loans granted at
below-market rates, as well as any external transaction income or costs directly related to the issue of the loans,
which are treated as an adjustment to the effective yield on the loan. No internal cost is included in the calculation of
amortized cost.
When loans are extended under conditions that are less favorable than market conditions, a discount corresponding to
the difference between the nominal value of the loan and the sum of future cash flows discounted at the market
interest rate is deducted from the nominal value of the loan. The market interest rate is the rate applied by the vast
majority of local financial institutions at a given time for instruments and counterparties with similar characteristics.
IFRS 9 requires that modified contracts for financial assets that are renegotiated, restructured or adjusted (whether
due to financial hardships or not), but not subsequently derecognized, be identified. Any profit or loss must be
recognized as income in the event of modification. The gross carrying amount of the financial asset must be
recalculated so that it is equal to the renegotiated or amended present value of contractual cash flows at the original
effective interest rate. The materiality of the modifications is, however, analyzed on a case by case basis.
The treatment of loans restructured due to financial hardship is identical to IAS 39: a discount is applied to loans
restructured (impaired, Stage 3) following a credit loss event as defined by IFRS 9, to reflect the difference between
the present value of the contractual cash flows at inception and the present value of expected principal and interest
repayments after restructuring. The discount rate used is the original effective interest rate. This discount is expensed
to “Cost of credit risk” in the income statement and offset against the corresponding outstanding on the balance sheet.
It is written back to net interest income in the income statement over the life of the loan using an actuarial method.
The restructured loan is reclassified as performing (not impaired, Stage 1 or Stage 2) based on expert opinion when
no uncertainty remains as to the borrower’s capacity to honor the commitment.
External costs consist primarily of commissions paid to business partners.
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Income directly attributable to the issuance of new loans principally comprises set-up fees charged to customers,
rebilled costs and commitment fees (if it is more probable than improbable that the loan will be drawn down).
Commitment fees received that will not result in any drawdowns are apportioned on a straight-line basis over the life
of the commitment.
Expenses and income arising on loans with a term of less than one year at inception are deferred on a pro rata basis
with no recalculation of the effective interest rate. For floating or adjustable rate loans, the effective interest rate is
adjusted at each rate refixing date.

3.1.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This asset category includes:
•

financial assets held for trading, i.e. securities acquired or issued principally for the purpose of selling them in the
near term;

•

financial assets that the Group has chosen to recognize at fair value through profit or loss at inception using the
fair value option available under IFRS 9. The qualifying criteria used when applying this option are described in
Note 3.1.7 “Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”;

•

non-SPPI debt instruments;

•

equity instruments measured by default at fair value through profit or loss (which are not held for trading
purposes).

These assets are measured at fair value at the date of initial recognition and at each balance sheet date. Changes in
fair value over the period, interest, dividends, and gains or losses on disposals on these instruments are recognized in
“Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss,” with the exception of non-SPPI debt
financial assets whose interest is recorded in “Interest income.”

3.1.4 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recognized at fair value, plus any
transaction costs.
-

Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income recyclable to income
On the balance sheet date, they are carried at their fair value and changes in fair value (excluding accrued
interest) are recorded under "Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income recyclable to
income” (as the foreign currency assets are money-market assets, changes in the fair value of the foreign currency
component affect income). The principles used to determine fair value are described in Note 3.1.9.
These instruments are subject to IFRS 9 impairment requirements. If they are sold, these changes in fair value are
taken to income.
Interest income accrued or received on debt instruments is recorded under “Interest and similar income” based on
the effective interest rate method.

-

Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income not recyclable to income
On the balance sheet date, they are carried at their fair value and changes in fair value are recorded under “Gains
and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income not recyclable to income” (as the foreign currency
assets are not monetary assets, changes in the fair value of the foreign currency component do not affect income).
The principles used to determine fair value are described in Note 3.1.9.
The designation at fair value through other comprehensive income not recyclable to income is an irrevocable option
that is applied on an instrument-by-instrument basis only to equity instruments not held for trading purposes.
Realized and unrealized impairment losses continue to be recorded in equity with no impact on income. These
financial assets are not impaired.
In the event of disposal, these changes in fair value are not transferred to income but directly to retained earnings
under equity.
Only dividends affect income when they correspond to a return on investment. They are recorded in “Net gains or
losses on financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.”

3.1.5 Date of recognition
Securities are recorded in the balance sheet on the settlement/delivery date.
Temporary transfers of securities are also recorded on the settlement/delivery date. For repurchase or reverse
repurchase transactions, a loan commitment given or received, respectively, is recorded between the transaction date
and the settlement/delivery date when such transactions are recorded as “Loans and receivables” or “Liabilities,”
respectively. When such transactions are recorded under “Assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,” the
commitment is recorded as an interest rate derivative.
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Rules applicable to partial disposals
The first-in, first-out (FIFO) method is applied to any partial disposals of securities, expect in special cases.

3.1.6 Debt and equity instruments
Financial instruments issued by the Group qualify as debt or equity instruments depending on whether or not the
issuer has a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder of the instrument, or to
exchange the instrument under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Group. This obligation must arise
from specific contractual terms and conditions, not merely economic constraints.
In addition, when an instrument qualifies as equity:




its remuneration is treated as a dividend, and therefore impacts equity, along with the tax relating to this
remuneration;
it cannot be an underlying eligible for hedge accounting;
if the issue is in a foreign currency, the instrument is fixed at its historical value resulting from its conversion to
euros at its initial date of transfer to equity.

Finally, when these instruments are issued by a subsidiary, they are included in “Non-controlling interests.” When their
remuneration is of a cumulative nature, it is charged to “Income attributable to equity holders of the parent” and
increases the income of “Non-controlling interests.” However, when their remuneration is not of a cumulative nature, it
is drawn from retained earnings attributable to equity holders of the parent.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
These are financial liabilities held for trading or classified in this category on a voluntary basis at initial recognition
using the fair value option available under IFRS 9. The qualifying criteria used when applying this option are described
in Note 3.1.7 “Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.”
These liabilities are measured at fair value at the date of initial recognition and at each balance sheet date. Fair-value
fluctuations over the period, interest, and gains or losses related to these instruments are booked as “Net gains or
losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss,” except for fair-value fluctuations attributable to the
change in own credit risk for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, which have been booked, since
January 1, 2016, in “Revaluation of own credit risk of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss”
within “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity.” If the liability is derecognized before its maturity (early
redemption, for example), fair value gains or losses attributable to own credit risk are directly transferred to retained
earnings under equity.
Debt securities
Issues of debt securities (which are not classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or as equity)
are initially recognized at fair value less any transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortized cost at
each balance sheet date using the effective interest method.
These instruments are recognized on the balance sheet under “Amounts due to credit institutions”, “Amounts due to
customers” or “Debt securities”.
Subordinated debt
Subordinated debt differs from other debt and bonds in that it will be repaid only after all the senior and unsecured
creditors, but before the repayment of participating loans and securities and deeply subordinated notes.
Subordinated debt which the issuer is obliged to repay is classified as debt and initially recognized at fair value less
any transaction costs. It is subsequently measured at amortized cost at each balance sheet date using the effective
interest method.
Cooperative shares
IFRIC 2 “Cooperative shares in cooperative entities and similar instruments” clarifies the provisions of IAS 32. In
particular, the contractual right of the holder of a financial instrument (including cooperative shares in cooperative
entities) to request redemption does not, in itself, automatically give rise to an obligation for the issuer. Rather, the
entity must consider all of the terms and conditions of the financial instrument in determining its classification as a
debt or equity.
Based on this interpretation, cooperative shares are classified as equity if the entity has an unconditional right to
refuse redemption of the cooperative shares or if local laws, regulations or the entity’s bylaws unconditionally prohibit
or curtail the redemption of cooperative shares.
Based on the existing provisions of the Group’s bylaws relating to minimum capital requirements, cooperative shares
issued by the Group are classified as equity.

3.1.7 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
IFRS 9 allows entities to designate financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition at fair value through profit or
loss. However, an entity’s decision to do so may not be reversed.
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Compliance with the criteria stipulated by the standard must be verified prior to any recognition of an instrument using
the fair value option.
In practice, this option may be applied only under the specific circumstances described below:
Elimination of or significant reduction in an accounting mismatch (Financial assets and liabilities)
Applying the option enables the elimination of accounting mismatches stemming from the application of different
valuation rules to instruments managed in accordance with a single strategy.
Harmonization of accounting treatment for performance management and measurement (Financial
liabilities only)
The option applies for liabilities managed and measured at fair value, provided that such management is based on a
formally documented risk management policy or investment strategy, and that internal monitoring also relies on a fair
value measurement.
This circumstance mainly arises in connection with Natixis’ capital market activities.
Hybrid financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives (Financial liabilities only)
An embedded derivative is a component of a financial or non-financial hybrid (combined) instrument that qualifies as a
derivative. It must be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if the hybrid instrument is
not measured at fair value through profit or loss, and if the economic characteristics and risks associated with the
derivative are not closely related to those of the host contract.
The fair value option may be applied to a financial liability when the embedded derivative(s) substantially modify the
cash flows of the host contract and when the separate recognition of the embedded derivative(s) is not specifically
prohibited by IFRS 9 (e.g. an early redemption option at cost embedded in a debt instrument). The option allows the
entire instrument to be measured at fair value, and therefore avoids the need to extract, recognize or separately
measure the embedded derivative.
This accounting treatment applies in particular to some structured debt issues containing material embedded
derivatives.

3.1.8 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:
•

its value changes in response to the change in a specific interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price,
foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in the
case of a non-financial variable, this variable may not be specific to one of the parties to the contract;

•

it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other
types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors; and

•

it is settled at a future date.

All derivative financial instruments are recognized on the balance sheet at the trade date and measured at fair value at
inception. They are remeasured at their fair value at each balance sheet date regardless of whether they were
acquired for trading or hedging purposes.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in income for the period, except for derivatives qualifying as
cash flow hedges for accounting purposes or as net investment hedges in a foreign currency.
Derivative financial instruments are classified into the following two categories:
Trading derivatives
Trading derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet under “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”
and “Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.” Realized and unrealized gains and losses are taken to
income on the “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” line.
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Hedging derivatives
The hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if, at the inception of the hedge, there is formal documentation
of the hedging relationship identifying the hedging strategy, the type of risk hedged, the designation and
characteristics of the hedged item and the hedging instrument. In addition, the effectiveness of the hedge must be
demonstrated at inception and subsequently verified.
Derivatives contracted as part of a hedging relationship are designated according to the purpose of the hedge.
As indicated above, Groupe BPCE used the option available in IFRS 9 not to apply the provisions of the standard
relative to hedge accounting, and to continue to apply IAS 39 for the recognition of these transactions, as adopted by
the European Union, i.e., excluding certain provisions relating to macro-hedging.
FAIR VALUE HEDGES

Fair value hedges are intended to reduce exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset or liability carried on the
balance sheet, or a firm commitment, in particular the interest rate risk on fixed-rate assets and liabilities.
The gain or loss on the revaluation of hedging instruments is recognized in income in the same manner as the gain or
loss on the hedged item attributable to the risk being hedged. The ineffective portion of the hedge, if any, is recorded
in the income statement under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.”
Accrued interest on the hedging instrument is taken to income in the same manner as the accrued interest on the
hedged item.
Where identified assets or liabilities are hedged, the revaluation of the hedged component is recognized on the same
line of the balance sheet as the hedged item.
The ineffective portion relating to the dual-curve valuation of collateralized derivatives is taken into account when
calculating the effectiveness of a hedge.
If a hedging relationship ceases (investment decision, failure to fulfill effectiveness criteria, or because the hedged
item is sold before maturity), the hedging instrument is transferred to the trading book. The revaluation difference
recorded in the balance sheet in respect of the hedged item is amortized over the residual life of the initial hedge. If
the hedged item is sold before maturity or redeemed early, the cumulative amount of the revaluation gain or loss is
recognized in income for the period.
CASH FLOW HEDGES

The purpose of cash flow hedges is to hedge the exposure to the variability of cash flow that is attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or with a future transaction (hedge of interest rate risk on
floating-rate assets or liabilities, hedge of conditions relating to future transactions such as future fixed interest rates,
future prices, exchange rates, etc.).
The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is deemed to be an effective hedge is recognized on a
separate line of “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity.” The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument is recorded in the income statement under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss.”
Accrued interest on the hedging instrument is taken to income under interest income in the same manner as the
accrued interest on the hedged item.
The hedged items are accounted for using the treatment applicable to their specific asset category.
If a hedging relationship ceases (because the hedge no longer meets the effectiveness criteria, the derivative is sold or
the hedged item ceases to exist), the cumulative amounts recognized in equity are transferred to the income
statement as and when the hedged item impacts profit or loss, or immediately if the hedged item ceases to exist.
SPECIFIC CASES OF PORTFOLIO HEDGING (MACRO-HEDGING)

Documentation as cash flow hedges
Some Group institutions document their macro-hedges on cash flows (hedging of portfolios of loans or borrowings).
In this case, portfolios of assets or liabilities that may be hedged are, for each maturity band:
•

floating-rate assets and liabilities; the entity incurs a risk of variability in future cash flows from floating-rate assets
or liabilities insofar as future interest rate levels are not known in advance;

•

future transactions deemed to be highly probable (forecasts): assuming total outstandings remain constant, the
entity is exposed to the risk of variability in future cash flows on future fixed-rate loans insofar as the interest rate
at which the loan will be granted is not yet known. Similarly, the Group may be exposed to the risk of variability in
future cash flows on the funding that it will need to raise in the market.

Under IAS 39, hedges of an overall net position of fixed rate assets and fixed rate liabilities with similar maturities do
not qualify for hedge accounting. The hedged item is therefore deemed to be equivalent to a share of one or more
portfolios of identified variable-rate instruments (portion of deposit outstandings or variable-rate loans); the
effectiveness of the hedges is measured by creating a mortgage instrument for each maturity band and comparing its
changes in fair value from inception to those for the documented hedging derivatives.
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The characteristics of this instrument model those of the hedged item. Effectiveness is then assessed by comparing
the changes in value of the hypothetical instrument with the actual hedging instrument. This method requires the
preparation of a maturity schedule.

The effectiveness of the hedge must be shown prospectively and retrospectively.
The hedge is effective prospectively if, for each target maturity band, the nominal amount of items to be hedged is
higher than the notional amount of the hedging instruments.
The retrospective test calculates the retrospective effectiveness of a hedge initiated at various balance sheet dates.
At each balance sheet date, changes in the fair value of hedging instruments, excluding accrued interest, are
compared with those of hypothetical instruments. The ratio of their respective changes should be between 80% and
125%.
If the hedged item is sold or the future transaction is no longer highly probable, the cumulative unrealized gain or loss
recognized in equity is transferred immediately to income.
When the hedging relationship ceases, if the hedged item is still shown on the balance sheet, or if it is still highly
probable, unrealized cumulative gains and losses are recognized in equity on a straight-line basis. If the derivative has
not been canceled, it is reclassified as a trading derivative, and changes in its fair value are recognized in income.
Documentation as fair value hedges
Some of the Group’s institutions document their macro-hedging of interest rate risk as fair value hedges by applying
the so-called carve-out arrangements under IAS 39 as adopted by the European Union.
The version of IAS 39 adopted for use by the European Union does not include certain hedge accounting provisions
that appear incompatible with the strategies implemented by European banks to reduce their overall exposure to
interest rate risk. In particular, this “carve-out” allows the Group to make use of hedge accounting for interbank
interest rate risk on customer transactions at fixed rates (loans, savings accounts and demand deposits). The Group
mainly uses plain vanilla interest rate swaps designated at inception as fair value hedges of fixed-rate deposits or
loans.
Macro-hedging derivatives are accounted for in the same manner as derivatives used to hedge the fair value of specific
transactions (micro-hedging).
In a macro-hedging relationship, gains and losses on the revaluation of the hedged item are recorded in “Revaluation
differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios,” under balance sheet assets for hedges of a portfolio of financial
assets and under balance sheet liabilities for hedges of a portfolio of financial liabilities.
The hedges are deemed effective if the derivatives offset the interest rate risk on the underlying fixed-rate portfolio.
The ineffective portion relating to the dual-curve valuation of collateralized derivatives is taken into account.
Effectiveness is tested in two ways:
•

asset-based testing: for plain vanilla swaps designated as hedging instruments at inception, the Group verifies
prospectively at the date the hedging relationship is designated and retrospectively at each balance sheet date that
no over-hedging exists;

•

quantitative testing: for other swaps, the change in the fair value of the actual swap must offset the changes in the
fair value of a hypothetical instrument that exactly reflects the underlying hedged item. These tests are conducted
prospectively at the date the instrument is designated as a hedge and retrospectively at each balance sheet date.

If a hedging relationship ceases, the revaluation adjustment is amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining
term of the initial hedge, if the hedged item has not been derecognized. It is taken directly to income if the hedged
item is no longer recorded in the balance sheet. In particular, derivatives used for macro-hedging may be disqualified
for hedge accounting purposes when the notional amount of the hedged items falls below the nominal amount of the
hedging instruments, for example in the case of the prepayment of loans or the withdrawal of deposits.
NET INVESTMENT HEDGE IN A FOREIGN CURRENCY

The net investment in a foreign operation is the amount of the investment held by the consolidating entity in the net
assets of the operation.
The purpose of a net investment hedge in a foreign currency is to minimize the foreign exchange effect for a
consolidating entity of an investment in an entity whose functional currency is different from the presentation currency
of the consolidating entity’s financial statements. Net investment hedges are accounted for in the same manner as
cash flow hedges.
Unrealized gains and losses initially recognized in equity are taken to income when the net investment is sold in full or
in part (or when partially sold with loss of control).
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3.1.9 Determination of fair value
General principles
The fair value of an instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in a
standard arm’s length transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Fair value is therefore determined using the exit price.
On first recognition, fair value is usually the transaction price and is thus the price paid to purchase the asset or the
price received to assume the liability.
In subsequent measurements, the estimated fair value of assets and liabilities must be based primarily on observable
market data, while ensuring that all inputs used in the fair value calculation are consistent with the price that market
participants would use in a transaction.
In this case, fair value consists of a mid-market price and additional valuation adjustments determined according to
the instruments in question and the associated risks.

The mid-market price is obtained based on:
•

the instrument’s quoted price, if the instrument is quoted on an active market. A financial instrument is regarded
as quoted on an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and these prices represent actual and regularly
occurring transactions on the principal market or, failing that, on the most favorable market, on an arm’s length
basis;

•

if the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is established using valuation techniques. The
techniques used must maximize the use of relevant observable entry data and minimize the use of non-observable
entry data. They may refer to observable data from recent transactions, the fair value of similar instruments,
discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models, proprietary models in the case of hybrid instruments or
non-observable data when no pricing or market data are available.

Additional valuation adjustments include factors related to valuation uncertainties, such as market, credit and liquidity
risks, in order to recognize the costs incurred by a divestment transaction on the primary market. Likewise, an
adjustment (Funding Valuation Adjustment – FVA) for using assumptions to recognize costs related to the financing of
future cash flows of uncollateralized or partially collateralized derivatives is also recorded.
The main additional adjustments are as follows:
BID/ASK ADJUSTMENT – LIQUIDITY RISK

This adjustment is the difference between the bid price and the ask price corresponding with the selling costs. It
reflects the cost requested by a market player in respect of the risk of acquiring a position or of selling at a price
proposed by another market player.
MODEL UNCERTAINTY ADJUSTMENT

This adjustment takes into account imperfections in the valuation techniques used, and in particular risk factors not
considered even though observable market inputs are available. This is the case when the risks inherent in the
instruments differ from those incurred by the observable market data used to determine their valuation.
INPUT UNCERTAINTY ADJUSTMENT

Observing certain prices or inputs used in valuation techniques may be difficult or the price or input may be too
regularly unavailable to determine the selling price. Under these circumstances, an adjustment may be necessary to
reflect the probability that market participants might adopt different values for the same inputs when evaluating the
financial instrument’s fair value.

CREDIT VALUATION ADJUSTMENT (CVA)

This adjustment applies to valuations that do not account for the counterparty’s credit quality. It corresponds to the
risk of loss linked to the risk of default by a counterparty and aims to take into account the fact that the Group may
not recover the full market value of the transactions.
The method for determining the CVA is primarily based on the use of market inputs in connection with professional
market practices, for all segments of counterparties subject to this calculation. In the absence of liquid market inputs,
proxies by type of counterparty, rating and geographic area are used.

DEBIT VALUATION ADJUSTMENT (DVA) AND FUNDING VALUATION ADJUSTMENT (FVA)

The DVA is symmetrical to the CVA and represents the risk of loss, from the counterparty’s perspective, on liability
valuations of financial instruments. It reflects the impact of the Group’s credit quality on the valuation of these
instruments. The DVA is assessed by observing the Group’s “credit” market input. At Natixis, the main contributor for
the Group, this involves the observation of the credit spreads of a sample of comparable banking institutions, taking
into account the liquidity of the spread on Natixis’ CDS during the period. The DVA adjustment is established after
taking into account the funding valuation adjustment (FVA).
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The following criteria are used to determine whether or not a market is active:
•

the level of activity and trend of the market (including the level of activity on the primary market);

•

the length of historical data on prices observed in similar market transactions;

•

scarcity of prices recovered by a service provider;

•

sharp bid-ask price spread;

•

steep price volatility over time or between different market participants.

NATIXIS’ CONTROL SYSTEM (NATIXIS IS THE MAIN CONTRIBUTOR TO THE GROUP’S BALANCE SHEET ITEMS
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE)

The calculation of fair value is subject to control procedures aimed at verifying that fair values are determined or
validated by an independent function.
Fair values determined by reference to external quoted prices or market inputs are validated by an independent unit
(the Market Data Control department). Second-level controls are carried out by the Risk department.
On less liquid markets, other market information, primarily observable data, is used to validate the fair value of
instruments.
The factors taken into account include the following:
•

the origin of the external source (stock market pages, content contribution services, etc.);

•

the consistency of the various sources;

•

the frequency of data feeds;

•

the representative nature of inputs based on recent market transactions.

For fair values determined using valuation models, the control system consists of the independent validation of model
construction and of the inputs included in these models.
This is carried out under the responsibility of the Risk department.
It involves verifying that the model is consistent with and relevant to its intended function (price setting, valuation,
coverage, measurement and control of risk) and the product to which it applies, based on:
•

a theoretical approach: the financial and mathematical foundations of the model;

•

the application of the model: the pricing models used to generate risk and earnings data;

•

the stability of the model under parametric stress;

•

an assessment of the stability and consistency of the numerical methods used;

•

the independent re-implementation of the model as part of algorithm validation;

•

the comparative analysis of the calibration of model inputs;

•

an assessment of the modeling risk, particularly the comparative analysis of the model with other valuation
models, in order to ensure the adequacy of the model and the payoff (the formula of positive or negative flows
attached to the product at maturity);

•

the implementation of an adjustment in respect of modeling risk to account for potential deficiencies in the model
or its calibration;

•

the incorporation of the model into information systems.

The methods for determining fair value are monitored by a number of bodies including the Inputs and Observability
Committee, the Valuation Committee, the Impairment Committee and the Model Validation Committee, which
comprise representatives of the Risk Department, the Finance Department and the Market Data Monitoring and
Valuation Department.
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Fair value hierarchy
For financial reporting purposes, IFRS 13 requires fair value measurements applied to financial and non-financial
instruments to be allocated to one of three fair value levels:
LEVEL 1: VALUATION USING PRICES QUOTED ON A LIQUID MARKET

Level 1 comprises instruments whose fair value is determined based on directly usable prices quoted on active
markets.
This mainly includes securities listed on a stock exchange or traded continuously on other active markets, derivatives
traded on organized markets (futures, options, etc.) whose liquidity can be demonstrated, and units of UCITS for
which NAV is determined and reported on a daily basis.
LEVEL 2: VALUATION USING OBSERVABLE MARKET INPUTS

Level 2 fair value comprises instruments other than those mentioned in Level 1 fair value and instruments measured
using a valuation technique incorporating inputs that are either directly observable (prices) or indirectly observable
(derived from prices) through to maturity. This mainly includes:
Simple instruments:
Most over-the-counter derivatives, swaps, credit derivatives, forward rate agreements, caps, floors and plain vanilla
options are traded in active markets, i.e. liquid markets in which trades occur regularly.
These instruments are valued using generally accepted models (discounted cash flow method, Black & Scholes model,
interpolation techniques), and on the basis of directly observable inputs.
For these instruments, the extent to which models are used and the observability of inputs has been documented.
Instruments measured using Level 2 inputs also include:
•

securities that are less liquid than those classified as Level 1, whose fair value is determined based on external
prices put forward by a reasonable number of active market makers and which are regularly observable without
necessarily being directly executable (prices mainly taken from contribution and consensus databases); where
these criteria are not met, the securities are classified as Level 3 fair value;

•

securities not quoted on an active market whose fair value is determined based on observable market data (for
example, using market data for listed peers or the earnings multiple method based on techniques widely used in
the market);

•

Greek sovereign securities, whose fair value is recorded under Level 2 given the wide bid-ask price spread on
market prices;

•

shares of UCITS whose NAV is not determined and published on a daily basis but is subject to regular reporting or
which offer observable data from recent transactions;

•

debt securities designated at fair value, mainly by Natixis, and to a lesser extent Crédit Foncier. The methodology
used by Natixis to value the “issuer credit risk” component of issues designated at fair value is based on the
discounting of future cash flows using inputs such as yield curves and revaluation spreads. For each issue, this
valuation represents the product of the notional amount outstanding and its sensitivity, taking into account the
existence of calls and the difference between the revaluation spread (based on the BPCE cash reoffer curve at June
30, 2018 as for previous closing dates) and the average issue spread. Changes in own credit risk are generally not
material for issues with an initial maturity of less than one year.

Complex instruments:
Certain hybrid and/or long-maturity financial instruments are measured using a recognized model on the basis of
market inputs derived from observable data such as yield curves, implied volatility layers of options, market consensus
data or active over-the-counter markets.
The main models for determining the fair value of these instruments are described below by type of product:


Equity products: complex products are valued using:
–

market data;

–

a payoff, i.e. the formula of positive or negative flows attached to the product at maturity;

–

a model of changes in the underlying asset.

These products can have single or multiple underlyings or be hybrids (fixed income/equity for example).
The main models used for equity products are local volatility models, local volatility combined with Hull & White
1 factor (H&W1F), Tskew and Pskew.
The local volatility model treats volatility as a function of time and the price of the underlying. Its main property is
that it considers the implied volatility of the option (derived from market data) relative to its exercise price.
The local volatility hybrid model, paired with the H&W1F, consists of pairing the local volatility model described
above with a Hull & White 1 factor type fixed-income model, described below (see fixed-income products).

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 135

The Tskew model is a valuation model for mono and multi-underlying options. Its principle is to calibrate the
distribution of the underlying asset or assets at maturity to standard option prices.
The Pskew model is similar to the Tskew model. It is used in particular for simple ratchet equity products such as
capped or floored ratchet products.


Fixed income products: fixed income products generally have specific characteristics which justify the choice of
model. Underlying risk factors associated with the payoff are taken into account.
The main models used to value and manage fixed-income products are Hull & White models (one-factor and twofactor models or one-factor Hull & White stochastic volatility model), the Hunt Kennedy model and the “smiled”
BGM model.
The Hull & White models are simple pricing models for plain vanilla fixed-income products and can be calibrated
easily. Products valued using these models generally contain a Bermudan-type cancellation option (i.e. one that
may be exercised at certain dates set at the beginning of the contract).
SBGM and Hunt Kennedy models are used to value fixed-income products that are sensitive to volatility smiles
(i.e. implied change in volatility relative to the exercise price) and to autocorrelation (or correlation between
interest rates).



Foreign exchange products: foreign exchange products generally have specific characteristics which justify the
choice of model.

The main models used to value and manage foreign-exchange products are local and stochastic volatility models, as
well as hybrid models, which combine modeling of the underlying foreign exchange with two Hull & White 1 factor
models to ascertain the fixed-income factors.
Inputs relating to all such Level 2 instruments were demonstrated to be observable and documented. From a
methodology perspective, observability is based on four inseparable criteria:
•

inputs are derived from external sources (primarily a recognized contributor, for example);

•

they are updated periodically;

•

they are representative of recent transactions;

•

their characteristics are identical to the characteristics of the transaction. If necessary, a proxy may be used,
provided that the relevance of such an arrangement is demonstrated and documented.

The fair value of instruments obtained using valuation models is adjusted to take account of liquidity risk (bid-ask),
counterparty risk, the risk relating to the cost of financing uncollateralized or partially collateralized derivatives, own
credit risk (measurement of liability derivative positions), and modeling and input risk.
The margin generated when these instruments begin trading is immediately recognized in income.
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LEVEL 3: VALUATION USING UNOBSERVABLE MARKET INPUTS

Level 3 comprises instruments measured using unrecognized models and/or models based on unobservable market
data, where they are liable to materially impact the valuation. This mainly includes:
•

unlisted shares whose fair value could not be determined using observable inputs;

•

private equity securities not listed on an active market, measured at fair value with models commonly used by
market participants, in accordance with International Private Equity Valuation (IPEV) standards, but which are
sensitive to market fluctuations and whose fair value determination necessarily involves a judgment call;

•

structured securities or securities representative of private placements, held by the Insurance business line;

•

hybrid interest rate and currency derivatives and credit derivatives that are not classified in Level 2;

•

loans in the syndication process for which there is no secondary market price;



loans in the securitization process for which fair value is determined based on an expert appraisal;



instruments with a deferred day-one margin;

•

units of UCITS for which the fund has not published a recent NAV at the valuation date, or for which there is a lockup period or any other constraint calling for a significant adjustment to available market prices (NAV, etc.) in
respect of the low liquidity observed for such shares;



instruments carried at fair value on the balance sheet and for which data are no longer available due to a freeze in
trading in the wake of the financial crisis. When there is a significant drop in trading in a given market, a valuation
model is used based on the only available relevant data.

Plain vanilla derivatives are also classified as Level 3 fair value when exposure is beyond the liquidity horizon
determined by underlying currencies or by volatility surface (e.g., certain foreign currency options and volatility
caps/floors).
In accordance with the Ministerial Order of February 20, 2007, as amended by the Order of November 23, 2011 on
capital requirements for credit institutions and investment companies and pursuant to the European regulation of
June 26, 2013 (CRR) on the Basel III requirements, for each of the models used, a description of crisis simulations
applied is provided in Chapter 3 “Risk Management.”
Under IFRS 9, day-one profit should be recognized only if it is generated by a change in the factors that market
participants would consider in setting a price, i.e. only if the model and parameters input into the valuation are
observable.
If the selected valuation model is not recognized by current market practices, or if one of the inputs significantly
affecting the instrument’s valuation is not observable, the trading profit on the trade date cannot be recognized
immediately in the income statement. It is taken to income on a straight-line basis over the life of the transaction or
until the date the inputs become observable. Any losses incurred at the trade date are immediately recognized in
income.
At June 30, 2018, instruments for which the recognition of day-one profit/loss has been deferred mainly included:
•

multi-underlying structured equity and index products;

•

synthetic loans;

•

options on funds (multi-assets and mutual funds);

•

structured fixed income products;

•

securitization swaps.

These instruments are almost all located at Natixis.
The table below provides the main unobservable inputs and the value ranges for these instruments:
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Class of instrument

Main types of products
comprising Level 3
within the instrument
class

Valuation techniques used

Main unobservable data

Unobservable data ranges among
relevant Level 3 products

Technique for estimating defaults given
the correlation effect and recovery
modeling

Correlation curve specific to the
portfolio underlying the CDO

[5%-95%] (a)

Extrapolation from prices based on
recovery assumptions

Recovery rate

[60%-100%]

Discounted expected cash flows based on
early redemption assumptions on the
underlying portfolio

Early redemption rate

[2%-17%]

Interest rate options valuation models

Mean reversion inputs

[1%-5%]

Model representing several yield curve
factors

Mean reversion spread

[0%-30%]

Bivariate standard model to measure the
time value of Spread Lock options and
replication for CMS and TEC Forwards

Spread Lock curve, TEC Forward
volatility and TEC-CMS
correlation

Spread Lock:
[-25.72 bp, +31.28 bp]
TEC Volatility:
[12 bp/74 bp]
TEC-CMS correlation:
[50%, 90%]

Volatility cap/floor

Black & Scholes model

Interest rate vol. for currencies
absent from Totem or long
maturities

Interest rate vol.: [4.82% to 101.36%]

European barrier call
option,
Asian call option,
Vanilla digital call option,
Vanilla European call
option

Skew Model, Interest rate vol. for current pairs
Local volatility model,
absent from Totem or long
Black & Scholes
maturities

ATM vol.: [0.61% to 24%]

CDOs, Index tranche
Credit derivatives

Private Finance Initiative
CDS (other than CDS on
securitization assets)
Securitization swaps
Sticky CMS/Volatility
Bond
Callable Spread Options
and Corridor Callable
Spread Options

Interest rate derivatives
Spread Lock Swap and
Spread Lock Option

Currency derivatives

Repos and general collateral
TRS

Helvetix derivatives

Synthetic modeling of underlying general
TRS and repos indexed to
basket (with repo to estimate) and
a basket of general
actuarial valuation for TRS or using a
equities
standard equity/interest rate hybrid model
for the TRS auto call
Strips of long-term
options, Strips of quanto
Black & Scholes model
options, Strips of digital
options
Options spread and
Digital options spread

Fund-based derivatives

Payoffs as Target
Volatility strategy and
CPPI on Mutual Funds

Hybrid interest rate/currency
derivatives

Long-term
PRDC/PRDKO/TARN
structures

Hybrid equity/interest
rate/forex derivatives

Long-dated callable
range accrual notes
(15Y) on several asset
classes
(equity+forex+interest
rates)

Gaussian copula

Repo curve of general baskets

Currency/currency correlation
USD/CHF & EUR/CHF long-term
volatility

The approach used is a hybrid model that
combines the local volatility-type multiunderlying equity model with a one-factor Fund data
Heath-Jarrow-Morton (HJM1F) interest
rate model
Hybrid currency/interest rate options
valuation model

General collateral repo:
[-0.78% to 1.5%]
EUR/CHF correlation: [29%; 41%]
Long-term volatility: [4.7%; 9.5%]
USD/CHF correlation: [-76%; -68%]
Long-term volatility: [3.8%;-11.8%]

Fund correlation - Interest rates: [0% to
25%]

Correlation between currency and AUD/JPY and USD/JPY correlation: [15% to
interest rates and long-term
50%]
volatility levels
Long-term volatility: [7% to16%]
EQ/FX= [-21%, 51%]

Hybrid models coupled with equity, forex
and interest rate diffusion

Correlation inputs (equity-forex,
equity-interest rates, interest
rates-forex)

EQ/IR= [27%, 41%]
FX/IR= [19%, 35%]

Hybrid interest rate/credit
derivatives

Long-dated interest rate
and credit callable range
accrual notes (15Y)
(default event)

Hybrid models coupled with interest rate
diffusion and credit diffusion

Correlation inputs (interest ratecredit and volatility-credit)

Equity derivatives

Long maturity multiunderlying payoffs

Volatility options valuation model
incorporating correlation between assets

Correlation inputs

Interest rate/Credit correlation: [-15%,
3%]
Credit vol: Structured by maturity
([2Y,77.5%],[5Y, 44%],[10Y, 36%])
Stock/stock correlation: [14.18 to 92.39]

Policy concerning fair value hierarchy transfers
Transfers between fair value levels are reviewed and validated by ad hoc committees at Natixis comprising
representatives of various functions, particularly Finance, Risk and Business Lines. The committee considers various
indicators of market activity and liquidity as described in the General Principles.
A review is undertaken for any instrument that ceases to meet these criteria or once again complies with the criteria.
Transfers to and from Level 3 are subject to prior validation.
At December 31, 2017, in accordance with this procedure, certain foreign currency options, along with volatility
caps/floors, were transferred to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy depending in their liquidity horizons, determined by
underlying currencies (see Note 4.3.3).
Under this procedure, multi-underlying equity products with a residual maturity of between 4 and 5 years were
transferred to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy over the course of 2016.
Instruments affected by the financial crisis
Instruments affected by the financial crisis and carried at fair value on the balance sheet are essentially held by
Natixis, which calculates their fair value using the models described below:

CDS CONTRACTED WITH CREDIT ENHANCERS (MONOLINE INSURERS AND CDPCS)

Since December 31, 2015 the valuation model used to measure write-downs on CDS contracted with monoline
insurers has been similar to the Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA) used for counterparty risk. It also takes into
account the expected amortization of exposures and the counterparty spread implicit in market data.
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OTHER INSTRUMENTS NOT EXPOSED TO US HOUSING RISK MEASURED BY NATIXIS USING A VALUATION MODEL

The section below describes the underlying principles used to value assets resulting from securitization transactions for
which no market prices could be identified and which were therefore measured using valuation models:
Trust Preferred Securities (TruPS) CDOs
The valuation model is based on projected future cash flows and default rates determined according to a statistical
approach that deduces the default probability of banks according to their financial ratios. For other sectors, default
rates are estimated considering the current ratings of assets.
Private Finance Initiative CDS (PFI CDS)
The valuation model used for Private Finance Initiative (PFI) CDS is based on an approach calibrated to the market
prices of underlying PFI bonds and the use of a uniform collection rate.

3.1.10 Impairment or provision for expected credit losses on financial instruments
Impairment of assets at amortized cost and at fair value through other comprehensive income, and
provisioning of loan and guarantee commitments
Debt instruments classified as financial assets at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income,
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not recognized at fair value through profit or loss, as well
as lease receivables, are impaired or covered by a provision for expected credit losses (ECL) as of the date of initial
recognition.
For financial instruments which have not been individually subject to objective evidence of loss, impairments or
provisions for expected credit losses are recorded based on observed past losses but also on reasonable and justifiable
discounted future cash flow forecasts. These financial instruments are divided into three categories depending on the
increase in credit risk observed since their initial recognition. An impairment or a provision is recognized on
outstanding amounts in each category, as follows:
Stage 1 (S1)




these are performing loans for which credit risk has not increased materially since the initial recognition of the
financial instrument;
the impairment or the provision for credit risk corresponds to 12-month expected credit losses;
interest income is recognized through profit or loss based on the effective interest rate method applied to the
gross carrying amount of the instrument before impairment.

Stage 2 (S2)




performing loans for which credit risk has increased materially since the initial recognition of the financial
instrument are transferred to this category;
the impairment or the provision for credit risk is determined on the basis of the financial instrument’s lifetime
expected credit losses;
interest income is recognized through profit or loss based on the effective interest rate method applied to the
gross carrying amount of the instrument before impairment.

Stage 3 (S3)


non-performing loans within the meaning of IFRS 9 are transferred to this category. These are loans for which
there is objective evidence of impairment loss due to an event which represents a credit risk occurring after the
initial recognition of the instrument in question. This category covers, as was the case under IAS 39, receivables
for which an event of default has been identified as defined in Article 178 of the EU regulation of June 26, 2013 on
prudential requirements for credit institutions;
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the impairment or the provision for credit risk is calculated based on the financial instrument's lifetime expected
credit losses on the basis of the recoverable amount of the receivable, i.e., the present value of estimated
recoverable future cash flows taking into account the impact of any collateral;
interest income is recognized through profit or loss based on the effective interest rate method applied to the net
carrying amount of the instrument after impairment.

The standard also makes a distinction between purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial instruments,
which correspond to financial assets purchased or created and already impaired for credit risk at their initial
recognition and for which the entity does not expect to recover all of the contractual cash flows at the date of initial
recognition. On initial recognition, the effective interest rate must be adjusted based on credit quality: estimated
recoverable cash flows take expected credit losses into account. These recoverable cash flows will be re-estimated by
the entity at each reporting date. Any change relative to the level of recoverable cash flows estimated on the initial
recognition date will result in the recognition of an impairment charge or reversal in income and will not affect the
effective interest rate. These assets will be categorized as Stage 3 on initial recognition, with the option of being
transferred to Stage 2 if their credit risk improves.
For operating lease or lease financing receivables – which fall within the scope of IAS 17 – that are not impaired, the
group has decided not to make use of the option of applying the simplified approach proposed by IFRS 9 §5.5.15
which involves measuring lifetime expected credit losses so as to not have to identify the significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition.
The principles for measuring the increase in credit risk and expected credit losses applicable to most of the Group's
exposures are described below. Only BPCE International and a few Group institution portfolios – representing a limited
volume of exposures – cannot be treated according to the methods described below and are subject to appropriate
valuation techniques.
Other than these few exceptions, the significant increase in credit risk is valued on an individual basis by taking into
account all reasonable and justifiable information and by comparing the default risk on the financial instrument at the
end of the fiscal year with the default risk on the financial instrument at the date of its initial recognition. A
counterparty-based approach (applying the contagion principle to all loans to the counterparty in question) will also be
possible if it gives similar results. The measurement of the increase in the risk should, in most cases, lead to the
recognition of an increase in Stage 2 before the transaction is individually impaired (Stage 3).
More specifically, the change in credit risk is measured on the basis of the following criteria:
-

-

-

Individual Customer, Professional Customer, SME, Public Sector and Social Housing loan books: the
measurement of the increase in credit risk relies on a combination of quantitative and qualitative criteria. The
quantitative criterion is based on the measurement of the change in the probability of default within one year
since initial recognition (probability of default measured as a cycle average). Complementary qualitative
criteria are used to classify as Stage 2 all contracts with payments more than 30 days past due, rated at-risk,
included on a watch list or undergoing adjustments due to financial hardship (forbearance);
For the Large Corporates, Banks and Sovereigns loan books, the quantitative criterion is based on the level of
variation in the rating since initial recognition. The same qualitative criteria as for Individual Customers,
Professional Customers and SMEs apply, as do complementary criteria based on the change in sector rating
and the level of country risk;
For Specialized Financing, the criteria applied vary according to the characteristics of the exposures and the
related ratings system: exposures rated by the tool dedicated to large exposures will be treated in the same
way as Large Corporates; other exposures will be treated in the same way as SMEs.

For all these loan books, the ratings on which the measurement of the increase in risk relies correspond to the ratings
produced by internal systems when they are available, as well as on external ratings, particularly when an internal
rating is not available.
The standard provides that the credit risk of a financial instrument has not increased materially since its initial
recognition if this risk is considered to be low at the end of the fiscal year. This provision is applied to certain
investment-grade debt securities held by Corporate & Investment Banking.
Financial assets where there is objective evidence of impairment loss due to an event which represents a known
counterparty risk and which occurs after their initial recognition are considered as impaired and are classified as
Stage 3. Identification criteria for impaired assets are similar to those under IAS 39 and are aligned with the default
criterion in prudential terms.
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Accordingly, loans and receivables are considered as impaired and are classified as Stage 3 if the following two
conditions are met:




there is objective evidence of impairment on an individual or portfolio basis: there are “triggering events” or “loss
events” identifying counterparty risk occurring after the initial recognition of the loans in question. On an
individual basis, probable credit risk arises from default events defined in Article 178 of European regulation 5752013 dated June 26, 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions. Objective evidence of impairment
includes any payments that are past due by at least three months, or regardless of whether any payment has
been missed, the observation of financial hardship experienced by the counterparty leading to the expectation that
some or all of the amounts owed may not be recovered or to the initiation of legal proceedings;
these events are liable to lead to the recognition of incurred credit losses, that is, expected credit losses for which
the probability of occurrence has become certain.

Debt instruments such as bonds or securitized transactions (ABS, CMBS, RMBS, cash CDOs) are considered impaired
and are classified as Stage 3 when there is a known counterparty risk.
The Group uses the same impairment indicators for Stage 3 debt securities as those used for individually assessing the
impairment risk on loans and receivables, irrespective of the portfolio to which the debt securities are ultimately
designated. For perpetual deeply subordinated notes that meet the definition of financial liabilities within the meaning
of IAS 32, particular attention is also paid if, under certain conditions, the issuer may be unable to pay the coupon or
extend the issue beyond the scheduled redemption date.
Impairments for expected credit losses on Stage 3 financial assets are determined as the difference between the
amortized cost and the recoverable amount of the receivable, i.e., the present value of estimated recoverable future
cash flows, whether these cash flows come from the counterparty's activity or from the potential activation of
guarantees. For short-term assets (maturity of less than one year), there is no discounting of future cash flows.
Impairment is determined globally, without distinguishing between interest and principal. Expected credit losses
arising from Stage 3 off-balance sheet commitments are taken into account through provisions recognized on the
liability side of the balance sheet. Specific impairment is calculated for each receivable on the basis of the maturity
schedules determined based on historic recoveries for each category of receivable.
For the purposes of measuring expected credit losses, pledged assets and other credit enhancements that form an
integral part of the contractual conditions of the instrument and that the entity does not recognize separately are
taken into account in the estimate of expected cash flow shortfalls.
Expected credit losses on financial instruments classified as Stage 1 or Stage 2 are measured as the product of several
inputs:
-

-

Flows expected over the lifetime of the financial instrument, discounted on the valuation date - these flows are
determined according to the characteristics of the contract, its effective interest rate and the level of early
repayment expected on the contract;
Loss given default (LGD);
Probabilities of default (PDs), for the coming year in the case of Stage 1 financial instruments and until the
contract’s maturity in the case of Stage 2 financial instruments.

The Group draws on existing concepts and mechanisms to define these inputs, and in particular on internal models
developed to calculate regulatory capital requirements and on projection models used in the stress test system.
Certain adjustments are made to comply with the specifics of IFRS 9:
-

-

-

IFRS 9 parameters therefore aim to provide an accurate estimate of expected credit losses for accounting
provision purposes, whereas prudential parameters are more cautious for regulatory framework purposes.
Several of the safety buffers applied to the prudential parameters are therefore restated;
IFRS 9 parameters must allow expected credit losses to be estimated until the contract’s maturity, whereas
prudential parameters are defined to estimate 12-month expected losses. Twelve-month parameters are thus
projected over long periods;
IFRS 9 parameters must be forward-looking and take into account the expected economic environment over the
projection period, whereas prudential parameters correspond to the cycle’s average estimates (for PD) or
bottom-of-the-cycle estimates (for LGD and the flows expected over the lifetime of the financial instrument). The
PD and LGD prudential parameters are therefore also adjusted based on this expected economic environment.
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Parameters are adjusted to economic conditions by defining three economic scenarios over a three-year period. The
variables defined in each of these scenarios allow for the distortion of the PD and LGD parameters and the calculation
of an expected credit loss for each economic scenario. Parameters for periods longer than three years are projected on
the principle of a gradual return to their long-term average. The models used to distort the PD and LGD parameters
rely on those developed as part of the stress test system for the purpose of ensuring consistency. These economic
scenarios are associated with probabilities of occurrence, ultimately making it possible to calculate an average
probable loss used as the IFRS 9 impairment amount.
These scenarios are defined using the same organization and governance as that defined for the budget process,
requiring an annual review based on proposals from the economic research department and approval by the Executive
Management Committee. To ensure consistency with the budget scenario, the central scenario corresponds to the
budget scenario. Two variants – an optimistic view and a pessimistic view – are also developed around this scenario.
The likelihood that the scenarios will occur is reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Group's Watch List and Provisions
Committee. The parameters thus defined allow expected credit losses for all rated exposures to be valued, regardless
of whether they belong to a scope approved using an internal method or they are processed using the standard
method for the calculation of risk-weighted assets. Conservative default rules are applied to unrated exposures (the
stakes are not material for the Group). These rules involve assigning the highest rating on the internal scale in the
absence of a rating on approval and the lowest rating on the scale before the at-risk stage in the absence of a rating to
date.
The mechanism for validating IFRS 9 parameters is fully integrated in the validation mechanism for existing models
within the Group. The validation of parameters follows a review process by the independent internal validation of
models unit, the review of this work by the Group model committee and monitoring of recommendations issued by the
validation unit.
Collective provisions may be defined by the different Group institutions, corresponding to “sector” provisions. Group
entities are therefore responsible for assessing the consistency of provisions determined for the Group with the local
and sector characteristics of their portfolio and for defining additional sector provisions if necessary. The few portfolios
not covered by the methodologies described below (not material at the Group level) may also result in collective
measurements.
For debt instruments recognized on the balance sheet in the financial assets at amortized cost category, impairments
are recorded against the line on which the asset was initially shown for its net amount (regardless of whether the
asset is S1, S2 or S3). Impairment charges and reversals are recognized in the income statement under “Cost of credit
risk.”
For debt instruments recognized on the balance sheet in the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income category, impairments are carried on the liabilities side of the balance sheet at the other comprehensive
income recyclable to income level, with a corresponding entry on the income statement under “Cost of credit risk”
(regardless of whether the asset is S1, S2 or S3).
For loan and financial guarantee commitments given, provisions are recorded on the liabilities side of the balance
sheet under “Provisions” (irrespective of whether the commitment given is S1, S2 or S3). Additions to/reversals from
provisions are recognized in the income statement under “Cost of credit risk.”

3.1.11 Reclassification of financial assets
Fewer financial assets are reclassified under IFRS 9 than under IAS 39. It is therefore no longer possible to reclassify a
security at amortized cost just because of market illiquidity. A reclassification is possible only if management has made
a strategic decision to change the business model. Such cases are therefore very limited (e.g., sale of a business
division resulting in the transfer of the relevant assets to the workout portfolio, business restructuring, etc.).
In that case, the reclassification is forward-looking and does not entail any reclassification that would affect prior
periods.

3.1.12 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset (or group of similar financial assets) is derecognized when the contractual rights to the asset’s future
cash flows have expired or when such rights are transferred to a third party, together with virtually all of the risks and
rewards associated with ownership of the asset. In such case, rights and obligations created or retained as a result of
the transfer are recorded in a separate line under financial assets and liabilities.
When a financial asset is derecognized, a gain or loss on disposal is recorded in the income statement reflecting the
difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the consideration received.
In the event that the Group has neither transferred nor retained virtually all of the risks and rewards, but has retained
control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognized on the balance sheet to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement.
In the event that the Group has neither transferred nor retained virtually all of the risks and rewards and has not
retained control of the asset, the asset is derecognized and all of the rights and obligations created or retained as a
result of the transfer are recorded in a separate line under financial assets and liabilities.
If all the conditions for derecognizing a financial asset are not met, the Group keeps the asset in the balance sheet and
records a liability representing the obligations arising when the asset is transferred.
The Group derecognizes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) only when it is extinguished, i.e. when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, terminated or expires.
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Repurchase agreements
Securities sold under repurchase agreements are not derecognized in the vendor’s accounts. A liability representing
the commitment to return the funds received is identified and recognized under “Securities sold under repurchase
agreements”. This debt is a financial liability recorded at amortized cost or at fair value through profit or loss when this
liability is considered part of a trading business model.
The assets received are not recognized in the purchaser’s books, but a receivable is recorded with respect to the
vendor representing the funds loaned. The amount disbursed in respect of the asset is recognized under “Securities
bought under repurchase agreements”. On subsequent balance sheet dates, the securities continue to be accounted
for by the vendor in accordance with the rules applicable to the category in which they were initially classified. The
receivable is valued according to methods specific to its category: at amortized cost when classified in “Loans and
receivables,” or at fair value through profit or loss when it is considered part of a trading business model.
Outright securities lending
Securities loaned under outright securities lending transactions are not derecognized in the vendor’s accounts. They
continue to be recognized in their original accounting category and are valued accordingly. For the borrower, the
securities borrowed are not recognized.

Transactions leading to substantial changes in financial assets
When an asset is subject to substantial changes (in particular following a renegotiation or a remodeling due to financial
difficulties) there is derecognition, as rights to initial cash flows have essentially expired. The Group considers that this
is the case for:
•

changes leading to a change of counterparty, especially if the new counterparty has a very different credit quality
than the previous counterparty;

•

changes intended to move from a very structured to simple indexing, as the two assets are not exposed to the
same risks.

Transactions leading to substantial changes in financial liabilities
A substantial change to the terms of a lending instrument must be recorded as the extinguishment of former debt and
its replacement with a new debt. The amendment to IFRS 9 of October 12, 2017 clarified the treatment under IFRS 9
of modifications of liabilities recognized at amortized cost, if the modification does not result in derecognition: the
profit or loss resulting from the difference between the original cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate must be recognized in profit or loss. To assess the substantial nature of the change,
IFRS 9 includes a threshold of 10% based on discounted cash flows, integrating potential costs and fees: when the
difference is greater than or equal to 10%, all of the costs or fees incurred are recognized as profit or loss on debt
extinguishment.
The Group may consider other changes to be substantial, such as a change of issuer (even within the same group) or
a change in currency.

3.1.13 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
In accordance with IAS 32, the Group offsets financial assets and liabilities, and a net balance is presented on the
balance sheet, on the twofold condition that it has the legally enforceable right to offset the recorded amounts, and
the intention either to settle the net amount or to simultaneously realize the asset and settle the liability.
Transactions on derivatives and repurchase agreements carried out with clearing houses, whose operating principles
meet the two criteria mentioned above, are offset in the balance sheet (see Note 4.13).

3.2

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND ASSOCIATED LIABILITIES

Where a decision is made to sell non-current assets and it is highly probable that the sale will occur within 12 months,
these assets are shown separately on the balance sheet on the “Non-current assets held for sale” line. Any liabilities
associated with these assets are also shown separately on the balance sheet on the “Liabilities associated with noncurrent assets held for sale” line.
Once classified in this category, non-current assets are no longer depreciated/amortized and are measured at their
lowest carrying amount or at fair value less sales costs. Financial instruments continue to be measured in accordance
with IFRS 9.
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3.3

INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES

Interest income and expenses are recognized in the income statement on all financial instruments measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. The same is true for interest income and expenses relating to
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and to loan commitments, and accrued interest on
hedging derivatives.
Interest income also consists of interest on non-SPPI debt instruments not held under a trading model as well as
interest on the related economic hedges (classified by default as instruments at fair value through profit or loss).
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
The effective interest rate calculation takes account of all transaction fees paid or received as well as premiums and
discounts. Transaction fees paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of the contract, such
as loan set-up fees and commissions paid to financial partners, are treated as additional interest.
The Group has chosen the following option to account for negative interest:


when income from a financial asset debt instrument is negative, it is deducted from interest income in the income
statement;
when income on a financial liability debt instrument is positive, it is deducted from interest expenses in the
income statement.



3.4

COMMISSIONS ON SERVICES

Commissions are analyzed to separately identify their different items (or performance obligations) and to assign the
appropriate share of revenues to each item. Each item is then recorded in the income statement by type of service
provided, and according to the method used to recognize the associated financial instrument:
•

commissions payable on recurring services are deferred over the period in which the service is provided (payment
processing, securities deposit fees, etc.);

•

commissions payable on occasional services are recognized in full in income when the service is provided (fund
transfers, payment penalties, etc.);

•

commissions payable on execution of a significant transaction are recognized in full in income on completion of the
transaction.

When there is some uncertainty about the amount of a commission (incentive fee in asset management, variable
financial engineering commission, etc.), only the amount that the Group is already certain to receive, given the
information available at the end of the fiscal year, is recognized.
Fees and commissions that form an integral part of the effective yield on an instrument, such as fees on loan
commitments given or loan set-up fees, are recognized and amortized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate
over the estimated term of the applicable loan. These fees and commissions are recognized as “Interest income”
rather than “Fee and commission income.”
Fiduciary and similar fees and commissions are those that result in assets being held or invested on behalf of
individual customers, pension schemes or other institutions. Trust-management services mainly cover asset
management business and custody services on behalf of third parties.

3.5

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

The method used to account for assets and liabilities relating to foreign currency transactions entered into by the
Group depends upon whether the asset or liability in question is classified as a monetary or a non-monetary item.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the
Group entity on whose balance sheet they are recognized, at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date.
All resulting foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in income, except in two cases:
•

only the portion of the foreign exchange gains and losses calculated based on the amortized cost of financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income is recognized in income, with any additional gains and losses
being recognized in “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity”;

•

foreign exchange gains and losses arising on monetary items designated as cash flow hedges or as part of a net
investment in a foreign operation are recognized in “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity.”

Non-monetary assets carried at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate prevailing at the transaction
date. Non-monetary assets carried at fair value are translated using the exchange rate in effect at the date on which
the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange gains and losses on non-monetary items are recognized in income if
gains and losses relating to the items are recorded in income, and in “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity” if
gains and losses relating to the items are recorded in “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity.”
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3.6

FINANCE LEASES AND SIMILAR TRANSACTIONS

Leases are analyzed to determine whether in substance and economic reality they are finance leases or operating
leases.

3.6.1 Finance leases
A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee substantially most of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset. It is treated as a loan granted by the lessor to the lessee in order to finance the purchase of an
asset.
IAS 17 gives five examples of situations that lead to a lease being classified as a finance lease:
•

the lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term;

•

the lease provides the lessee with the option to purchase the asset at a price that is expected to be sufficiently
below the fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable for it to be reasonably certain, at the inception of
the lease, that the option will be exercised;

•

the lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if there is no transfer of ownership;

•

at the inception of the lease, the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to at least substantially
all of the fair value of the leased asset; and

•

the leased assets are of such a specialized nature that only the lessee can use them without major modifications.

IAS 17 also describes three indicators that may also individually or collectively lead to a lease being classified as a
finance lease:
•

if the lessee can cancel the lease, and if the lessor’s losses associated with the cancellation are borne by the
lessee;

•

gains or losses from the change in the fair value of the residual value accrue to the lessee; and

•

the lessee has the ability to continue the lease for a secondary period at a rent that is substantially lower than the
market rent.

At the inception of the contract, the finance lease receivable is recorded on the lessor’s balance sheet in an amount
equal to the net investment in the lease, which corresponds to the minimum payments receivable from the lessee
discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease plus any unguaranteed residual value accruing to the lessor.
IAS 17 requires unguaranteed residual values to be reviewed on a regular basis. If there is a reduction in the
estimated guaranteed residual value, the income allocation over the lease term is revised (calculation of a new
payment schedule) and a charge is recorded in order to correct the financial income already recorded.
Impairments on finance leases are determined in accordance with IFRS 9 using the same method as that described for
financial assets at amortized cost (Note 3.1.10) and are recognized under “Cost of credit risk.”
Finance lease income corresponding to interest is recognized in the income statement under “Interest and similar
income.” It is recognized based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the
finance lease, using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The rate of return implicit in the lease is the discount rate
that makes the following two items equal:
•

the present value of the minimum lease payments receivable by the lessor plus the non-guaranteed residual value;

•

and the initial value of the asset (i.e. fair value at the inception of the lease, plus any direct initial costs comprising
expenses incurred specifically by the lessor to set up the lease).

In the lessee’s financial statements, lease financing agreements with purchase options are treated as the purchase of
an asset financed by a loan.

3.6.2 Operating leases
A lease which is not considered to be a finance lease is automatically classified as an operating lease.
Assets provided under operating leases are shown in the balance sheet under property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets in the case of equipment leases, and investment property in the case of property leases. Lease
income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, under “Income and expenses
from other activities.”
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3.7

INSURANCE BUSINESSES

As indicated above, on November 3, 2017, the European Commission adopted the amendment to IFRS 4 applying
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” with IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” with specific provisions for financial conglomerates,
applicable as of January 1, 2018.
As Groupe BPCE is a financial conglomerate, it elected to apply this provision to its insurance businesses, which
continue to be covered by IAS 39.
Financial assets and liabilities of insurance businesses are therefore recognized in accordance with the provisions of
IAS 39. They are classified into categories defined by this standard, which calls for specific approaches to
measurement and accounting treatment.
Pending amendments to IFRS 4, insurance liabilities continue to be measured broadly in line with French GAAP.
In accordance with Phase I of IFRS 4, insurance contracts are classified into three categories:
•

policies that expose the insurer to a significant insurance risk within the meaning of IFRS 4: this category
comprises policies covering provident insurance, pensions, property and casualty and unit-linked savings carrying a
minimum guarantee. These policies will continue to be measured under the rules provided under local GAAP for
measuring technical reserves;

•

financial contracts such as savings contracts that do not expose the insurer to a significant insurance risk are
recognized in accordance with IFRS 4 if they contain a discretionary profit-sharing feature, and will continue to be
measured in accordance with the rules for measuring technical reserves provided under local GAAP;

•

financial contracts without a discretionary profit-sharing feature, such as unit-linked policies without a non-unitlinked component and without a minimum guarantee, are accounted for in accordance with IAS 39.

Most financial contracts issued by Group entities contain discretionary profit-sharing features.
The discretionary profit-sharing feature grants life insurance policyholders the right to receive a share of the financial
income generated, in addition to guaranteed benefits. For these contracts, in accordance with shadow accounting
principles defined by IFRS 4, the provision for deferred profit sharing is adjusted to include the policyholders’ share in
the unrealized capital gains or losses on financial instruments measured at fair value in application of IAS 39. The
share of the gains or losses attributable to policyholders is determined on the basis of the characteristics of contracts
likely to generate such gains or losses.
Any change in deferred profit sharing is taken to equity where it results from changes in the value of available-for-sale
financial assets and to income where it arises from changes in the value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether its recognized insurance liabilities are adequate, based on the
estimated present value of future cash flows from its insurance policies and investment contracts containing a
discretionary profit sharing feature. The liability adequacy test shows the economic value of the liabilities
corresponding to the average derived from stochastic analyses. If the sum of the surrender value and deferred profit
sharing is lower than the fair value of the technical reserves, the shortfall is recognized in income.
Groupe BPCE has decided to apply the option available under ANC recommendation no. 2017-02 of presenting the
insurance businesses separately on the balance sheet and income statement.
The “Insurance business investments” line on the assets side of the balance sheet includes insurance business assets
representative of:
-

financial investments (i.e., in financial instruments) including advances to policyholders;
financial investments in unit-linked products;
derivatives;
revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios.

The other balances related to the insurance business are aggregated with the balances related to the other balance
sheet items by type.
On the liabilities side of the balance sheet, the “Liabilities related to insurance policies” line consists of:
-

the technical reserves of insurance companies (as defined in Appendix A to IFRS 4);
insurance and reinsurance liabilities, including amounts due to policyholders;
insurance-related derivatives;
shares of the revaluation on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios;
the deferred profit-sharing liability.

On the income statement, the “Net income from insurance businesses” line includes:
-

-

revenues from the insurance businesses, which consist of premiums written and the change in unearned premium
reserves for insurance policies and investment contracts containing a discretionary profit-sharing feature within
the meaning of IFRS 4;
investment income net of expenses:
. investment income including income from investment properties;
. investment expenses, and other financial expenses excluding financing expenses;
. capital gains and losses on the sale of investments including on investment properties;
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-

-

. depreciation, amortization and impairment reversals on investments (including investment properties) and
other assets (including assets provided under operating leases ), recognized at amortized cost;
. the change in fair value of investments (including investment properties) recognized at fair value through
profit or loss.
amortization of acquisition costs;
the external costs of benefits and claims paid on policies which include paid benefits and claims on insurance
policies and on investment contracts containing a discretionary profit-sharing feature (paid benefits and claims,
changes in technical reserves), including policyholder compensation (deferred profit-sharing), as well as changes
in the value of investment contracts, particularly for unit-linked policies;
income from reinsurance cessions, defined as the sum of ceded premiums, net of ceded claims and benefits paid
and commissions;
where applicable:
. net gains or losses resulting from the derecognition of financial assets at amortized cost;
. net gains or losses resulting from the reclassification of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

3.7.1 Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables due from credit institutions and customers and certain securities not listed in an active market
are recorded in “Insurance business investments.”
Loans and receivables are initially recorded at fair value plus any costs directly related to their issuance, less any
proceeds directly attributable to issuance. On subsequent balance sheet dates, they are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows (payments or receipts) to the
value of the loan at inception. This rate includes any discounts recorded in respect of loans granted at below-market
rates, as well as any external transaction income or costs directly related to the issue of the loans, which are treated
as an adjustment to the effective yield on the loan. No internal cost is included in the calculation of amortized cost.
When loans are extended under conditions that are less favorable than market conditions, a discount corresponding to
the difference between the nominal value of the loan and the sum of future cash flows discounted at the market
interest rate is deducted from the nominal value of the loan. The market interest rate is the rate applied by the vast
majority of local financial institutions at a given time for instruments and counterparties with similar characteristics.
A discount is applied to loans restructured following a loss event as defined by IAS 39, to reflect the difference
between the present value of the contractual cash flows at inception and the present value of expected principal and
interest repayments after restructuring. The discount rate used is the original effective interest rate. This discount is
expensed to “Cost of credit risk” (for the insurer's net share) in the income statement and offset against the
corresponding outstanding on the balance sheet. It is written back to net interest income in the income statement over
the life of the loan using an actuarial method. The restructured loan is reclassified as performing based on expert
opinion when no uncertainty remains as to the borrower’s capacity to honor the commitment.
External costs consist primarily of commissions paid to third parties in connection with the arrangement of loans. They
essentially comprise commissions paid to business partners.
Income directly attributable to the issuance of new loans principally comprises set-up fees charged to customers,
rebilled costs and commitment fees (if it is more probable than improbable that the loan will be drawn down).
Commitment fees received that will not result in any drawdowns are apportioned on a straight-line basis over the life
of the commitment.
Expenses and income arising on loans with a term of less than one year at inception are deferred on a pro rata basis
with no recalculation of the effective interest rate. For floating or adjustable rate loans, the effective interest rate is
adjusted at each rate refixing date.

3.7.2 Securities
Securities recorded as assets are classified into four categories as defined by IAS 39:
•

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

•

available-for-sale financial assets;

•

loans and receivables;

•

held-to-maturity financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This asset category includes:
•

financial assets held for trading, i.e. securities acquired or issued principally for the purpose of selling them in the
near term; and

•

financial assets that the Group has chosen to recognize at fair value through profit or loss at inception using the
fair value option available under IAS 39.

The qualifying criteria used when applying this option are described in Note 3.7.3 “Financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.”
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These assets are measured at fair value at the date of initial recognition and at each balance sheet date. Changes in
fair value over the period, interest, dividends, gains or losses on disposals on these instruments are recognized in “Net
income from insurance businesses.”
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are all securities not classified in the other categories.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognized at fair value, plus any transaction costs.
On the balance sheet date, they are carried at their fair value and changes in fair value are recorded under “Gains and
losses recognized directly in equity” (except for foreign currency money-market assets, for which changes in the fair
value of the foreign currency component affect income).
If they are sold, these changes in fair value are taken to income.
Interest income accrued or received on fixed-income securities is recorded under “Net income from insurance
businesses.” Income from variable-income securities is recorded under “Net income from insurance businesses.”
Loans and receivables
The portfolio of loans and receivables included in “Insurance business investments” comprises non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and which are not quoted in an active market. In addition, these assets
must not be exposed to a risk of material losses unrelated to a deterioration in their credit quality.
Some securities not quoted in an active market may be classified in this portfolio. These are initially recognized at fair
value, plus any transaction costs and less any transaction income. Securities classified in this category comply with the
rules for recognition, measurement and impairment applicable to loans and receivables.
When a financial asset recorded under loans and receivables is sold before its maturity, the income from the disposal
is recorded under “Net income from insurance businesses.”
Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held-to-maturity (HTM) financial assets are securities with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the
Group has the intention and ability to hold until maturity.
IAS 39 does not permit the sale or transfer of these securities before maturity except in certain specific circumstances.
In the event that the securities are sold before maturity, all held-to-maturity assets must be reclassified and the heldto-maturity category cannot be used during the current year or the following two years. Exceptions to the rule apply in
the following cases:
•

a material deterioration in the issuer’s credit quality;

•

a change in tax regulations canceling or significantly reducing the tax exemption on interest earned on investments
held-to-maturity;

•

a major business combination or significant withdrawal of activity (sale of a sector, for example) requiring the sale
or transfer of held-to-maturity investments in order to maintain the entity’s existing situation in terms of interest
rate risk or its credit risk policy;

•

a change in legal or regulatory provisions significantly modifying either the definition of an eligible investment or
the maximum amount of certain types of investment, requiring that the entity dispose of a held-to-maturity asset;

•

a significant increase in capital requirements forcing the entity to restructure by selling held-to-maturity assets;

•

a significant increase in the risk weighting of held-to-maturity assets in terms of prudential capital regulations.

In the exceptional cases described above, the income from the disposal is recorded under “Net income from insurance
businesses.”
The hedging of these securities against interest rate risk is not permitted. However, hedges against exchange rate risk
or the inflation component of certain held-to-maturity financial assets are allowed.
Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognized at fair value at inception, plus any transaction costs directly
attributable to their acquisition. They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, including any premiums, discounts and acquisition fees, where material.

3.7.3 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The amendment to IAS 39 adopted by the European Union on November 15, 2005 allows entities to designate financial
assets and liabilities on initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. However, an entity’s decision to designate
a financial asset or liability at fair value through profit or loss may not be reversed.
Compliance with the criteria stipulated by the standard must be verified prior to any recognition of an instrument using
the fair value option.
In practice, this option may be applied only under the specific circumstances described below:
Elimination of or significant reduction in an accounting mismatch
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Applying the option enables the elimination of accounting mismatches stemming from the application of different
valuation rules to instruments managed in accordance with a single strategy. This treatment applies in particular to
unit-linked policy assets and liabilities.
Harmonization of accounting treatment for performance management and measurement
The option applies for a group of assets and/or liabilities managed and measured at fair value, provided that it is
based on a formally documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the Group is also
reported internally on a fair value basis.
Hybrid financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives
An embedded derivative is a component of a financial or non-financial hybrid (combined) instrument that qualifies as a
derivative. It must be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if the hybrid instrument is
not measured at fair value through profit or loss, and if the economic characteristics and risks associated with the
derivative are not closely related to those of the host contract.
The fair value option may be applied when the embedded derivative(s) substantially modify the cash flows of the host
contract and when the separate recognition of the embedded derivative(s) is not specifically prohibited by IAS 39 (e.g.
an early redemption option at cost embedded in a debt instrument). The option allows the entire instrument to be
measured at fair value, and therefore avoids the need to extract, recognize or separately measure the embedded
derivative.
This treatment applies in particular to certain financial instruments containing material embedded derivatives
(convertible bonds, indexed bonds and structured securities).

3.7.4 Impairment of financial assets
Impairment of securities
An impairment loss is recognized on an individual basis against securities, with the exception of securities classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, when there is objective evidence of impairment resulting from one
or more loss events having occurred since the initial recognition of the asset.
Different rules are used for the impairment of equity instruments and debt instruments.
For equity instruments, a lasting decline or a significant decrease in value are objective indicators of depreciation.
A decline of over 50% or lasting for over 36 months in the value of a security by comparison with its historical cost is
an objective indicator of permanent impairment, leading to the recognition of an impairment loss in income.
In addition, these impairment criteria are also supplemented by a line-by-line review of the assets that have recorded
a decline of over 30% or for more than six months in their value by comparison with their historical cost or if events
occur that are liable to represent a material or prolonged decline. An impairment charge is recorded in the income
statement if the Group determines that the value of the asset will not be recovered in its entirety.
For unlisted equity instruments, a qualitative analysis of their situation is carried out.
Impairment losses recognized on equity instruments may not be reversed and nor may they be written back to
income. Losses are recorded under “Net income from insurance businesses.” A subsequent increase in value is taken
to “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity” until disposal of the securities.
Impairment losses are recognized on debt instruments such as bonds or securitized transactions (ABS, CMBS, RMBS,
cash CDOs) when there is a known counterparty risk.
The Group uses the same impairment indicators for debt securities as those used for individually assessing the
impairment risk on loans and receivables, irrespective of the portfolio to which the debt securities are ultimately
designated. For perpetual deeply subordinated notes, particular attention is also paid if, under certain conditions, the
issuer may be unable to pay the coupon or extend the issue beyond the scheduled redemption date.
In the event of an improvement in the issuer’s financial position, impairment losses taken on debt instruments must
be written back to the income statement. Impairment losses and write-backs are recorded in “Cost of credit risk” (for
the insurer’s net share).
Impairment of loans and receivables
IAS 39 defines the methods for calculating and recognizing the impairment of loans.
A loan or receivable is deemed to be impaired if the following two conditions are met:




there is objective evidence of impairment on an individual basis: there are “triggering events” or “loss events”
identifying counterparty risk occurring after the initial recognition of the loans in question. On an individual level,
the criteria for deciding whether or not a credit risk has been incurred include, in particular, the existence of past
due payments;
these events are liable to lead to the recognition of incurred losses.

Impairment is determined as the difference between the amortized cost and the recoverable amount of the receivable,
i.e. the present value of estimated recoverable future cash flows taking into account the impact of any collateral.
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3.8

CONTRIBUTIONS TO BANKING RESOLUTION MECHANISMS

The procedure for financing the deposit and resolution guarantee fund had been changed by a Ministerial Order dated
October 27, 2015. For the Deposit Guarantee Fund, the cumulative amount of contributions made to the fund by the
Group for deposit, collateral and securities guarantee mechanisms is €868 million. Contributions (which are nonrefundable in the event of a voluntary withdrawal of approval to operate) represent €233 million. Contributions paid in
the form of partner or association certificates and cash security deposits recognized as assets on the balance sheet
total €635 million.
Directive 2014/59/EU (BRRD – Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive), which establishes the framework for the
recovery and resolution of banks and investment firms, and European regulation 806/2014 (SRM regulation)
established the introduction of a resolution fund as of 2015. In 2016, this fund became a Single Resolution Fund (SRF)
between the member States participating in the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM). The SRF is a resolution
financing mechanism available to the resolution authority (Single Resolution Board). The latter may use this fund when
implementing resolution procedures.
In accordance with delegated regulation 2015/63 and implementing regulation 2015/81 supplementing the BRRD
directive on ex-ante contributions to financing mechanisms for the resolution, the Single Resolution Board set the level
of contributions to the Single Resolution Fund for 2018. The amount of contributions paid by the Group for the
fiscal year totaled €400 million, of which €340 million recognized as an expense and €60 million in cash security
deposits recognized as assets on the balance sheet (15% of funds in cash security deposits). The cumulative amount
of contributions recognized as assets on the balance sheet totaled €194 million at June 30, 2018.
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Note 4
4.1

Notes to the balance sheet

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise instruments held for trading, including
derivatives; certain assets and liabilities that the Group has chosen to recognize at fair value, at their date of
acquisition or issue, using the fair value option available under IFRS 9; and non-SPPI assets.

4.1.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets in the trading book mainly include proprietary securities transactions, repurchase agreements and
derivative instruments contracted by the Group to manage its risk exposure.
6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Financial assets mandatorily at
fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets mandatorily at fair
value through profit or loss

Financial
assets
Other financial designated
Financial assets mandatorily
at fair
at
fair
value
assets held
value
through profit or
for trading
loss (1)

Total

Other financial
Financial assets mandatorily
assets held for
at fair value
trading
through profit or
loss

in millions of euros
Treasury bills and equivalent
Bonds and other debt securities
Debt securities
Loans to credit institutions excluding repurchase agreements
Loans to customers excluding repurchase agreements
Repurchase agreements (2)
Loans
Equity instruments
Trading derivatives
Security deposits paid
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

(1)

(2)

11,004
12,663
23,667
176
4,249
76,404
80,829
33,885
47,570
15,529

0
6,472
6,472
0
3,587

201,480

12,063

5
32
37
0
1

3,587
2,004
///
///

11,009
19,167
30,176
176
7,837
76,404
84,417
35,889
47,570
15,529

10,963
9,600
20,563
186
4,317
81,832
86,335
30,977
46,970
15,276

0
6,091
6,091

213,581

200,121

12,354

1
///
///
///
38

Financial
assets
designated
at fair
value
through
profit or
loss – fair
value
option

4,045

5
4
9
0
12

4,045
2,218
///
///

12
///
///
///
21

Total

10,968
15,695
26,663
186
8,374
81,832
90,392
33,195
46,970
15,276
212,496

Consisting of non-SPPI assets that fall outside the scope of a trading activity including units of UCITS and private equity
investment funds presented in bonds and other debt securities (€5,054 million at June 30, 2018). Loans to customers include,
among others, certain contracts for structured loans to local authorities;
Furthermore, this information is presented in consideration of netting effects, in accordance with IAS 32 (see Note 4.13).

4.1.2 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities in the trading book include liabilities arising from short-selling transactions, repurchase agreements
and derivative instruments.
6/30/2018
Financial
Financial
liabilities
liabilities designated at
issued for
fair value
trading
through
profit or loss

in millions of euros
Short sales
Trading derivatives

(1)

1/1/2018

Total

Financial
liabilities
Financial designated
liabilities
at fair
issued for
value
trading
through
profit or
loss

Total

24,313

///

24,313

26,644

///

26,644

48,135

///

48,135

47,490

///

47,490
134

Interbank term accounts and loans

78

78

41

93

C ustomer term accounts and loans

122

122

2

11

12

302

23,983

24,285

303

22,690

22,993

///

100

Unsubordinated debt securities
Subordinated debt
Repurchase agreements

(1)

94,564

Security deposits received

8,528

Other
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
(1)

100

///

103

103

///

94,564

98,140

///

98,140

///

8,031

8,528

8,031

///

///

4,216

4,216

///

3,390

3,390

175,842

28,499

204,341

180,651

26,287

206,938

This information is presented in consideration of netting effects, in accordance with IAS 32 (see Note 4.13).

These liabilities are measured at fair value on the reporting date with changes in value, including coupon, recorded in
the “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” line on the income statement, with
the exception of changes in fair value attributable to own credit risk associated with financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss, which are recognized in “Revaluation of own credit risk on financial liabilities
recognized at fair value through profit or loss” due to application of IFRS 9.
Revaluations in respect of own credit risk totaled €73 million at June 30, 2018 versus €314 million at January 1, 2018.
Under IFRS 9, the change, i.e., €240 million in first-half 2018, is presented in gains and losses not recyclable to
income recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
Liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss consist primarily of issues originated and structured by Natixis
for customers whose risks and hedges are managed collectively. These issues include embedded derivatives for which
changes in value are offset, except for those allocated to own credit risk, by those of the derivative instruments
hedging them economically.
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Financial liabilities accounted for under the fair value option also consist of structured debt issues and structured
deposits containing embedded derivatives.

4.2

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
1/1/2018

6/30/2018

27
33,304
2,588

33,331
(52)

2,588
///

35,919
(52)

32,917
(57)

2,529
///

35,446
(57)

902

(39)

863

996

(26)

970

Standard debt
instruments held
under a hold to
collect and sell
model

in millions of euros
Loans or receivables due from customers
Debt securities
Equities and other equity securities (1)
Fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Of which impairments for expected credit losses
Of which gains and losses recognized directly in
equity on financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (before tax) (2)
(1)

27
33,304
///

Equity
instruments
designated at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
///
///
2,588

Total

Equity
Standard debt
instruments
instruments held
designated at
under a hold to
fair value
collect and sell
through other
model comprehensive
income
27
///
32,890
///
2,529

Total

27
32,890
2,529

Equities and other equity securities include strategic equity interests and certain long-term private equity securities. As these
securities are not held for sale, their classification as equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income is appropriate for this type of security.
The cumulative amount of changes in fair value reclassified under “Retained earnings” in first-half 2018 was €3 million.
Groupe BPCE also recognized €86 million in dividends on these securities in income in first-half 2018.

(2)

Including the portion attributable to non-controlling interests (a non-material amount at June 30, 2018, compared with €6 million
at December 31, 2017).

Debt instruments recorded under financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income can be broken
down into:




Stage 1: €33,196 million, net of impairment (-€4 million),
Stage 2: €101 million, net of impairment (-€3 million),
Stage 3: €34 million, net of impairment (-€45 million).

At January 1, 2018, they broke down as follows:




Stage 1: €32,102 million, net of impairment (-€4 million),
Stage 2: €773 million, net of impairment (-€14 million),
Stage 3: €42 million, net of impairment (-€39 million).

Change in impairments for expected credit losses on debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

in millions of euros

Impairments at January 1, 2018

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

(4)

(14)

(39)

(57)

Production and acquisition

0

Derecognition and redemption

10

1

11

1

(7)

(6)

(3)

(45)

(52)

Transfers between stages

0

Other changes
Impairments at June 30, 2018

(4)
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4.3

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

4.3.1 Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities
The following statement provides a breakdown of financial instruments by type of price and valuation model:
Price quoted in an
active market
(Level 1)

in millions of euros

Measurement
techniques using
observable data
(Level 2)

Measurement
techniques using
unobservable data
(Level 3)

Total

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Debt instruments

18,111

Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives

18,111
33,412

98,609

3,304

120,024

93,389

2,969

96,358

5,220

335

23,667

470

3

33,885

33,412

470

3

33,885

793

44,327

1,559

46,678

3

26,456

258

470

3,594

276

4,340

13,646

876

14,522

C urrency derivatives
C redit derivatives

385

Other derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Held for trading*

148

533

320

246

52,316

143,406

4,866

200,587

784

108

892

707

97

805

Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives

566

Equity derivatives
C urrency derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Economic hedging
Debt instruments

26,717

8

8

76

3

79

785

108

892

5

33

Debt securities

5

32

38

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Fair value option

5

33

38

2,452

2,054

5,553

10,059

794

2,793

3,587

2,452

1,260

2,761

6,473

2,653

2,054

5,553

10,059

362

894

748

2,004

362

894

748

Loans due from credit institutions and customers

Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Non-standard
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss – Non-trading
Debt instruments

Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

1

2,004

362

894

748

2,004

31,818

1,367

146

33,331

2

25

27

31,818

1,365

121

33,304

226

377

1,985

2,588

226

377

1,985

2,588

32,075

1,713

2,131

35,919

Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities

38

1

Interest rate derivatives

7,713

C urrency derivatives

1,225

1,225

8,938

8,938

Hedging derivatives

Price quoted in
an active market
(Level 1)

in millions of euros

Measurement
techniques using
observable data
(Level 2)

7,713

Measurement
techniques using
unobservable data
(Level 3)

Total

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Debt securities
Derivatives

24,026

93,891

1,261

119,178

685

44,154

1,997

46,836

- Interest rate derivatives
- Equity derivatives

391

- C urrency derivatives
- C redit derivatives
- Other derivatives
Other financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Held for trading*

273

4,973

434

26,536
5,798

12,158

1,063

13,221

432

226

659

294

327

622

9

8,519

8,528

24,721

146,564

3,258

174,543

778

520

1,298

Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives

728

C urrency derivatives

520

1,248

51

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Economic hedging

778

Debt securities

23,975

Other financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Fair value option
Interest rate derivatives

3,545

671

3,545

24,646
11,747

C urrency derivatives
Hedging derivatives
(1)

26,264

51
520
308

1,299
24,283
4,216

308

28,499
11,747

2,646

2,646

14,393

14,394

Excluding economic hedging

The breakdown of insurance business investments by fair value level at June 30, 2018 is presented in Note 6.1.6.
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4.3.2 Analysis of financial assets and liabilities classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy

Gains and losses recognized during the
period
In the income statement

Transactions carried
out during the period

Transfers during
the period

(1)

in equity
On
transaction
s in On transactions
progress at removed from
the
the balance
reporting
sheet at the
Reclassificatio
date reporting date
1/1/2018
ns

in thousands of euros

Sales/ To another
Purchase Redemption
reporting
s/Issues
s
category

From and
to another
Other
level changes (2)

6/30/2018

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Debt instruments

50

665

4,899

(5,180)

2,582

63

665

4,493

(4,868)

255

(13)

406

(312)

(3)

373

(208)

(88)

(116)

1,559

1

(32)

(88)

5

257

2,836

Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Equity instruments

(3)

37

3,304

35

2,970

1

334

3

Equities and other equity securities

3

3

Derivatives

(469)

2,196

Interest rate derivatives

12

355

Equity derivatives
C urrency derivatives
C redit derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Held for trading

(3)

(129)
4

3

564

(407)

(36)

305

(149)

1,077

(99)

(21)

66

(26)

200

24

(76)

1

(1)

5,032

(419)

0

5,275

536

148
(91)
56

108

64

97

70

(7)

(11)

Interest rate derivatives

63

(19)

(11)

11

(3)

6

1

(4)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Economic hedging

70

(7)

(11)

Debt instruments

16

1

(2)

C urrency derivatives

Loans due from credit institutions and customers

16

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Fair value option
Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities

(2)

1

16

1

0

4,443

(4)

15

2,905

(101)

5

1,538

97

10

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Non-standard

4,443

(4)

15

Equity instruments

1,177

(9)

7

Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss – Non-trading
Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

1,177

(9)

1,177

(9)

560

1

25

(1)

534

2

2,132

69

2,132

69

2,692

70

0

7
7

37

4,866

8
3
108

(9)

(7)

(9)

0

(2)

(9)

(546)

436

(156)

(116)

56

505
70

0

876

(5,388)

Derivatives
Equity derivatives

277
(121)

(1)

(7)

311

74

(1)

(7)

(1)

394

5,554
2,794

(3)

436

(390)

362

311

397

2,761

505

(546)

436

311

394

5,554

40

(141)

(7)

4

(323)

748

(141)

(7)

0

40
40

(141)

(7)

(11)

15

(352)

(8)

4
4

(323)

748

(323)

748

(58)

147

1
9
9
9

C urrency derivatives

25

(11)

15

(353)

(8)

(140)

44

(156)

103

(1)

(58)

121

(76)

1,984

(140)

44

(156)

103

(1)

(76)

1,984

(151)

59

(508)

95

(1)

(134)

2,131

0

0

0

0

0

(5)

(5)

Hedging derivatives

0

0

0

(5)

Gains and losses recognized during the
period
In the income statement

Transactions carried
out during the period

Transfers during
the period

(1)

On
transaction
On
s in
transactions
progress at removed from
the
the balance
reporting
sheet at the
Reclassificatio
date reporting date
1/1/2018
ns

in thousands of euros

(5)

in equity

Sales/ To another
Purchase Redemption
reporting
s/Issues
s
category

From and
to another
level

Other
changes (2) 6/30/2018

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Debt securities

1,097

61

(79)

1,200

(1,019)

Derivatives

2,135

364

(294)

202

(211)

(110)
(111)

- Interest rate derivatives

395

- Equity derivatives

253

- C urrency derivatives

(18)

115

(129)

(1)

434

(9)

27

(4)

(89)

1,062

- C redit derivatives

57

(139)

47

(60)

3,232

425

(373)

1,402

(1,230)

(110)

504

(64)

(12)

91

321

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Held for trading (3)
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives

343
(29)

0

(64)

(12)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Economic hedging

504

(64)

(12)

Debt securities

384

2

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Fair value option

384

500

Equity derivatives

(1)
(2)

(3)

1,996

13

(147)

1,166

(6)

1,260
(90)

3

(1)

226

95

(90)

0

3,256

3

522

3

522

3

522

0

(3)

2

272

91

3

(81)

308

3

(81)

308

The main impacts recognized in the income statement are mentioned in Note 5.3;
Including €75 million in reclassifications of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income to the “Financial
assets held for sale” aggregate under IFRS 5. Other changes include, in particular, the impact of changes in the consolidation scope
and foreign exchange differences;
Excluding economic hedging.
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4.3.3 Analysis of fair value hierarchy transfers

From
To

In millions of euros
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Debt instruments
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Derivatives
Equity derivatives
Currency derivatives
Other derivatives

Level 1
Level 2

Level 1
Level 3

162
162
2
2
8
4

263
263
126
126
43

Level 3
Level 1

Level 3
Level 2

3
3

121
121

4

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Held for trading
Debt instruments
Debt securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Non-standard
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss – Non-trading
Debt instruments
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

(*)

172
26
26
26
2
2
2
65
65

143
143
143
5
5
5

432
10
10
10

3
176
176
176

4
4
4

121
4
4
4

737
737

65

1
1
1

737

From
To

In millions of euros
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Debt securities
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Currency derivatives
Credit derivatives
Other derivatives
Other financial liabilities

Level 1
Level 2

Level 2
Level 1

Level 2
Level 3

Level 3
Level 2

15

23

1

90

12

22

1

3

1

15

23

90

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Held for trading (*)
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Economic hedging
(*)

Period ending 6/30/2018
Level 2
Level 2
Level 1
Level 3

1
1
1

90

1

Excluding economic hedging

4.3.4 Sensitivity of Level 3 assets and liabilities to changes in the principal assumptions
At June 30, 2018, Natixis calculated the sensitivity of the fair value of financial instruments measured using
unobservable inputs. With the aid of probable assumptions, this sensitivity was used to estimate the impacts of market
fluctuations in uncertain economic environments. This estimate was performed using:


a “standardized (1)” variation in unobservable inputs related to assumptions of additional valuation adjustments for
fixed income, currency and equity instruments. The resulting sensitivity was €24 million;



a flat rate of +/-50 basis points applied to the margin used to discount the expected flows of TruPS CDOs;

i.e. the sensitivity impact would result in an improvement in value of €8 million, should the inputs mentioned above
improve, or a decrease in value of €8 million if the same inputs deteriorate.

(1)

I.e. the standard deviation of consensus prices used to measure the inputs.
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4.4

ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST

These are SPPI financial assets held under a hold to collect model. Most loans originated by the Group are classified in
this category. Information about credit risk is provided in Note 5.8.

4.4.1 Securities at amortized cost
in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Treasury bills and equivalent

20,351

24,392

Bonds and other debt securities

13,581

9,261

Impairments for expected credit losses
TOTAL SECURITIES AT AMORTIZED COST

(161)

(158)

33,771

33,495

The fair value of securities at amortized cost was €32,948 million at June 30, 2018.

Debt securities at amortized cost can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €32,873 million, net of impairment (-€8 million),



Stage 2: €732 million, net of impairment (-€10 million),



Stage 3: €166 million, net of impairment (-€143 million).

At January 1, 2018, debt securities at amortized cost broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €32,815 million, net of impairment (-€6 million),



Stage 2: €490 million, net of impairment (-€14 million),



Stage 3: €190 million, net of impairment (-€138 million).

At June 30, 2017, the portfolio of securities at amortized cost included €140 million in purchased or originated creditimpaired assets (net amount, after a -€31 million impairment).

Change in impairments for expected credit losses on debt securities at amortized cost

in millions of euros

Impairments at January 1, 2018

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

(6)

(14)

(138)

(158)

Production and acquisition

0

Derecognition and redemption

0

Transfers between stages
Other changes
Impairments at June 30, 2018

2

2

(2)

2

(5)

(5)

(8)

(10)

(143)

(161)
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4.4.2 Loans and receivables due from credit institutions at amortized cost
in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Current accounts with overdrafts

9,442

7,007

Repurchase agreements

6,631

7,867

73,727

70,406

65

73

5,072

4,948

Accounts and loans

(1)

Other loans or receivables due from credit institutions
Security deposits paid
Impairments for expected credit losses
TOTAL

(61)

(79)

94,876

90,222

(1)

Livret A, LDD and LEP savings accounts centralized with Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations and recorded under “Accounts and
loans” amounted to €67,992 million at June 30, 2018 versus €65,006 million at January 1, 2018.

The fair value of loans and receivables due from credit institutions at amortized cost was €94,892 million at June 30,
2018.

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions at amortized cost can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €93,744 million, net of impairment (-€3 million),



Stage 2: €1,132 million, net of impairment (-€6 million),



Stage 3: €1 million, net of impairment (-€52 million).

At January 1, 2018, loans and receivables due from credit institutions at amortized cost broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €88,914 million, net of impairment (-€8 million),



Stage 2: €1,308 million, net of impairment (-€7 million),



Stage 3: €0 million, net of impairment (-€64 million).

Change in impairments for expected credit losses on loans and receivables due from credit institutions at
amortized cost

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

(8)

(7)

(64)

(79)

Production and acquisition

(1)

(2)

Derecognition and redemption

8

1

Transfers between stages

2

Other changes

(4)

2

(1)

(3)

(3)

(6)

(52)

(61)

in millions of euros

Impairments at January 1, 2018

Impairments at June 30, 2018

(3)
13

22
2
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4.4.3 Loans and receivables due from customers at amortized cost

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

13,831

12,555

632,525

618,787

Current accounts with overdrafts
Other facilities granted to customers
- Loans to financial sector customers

7,199

6,387

71,725

68,688

- Equipment loans

157,714

154,912

- Home loans

- Short-term credit facilities

337,538

328,712

- Export loans

3,713

3,417

- Repurchase agreements

9,881

9,226

17,305

17,117

- Finance leases
- Subordinated loans

601

609

26,849

29,718

8,891

8,000

555

443

655,802

639,785

- Other loans
Other loans or receivables due from customers
Security deposits paid
Gross loans and receivables due from customers
Impairments for expected credit losses

(12,946)

(13,348)

TOTAL

642,856

626,437

The fair value of loans and receivables due from customers was €658,666 million at June 30, 2018.
Loans and receivables due from customers at amortized cost can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €562,475 million, net of impairment (-€989 million),



Stage 2: €67,697 million, net of impairment (-€1,869 million),



Stage 3: €12,684 million, net of impairment (-€10,088 million).

At January 1, 2018, loans and receivables due from customers at amortized cost broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €532,178 million, net of impairment (-€1,089 million),



Stage 2: €81,524 million, net of impairment (-€1,838 million),



Stage 3: €12,735 million, net of impairment (-€10,421 million).

At June 30, 2018, loans and receivables due from customers included €605 million in purchased or originated creditimpaired assets (net amount, after a -€174 million impairment).

Change in impairments for expected credit losses on loans and receivables due from customers at
amortized cost

in millio ns o f euro s

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

Impairments at January 1, 2018

(1,089)

(1,838)

(10,421)

(13,348)

Production and acquisition

(249)

(74)

(68)

(391)

Derecognition and redemption

61

118

451

630

Transfers between stages

42

16

(296)

(238)

Other changes (1)

246

(91)

246

401

(989)

(1,869)

(10,088)

(12,946)

Impairments at June 30, 2018
(1)

Changes in first-half 2018 related to implementation of IFRS 5 stood at +€46 million for Stage 1, +€28 million for Stage 2 and
+€318 million for Stage 3.
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4.5

ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER ASSETS

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

Collection accounts

3,289

533

308

1,549

1,121

4,040
11,327

3,478
8,196

Prepaid expenses
Accrued income
Other accruals
Accrued income and prepaid expenses

1/1/2018

5,205

Settlement accounts in debit on securities transactions

404

353

Other debtors

18,540

17,512

Other assets

18,944

17,865

TOTAL ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER ASSETS

4.6

30,271

26,061

GOODWILL

Goodwill related to operations for first-half 2018 is analyzed in respect of the note regarding the scope of
consolidation.
in millions of euros

H1 2018

Opening net value
Acquisitions (1)

4,304

4,397

65

194

Impairment

(85)

Reclassifications and other movements (2)
Foreign exchange rate adjustments
Closing net value
(1)

(2)

Fiscal year 2017

(57)
38
4,350

(202)
4,304

Including €10 million in goodwill recorded on the acquisition of Vermilion, €37 million for the acquisition of Fenchurch and
€18 million in goodwill recorded on the acquisition of Alter CE (Comitéo);
Including -€51 million related to the reclassifications to the “Financial assets held for sale” aggregate under IFRS 5 (-€21 million for
Axeltix, -€9 million for Selection 1818 and -€21 million for Banque Malgache de l’Océan Indien (BMOI));
In addition, a -€9 million adjustment was made within the one-year allocation period including -€10 million for Investors Mutual
Limited.

At June 30, 2018, gross goodwill stood at €4,871 million and total impairment stood at €521 million.
As there was no indication of impairment, no impairment tests were performed at June 30, 2018 with the exception of
the “Equity interests (Coface)” CGU.
Since the spot price of the share declined and the valuation of the “Equity interests (Coface)” CGU is sensitive to this
input, an impairment test was performed. At June 30, 2018, no additional impairment was recorded as a result of this
test.
Certain goodwill items recognized in the United States gave rise to tax amortization over 15 years leading to a
difference between the carrying amount of the goodwill and its tax base. This difference in treatment generated a
deferred tax liability of €321 million at June 30, 2018 compared with €311 million at December 31, 2017.
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Breakdown of goodwill
Carrying amount
6/30/2018

in millions of euros
Regional banks

(1)

Banque BC P France
Other
Retail Banking
BPC E International

1/1/2018

633

633

42

42

8

8

683

683

6

27

Fidor AG

82

82

C rédit Foncier

13

13

Other

5

3

Other networks

106

125

Specialized Financial Services

144

132

39

39

Insurance
Equity interests (Coface)

281

281

Retail Banking and Insurance

1,253

1,260

Asset & Wealth Management

2,970

2,967

127

77

4,350

4,304

Corporate & Investment Banking
TOTAL GOODWILL
(1)

Regional banks: Banque de Savoie, Banque Dupuy, de Parseval, Banque Marze, goodwill carried by Banque Populaire Aquitaine
Centre Atlantique (transfer of CCSO – Pelletier’s goodwill to Banque Populaire Aquitaine Centre Atlantique after their merger) and
goodwill carried by Banque Populaire Méditerranée (transfer of Banque Chaix’s goodwill to Banque Populaire Méditerranée after
their merger).

4.7

AMOUNTS DUE TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS AND CUSTOMERS

These liabilities, which are not classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are carried at
amortized cost under “Amounts due to credit institutions” or “Amounts due to customers.”

4.7.1 Amounts due to credit institutions and similar items
in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Demand deposits

9,629

9,490

Repurchase agreements

3,443

4,097

Accrued interest

7

7

13,079

13,593

Term deposits and loans

67,206

64,650

Repurchase agreements

8,401

4,795

Accrued interest

(103)

(19)

75,504

69,426

Amounts due to credit institutions – repayable on demand

Amounts due to credit institutions – repayable at agreed maturity dates
Security deposits received (1)
TOTAL AMOUNTS DUE TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS
(1)

2,233

1,625

90,816

84,644

Guarantees received that were recorded under accrual accounts at December 31, 2017 were reclassified at January 1, 2018 to
loans and receivables due from credit institutions or to assets at fair value through profit or loss depending on the associated
business model (see Note 4.1.2).

The fair value of amounts due to credit institutions was €90,986 million at June 30, 2018.
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4.7.2 Amounts due to customers
in millions of euros

6/30/2018

Current accounts in credit

177,800

1/1/2018
172,889

Livret A savings accounts

92,546

89,897

Regulated home savings products

77,264

77,498

Other regulated savings accounts

85,487

84,010

Accrued interest

1,518

9

256,815

251,414

Demand deposits and loans

15,326

15,474

Term accounts and loans

60,276

65,074

Regulated savings accounts

Accrued interest
Other customer accounts
Demand
Term
Accrued interest

1,872

1,964

77,475

82,512

200

0

7,953

6,934

(5)

0

Repurchase agreements

8,148

6,934

Other amounts due to customers

3,031

2,347

Security deposits received (1)
TOTAL AMOUNTS DUE TO CUSTOMERS

215

593

523,483

516,689

The fair value of amounts due to customers was €523,794 million at June 30, 2018.

4.8

DEBT SECURITIES

Debt securities are classified based on the nature of the underlying, with the exception of subordinated notes
presented under “Subordinated debt.”

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

121,546

129,973

89,872

78,338

Other debt securities that are neither non-preferred nor subordinated

1,808

1,871

Non-preferred debt

9,437

4,856

222,663

215,038

Bonds
Interbank market instruments and negotiable debt securities

Total
Accrued interest
TOTAL DEBT SECURITIES

1,646

2,089

224,309

217,127

The fair value of debt securities was €226,666 million at June 30, 2018.
A new category of liabilities eligible for the numerator in the TLAC (Total Loss Absorbing Capacity) calculation has been
introduced by French law and is commonly referred to as “senior non-preferred debt”. These liabilities have a ranking
between the ranking of own funds and other “senior preferred” debt.

4.9

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Collection accounts

6,457

4,857

Prepaid income

1,554

1,420

Accounts payable

2,966

2,696

Other accruals
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Settlement accounts in credit on securities transactions
Other payables
Other liabilities
TOTAL ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

6,883

4,841

17,860

13,814

793

751

14,637

14,393

15,430

15,144

33,290

28,958
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4.10 PROVISIONS
Provisions are detailed in the table below, with the exception of provisions for expected credit losses on loan and
guarantee commitments, which are detailed in Note 9.

in millions of euros

1/1/2018

Provisions for employee benefit commitments (2)
Provisions for restructuring costs
Legal and tax risks
Loan and guarantee commitments (3)
Provisions for regulated home savings products

Other operating provisions
TOTAL PROVISIONS

(1)

(2)
(3)

Increase

Use
6

Reversals
unused

Other
changes (1)

(154)

(88)

2,134

(1)

100

6/30/2018

2,264

106

152

1

(20)

(32)

1,712

68

(79)

(129)

43

707

255

(155)

(152)

(0)

655

695

18

(22)

(0)

691

1,266

98

(66)

(69)

(32)

1,197

6,796

546

(225)

(558)

(78)

6,392

1,615

Other changes include the variation in revaluation differences on employee benefits (-€63 million before tax) as well as the impacts
of the reclassification of the provisions of BPCE International’s African subsidiaries to liabilities held for sale (IFRS 5: -€30 million)
and foreign exchange rate adjustments for +€25 million;
Including €1,982 million for post-employment defined-benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits;
Provisions for loan and guarantee commitments are detailed in Note 9.

4.11

SUBORDINATED DEBT

Subordinated debt differs from other debt and bonds in that it will be repaid only after all the senior and unsecured
creditors, but before the repayment of participating loans and securities and deeply subordinated notes.
The table below shows subordinated debt at amortized cost presented in the “Subordinated debt” line under liabilities
as well as subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss included in the “Financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss” line.

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Subordinated debt designated at fair value through profit and loss

100

100

SUBORDINATED DEBT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

100

100

Term subordinated debt

16,071

16,115

Perpetual subordinated debt

298

321

Mutual guarantee deposits

148

158

16,517

16,594

Accrued interest

353

328

Revaluation of hedged items

262

489

17,132

17,411

17,232

17,511

Subordinated debt and similar

SUBORDINATED DEBT AT AMORTIZED COST
TOTAL SUBORDINATED DEBT
(1)

(1)

Including €638 million for the insurance entities at June 30, 2018, versus €639 million at December 31, 2017.

Dated subordinated debt consists mainly of term subordinated debt. Perpetual subordinated and deeply subordinated
debt consists mainly of perpetual subordinated loans. Within this subordinated debt, the perpetual subordinated loans
are fully subscribed for by Natixis and the term subordinated notes by BPCE SA.
The fair value of subordinated debt was €17,778 million at June 30, 2018.

Changes in subordinated debt and similar during the year
in millions of euros

1/1/2018

Subordinated debt designated at fair value through profit and loss
SUBORDINATED DEBT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Term subordinated debt

Issuance

(1)

Redemption (2)

Other changes (3)

6/30/2018

100

100

100

100

16,115

(253)

Perpetual subordinated debt

321

(23)

Mutual guarantee deposits

158

3

(12)

SUBORDINATED DEBT AT AMORTIZED COST

16,594

3

(288)

208

16,517

SUBORDINATED DEBT AND SIMILAR

16,694

3

(288)

208

16,617

(1)

208

16,071
298
148

No redeemable subordinated notes were issued in first-half 2018;

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 162

(2)

Redemptions of subordinated loans and notes mainly concerned the maturity in 2018 of subordinated notes issued by the Banque
Populaire banks for €221 million and by BPCE SA for €54 million.

Deeply subordinated notes qualifying as equity instruments are presented in Note 4.14.2.

4.12 ORDINARY SHARES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS ISSUED

4.12.1 Cooperative shares
At June 30, 2018, share capital broke down as follows:
•

€9,382 million in cooperative shares fully subscribed for by the cooperative shareholders of the Banque Populaire
banks (compared with €9,223 million at December 31, 2017);

•

€9,665 million in cooperative shares fully subscribed for by the local savings companies (compared with
€9,665 million at December 31, 2017).

At June 30, 2018, additional paid-in capital broke down as follows:
•

€949 million linked to cooperative shares subscribed for by the cooperative shareholders of the Banque Populaire
banks and the carrying SAS;

•

€2,885 million linked to cooperative shares subscribed for by the local savings banks.

4.12.2 Perpetual deeply subordinated notes classified as equity
Issuing
entity

Amount (in
original
Currency
currency)

Nominal amount (in millions of
euros) (1)

Redemption
Interest
option date step-up date

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

BPC E

8/6/2009

EUR

374 million

9/30/2019

9/30/2019

12.50%

374

374

BPC E

8/6/2009

USD

444 million

9/30/2019

9/30/2019

12.50%

309

Issue date

Issue price

Rate

TOTAL
(1)

683

309
683

Nominal amount translated into euros at the exchange rate in force at the date of classification as equity.

Issues of perpetual deeply subordinated notes are recognized in equity due to the discretionary nature of their
remuneration.

4.13 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial assets and liabilities were offset on the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 32. Under this standard, a
financial asset and financial liability are offset and a net balance is recorded in the balance sheet if and only if:
•

the Group has the legally enforceable right to offset the recorded amounts; and

•

it has the intention either to settle the net amount or to simultaneously realize the asset and settle the liability.

Within Groupe BPCE, most offset amounts are the result of repurchase agreements and derivatives transactions largely
carried out by Natixis with clearing houses, which fulfilled the requirements of IAS 32:
•

for OTC derivatives, this involves the effects of the currency offset between asset valuations and liability valuations
of the derivatives;

•

for asset switch transactions that have similar nominal amounts and identical maturities and currencies, the Group
presents them as a single financial asset or liability;

•

for listed derivatives, the positions recorded under the respective asset and liability items for:

•

–

index options and futures options are offset by maturity and by currency,

–

equity options are offset by ISIN code and maturity date;

for repurchase agreements, the amount recorded in the balance sheet corresponds to the net value of repurchase
and reverse repurchase agreements that:
–

are entered into with the same clearing house,

–

have the same maturity date,

–

involve the same custodian,

–

are denominated in the same currency.
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Financial assets and liabilities “Under netting agreements not offset in the balance sheet” comprise transactions under
netting agreements or similar agreements, but that do not meet the restrictive netting criteria set by IAS 32. This is
particularly the case for derivatives or OTC repurchase agreements subject to master agreements under which the net
settlement criteria or realization of a simultaneous settlement of the asset and liability cannot be demonstrated or for
which the offsetting right can only be exercised in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy by one of the parties
to the agreement.

For these instruments, the “Related financial assets and financial instruments received as collateral” and “Related
financial liabilities and financial instruments pledged as collateral” columns include in particular:
•

•

for repurchase agreements:
–

loans or borrowings resulting from reverse repurchase agreements with the same counterparty, and securities
pledged or received as collateral (for the fair value of said securities),

–

margin calls in the form of securities (for the fair value of said securities);

for derivatives, the fair values of the reverse transactions with the same counterparty, as well as the margin calls
in the form of securities.

Margin calls received or paid in cash are shown in the “Margin calls received (cash collateral)” and “Margin calls paid
(cash collateral)” columns.

4.13.1 Financial assets
Financial assets under netting agreements offset in the balance sheet

Gross amount
of financial
assets

6/30/2018
Gross amount
of financial
liabilities
offset in the
balance sheet

Net amount of
financial
assets shown
in the balance
sheet

Derivatives (trading and hedging)

75,380

18,872

56,508

74,393

17,426

Repurchase agreements

97,263

20,860

76,404

42,969

8,465

34,504

172,643

39,731

132,912

117,362

25,891

91,471

in millions of euros

Financial assets at fair value
Repurchase agreements
(loans and receivables portfolio)
TOTAL

1/1/2018
Gross amount
Gross
of financial
amount of
liabilities
financial
offset in the
assets balance sheet

Net amount of
financial
assets shown
in the balance
sheet
56,967

17,212

700

16,512

70,869

6,459

64,410

189,855

40,431

149,424

188,231

32,350

155,881

Financial assets under netting agreements not offset in the balance sheet
6/30/2018

Net amount
of financial
assets shown
in the
balance sheet

in millions of euros

1/1/2018

Related
financial
liabilities and
financial
instruments
Margin calls
received as received (cash
collateral
collateral)

Net amount of
financial
assets shown
Net in the balance
exposure
sheet

Related
financial
liabilities and
financial
instruments
received as
collateral

Margin
calls
received
(cash
collateral)

Net
exposure
18,772

Derivatives

56,508

29,830

6,127

20,552

56,967

31,550

6,645

Repurchase agreements

92,916

88,480

0

4,436

98,914

92,622

14

6,278

149,424

118,310

6,127

24,987

155,881

124,172

6,659

25,050

TOTAL

4.13.2 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities under netting agreements offset in the balance sheet
6/30/2018
Gross Net amount
amount of of financial
financial
liabilities
Gross amount assets offset
shown in
of financial
in the the balance
liabilities balance sheet
sheet

in millions of euros
Derivatives (trading and hedging)
Repurchase agreements
Financial liabilities at fair value
Repurchase agreements
(liabilities portfolio)
TOTAL

Gross
amount of
financial
liabilities

1/1/2018
Gross
amount of
Net amount
financial
of financial
assets offset
liabilities
in the shown in the
balance
balance
sheet
sheet

81,400

18,872

62,528

79,823

17,426

115,423

20,860

94,564

43,430

8,465

62,396
34,965

196,823

39,731

157,092

123,253

25,891

97,361

20,689

700

19,989

85,448

6,459

78,989

217,513

40,431

177,082

208,701

32,350

176,350
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Financial liabilities under netting agreements not offset in the balance sheet

6/30/2018

in millions of euros
Derivatives
Repurchase agreements
TOTAL

Net amount
of financial
liabilities
shown in the
balance sheet

1/1/2018

Related
financial
assets and
financial
instruments
posted as
collateral

Margin
calls paid
(cash
collateral)

Net amount
of financial
liabilities
shown in the
Net
balance
exposure
sheet

Related
financial
assets and
financial
instruments
posted as
collateral

Margin
calls paid
(cash
collateral)

Net
exposure
18,840

62,528

29,722

11,530

21,276

62,396

31,977

11,579

114,553

111,427

17

3,109

113,954

103,729

1

10,224

177,081

141,150

11,547

24,385

176,350

135,706

11,580

29,064
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Note 5
5.1

Notes to the income statement

INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME AND EXPENSES

This line item comprises interest income and expenses, calculated using the effective interest method, on financial
assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost, which include interbank and customer items, the portfolio of
securities at amortized cost, debt securities and subordinated debt.
Interest income also consists of interest on non-SPPI debt instruments not held under a trading model as well as
interest on the related economic hedges (classified by default as instruments at fair value through profit or loss).
It also includes interest receivable on fixed-income securities classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and hedging derivatives, it being specified that accrued interest on cash flow hedging
derivatives is taken to income in the same manner and period as the accrued interest on the hedged item.
H1 2018
Interest
income
663
7,687

in millions of euros
Loans or receivables due from credit institutions

(1)

Loans or receivables due from customers

Interest
expenses
///

663

///

7,687

///

510

510

Debt securities
Total financial assets at amortized cost (excluding finance leases)
Finance leases
Debt securities
Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Non-SPPI financial assets not held for trading
Amounts due to credit institutions

Net

8,860
249
282
282
151
///

///
(2)
///
///
///
(363)

8,860
247
282
282
151
(363)

Amounts due to customers

///

(2,276)

(2,276)

Debt securities and subordinated debt

///

(2,250)

(2,250)

Total financial liabilities at amortized cost
Hedging derivatives

///

(4,889)

(4,889)

Economic hedging derivatives
Other interest income and expenses

2,356
155
2

(2,556)
(132)
(64)

(200)
23
(62)

Total interest income and expenses

12,055

(7,643)

4,412

(1)

Interest income from loans and receivables with credit institutions consists of €355 million in income (€354 million in H1 2017)
collected on the Livret A, LDD and LEP passbook savings accounts, which are deposited with Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations.

Interest income in first-half 2018 included €272 million in interest income related to Stage 3 financial assets.

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39

H1 2017
in thousands of euros

Income

Loans and receivables due from customers

Expense

Net

8,607

(2,781)

5,826

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions

688
290
///

(398)
///

290

Finance leases
Debt securities and subordinated debt
Hedging derivatives

2,419

(2,296)

290
(2,296)

Available-for-sale financial assets

951

(2,459)
///

951

Held-to-maturity financial assets

139

///

139

31

///

5

(42)

13,130

(7,976)

Impaired financial assets
Other interest income and expenses
TOTAL INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES

5.2

(40)

31
(37)
5,154

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSES

Fees and commissions are recorded based on the type of service rendered and on the method of accounting for the
financial instrument to which the service relates.
This line includes mainly fees and commissions receivable or payable on recurring services (payment processing,
custody fees, etc.) and occasional services (fund transfers, payment penalties, etc.), fees and commissions receivable
or payable on execution of significant transactions, and fees and commissions receivable or payable on trust assets
managed on behalf of the Group’s customers.
However, fees and commissions that form an integral part of the effective yield on a contract are recorded under “Net
interest income.”
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H1 2018
Income

H1 2017

Expense

Net

12

(22)

(10)

1,583

(17)

Financial services

333

(381)

Sales of life insurance products

678

///

Payment services

824

(276)

Securities transactions

143

(97)

1,846

(6)

in millions of euros
Cash and interbank transactions
Customer transactions

Trust management services
Financial instruments and off-balance sheet transactions

225

(87)

Other fee and commission income/(expense)

136

(268)

5,780

(1,154)

TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSES

5.3

Income

Expense

Net

11

(18)

1,742

(11)

(48)

319

(378)

678

643

///

643

548

850

(382)

468

46

177

(109)

68

1,840

1,696

(3)

1,693

138

236

(82)

154

(132)

228

(182)

46

5,902

(1,165)

4,737

1,566

4,626

(7)
1,731
(59)

NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

This item includes gains and losses (including the related interest) on financial assets and liabilities classified as held
for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss.
“Gains and losses on hedging transactions” include gains and losses arising from the revaluation of derivatives used as
fair value hedges, as well as gains and losses from the revaluation of the hedged item in the same manner, the
revaluation at fair value of the macro-hedged portfolio and the ineffective portion of cash flow hedges.
H1 2018

in millions of euros
Gains and losses on financial instruments mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

(1 )

1,010

Gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss

246

Gains and losses on hedging transactions

(7)

- Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges (CFH)

(16)

- Ineffective portion of fair value hedges (FVH)

10

Changes in fair value of fair value hedges

(94)

Changes in fair value of hedged items

104

Gains and losses on foreign exchange transactions

148

Total net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(1)

1,398

including foreign exchange economic hedging.

“Gains and losses on financial instruments mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss” in first-half 2018
mainly included:




Impairments taken against the fair value of CDS entered into with monoline insurers: a decrease of €40 million
in cumulative impairments in H1 2018, versus a decrease of €10 million (income) in cumulative impairments in
H1 2017 (excluding the foreign exchange effect), bringing cumulative impairments to €23 million at June 30,
2018 versus €61 million at June 30 2017;
The -€15 million change in the fair value of derivatives due to the difference in impairments for counterparty
risk (Credit Valuation Adjustment – CVA), in the amount of +€29 million due to the consideration of nonperformance risk in the valuation of derivative financial liabilities (Debit Valuation Adjustment – DVA), and in
the amount of -€12 million due to the inclusion of an adjustment for funding costs (Funding Valuation
Adjustment – FVA).

“Gains and losses on hedging transactions” consist mainly of gains and losses recorded in the event of over-hedging in
interest rate macro-hedging transactions, i.e., -€50 million in first-half 2018 in light of the partial dedesignation of
hedging relationships or due to the measured ineffectiveness. This over-hedging is caused mainly by the significant
renegotiations or prepayments of loans observed in the current low interest rate environment.

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
in millions of euros

H1 2017

Gains and losses on financial instruments held for trading
Gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss

1,466
562

Gains and losses on hedging transactions

(17)

- Ineffective portion of fair value hedges

(18)

- Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges
Gains and losses on foreign exchange transactions
TOTAL NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS

1
57
2,068
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5.4

NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
H1 2018

in millions of euros
Net gains or losses on debt instruments

22

Net gains or losses on equity instruments (dividends)
Total gains and losses on financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income

86
108

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39

in millions of euros
Net gain/(loss) on disposal
Dividends received
Permanent impairment of variable-income securities
TOTAL NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL
ASSETS

5.5

H1 2017
419
166
(20)
565

NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT AMORTIZED COST

Net gains or losses in first-half 2018 resulting from the derecognition of instruments at amortized cost included
€4 million in gains recorded following the sale of financial assets at amortized cost and €4 million in gains related to
the derecognition of financial liabilities at amortized cost.

5.6

INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES

This item mainly comprises:
•

income and expenses on investment property (rental income and expense, gains and losses on disposals,
depreciation, amortization and impairment);

•

income and expenses on operating leases;

•

income and expenses on real estate development activities (revenues, purchases used).

H1 2018
in millions of euros
Income and expenses from real estate activities
Income and expenses from leasing transactions
Income and expenses from investment property
Other banking income and expenses
TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES

Income

Expense

5

(1)

Net
4

65

(49)

16

44

(37)

7

679

(548)

131

793

(635)

158

Income and expenses from insurance businesses are presented in Note 6.2.

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39

H1 2017
in millions of euros
Income and expenses from insurance activities

Income

Expense

Net

6,238

(6,636)

(398)

(225)

(38)

Income and expenses from real estate activities

1

Income and expenses from leasing transactions

187

Income and expenses from investment property

107

(51)

56

Other banking income and expenses

215

(246)

(31)

6,748

(7,158)

(410)

TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OTHER
ACTIVITIES

1

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 168

5.7

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses include mainly payroll costs (wages and salaries net of rebilled amounts), social security charges,
and employee benefit expenses such as pension costs. Operating expenses also include the full amount of
administrative expenses and external services costs.

in millions of euros
Payroll costs
Taxes other than on income

H1 2018

H1 2017

(5,197)

(5,167)

(1 )

(717)

(692)

(2,473)

(2,429)

Other administrative costs

(3,189)

(3,121)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

(8,387)

(8,288)

External services and other operating expenses

(1)

5.8

Taxes other than on income included, in particular, the contribution to the SRF (Single Resolution Fund) for an annual amount of
€340 million (versus €273 million in 2017) and the systemic risk tax for an annual amount of €60 million (versus €86 million in
2017).

COST OF CREDIT RISK

This item includes net impairment and provision charges for credit risk.
It covers both loans and receivables and fixed-income securities classified at amortized cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as well as the loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not
recognized at fair value through profit or loss. Credit losses related to other types of instruments (derivatives or
securities designated at fair value through profit or loss) recorded as a result of default by credit institutions are also
included under this item.
Irrecoverable loans not covered by provisions for impairment are loans that were not covered by impairment
provisions in Stage 3 and that are permanently lost before being provisioned in Stage 3.
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Cost of risk for the period
in millions of euros

H1 2018

Net charge to provisions and provisions for impairment

(511)

Recoveries of bad debts written off

25

Irrecoverable loans not covered by provisions for impairment

(90)

TOTAL COST OF CREDIT RISK

(576)

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39

in millions of euros

H1 2017

Net charge to provisions and provisions for
impairment
Recoveries of bad debts written off
Irrecoverable loans not covered by provisions
for impairment
TOTAL COST OF RISK

(631)
39
(107)
(699)

Cost of risk for the period by type of asset

in millions of euros

H1 2018

Interbank transactions

37

Customer transactions

(610)

Other financial assets

(4)

TOTAL COST OF CREDIT RISK

(576)

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
in millions of euros

H1 2017

Interbank transactions

(2)

Customer transactions

(690)

Other financial assets
TOTAL COST OF RISK

5.9

(7)
(699)

INCOME TAX

in millions of euros

H1 2018

H1 2017

Current income tax expense

(489)

(824)

Deferred taxes

(438)

(199)

INCOME TAX

(927)

(1,023)
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Reconciliation between the tax charge in the financial statements and the theoretical tax charge

H1 2018

Net income (attributable to equity holders of the parent)
Change in the value of goodwill
Non-controlling interests
Share in net income of associates
Income taxes
INCOME BEFORE TAX AND CHANGES IN THE VALUE OF GOODWILL (A)
Standard income tax rate in France (B)
Theoretical income tax expense (income) at the tax rate applicable in
France (AxB)
Impact of the change in unrecognized deferred tax assets and liabilities
Effects of permanent differences (1)
Reduced rate of tax and tax-exempt activities
Difference in tax rates on income taxed outside France
Tax on prior periods, tax credits and other tax
Other items
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (INCOME) RECOGNIZED
EFFECTIVE TAX RATE (INCOME TAX EXPENSE DIVIDED BY TAXABLE
INCOME)
(1)

in millions of
euros
1,643

H1 2017
tax rate

396
(135)
927
2,831

in millions of
euros
1,596

tax rate

269
(143)
1,023
2,745
34.43%

(975)
(37)
(171)
30
92
87
46
(927)

1.3%
6.0%
(1.1%)
(3.2%)
(3.1%)
(1.6%)
32.80%

(945)
(41)
(119)
(2)
41
8
35
(1,023)

1.5%
4.3%
0.1%
(1.5%)
(0.3%)
(1.3%)
37.30%

Permanent differences include mainly the impacts of the SRT (systemic risk tax) and the contribution to the SRF (Single Resolution
Fund), consisting of non-deductible expenses (see Note 5.7).
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Note 6

Insurance businesses

Groupe BPCE decided to maintain the provisions of IAS 39 for the recognition of its insurance business investments.

NOTE 6.1

NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET

6.1.1 Insurance business investments
in millions of euros
Real estate investment
Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Available-for-sale investments
Investments in loans and receivables due from credit institutions
Investments in loans and receivables due from customers
Held-to-maturity investments
Share of reinsurers and retrocessionaires in liabilities related to insurance
policies and financial contracts
Receivables arising from insurance or accepted reinsurance transactions
Receivables arising from ceded reinsurance transactions
Deferred acquisition costs
Other

6/30/2018

TOTAL INSURANCE BUSINESS INVESTMENTS

6.1.1.1

TOTAL INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

12,486
1,554
71
440

11,407
1,433
34
438

107,688

103,182

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

0
5,283
5,283
21
1
1,365
805
201
2,104
16,385
20,860
26,165

30
4,310
4,340
214
1
228
625
1,137
2,011
15,035
19,036
23,591

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

43,384

42,412

3,891
5,228
52,503
(24)
(241)
52,238

3,824
5,287
51,523
(15)
(236)
51,271

Available-for-sale financial assets

in millions of euros
Bonds
Equities
UC ITS
Available-for-sale investments, gross
Impairments of debt instruments
Impairments of equity instruments (1)
TOTAL AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
(1)

1,567
23,591
51,271
518
10,268
2,655

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

in millions of euros
Bonds
UC ITS
Investments held for trading
Trading derivatives
Hedging derivatives
Bonds
Equities
UC ITS
Loans and receivables due from customers
Investments backed by unit-linked policies
Investments designated at fair value through profit or loss

6.1.1.2

1/1/2018

1,564
26,165
52,238
751
10,091
2,328

In first-half 2018, permanent impairment of variable-income securities stood at €15 million. This expense was 89% offset by the
profit-sharing mechanism. The first-half 2018 expense can be broken down into an additional impairment loss on previously
impaired securities for €12 million and an allowance for newly impaired securities for €3 million.
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6.1.1.3

Loans and receivables

in millions of euros
Loans and receivables due from credit institutions
Loans and receivables due from customers (1)
TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
(1)

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

751
10,091
10,842

518
10,268
10,786

Including €10,019 million for guarantee deposits made for the acceptance of reinsurance treaties (€10,258 million at January 1,
2018).

The fair value of loans and receivables stood at €11,121 million at June 30, 2018.

6.1.1.4

Held-to-maturity financial assets

in millions of euros
Treasury bills and equivalent
Bonds and other fixed-income securities
Gross amount of held-to-maturity financial assets
Impairment
TOTAL HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

1,037
1,293
2,330
(2)
2,328

1,083
1,574
2,657
(2)
2,655

The fair value of held-to-maturity financial assets amounted to €2,751 million at June 30, 2018.

6.1.2 Fair value hierarchy of insurance business investments

in millions of euros
ASSETS
Securities held for trading
UC ITS
Investments held for trading
Interest rate derivatives
C urrency derivatives
Equity derivatives
Other derivatives
Derivatives not eligible for hedge accounting (positive fair
value)
Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Bonds
Equities and UC ITS
Investments backed by unit-linked policies
Loans and receivables
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit
or loss
Interest rate derivatives
Hedging derivatives

Price quoted in
an active
market
(Level 1)
5,187
5,187
5,187
0
8
3
0

6/30/2018
Measurement Measurement
techniques
techniques
using
using
observable unobservable
data (Level 2) data (Level 3)
96
96
96
4
3
0
1

0
0
0
0
1
0

Total
5,283
5,283
5,283
4
11
4
1

11

8

1

20

653
112
540
12,651

658
193
465
3,735
2,104

1,060
1,060

2,370
1,365
805
16,386
2,104

13,304

6,497

1,060

20,861

0
0

1
1

0
0

1
1

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

18,502

6,602

1,061

26,165

Investments in associates
Other available-for-sale securities
Bonds
Equities and UC ITS
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

0
42,952
36,706
6,246
42,952

0
6,337
4,377
1,960
6,337

217
2,732
2,276
456
2,949

217
52,021
43,359
8,662
52,238
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Analysis of insurance business investments classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
Transactions carried out
during the period

Gains and losses recognized during the period

in millions of euros
ASSETS
Equity derivatives
Derivatives not eligible for hedge accounting (positive fair value)
Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Bonds
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Investments in associates
Other available-for-sale securities
Bonds
Equities and UCITS
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

In the income statement
On
On
transactions
transactions in removed from
progress at
the balance
the reporting
sheet at the
1/1/2018
date reporting date
1
1
1,461
1,461
1,461
1,462
210
3,495
2,955
540
3,705

(13)
(13)
(13)
(13)
1
4
4
5

Purchases/
Sales/
Issues Redemptions

in equity

(2)
(2)
(2)
(2)
0
(2)
(2)
0
(2)

Transfers during the period

To another
reporting
category

From and to
another level

(363)
(363)
(363)
(363)
3
(11)
(10)
(1)
(8)

27
378
360
18
405

Other
changes

(23)
(23)
(23)
(23)
(24)

(113)
(93)
(20)
(113)

(1,009)
(938)
(71)
(1,009)

(24)

(10)
(10)
(10)

6/30/2018
1
1
1,060
1,060
1,060
1,061
217
2,732
2,276
456
2,949

Analysis of fair value hierarchy transfers
in millions of euros
ASSETS
Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Bonds
Equities and UCITS
Investments backed by unit-linked policies
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Other available-for-sale securities
Bonds
Equities and UCITS
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

From
To

Level 1
Level 2

6/30/2018
Level 2
Level 1

Level 1
Level 3

Level 2
Level 3

Level 3
Level 2

47
47
70
117
117
1,365
1,056
309
1,365

23
23

10
10
10

79
19
60
79

620
606
14
620

23
23
1,638
1,553
85
1,638

6.1.3 Liabilities related to insurance policies
in millions of euros
6/30/2018
Technical liabilities related to insurance policies
47,217
Technical liabilities related to unit-linked insurance policies
12,638
Technical liabilities related to insurance policies
59,855
Technical liabilities related to financial contracts with a discretionary profit-sharing feature
20,151
Technical liabilities related to unit-linked financial contracts
4,388
Technical liabilities related to financial contracts
24,539
Deferred profit-sharing liability
3,310
Liabilities arising from accepted insurance or reinsurance transactions
9,581
Liabilities arising from ceded reinsurance transactions
255
Trading derivatives
19
Other liabilities
32
TOTAL LIABILITIES RELATED TO INSURANCE POLICIES
97,591

1/1/2018
44,608
11,110
55,718
20,227
4,216
24,443
3,788
9,383
194
183
19
93,728

6.1.4 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Information required under IFRS 7 on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is presented in Note 4.1.2.

6.1.5 Amounts due to credit institutions and customers
Information required under IFRS 7 on amounts due to credit institutions and customers is presented in Note 4.7.

6.1.6 Debt securities
Information required under IFRS 7 on debt securities is presented in Note 4.10.

6.1.7 Subordinated debt
Information required under IFRS 7 on subordinated debt is presented in Note 4.13.
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6.1.8 Deferred profit-sharing

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

Deferred profit-sharing liability
TOTAL DEFERRED PROFIT-SHARING (1)
of which deferred profit-sharing fully consolidated in equity
(1)

1/1/2018

3,310

3,788

3,310

3,788

2,490

2,838

By convention, net deferred profit-sharing is presented as a negative figure when it is an asset.

6.2

NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT

6.2.1 Net income from insurance businesses
in millions of euros

H1 2018

Premiums written

8,010

Change in unearned premium income

(175)

Earned premiums

7,835

Revenues and other income from insurance activities

95

Investment income

977

Investment expenses

(49)

Capital gains and losses on disposal of investments (net of reversals, write-downs and amortization)

92

Change in fair value of investments carried at fair value through profit or loss

(170)

Change in write-downs on investments

(24)

Investment income (net of expenses)

827

Amortization of acquisition costs

35

Claims and benefits expenses

(7,224)

Income from reinsurance cessions

1,709

Expenses from reinsurance cessions

(1,736)

Income and expenses net of reinsurance cessions

(27)

NET INCOME FROM INSURANCE BUSINESSES

1,541

6.2.2 Transition between the presentation applicable to insurance companies and to banks
The statement shown below provides a transition between the financial statements of insurance companies included in
the scope of consolidation and their translation into the financial statements of BPCE group in accordance with the
presentation applicable to banks.
Banking format June 2018
Net banking income
Other net banking
income items
(excl. net
insurance income)

Net insurance
income
in millions of euros
Earned premiums

7,835

Revenues or income from other activities

95

Other operating income
Net financial income before finance costs

827

TOTAL REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Claims and benefits expenses

8,757
(7,224)

Expenses from other activities
(27)

Policy acquisition costs

35

16

8

(1)

(8)

2
196

7,799

7,799

118

118

24

24

818

818

0

8,759

8,759

(61)

(7,089)

(7,089)

(6)

(152)

(152)

8

(19)

(19)
(485)

(110)

(485)

(236)

(183)

(419)

(36)

(141)

(177)

(2)

(179)

(7,216)

(624)

(501)

(8,341)

(2)

(8,343)

1,541

(622)

(501)

Other operating income and expenses/recurring

OPERATING INCOME

23

Insurance format
June 2018
Other items

(410)

Administrative expenses

TOTAL OTHER RECURRING INCOME AND EXPENSES

Gross operating
income

(36)

(146)

Net income from reinsurance cessions

Operating
expenses

418

(419)

(2)

416
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Note 7
7.1

Partnerships and associates

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The Group’s main investments in joint ventures and associates are as follows:
in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

2,481

2,567

CNP Assurances (group)
Socram Banque

75

75

Natixis group equity interests

719

732

Banque Calédonienne d'Investissement

147

143

Other

380

276

3,802

3,793

Financial sector companies
Other
Non-financial companies
TOTAL INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

7.2

209

312

209

312

4,011

4,105

SHARE IN NET INCOME OF ASSOCIATES

in millions of euros

H1 2018

H1 2017

108

106

10

13

Socram Banque

1

1

Banque C alédonienne d'Investissement

7

7

Other

9

12

135

139

C NP Assurances (group)
Natixis group equity interests

Financial sector companies
Other

4

Non-financial companies

4

SHARE IN NET INCOME OF ASSOCIATES

135

143
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Note 8

Segment reporting

Groupe BPCE redefined its business lines in the TEC 2020 strategic plan presented on November 29, 2017, notably
making the decision to split up the Investment Solutions, Corporate & Investment Banking and Specialized Financial
Services division. The Investment Solutions sub-division’s Insurance business line and the Specialized Financial
Services sub-division were transferred to the Retail Banking and Insurance division.
The Group now has three core business divisions:
Retail Banking and Insurance, which includes:
•

the Banque Populaire network, comprising the 14 Banque Populaire banks and their subsidiaries, Crédit
Maritime Mutuel, and the mutual guarantee companies;

•

the Caisse d’Epargne network, consisting of the 15 Caisses d’Epargne;

•

Specialized Financial Services (SFS), a Natixis business line encompassing specialized financing activities
(factoring, leasing, consumer credit, sureties and financial guarantees), payments and financial services;

•

Insurance, a Natixis business line serving the Groupe BPCE networks and their customers;

•

Other networks, which comprise Crédit Foncier group, BPCE International (BPCE I) and Banque Palatine.

Asset & Wealth Management, a Natixis business line consisting of:
•

Asset Management, which operates on several international markets, combining expertise in investment
management and distribution;

•

Wealth Management, with Natixis Wealth Management, which offers wealth management and financing
solutions for large private-sector investors.

Corporate & Investment Banking, a division of Natixis:
•

Corporate & Investment Banking advises and supports corporates, institutional investors, insurance
companies, banks and public sector entities.

The Corporate Center, which primarily includes:
•

the Group’s central institution and holding companies;

•

Natixis’ equity interests in Coface, Corporate Data Solutions, Natixis Algérie and Natixis Private Equity;

•

unlisted investments and cross-business activities;

•

items related to goodwill impairment and the amortization of valuation differences, as these items form part
of the Group’s acquisition and investment strategy;



the contribution to the Single Resolution Fund and the Deposit Guarantee Fund.

As of the publication of the 2017 half-year results, the presentation of the business divisions reflects these segment
reporting amendments, in addition to changes in the capital allocation standards applied by Natixis (Basel III average
RWA increased to 10.5% versus 10% previously) and in the rate of return on capital (lowered to 2% from 3%
previously).
Segment reporting for Groupe BPCE in previous periods has been restated accordingly.
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Results by division

Retail Banking and
Insurance
in millions of euros

Asset & Wealth
Management

Corporate &
Investment Banking

Corporate Center

Groupe BPCE

H1-18

H1-17

H1-18

H1-17

H1-18

H1-17

H1-18

H1-17

H1-18

H1-17

Net banking income
Operating expenses
Gross operating income
Cost/income ratio

8,468
(5,754)
2,714
67.9%

8,562
(5,799)
2,763
67.7%

1,596
(1,078)
517
67.6%

1,448
(1,039)
408
71.8%

1,904
(1,112)
791
58.4%

1,990
(1,121)
869
56.3%

284
(897)
(613)
ns

115
(741)
(626)
ns

12,251
(8,841)
3,410
72.2%

12,114
(8,700)
3,414
71.8%

Cost of risk
Share in income of equity-accounted associates
Gains or losses on other assets
Change in the value of goodwill
Income before tax

(478)
20
(12)
2,244

(554)
27
1
2,238

(1)
0
(0)
516

0
0
9
418

(68)
6
3
733

(78)
5
(0)
796

(29)
108
6
(527)

(68)
110
19
(0)
(564)

(576)
135
(3)
2,966

(699)
143
30
(0)
2,888

Income tax
Non-controlling interests
Net income attributable to equity holders of the parent

(730)
(89)
1,425

(786)
(59)
1,393

(145)
(163)
209

(145)
(110)
163

(198)
(157)
378

(245)
(161)
390

145
12
(370)

153
61
(350)

(927)
(396)
1,643

(1,023)
(269)
1,596

Results of the Retail Banking and Insurance sub-divisions

Banque Populaire
banks
in millions of euros
Net banking income
Operating expenses
Gross operating income
Cost/income ratio
Cost of risk
Share in income of equity-accounted associates
Gains or losses on other assets
Income before tax

Caisses d’Epargne

Specialized Financial
Services

Insurance

Other networks

Retail Banking and
Insurance

H1-18

H1-17

H1-18

H1-17

H1-18

H1-17

H1-18

H1-17

H1-18

H1-17

H1-18

H1-17

3,226
(2,200)
1,027
68.2%

3,207
(2,196)
1,011
68.5%

3,475
(2,372)
1,102
68.3%

3,616
(2,429)
1,187
67.2%

733
(495)
238
67.6%

691
(461)
230
66.7%

397
(226)
170
57.1%

368
(231)
137
62.7%

637
(460)
177
72.2%

680
(482)
197
70.9%

8,468
(5,754)
2,714
67.9%

8,562
(5,799)
2,763
67.7%

(248)
16
5
799

(209)
19
(0)
820

(161)
0
1
942

(172)
0
0
1,015

(7)
1
232

(35)
195

3
173

7
144

(62)
1
(18)
97

(137)
1
2
63

(478)
20
(12)
2,244

(554)
27
1
2,238
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Note 9

Commitments

The amounts shown correspond to the nominal value of commitments given.

9.1

LOAN COMMITMENTS

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Loan commitments given to:
credit institutions
customers
- Credit facilities granted
- Other commitments
TOTAL LOAN COMMITMENTS GIVEN

1,308

851

117,685

112,430

114,490

106,678

3,195

5,752

118,993

113,281

51,972

46,877

Loan commitments received from:
credit institutions
customers
TOTAL LOAN COMMITMENTS RECEIVED

580

338

52,552

47,215

Loan commitments given can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €107,027 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €132 million),



Stage 2: €11,609 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €106 million),



Stage 3: €357 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €124 million).

At January 1, 2018, loan commitments given broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €93,172 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €133 million),



Stage 2: €19,689 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €128 million),



Stage 3: €420 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €136 million).

At June 30, 2018, loan commitments given included €105 million in commitments provisioned on their origination or
acquisition (exposure, gross of provisions, of €1 million).

Change in provisions for expected credit losses on loan commitments given

in millions of euros

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

133

128

136

397

Production and acquisition

58

6

5

69

Derecognition and redemption

(16)

(10)

(8)

(34)

Transfers between stages

9

(3)

4

10

Other changes

(52)

(15)

(13)

(80)

132

106

124

362

Provisions at January 1, 2018

Provisions at June 30, 2018
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9.2

GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

Guarantee commitments are off-balance sheet commitments.
in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

6,634

6,881

Guarantee commitments given to:
credit institutions
customers (1 )
TOTAL GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS GIVEN

38,954

37,434

45,588

44,315

22,880
135,247

22,426
131,827

158,127

154,253

Guarantee commitments received from:
credit institutions
customers
TOTAL GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS RECEIVED
(1)

The guarantees given by CEGC (a subsidiary of Natixis) in connection with its activity are treated as insurance policies for
accounting purposes, in accordance with IFRS 4 “Insurance contracts.” They are recorded on the liabilities side of the balance sheet
and are not included in guarantees given to customers shown in the table above.

Guarantee commitments given can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €36,596 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €46 million),



Stage 2: €8,094 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €73 million),



Stage 3: €898 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €174 million).

At January 1, 2018, guarantee commitments broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €28,871 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €41 million),



Stage 2: €14,533 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €89 million),



Stage 3: €911 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €180 million).

At June 30, 2018, guarantee commitments given included €5 million in commitments provisioned on their origination
or acquisition (exposure, gross of provisions, of €1 million).

Change in provisions for expected credit losses on guarantee commitments given

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

41

89

180

310

Production and acquisition

20

10

1

31

Derecognition and redemption

(5)

(15)

12

(8)

9

1

10

(10)

(20)

(20)

(50)

46

73

174

293

in millio ns o f euro s

Provisions at January 1, 2018

Transfers between stages
Other changes
Provisions at June 30, 2018
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Note 10

Scope of consolidation

10.1 CHANGE IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION IN FIRST-HALF 2018
The main changes in the scope of consolidation during the first half of 2018 are presented below:
Change in the Group’s ownership interest in Natixis
Following a number of transactions in its own shares, the Group's stake in Natixis stood at 71.03% at June 30, 2018
(versus 71.02% at December 31, 2017). The impact on equity attributable to equity holders of the parent was not
material.

Acquisition of a controlling interest in subsidiaries
On June 30, 2018, Natixis finalized the acquisition of Fenchurch Advisory Partners (“Fenchurch”), a specialist corporate
finance advisory firm exclusively focused on the financial services sector. With the transaction now complete, the
Group holds 51% of the capital, exercises control under IFRS 10 and fully consolidates this entity. The Group also
holds options to buy out the non-controlling interests valued at €28 million at June 30, 2018.
This acquisition generated partial goodwill of €37 million.
In first-half 2018, Natixis also finalized the acquisition of the Vermilion Partners group, a specialist in cross-border
transactions involving China and in advising on both inbound and outbound M&A transactions. With the transaction
now complete, the Group holds 51% of the capital of Vermilion Partners, exercises control under IFRS 10 and fully
consolidates this entity. The Group also holds options to buy out the non-controlling interests valued at €15 million at
June 30, 2018.
This acquisition generated partial goodwill of €11 million.
Lastly, Natixis also finalized the acquisition of Alter CE (Comitéo), a specialist in online services for works councils.
With the transaction now complete, the Group holds 70% of the capital of Alter CE, exercises control under IFRS 10
and fully consolidates this entity. The Group also holds options to buy out the non-controlling interests valued at
€9 million at June 30, 2018.
This acquisition generated partial goodwill of €18 million.
Other changes in scope
Establishment of Caisse d'Epargne Grand Est Europe
On June 23, 2018, Caisse d'Epargne Grand Est Europe was established from the merger of Caisse d'Epargne d'Alsace
and Caisse d'Epargne de Lorraine Champagne-Ardenne. This merger between the two companies comprising the
consolidating entity had no material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

10.2 SECURITIZATION TRANSACTIONS
Securitization is a financial engineering technique that aims to enhance balance sheet liquidity. From a technical
perspective, assets to be securitized are grouped according to the quality of the associated collateral or guarantees,
and sold to special purpose entities that finance their acquisition by issuing securities underwritten by investors.

Entities created specifically for this purpose are consolidated if the Group exercises control over them. Control is
assessed according to the criteria provided in IFRS 10.

The following statement lists the securitization transactions carried out by the Retail Banking and Insurance entities
without (full or partial) derecognition:
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Type of asset

Inception
date

Expected maturity

Initial
nominal
amount

Elide 2011

Home loans

4/6/2011

January 2036

1,089

221

Elide 2012

Home loans

6/26/2012

April 2037

1,190

313

Elide 2014

Home loans

11/18/2014

October 2039

915

412

Elide 2017-1

Home loans

2/2/2017

December 2037

1,842

1,310

Elide 2017-2

Home loans

4/27/2017

October 2041

1,051

836

Elide 2018

Home loans

5/29/2018

September 2046

1,390

1,377

Subtotal Elide
BPCE Master Home Loans/BPCE Master Home
Loans Demut

7,477

4,469

Home loans

5/26/2014

April 2032

44,068

38,839

Personal loans

5/27/2016

May 2032

5,000

4,744

Home loans

5/29/2017

May 2054

10,500

9,873

Subtotal other

59,568

53,456

TOTAL

67,045

57,925

in millions of euros

BPCE Consumer Loans
BPCE Home Loans FCT 2017_5

6/30/2018

Securitization transactions within Groupe BPCE

As a reminder, Groupe BPCE consolidated two special purpose entities (two securitization funds) in 2017: BPCE Home
Loans FCT 2017_5 and BPCE Home Loans FCT 2017_5 Demut, both of which arose from an intra-group securitization
transaction by the Banque Populaire banks and the Caisses d’Epargne on May 22, 2017.

Under this transaction, about €10.5 billion in home loans was transferred to BPCE Home Loans FCT 2017_5, and the
institutions that transferred the loans subscribed for the securities issued by the special purpose entities.

The deal extended the ongoing BPCE Master Home Loans transaction implemented in May 2014, based on a transfer of
home loans, and expanded on Groupe BPCE’s centralized cash management.

This transaction helped ensure that the amount of Groupe BPCE’s collateral eligible for Eurosystem refinancing
operations remained high while also diversifying the assets available for this type of operation.

Deconsolidating securitization transactions carried out with full or partial derecognition
As a reminder, Crédit Foncier entered into two public securitizations backed by home loans (Crédit Foncier Home Loans
No. 1 in May 2014 and Crédit Foncier Home Loans No. 2 in August 2015).
As a receivables manager, Crédit Foncier does not have the ability to use its power to influence the variability of
returns. Therefore, it does not control the securitization funds within the meaning of IFRS 10, and the funds are not
consolidated.
However, given its ongoing ties with CFHL-2, the criteria needed to establish full derecognition of assets under IFRS 9
are not entirely met. As a result, the transaction is deconsolidating in accordance with IFRS 10, and partially
derecognized in accordance with IFRS 9.
The transferred assets are recognized in proportion to Crédit Foncier’s continued involvement. As a result, the Group
continues to recognize the maximum loss associated with each of the residual ties to the fund (swaps, clean-up calls,
management fees) in balance sheet assets.
These adjustments led to the recognition of total assets of €80 million and total liabilities of €38 million at June 30,
2018.
The fair value of these residual ties is remeasured at each reporting date.
For first-half 2018, the net impact of the CFHL-2 transactions was +€2 million.
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5.2

Statutory auditors’ report on the half-yearly financial report

Deloitte & Associés
6 place de la Pyramide
92908 Paris La Défense Cedex

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Audit
63, rue de Villiers
92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex

Mazars
61, rue Henri Regnault
92075 Paris La Défense Cedex

This is a free translation into English of the statutory auditors’ review report on the half-yearly financial
information issued in French and is provided solely for the convenience of English-speaking users. This
report includes information relating to the specific verification of information given in the Group’s halfyearly management report. This report should be read in conjunction with, and construed in accordance
with, French law and professional standards applicable in France.

Statutory Auditors’ Review Report
on the Half-yearly Financial Information
For the period from January 1 to June 30, 2018

BPCE
50, avenue Pierre Mendès France
75013 Paris

To the Shareholders
In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your Annual General Meetings
and in accordance with the requirements of article L. 451-1-2-III of the French
Monetary and Financial Code ("Code monétaire et financier"), we hereby report to you
on:
-

the review of the accompanying condensed half-yearly consolidated financial
statements of Groupe BPCE, for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2018,

-

the verification of the information presented in the half-yearly management
report.

These condensed half-yearly consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of
the Management Board. Our role is to express a conclusion on these financial
statements based on our review.
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I. Conclusion on the financial statements
We conducted our review in accordance with professional standards applicable in
France. A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily
of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical
and other review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit
conducted in accordance with professional standards applicable in France and
consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of
all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion.
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that
the accompanying condensed half-yearly consolidated financial statements are not
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34 - standard of the IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union applicable to interim financial information.
Without prejudice to the conclusion expressed above, we draw your attention to the
accounting changes related to the first application of IFRS 9 (financial instruments)
and IFRS 15 (revenue from contracts with customers) as described in the notes to the
financial statements (part 5.1.6 and part 5.1.7 – note 2.2 “standards”).
II. Specific verification
We have also verified the information presented in the half-yearly management report
on the condensed half-yearly consolidated financial statements subject to our review.
We have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and consistency with the
condensed half-yearly consolidated financial statements.

Paris La Défense and Neuilly-sur-Seine, August 3rd, 2018
French original signed by

The Statutory Auditors

Deloitte & Associés

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Audit

Mazars

Sylvie Bourguignon

Nicolas Montillot

Charles de Boisriou
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5.3

Consolidated financial statements of BPCE SA group on June 30,
2018

5.3.1 Consolidated balance sheet

ASSETS
Notes

6/30/2018

01/01/2018 (1 )

12/31/2017 IAS
39 after IFRS 9
reclassifications
(2 )

Cash and amounts due from central banks
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

80,866

82,721

82,721

4.1.1

208,820

208,898

208,898

7,930

8,610

8,610

4.2

15,007

15,929

15,941

Hedging derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Securities at amortized cost

4.4.1

15,776

15,923

15,720

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions and similar items at amortized cost

4.4.2

123,898

118,304

118,304

Loans and receivables due from customers at amortized cost

4.4.3

177,231

175,791

176,086

4,951

5,096

5,096

100,552

96,051

96,051
1,421

Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios
Insurance business investments

6.1.1

Current tax assets

319

1,421

1,271

1,501

1,592

4.5

19,985

18,476

18,476

1.3

3,941

1,196

1,195

7.1.1

3,517

3,623

3,625

133

162

162

1,099

1,111

1,111

Deferred tax assets
Accrued income and other assets
Non-current assets held for sale
Investments in associates
Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
TOTAL ASSETS

(1)

(2)

4.6

900

884

884

3,774
769,970

3,728
759,425

3,728
759,620

The transition from the balance sheet at December 31, 2017 under IAS 39 to the balance sheet at January 1, 2018 under IFRS 9 is
presented in section 5.3.6;
The December 31, 2017 amounts correspond to the balance sheet published after reclassifications with no change in the method for
valuing financial assets and liabilities presented in IFRS 9 format (see Note 5.3.6 § 1).
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LIABILITIES

Notes

30/06/2018

01/01/2018 (1)

12/31/2017
IAS 39 after
IFRS 9
reclassification
s (2)

4.1.2

210 816

213 570

213 570

10 048

10 000

10 000

4.8

214 240

205 929

113 376

Amounts due to credit institutions and similar items

4.7.1

113 302

113 376

62 778

Amounts due to customers

4.7.2

59 925

62 778

205 929

Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios

216

307

307

C urrent tax liabilities

325

712

712

Deferred tax liabilities

636

420

546

21 377

19 353

19 353

in millions of euros
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Debt securities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale
Liabilities related to insurance policies

4.9
1.3

3 262

717

717

6.1.8

90 271

86 552

86 552

Provisions

4.10

2 819

3 002

2 825

Subordinated debt

4.11

17 000

17 056

17 056

Equity

25 733

25 653

25 899

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

19 131

18 694

18 882

12 783

12 582

12 582

5 299

5 631

5 539

Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income

516

481

761

Net income for the period

533

Share capital and reserves

4.12.1

Retained earnings

Non-controlling interests
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

(1)

(2)

6 602

6 959

7 018

769 970

759 425

759 620

The transition from the balance sheet at December 31, 2017 under IAS 39 to the balance sheet at January 1, 2018 under IFRS 9 is
presented in section 5.3.6;
The December 31, 2017 amounts correspond to the balance sheet published after reclassifications with no change in the method for
valuing financial assets and liabilities presented in IFRS 9 format (see Note 5.3.6 § 1).
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5.3.2 Consolidated income statement
in millions of euros
Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expenses
Commission income
Commission expenses
Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Net gains or losses resulting from the derecognition of financial assets at amortized cost
Net income from insurance businesses
Income from other activities
Expenses from other activities
Net banking income
Operating expenses
Depreciation, amortization and impairment for property, plant and equipment and intangible
assets
Gross operating income
Cost of credit risk
Operating income
Share in net income of associates and joint ventures
Gains or losses on other assets
Income before tax
Income tax
Net income
Non-controlling interests
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Notes
5.1
5.1
5.2
5.2
5.3

H1 2018
5,730
(4,850)
3,093
(1,236)
1,120

5.4

52

5.5
6.2.1
5.6
5.6

2
1,446
732
(446)
5,643
(4,125)

5.7

(171)
5.8
7.2

5.9

1,347
(143)
1,204
115
(9)
1,310
(383)
927
(394)
533

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
in millions of euros

Notes

H1 2017

Interest and similar income

5.1

6,792

Interest and similar expenses

5.1

(5,360)

Commission income

5.2

3,163

Commission expenses

5.2

(1,208)

Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit
or loss

5.3

1,834

Net gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets

5.4

351

Income from other activities

5.6

6,456

Expenses from other activities

5.6

(6,641)

5.7

(4,008)

Net banking income

5,387

Operating expenses
Depreciation, amortization and impairment for property, plant and
equipment, and intangible assets

(161)

Gross operating income

1,218

Cost of risk

5.8

Operating income

(285)
933

Share in net income of associates

7.2

Gains or losses on other assets

123
30

Income before tax

1,086

Income tax

5.9

Net income

(405)
681

Non-controlling interests

(266)

NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

415
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5.3.3 Comprehensive income
in millions of euros
Net income
Items recyclable to income
Foreign exchange rate adjustments
Revaluation of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income recyclable to income
Revaluation of available-for-sale assets in the insurance business
Revaluation of derivatives hedging items that can be recycled to income
Share of gains and losses recognized directly in the equity of associates
Related taxes
Items not recyclable to income
Revaluation (or actuarial gains and losses) in respect of defined-benefit plans
Revaluation of own credit risk on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Revaluation of equity financial assets recognized at fair value through other comprehensive income
Other items recognized through other comprehensive income not recyclable to income
Related taxes
Total gains and losses recognized directly in equity
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Attributable to equity holders of the parent
Non-controlling interests
For informational purposes: Amount of items not recyclable to income that were transferred to retained earnings

H1 2018
927
(73)
105
65
(210)
25
(131)
73
165
25
241
1
(3)
(99)
92
1,019
568
450
1

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39

in millions of euros

H1 2017

Net income

681

Revaluation differences on defined-benefit plans
Revaluation of own credit risk on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Income taxes

27
(57)
10

Items not recyclable to income

(20)

Foreign exchange rate adjustments

(399)

Change in the value of available-for-sale financial assets

36

Change in the value of hedging derivatives

135

Income taxes

(24)

Share of gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income of associates recyclable to income

(20)

Items recyclable to income

(272)

GAINS AND LOSSES RECOGNIZED DIRECTLY IN OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (AFTER INCOME TAX)

(292)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

389

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

233

Non-controlling interests

156
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5.3.4 Statement of changes in equity

Share capital and

in millions of euros
Additiona Perpetual deeply
Share l paid-in
subordinated
capital (1) capital (1)
notes
Shareholders’ equity at January 1, 2017
Distribution
Interest on deeply subordinated notes
Impact of acquisitions and disposals on non-controlling interests (2)
Total activity arising from relations with shareholders
Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income
Net income for the period
Comprehensive income
Other changes (3)
Shareholders’ equity at June 30, 2017
Shareholders’ equity at December 31, 2017
Allocation of net income for 2017
New presentation of gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive
income of the insurance business
Impacts of changes related to first-time application of IFRS 9 (6)
Shareholders’ equity at January 1, 2018
Distribution
Capital increase
Redemption of deeply subordinated notes (4)
Interest on deeply subordinated notes
Impact of acquisitions and disposals on non-controlling interests (5)
Total activity arising from relations with shareholders
Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income
Net income for the period
Comprehensive income
Other changes (3)
Shareholders’ equity at June 30, 2018

156 12,426

1,230

156 12,426

1,230

156 12,426

683

156 12,426
2

2

683

Retained
earnings
5,260
(207)
(50)
(25)
(282)

(24)
4,955

4,011
845

92
4,948
(201)

Foreign
exchange rate
adjustments
625

Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income
Recyclable
Non-recyclable
Revaluation of
Equity financial own credit risk
Debt financial
assets
on financial
assets at fair
recognized at
liabilities
value through Available-forfair value
designated at
other
sale assets in Change in fair through other
fair value
comprehensive
the insurance value of hedging comprehensive through profit or
income
business
derivatives
income
loss
1,070
(381)
(58)

Net income
Total equity
Revaluation
Total
differences on attributable to attributable to
employee equity holders of equity holders of Non-controlling consolidated
the parent
the parent
interests
equity
benefits
(119)
20,210
7,565
27,775
(207)
(399)
(606)
(50)
(50)
(25)
(21)
(46)
(282)
(420)
(702)
15
(182)
(110)
(292)
415
415
266
681
15
415
233
156
389
(24)
5
(19)
(104)
415
20,137
7,306
27,443

(302)

54

79

(28)

(302)

54

79

(28)

323

1,124

(302)

(86)

106

1291

(348)

(167)

(122)

106

(1,016)
(231)
45

(167)

(122)

1,016
1016

60
(288)

(109)
(109)

845
(845)

199
(31)
(30)
(57)
(319)

199

158 12,625

683

(13)
4616

46

(19)

(116)

4

(19)

124

15

46

(19)

(116)

4

(19)

124

15

533
533

152

26

900

(284)

(128)

(43)

(107)

533

18,882

7,018

25,900

(188)
18,694
(201)
201
(31)
(30)
(57)
(118)
35
533
568
(13)
19,131

(59)
6,959
(502)

(247)
25,653
(703)
201
(298)
(30)
(90)
(920)
92
927
1,019
(19)
25,733

(267)
(33)
(802)
57
394
451
(6)
6,602
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(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

The dividend per share payout of €201 million at June 30, 2018 resulted in an increase of:

€2 million in capital,

€199 million in additional paid-in capital;
Including, in first-half 2017, a reduction in retained earnings of -€46 million (-€25 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€21 million attributable to non-controlling interests) arising
from the impact of acquisitions and other movements. This reduction was mainly due to the following:

-€31 million for the revaluation and unwinding of the discount on call options granted to the minority shareholders of DNCA France and Ciloger,

-€4 million for call options granted to the minority shareholders of PayPlug;
Other changes include interest on perpetual deeply subordinated notes for the portion subscribed for by minority shareholders (non-controlling interests);
The redemption in first-half 2018 of two perpetual deeply subordinated notes issued by Natixis in 2008 amounted to -€253 million, fully subscribed for by non-controlling interests. These redemptions
led to the reversal of the capital gain recorded in equity in the amount of -€43 million (-€31 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€12 million attributable to non-controlling
interests);
Including, in first-half 2018, a reduction in retained earnings of -€90 million (-€57 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€33 million attributable to non-controlling interests) arising
from the impact of acquisitions and other movements. This reduction was mainly due to the following:

-€17 million for the unwinding of the discount on call options granted to minority shareholders (-€12 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€5 million attributable to noncontrolling interests),

The transfer of the minority share in net equity of the entities representing these call options (-€18 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and +€18 million attributable to noncontrolling interests),

-€49 million (-€35 million attributable to equity holders of the parent and -€14 million attributable to non-controlling interests) for call options granted to the minority shareholders of Vermilion
for -€15 million, of Fenchurch for -€27 million and of Alter CE for -€8 million;
The impact of first-time application of IFRS 9 on the opening balance sheet at January 1, 2018 is detailed in Note 5.3.6.
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5.3.5 Consolidated cash flow statement
in millions of euros
Income before tax
Net depreciation and amortization of property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets
Net charge to provisions and provisions for impairment (including insurance companies’ technical
reserves)
Share in net income of associates
Net cash flows generated by investing activities
Income/expense from financing activities
Other changes

H1 2018

H1 2017

1,310

1,086

213

197

3,478

4,716

(18)

(31)

(378)

(254)

45

44

1,992

285

Total non-monetary items included in net income before tax

5,332

4,957

Net increase or decrease arising from transactions with credit institutions

(2,891)

10,674

Net increase or decrease arising from transactions with customers

(3,310)

10,510

Net increase or decrease arising from transactions involving financial assets and liabilities
Net increase or decrease arising from transactions involving non-financial assets and liabilities
Income taxes paid

90
(120)
443

Net increase (decrease) in assets and liabilities resulting from operating activities
Net cash flows generated by operating activities (A) - Continuing operations
Net cash flows generated by operating activities (A) - Discontinued operations
Net increase or decrease related to financial assets and equity investments
Net increase or decrease related to investment property

757

Net cash flows generated by investing activities (B) - Continuing operations
Net cash flows generated by investing activities (B) - Discontinued operations
Net increase (decrease) arising from transactions with shareholders

(1)

(2)

Net cash flows generated by financing activities (C) - Continuing operations

(6,310)
108
5,548
11,591

97
570
95

Net increase or decrease related to property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets

Other increases or decreases generated by financing activities

(5,788)

(9,434)

387
124

(220)

(204)

864

307

(419)
(830)

(678)

(67)

(1,669)

(897)

(2,347)

Impact of changes in exchange rates (D) - Continuing operations

405

(1,078)

TOTAL NET CASH FLOWS (A+B+C+D)

807

8,473

82,721

72,036

(19,553)

(16,675)

Cash and net balance of accounts with central banks
Net balance of demand transactions with credit institutions
C urrent accounts with overdrafts

(3)

Demand accounts and loans

372

Demand accounts in credit

(22,364)

Demand repurchase agreements

(4,096)

Opening cash and cash equivalents
Cash and net balance of accounts with central banks
Net balance of demand transactions with credit institutions
C urrent accounts with overdrafts

(3)

Demand accounts and loans

Closing cash and cash equivalents
NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

737
(20,427)
(5,007)
55,361

80,866

81,914
(18,080)

8,744

(3,443)

6,381
456
(18,890)
(6,027)

63,975

63,834

807

8,473

Cash flows from or to the shareholders mainly include:
•

the redemption of deeply subordinated notes recorded in equity for -€298 million (there were no redemptions in H1 2017);

•

interest paid on deeply subordinated notes recorded in equity for -€30 million (-€72 million in H1 2017);

•

the impact of dividend payouts for -€502 million (-€606 million in H1 2017).

Other increases or decreases generated by financing activities mainly include:
•
•

(3)

8,022

(16,891)

(22,360)

Demand repurchase agreements

(2)

63,168

168

Demand accounts in credit

(1)

6,535

the absence of issuances of subordinated notes or loans (+€14 million in H1 2017);
the impact of redemptions of subordinated notes and loans for -€67 million (-€1,657 million in H1 2017).
Current accounts with overdrafts do not include Livret A, LDD and LEP savings accounts centralized with the Caisse des Dépôts et
Consignations.
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5.3.6 First-time application of IFRS 9
1.

Impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 at January 1, 2018

Groupe BPCE has applied IFRS 9 on financial instruments, which replaces IAS 39, since January 1, 2018. The options
selected are described in Note 2.2 and the accounting principles in Note 3. The main impacts of first-time application
of IFRS 9 on the balance sheet at January 1, 2018 are as follows:
Classification and measurement
Most financial assets that were measured at amortized cost under IAS 39 continue to meet the conditions for
measurement at amortized cost under IFRS 9. Similarly, most financial assets measured at fair value under IAS 39
(available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) continue to be measured at
fair value under IFRS 9.
The main reclassifications are as follows:
for the retail banking loan book, the impact is limited and primarily concerns:



-

certain instruments that were measured at amortized cost and classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39,
but which are recognized at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9 because their contractual cash flows
do not represent solely payments of principal and interest,

-

the structured loans granted to local authorities that were designated at fair value through profit or loss under
IAS 39 and are now classified as non-SPPI financial assets under IFRS 9 in “Assets at fair value through profit
or loss.” As these assets were previously measured at fair value through profit or loss under IAS 39, this
reclassification has no impact on the group's capital.
for other loan books:



-

repurchase agreements classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss under IAS 39 (fair value
option) and considered part of a trading business model under IFRS 9 are recognized in assets at fair value
through profit or loss,

-

repurchase agreements classified as loans and receivables or as liabilities and measured at amortized cost
under IAS 39, and considered part of a trading business model under IFRS 9, are now recognized in assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
for securities portfolios:



-

under IAS 39, liquidity reserve securities were either carried at amortized cost because they were classified as
loans and receivables or held-to-maturity financial assets, or they were measured at fair value because they
were classified as available-for-sale securities, depending on their characteristics, how they were managed and
whether or not they were hedged against interest rate risk. The breakdown of these debt securities has
changed under IFRS 9, with a choice, for each group entity, between measurement at amortized cost or at fair
value through other comprehensive income, depending on whether they are managed with the objective of
collecting cash flows or with the objective of collecting cash flows and selling the assets,

-

units of UCITS and private equity investment funds, except for those in the insurance business, qualified as
equity instruments and classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets” under IAS 39 are measured at fair
value through profit or loss under IFRS 9, as they are considered debt instruments under the IFRS 9 definition,
and as their contractual cash flows do not represent solely payments of principal and interest,

-

investments in associates classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets” under IAS 39 are classified at fair
value through profit or loss under IFRS 9. Once Groupe BPCE companies have individually made a final
decision, the securities are classified at fair value through other comprehensive income not recyclable to
income, and securitization fund units measured at amortized cost and classified as loans and receivables under
IAS 39 (i) are measured at fair value through profit or loss under IFRS 9 if their contractual cash flows are not
solely payments of principal and interest, (ii) are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income if
they are managed under a business model with the objective of collecting cash flows and selling the assets and
are solely payments of principal and interest, and (iii) continue to be recognized at amortized cost if they are
managed under a business model with the objective of collecting cash flows and are solely payments of
principal and interest.

Reclassifications between categories of financial assets measured at amortized cost and fair value through profit or
loss or through other comprehensive income have a net impact on Groupe BPCE’s consolidated equity owing to the
different calculation methods applicable to these assets and to the retrospective application of the standard.
Nevertheless, as these reclassifications are limited or affect assets whose fair value does not vary significantly from
their value at amortized cost due notably to the residual maturity of the transactions in question, these
reclassifications do not have a material impact on Groupe BPCE’s opening equity at January 1, 2018.
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Groupe BPCE has moreover decided to apply the option available under recommendation no. 2017-02 of the Autorité
des Normes Comptables (ANC – French accounting standards setter) of June 2, 2017 on the format of the consolidated
financial statements of banking institutions in accordance with international accounting standards, namely to present
the insurance businesses separately on the balance sheet and income statement.
In accordance with this same recommendation, the margin calls and deposits paid that had been recorded under
accrual accounts at December 31, 2017 (€18.9 billion) were reclassified at January 1, 2018 to loans and receivables
due from credit institutions or to assets at fair value through profit or loss, depending on their business model.
Similarly, the margin calls and deposits received that had been recorded in accrual accounts at December 31, 2017
(€13.4 billion) were reclassified at January 1, 2018 to amounts due to credit institutions or to liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss, depending on their business model.

Impairment
The new IFRS 9 provisioning model points to an increase in the amount of impairment on loans and securities
measured at amortized cost or at fair value through OCI recyclable to income, and on off-balance sheet commitments
as well as on lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets.
Under IAS 39, there was a separate provisioning model for: (i) instruments measured at amortized cost, (ii) debt
instruments measured as “Available-for-sale assets,” (iii) equity instruments measured as “Available-for-sale assets,”
and (iv) instruments recognized at cost. In contrast, under IFRS 9, there is just one provisioning model. This model
applies equally to instruments measured at amortized cost and to debt instruments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income recyclable to income. Additionally, under IFRS 9, equity instruments are no longer
impaired since they are either measured at fair value through profit or loss or at fair value through other
comprehensive income and not recyclable to income.
Under IAS 39, impairments on initial recognition were expressly prohibited. An asset or group of assets could be
impaired only if:



there was objective evidence of impairment resulting from one or more events having occurred since the initial
recognition of the asset (i.e. loss events); and
these loss events had an impact on the estimated cash flows of the financial asset.

IFRS 9 now requires that entities recognize impairments at an earlier stage than under IAS 39, i.e., from the date of
initial recognition of the financial instrument. Accordingly, application of the new IFRS 9 provisioning model leads to an
increase in the amount of impairment recorded on loans and securities carried at amortized cost or at fair value
through OCI recyclable to income and on loan or guarantee commitments given (excluding those recognized at fair
value through profit or loss) as well as on lease receivables.
The impact of first-time application of IFRS 9 on opening equity related to the implementation of the new impairment
model is -€504 million before tax (-€341 million after tax).
Impairment for credit risk is now €4,223 million under IFRS 9 versus €3,738 million at December 31, 2017 under
IAS 39 and IAS 37.
It includes €249 million for financial assets and loan and guarantee commitments classified as Stage 1 (corresponding
to a calculation based on 12-month expected losses), €643 million classified as Stage 2 (corresponding to a calculation
based on lifetime expected losses) and €3,331 million classified as Stage 3, corresponding to non-performing assets
and commitments. Impairment on a portfolio basis recorded under IAS 39 was €515 million at December 31, 2017.
It related primarily to loans and receivables at amortized cost (€3,828 million) and, to a lesser extent, loan and
guarantee commitments (€245 million), securities at amortized cost (€137 million) and debt instruments at fair value
through OCI recyclable to income (€12 million).
Reclassifications between categories of financial assets did not have a significant impact on the Group’s equity at
January 1, 2018. Most financial assets measured at amortized cost under IAS 39 continue to meet the conditions for
measurement at amortized cost under IFRS 9. Similarly, most assets measured at fair value under IAS 39 (availablefor-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss) continue to be measured at fair value
under IFRS 9.
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The following table provides a breakdown of the impacts of the change related to the reclassifications and to application of the new provisioning method between IAS 39 and
IFRS 9 by class of financial asset and liability. The principles for classifying financial instruments under IFRS 9 are presented in Note 3.1.
ASSETS
(in millions of euros)
IAS 39

Reclassifications

82,721
167,016
8,606
65,161

(22,379)
1
(46,468)

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions
Loans and receivables due from customers

121,585
241,331

(500)
(10,312)

Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Accrued income and other assets
Non-current assets held for sale
Investments in associates
Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES
(in millions of euros)
IAS 39
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Amounts due to credit institutions
Amounts due to customers
Debt securities
Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Liabilities on assets held for sale
Technical reserves of insurance companies
Provisions
Subordinated debt
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital and reserves
Retained earnings
Unrealized gains and losses
Net income for the period
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL LIABILITIES

(4)

Impacts of the change
Insurance
businesses

Cash and amounts due from central banks
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Available-for-sale financial assets

Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios
Held-to-maturity financial assets

(3)

Balance sheet
under IAS 39 at
December 31, 2017

5,096
2,126
1,421
1,698
51,206
1,195
3,625
1,111
1,111
884
3,728
759,620

Balance sheet
under IAS 39 at
December 31, 2017
138,498
10,000
122,098
115,974
205,884
307
712
663
42,373
717
76,644
2,825
17,025
25,900
18,882
12,582
5,539
761
7,018
759,620

(1,885)
96,051

(13,558)

64,260
3
(18,693)
15,941
(2,780)
(54,933)
15,720

Total after
reclassifications

Valuation (1)

Balance sheet
Value under IFRS 9 at
adjustment for
January 1,
2018
credit losses (2)

ASSETS
(in millions of euros)
IFRS 9

82,721
208,898
8,610

Cash and amounts due from central banks
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives - positive fair value

15,929
118,304
175,791
15,923
5,096

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Loans and receivables due from credit institutions
Loans and receivables due from customers
Debt securities at amortized cost
Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios

96,051
1,421
1,501
18,476
1,195
3,623
162
1,111
884
3,728
759,425

Insurance business investments
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Accrued income and other assets
Non-current assets held for sale
Investments in associates
Investment property
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
TOTAL ASSETS

82,721
208,898
8,610
15,941
118,304
176,086
15,720
5,096

(11)
(294)
(21)

224

(241)

(106)
(19,172)

(949)

96,051
1,421
1,592
18,476
1,195
3,625
162
1,111
884
3,728
759,620

(91)

(2)

224

(419)

Impacts of the change
Insurance
businesses

Reclassifications

(183)
(3)

(9,723)

75,254
1
(8,719)
(53,196)
45

(118)
(13,297)

9,908
31

Total after
reclassifications
213,570
10,000
113,376
62,778
205,929
307
712
546
19,353
717
86,552
2,825
17,056
25,900
18,882
12,582
5,539
761
7,018
759,620

Valuation (1)

Balance sheet
Value under IFRS 9 at
adjustment for
January 1,
2018
credit losses (2)

71

(197)

152
153

(399)
(341)

433
(280)

(341)

(1)
223

(58)
(418)

178

213,570
10,000
113,376
62,778
205,929
307
712
420
19,353
717
86,552
3,002
17,056
25,653
18,694
12,582
5,631
481
6,959
759,425

LIABILITIES
(in millions of euros)
IFRS 9
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Hedging derivatives
Amounts due to credit institutions and similar items
Amounts due to customers
Debt securities
Revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios
Current tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Liabilities associated with non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
Liabilities related to insurance policies
Provisions
Subordinated debt
Equity
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital and reserves
Retained earnings
Gains and losses recognized directly in OCI
Net income for the period
Non-controlling interests
TOTAL LIABILITIES

This relates to the change in the way the asset is measured. For example, an asset at amortized cost under IAS 39 can be measured at fair value under IFRS 9;
The impact of first-time application of the new impairment model is provided in Note 5.3.6 §3.
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2.

Summary of reclassifications between IAS 39 and IFRS 9 by category

Financial assets
Financial assets under IAS 39
Financial assets at fair value through profit or
Of which fair value through profit or
loss on assets held for trading
Derivatives
Fixed-income securities
Variable-income securities
Loans and receivables

Of which designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Fixed-income securities
Variable-income securities
Loans or receivables due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables due from customers
Securities received under repurchase
agreements

Classification under IFRS 9

Note

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

167,016
104,479

Financial assets at fair value through
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss

51,194

profit or loss

12,931

profit or loss

(a)
(l)
(b)
(l)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(c)

172

2

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments

(c)
(l)

6,805

5,059
2,012

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

(d)

36,086

36,086

8,606
8,606

8,606

62,537
2,626
16,848

342
2,184
653
13,667

65,161
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Insurance business investments
Debt instruments at amortized cost

(e)

(l)
(f)

14,025
39,213
2,546

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

(g)
(l)

6,449
7,255

(f)

(h)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers

Loans and receivables (*)

15
55,462

9,667

1,201

32

25
2

362,915
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments

Accounts and loans

C urrent accounts with overdrafts

Fixed-income securities

Finance leases

Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

106,495
152,126
59
10,812

6,536
4,770

6,536
4,770

13,799

13,137
47

(j)
(l)
(j)

679

7,801
48,712

1,725
7,461
47,327

11,393

11,393

(k)

Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers

Held-to-maturity financial assets
Fixed-income securities

106,927
162,977
(i)
(l)

Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers
Debt instruments at amortized cost
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income

Securities received under term repurchase
agreements

2,126
Insurance business investments
Debt instruments at amortized cost

(l)
2,126

Accrued income and other assets
Accrued income and other assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from credit
institutions
Loans or receivables at amortized cost due from customers
Insurance business investments

51,206
51,206

1,885
241

18,477
15,593
3,548
44
13,558

(l)

Investment property

1,111
Insurance business investments
Investment property

Cash and amounts due from central banks
Revaluation differences on interest rate riskCurrent tax assets
Deferred tax assets
Non-current assets held for sale
Investments in associates
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Goodwill
Total

3,023

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Insurance business investments

Available-for-sale financial assets

Loans or receivables

3,006

(c)

Hedging derivatives
Insurance business investments

Variable-income securities

37,348

50,980
214
8,627
4,304
34,637

profit or loss

Hedging derivatives

Fixed-income securities

1/1/2018
Carrying amount
Carrying amount
under IAS 39
under IFRS 9

(l)
1,111

949
162

82,721
5,096
1,421
1,698
1,195
3,625
1,111
884
3,728

82,721
5,096
1,421
1,501
1,195
3,623
1,111
884
3,728

759,620

759,425

(*) Impairment on a portfolio basis is recognized as a deduction from assets, like individual impairment, and is therefore included in the
carrying amount of the instruments.

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 195

Application of IFRS 9 criteria (Note 3.1) relating to the business models and contractual characteristics of financial
instruments led the Group to make the following modifications to the classification of financial assets compared with
IAS 39:
(m) Fixed-income securities classified as “Financial assets designated at fair value” according to IAS 39 were
classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 for €201 million, as they are
managed under a trading business model.
Fixed-income securities reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 because
they failed the SPPI test stood €62 million.

(n)

Variable-income securities classified as “Financial assets designated at fair value” under IAS 39 and managed
under a trading business model were classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under
IFRS 9 for €242 million.

(o)

Loans and receivables classified as “Financial assets designated at fair value” under IAS 39 managed according to
a trading business model were classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 for
€2,421 million.
Loans and receivables reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 because
they failed the SPPI test stood at €2,397 million.

(p)

Securities received under repurchase agreements classified as “Financial assets designated at fair value” under
IAS 39, managed under a trading business model, were classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss” under IFRS 9 for €36,086 million.

(q)

Debt instruments classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets” under IAS 39 were classified as “Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 in the amount of €15 million because they failed the SPPI
test.

(r)

Debt instruments corresponding mainly to the liquidity reserve securities portfolio, managed under a hold to
collect and sell business model, were reclassified in the amount of €14,025 million as “Financial assets at fair
value through OCI” under IFRS 9. This reclassification had no impact on opening equity.
Debt instruments classified as “Available-for-sale financial assets” under IAS 39 and reclassified as assets at
amortized cost under IFRS 9 stood at €2,546 million.
This reclassification did not have a material impact on opening equity.

(s)

Unconsolidated UCITS units in the amount of €4,493 million are considered non-SPPI debt instruments under
IFRS 9 and are therefore classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.”
Other variable-income securities (excluding investments in associates) managed under a trading business model
are reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9.
Investments in associates reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 stood
at €421 million.

(t)

Investments in associates reclassified as “Financial assets at fair value through OCI” (non-recyclable) under
IFRS 9 represented €1,136 million.

(u)

These are loans or receivables classified as “Loans and receivables” under IAS 39 and reclassified as “Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 because they failed the SPPI test for €59 million.
This reclassification did not have a material impact on equity.

(v)

These are debt instruments classified as “Loans and receivables” under IAS 39 and reclassified as “Financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 because they failed the SPPI test for €47 million.
Debt instruments managed under a hold to collect and sell business model were reclassified in the amount of
€679 million as “Financial assets at fair value through OCI” under IFRS 9. This reclassification did not have a
material impact on opening equity.
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(w) Securities received under repurchase agreements classified as “Loans and receivables” under IAS 39 and
managed under a trading business model are recognized as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”
under IFRS 9 for €47,327 million.
(x)

Reclassification of financial assets of the insurance businesses to “Insurance business investments” in accordance
with the ANC recommendation.

The impacts of the change related to changes in classification and to implementation of the new provisioning method
are provided in Note 5.3.6 §1.

Financial liabilities
1/1/2018
F inancial liabilities under IAS 39

Classification under IF RS 9

Note

F inancial liabilities at fair v alue through profit or
loss

Carry ing amount
under IF RS 9

138,498

Of which fair v alue through profit or
loss on assets held for trading
Derivatives

Carry ing amount
under IAS 39

77,200
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

51,050

50,867

Securities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

26,093

26,093

Other liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

57

57

Liabilities related to insurance policies

183

Of which designated at fair v alue
through profit or loss

61,298

Securities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Securities sold under repurchase
agreements

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Other liabilities

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(a)

Hedging deriv ativ es

22,793

22,793

34,966

34,966

3,539

3,539

10,000
Hedging derivatives

10,000

Amounts due to credit institutions and customers

Deposits and loans

C urrent accounts in credit

Securities sold under repurchase
agreements

Amounts due to credit institutions

80,426

80,426

Amounts due to customers

32,697

32,697

Amounts due to credit institutions

22,365

22,365

Amounts due to customers

23,516

23,516

Amounts due to credit institutions

19,307

Amounts due to customers
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Accrued expenses and other liabilities

59,761
(b)

9,463
5,978
63,627

42,374
Accrued income and other assets

42,374

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

1,122

Amounts due to customers

586

Liabilities related to insurance policies

Liabilities related to insurance policies

19,356
11,628

Amounts due to credit institutions

Technical reserv es of insurance companies

10,000

238,072

9,723

76,644

76,644

205,884

205,929

Rev aluation differences on interest rate riskhedged portfolios

307

307

Current tax liabilities

712

712

Deferred tax liabilities

663

Liabilities on assets held for sale

717

717

2,825

3,002

Subordinated debt

17,025

17,056

Total equity

25,900

25,653

759,620

759,425

Debt securities

Prov isions

Total

420

(c)

Securities sold under repurchase agreements classified as “Financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss” under IAS 39 and managed under a trading business model are classified as “Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss” under IFRS 9 for €34,966 million;

(d)

Securities sold under repurchase agreements classified as “Loans and receivables” under IAS 39 and managed
under a trading business model are classified as “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” under
IFRS 9 for €63,627 million.
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3.

Impacts of the change in impairments or provisions for expected credit losses

This table provides a breakdown of the impacts of the change related to application of the new rules on the
impairment or provisioning of credit risk between IAS 39 and IFRS 9.

Reconciliation of impairments and provisions (in millions of
euros)

Loans and receivables at amortized cost

Impairment or
provision under IAS 39

Reclassifications

IFRS 9 impacts

Impairment or
provision under IFRS 9

3,519

15

294

3,828

Debt securities at amortized cost

93

24

21

137

Debt instruments available for sale/at fair value through other
comprehensive income recyclable to income

59

(58)

11

12

3,670

(19)

326

3,978

178

245

(19)

504

4,223

Total balance sheet
Provisions for off-balance sheet commitments
Total impairments and provisions

67
3,738
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Note 1
1.1

General background

GROUPE BPCE

Groupe BPCE comprises the Banque Populaire network, the Caisse d’Epargne network, the BPCE central institution and
its subsidiaries.
Two banking networks: the Banque Populaire banks and the Caisses d’Epargne
Groupe BPCE is a cooperative group whose shareholders own the two local retail banking networks: the 14 Banque
Populaire banks and the 15 Caisses d’Epargne. Each of the two networks owns an equal share in BPCE, the Group’s
central institution.
The Banque Populaire network consists of the Banque Populaire banks and the Mutual Guarantee Companies granting
them the exclusive benefit of their guarantees.
The Caisse d’Epargne network consists of the Caisses d’Epargne and the local savings companies (LSCs).
The Banque Populaire banks are wholly-owned by their cooperative shareholders.
The capital of the Caisses d’Epargne is wholly-owned by the LSCs. Local savings companies are cooperative structures
with open-ended share capital owned by cooperative shareholders. The LSCs are tasked with coordinating the
cooperative shareholder base, in line with the general objectives defined by the individual Caisse d’Epargne with which
they are affiliated, and cannot perform banking transactions.
BPCE
BPCE, a central institution as defined by the French Banking Law and a credit institution licensed to operate as a bank,
was created pursuant to law No. 2009-715 of June 18, 2009. BPCE was incorporated as a French limited liability
company governed by a Management Board and a Supervisory Board, whose share capital is owned jointly and equally
by the 14 Banque Populaire banks and the 15 Caisses d’Epargne.
BPCE’s corporate mission embodies the continuity of the cooperative principles underlying the Banque Populaire banks
and the Caisses d’Epargne.
Specifically, BPCE represents the interests of its various affiliates in dealings with the supervisory authorities, defines
the range of products and services offered by them, organizes depositor protection, approves key appointments of
company directors and oversees the smooth functioning of the Group’s institutions.
As a holding company, BPCE is the head entity of the Group and holds the joint ventures between the two networks in
retail banking and insurance, corporate banking and financial services, and their production units. It defines the
Group’s corporate strategy and growth and expansion policies.
The network and BPCE’s main subsidiaries, including Natixis, a 71.03%-owned listed company, are organized around
three core business lines:


Retail Banking and Insurance includes the Banque Populaire and Caisse d’Epargne networks, the Natixis
Specialized Financial Services and Insurance business line and Other networks (Crédit Foncier, Banque Palatine
and BPCE International);



Asset & Wealth Management;



Corporate and Investment Banking.

In respect of the Group’s financial functions, BPCE is responsible, in particular, for the centralized management of
surplus funds, for the execution of any financial transactions required to develop and fund the Group, and for choosing
the most appropriate counterparty for these transactions in the broader interests of the Group. BPCE also provides
banking services to the other Group entities.

1.2

GUARANTEE MECHANISM

Pursuant to Articles L. 511-31 and L. 512-107-6 of the French Monetary and Financial Code, the guarantee and
solidarity mechanism was set up to ensure the liquidity and capital adequacy of the Group and its associates, and to
organize financial support within the Banque Populaire and Caisse d’Epargne networks.
BPCE is tasked with taking all measures necessary to guarantee the capital adequacy of the Group and each of the
networks, including implementing the appropriate internal financing mechanisms within the Group and establishing a
Mutual Guarantee Fund common to both networks, for which it determines the operating rules, the conditions for the
provision of financial support to the existing funds of the two networks, as well as the contributions of associates to
the fund’s initial capital endowment and reconstitution.
BPCE manages the Banque Populaire Network Fund and the Caisse d’Epargne Network Fund and has put in place the
Mutual Guarantee Fund.
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The Banque Populaire Network Fund was formed by a deposit made by the Banque Populaire banks of €450 million
that was booked by BPCE in the form of a 10-year term account which is indefinitely renewable.
The deposit made to the Caisse d’Epargne Network Fund by the Caisses d’Epargne of €450 million was booked by
BPCE in the form of a 10-year term account which is indefinitely renewable.
The Mutual Guarantee Fund was formed by deposits made by the Banque Populaire banks and the Caisses
d’Epargne. These deposits were booked by BPCE in the form of 10-year term accounts which are indefinitely
renewable. The amount of the deposits by network was €181 million as of June 30, 2018.
The total amount of deposits made to BPCE in respect of the Banque Populaire Network Fund, the Caisse d’Epargne
Network Fund and the Mutual Guarantee Fund may not be less than 0.15% and may not exceed 0.3% of the total riskweighted assets of the Group.
The booking of deposits in the institutions’ individual accounts under the guarantee and solidarity system results in the
recording of an item of an equivalent amount under a dedicated capital heading.
The mutual guarantee companies (sociétés de caution mutuelle), whose sole corporate purpose is to guarantee loans
issued by Banque Populaire banks, are covered by the liquidity and capital adequacy guarantee of the Banque
Populaire banks with which they are jointly licensed in accordance with Article R. 515-1 of the French Monetary and
Financial Code.
The liquidity and capital adequacy of the Caisses de Crédit Maritime Mutuel are guaranteed in respect of each
individual Caisse, by the Banque Populaire bank which is both the core shareholder and provider of technical and
operational support for the Caisse in relation to the partner Banque Populaire bank.
The liquidity and capital adequacy of the local savings companies are secured, firstly, at the level of each individual
local savings company by the Caisse d’Epargne of which the local savings company in question is a shareholder.
BPCE’s Management Board holds all the requisite powers to mobilize the resources of the various contributors without
delay and in accordance with the agreed order, on the basis of prior authorizations given to BPCE by the contributors.
1.3

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Application of IFRS 5 to BPCE International’s African subsidiaries
On February 20, 2018, Groupe BPCE announced the signature of an agreement to sell all of the capital of Banque des
Mascareignes, a bank located in Mauritius, and its subsidiary in Madagascar (Banque des Mascareignes Madagascar) to
the Moroccan cooperative group Banque Centrale Populaire.
The completion of the sale is subject to the usual conditions precedent for this type of transaction, including in
particular the approval of the regulatory authorities in Mauritius, Madagascar and Morocco. It should be finalized by
the end of 2018.
Groupe BPCE is also in discussions with potential financial and industrial partners about its banks’ activity in Africa.
This mainly concerns Banque Tuniso Koweitienne and its subsidiaries, Banque Commerciale Internationale (BCI) in the
Congo, BICEC in Cameroon and Banque Malgache de l’Océan Indien in Madagascar.
These various transactions are part of the Group’s strategy of refocusing on priority development sectors and regions.
At June 30, 2018, these entities’ assets and liabilities were therefore presented in accordance with IFRS 5 (Noncurrent Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations) and aggregated on a single line, i.e., €2,705 million on the
assets side (of which €1,749 million from loans and receivables due from customers) and €2,478 million on the
liabilities side (of which €1,969 million from amounts due to customers).

1.4

POST-BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Project to integrate Crédit Foncier’s operations into Groupe BPCE

Scope and status of the project

On June 25 and 26, 2018, respectively, the BPCE Supervisory Board and the Crédit Foncier Board of Directors gave
their approval, in principle, to start a project to integrate Crédit Foncier’s operations and teams to meet the new
requirements of the sector and its customers. This project would focus on integrating the knowledge and expertise of
Crédit Foncier into the various companies of Groupe BPCE.

Accordingly:
 new loans would be redeployed in the Group’s entities: Individual Customer financing within the Banque Populaire
banks and Caisses d’Epargne, Corporate financing within the Caisses d’Epargne and Banque Populaire banks for
social housing, and Natixis for project and infrastructure financing;
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Socfim, which would become a subsidiary of BPCE SA, would position itself as a global player in corporate real
estate financing by integrating long-term financing for real estate professionals with financing for developers;
Crédit Foncier Immobilier would become a subsidiary of BPCE SA;
the special expertise and the projects initiated by Crédit Foncier would continue on a national level;
Crédit Foncier would be refocused on the funding, through Compagnie de Financement Foncier, of public sector
assets originated by the Group and on the management of currently outstanding loans.

Also, as part of this project, any delisting offer involving Locindus shares would be filed with the Autorité des Marchés
Financiers (French Financial Markets Authority — AMF).

In keeping with the project’s objective — to develop Crédit Foncier’s activities by integrating them into the various
Groupe BPCE companies — and as part of an employment preservation plan, employees whose activity would be
redeployed as outlined above (approximately 1,400 people) would be offered a similar position, with an equivalent
classification and in the same employment area, at another Groupe BPCE company. Alternatively, for employees with a
project who are not interested in pursuing the reclassification proposal mentioned above, Crédit Foncier would allow
the option to volunteer for external mobility, with financial and other support.

Accounting impacts at June 30, 2018

At June 30, 2018, as detailed information is not available, the criteria for recording a provision have not been met; the
institution is furthermore unable to reliably quantify the final cost of the project, based primarily on redeploying the
affected operations and teams.

The information and consultation process, which began on July 20, 2018, defined the scope of staff members affected
at this stage and the support measures that would be proposed for their reclassification (continued payment of
compensation, training, support for mobility, etc.) or, if applicable, their voluntary departure plan (compensation
based on employees’ length of service, capped at 24 months of wages). At this information and consultation stage, the
cost of these measures (and their resulting effects on the group’s business relationships) cannot reliably be
determined.

Agreement to acquire MV Crédit, a European credit specialist focused on private debt

On July 11, 2018, Natixis Investment Managers announced the signature of an agreement to acquire a minority stake
in US management company WCM Investment Management (WCM). Natixis Investment Managers will thus become
WCM’s exclusive third-party distributor. This acquisition is expected to close by the end of 2018, subject to customary
regulatory approvals.
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Note 2
2.1

Applicable accounting standards and comparability

REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

The consolidated financial statements of Groupe BPCE were prepared under International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union and applicable at that date, excluding certain provisions of lAS 39
relating to hedge accounting.

These condensed interim consolidated financial statements at June 30, 2018 were prepared according to IAS 34
“Interim Financial Reporting.” The notes therefore apply to the most significant aspects of the half-year and should be
read in conjunction with the Group's consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2017.

2.2

STANDARDS

The standards and interpretations used and detailed in the annual financial statements as at December 31, 2017 were
complemented by standards, amendments and interpretations whose application is mandatory for reporting periods
starting from January 1, 2018.
New IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” was adopted by the European Commission on November 22, 2016 and is
applicable retrospectively as of January 1, 2018.
IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 and defines the new rules for classifying and measuring financial assets and liabilities, the new
impairment methodology for the credit risk of financial assets, and hedge accounting, except for macro-hedging, which
the IASB is currently studying in a separate draft standard.
Groupe BPCE used the option available in IFRS 9 not to apply the provisions of the standard relative to hedge
accounting, and to continue to apply IAS 39 for the recognition of these transactions, as adopted by the European
Union, i.e., excluding certain provisions relating to macro-hedging. In view of the limited volume of asset
reclassifications, most transactions recognized using hedge accounting under IAS 39 continue to be disclosed in the
same way from January 1, 2018. However, the information provided in the Notes observes the provisions of IFRS 7 as
amended by IFRS 9.
Furthermore, on November 3, 2017, the European Commission adopted the amendment to IFRS 4 applying IFRS 9
“Financial Instruments” with IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” with specific provisions for financial conglomerates,
applicable as of January 1, 2018. The European regulation will allow insurance sectors within European financial
conglomerates to defer application of IFRS 9 until January 1, 2021 (effective date of the new IFRS 17 standard
“Insurance Contracts”) as long as they:





do not transfer financial instruments between the insurance sector and other sectors of the conglomerate (with the
exception of financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss for the two sectors affected by the
transfer);
indicate the insurance entities that apply IAS 39;
disclose specific additional information in the notes to the financial statements.

As Groupe BPCE is a financial conglomerate, it elected to apply this provision to its insurance businesses, which
continue to be covered by IAS 39. The main entities affected by this measure are CEGC, the insurance subsidiaries of
COFACE, Natixis Assurances, BPCE Vie and its consolidated funds, Natixis Life, ADIR, BPCE Prévoyance, BPCE
Assurances, BPCE IARD, Muracef, Surassur, Prépar Vie and Prépar Iard.
In accordance with the adoption regulation of November 3, 2017, the group took the necessary steps to prohibit any
transfer of financial instruments between its insurance sector and the rest of the group that would lead to a
derecognition for the transferring entity; this restriction is not, however, required for transfers of financial instruments
measured at fair value through profit or loss by the two sectors involved.
Under the option available in IFRS 9, the Group elected not to restate previous fiscal years published as comparative
information for its financial statements.

Groupe BPCE holds some fixed-rate loans with symmetrical prepayment clauses in its loan book. In an amendment to
IFRS 9 published in October 2017, the IASB stated that negative prepayment compensation is not in itself
incompatible with the notion of SPPI. The application of this amendment is mandatory as of January 1, 2019 and early
application is possible. The “Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation” amendment was adopted by the
European Commission on March 22, 2018. Groupe BPCE applied this amendment early, as of January 1, 2018.
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Regulation (EU) 2017/2395 dated December 12, 2017 relating to transitional arrangements for mitigating the impact
of the introduction of IFRS 9 on capital and for the large exposures treatment of certain public-sector exposures was
published in the OJ on December 27, 2017. Groupe BPCE has decided not to opt to neutralize IFRS 9 transitional
impacts at the prudential level due to the limited impact when applying the standard.

IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customers” replaces the current standards and interpretations related to the
recognition of income. IFRS 15 was adopted by the European Union and published in the OJ on October 29, 2016. It
has been applicable retrospectively since January 1, 2018. The amendment entitled “Clarifications to IFRS 15,”
published by the IASB on April 12, 2016, was adopted by the European Commission on October 31, 2017 and is also
applicable retrospectively as of January 1, 2018.

Under this standard, recognition of revenue from ordinary activities now reflects the transfer of control of goods and
services promised to customers in an amount corresponding to the consideration that the entity expects to receive in
exchange for these goods and services. IFRS 15 thus introduces a new five-stage general approach for the recognition
of income:






identification of contracts with customers;
identification of specific performance obligations (or items) to be recognized separately from one another;
determination of overall transaction price;
allocation of transaction price to the various specific performance obligations;
recognition of revenue when performance obligations are met.

IFRS 15 applies to contracts entered into by an entity with its customers, with the exception of leases (covered by
IAS 17), insurance contracts (covered by IFRS 4) and financial instruments (covered by IFRS 9). If specific stipulations
relating to revenue or contract costs are given under a different standard, these will first be applied.

The work related to the first-time application of IFRS 15 notably drew on self-assessments carried out by certain pilot
institutions and subsidiaries, which were then transposed by all the Group’s significant institutions and subsidiaries.
This work helped identify the main items concerned, in particular:

fee and commission income, notably that relating to banking services when this income is not included in the
effective interest rate, or that relating to asset management or financial engineering services;

income from other activities, in particular for services included in leases.

This work also confirmed that the Group is either only slightly or not affected by certain first-time application of
IFRS 15 issues such as real estate development, loyalty programs and telephony.

Based on the work performed, the Group did not recognize any material impact related to application of IFRS 15, on
either opening equity at January 1, 2018 or on income and expense items in fiscal year 2018.

Under the option available in IFRS 15, the Group elected not to restate previous fiscal years published as comparative
information for its financial statements.
The other standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the European Union did not have a material impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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New standards published and not yet applicable

IFRS 16

IFRS 16 “Leases” will replace IAS 17 “Leases” and the interpretations related to the accounting of such contracts. The
standard was adopted by the European Commission on October 31, 2017. It will be applicable as of January 1, 2019.

As defined under IFRS 16, leases shall identify an asset and convey the right to use this asset for a period of time.
From the lessor's perspective, the impact is expected to be limited, as the provisions will not change substantially in
relation to the current IAS 17.

Under the current IAS 17, operating leases are not recognized on the balance sheet, only the corresponding rental
income is recorded in income.

In contrast, for lessees, IFRS 16 requires that leases be recorded in the balance sheet such that they convey the right
to use the leased asset presented, as the case may be, among property, plant & equipment or investment property,
and a lease liability. The lease liability corresponds to the discounted value of lease payments that have not yet been
paid. The Group has decided to opt for the exception included in the standard of not modifying the accounting method
for short-term leases (less than 12 months) or leases related to low value underlying assets. The right to use the asset
will be amortized on a straight-line basis and the lease liability will be calculated on an actuarial basis over the term of
the lease.

The expense on the lease debt will thus be included in interest income under net banking income and the amortization
expense on the right to use the asset will be recognized in operating expenses.

The Group began to analyze the impact of the application of this new standard following its publication by the IASB at
the start of 2016. This work continued during first-half 2018 and entered the stage where structural choices were
made in terms of organization and information systems.

Regarding Groupe BPCE’s activities, the implementation of IFRS 16 will mainly affect real estate assets leased for
operational purposes as offices and sales branches. A material impact is therefore expected on “Property, plant &
equipment” without modifying in itself the relatively weak weighting of property, plant & equipment in total assets.

For the first-time application of this standard, the Group has chosen the modified retrospective method, which
recognizes the cumulative impact at January 1, 2019, with no comparison with 2018, and listing in the Notes to the
financial statements any of the standard’s impacts on the various items in said financial statements.

IFRS 17

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” was published by the IASB on May 18, 2017 and will replace IFRS 4 “Insurance
Contracts.” Subject to adoption by the European Commission, this standard will be applicable as of January 1, 2021,
with a comparison to January 1, 2020.

IFRS 17 establishes the principles of recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure for the insurance
contracts that fall within its scope.

Liabilities under these contracts, which are currently valued at historical cost, will have to be recognized at present
value under IFRS 17. As such, insurance contracts will be valued based on their future cash flows, including a risk
margin in order to factor in the uncertainty relating to these cash flows. IFRS 17 also introduces the concept of
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contractual service margin. This represents the insurer's unearned profit and will be released over time as the services
are rendered to the insured.

These accounting changes could modify the profile of insurance income (in particular for life insurance) and also
introduce greater volatility in income.

Given the extent of the changes made under IFRS 17, Groupe BPCE's insurance entities began their impact analyses
and, in first-half 2018, established specific structures to help them to understand all aspects of the standard as it
applies to the different projects: modeling, adjustments to systems and organizations, production of the financial
statements, investor relations and change management.

2.3

USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Preparation of the financial statements requires Management to make estimates and assumptions in certain areas with
regard to uncertain future events.
These estimates are based on the judgment of the individuals preparing these financial statements and the information
available at the balance sheet date.
Actual future results may differ from these estimates.
With respect to the financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2018 in particular, accounting estimates
requiring assumptions were mainly used for the following measurements:
•

the fair value of financial instruments determined on the basis of valuation models (Note 3.1.9);

•

the amount of expected credit losses on financial instruments as well as on loan and guarantee commitments
(Note 3.1.10);

•

provisions recorded under liabilities in the balance sheet and more specifically the provision for regulated home
savings products and provisions for insurance policies (Note 4.10);

•

calculations related to the cost of pensions and future employee benefits;

•

deferred taxes;

•

goodwill impairment testing (Note 4.6).

Judgment must also be exercised to assess the business model and whether the financial instrument can be
categorized as SPPI. The procedures are described in the relevant paragraphs (Note 3.1.1).

2.4

PRESENTATION OF THE INTERIM
INTERIM BALANCE SHEET DATE

CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

AND

As no specific format is required under IFRS, the presentation used by the Group for summarized statements follows
Recommendation No. 2017-02 issued by the Autorité des Normes Comptables (ANC – French national accounting
standards authority) on June 2, 2017.
The consolidated financial statements are based on the financial statements at June 30, 2018. The Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the period ended June 30, 2018 were approved by the Management Board on
July 30, 2018.
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Note 3
3.1

Accounting principles and valuation methods

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

IFRS 9 is applicable to Groupe BPCE excluding the insurance subsidiaries which continue to apply IAS 39.

3.1.1 Principles for the classification of financial assets
Classification and measurement
On initial recognition, financial assets are classified at amortized cost, at fair value through other comprehensive
income, or at fair value through profit of loss, according to the type of instrument (debt or equity), the characteristics
of their contractual cash flows and how the entity manages its financial instruments (its business model).
Business model
The entity’s business model represents the way in which it manages its financial assets to produce cash flow.
Judgment must be exercised to assess the business model.
The choice of business model must take into account all information regarding the manner in which cash flows were
generated in the past, along with all other relevant information.
For example:
-

the way in which the performance of financial assets is assessed and presented to the main company directors;
risks which have an impact on the business model’s performance, in particular the way in which these risks are
managed;
the way in which directors are paid (for example, if pay is based on the fair value of assets under management or
on the contractual cash flows received);
the frequency of, volume of and reason for sales.

Moreover, the choice of business model must be made at a level which reflects the way in which groups of financial
assets are managed collectively with a view to achieve a given economic objective. The business model is therefore
not decided on an instrument by instrument basis, but rather at a higher level of aggregation, by portfolio.
The standard uses three business models:
-

a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to receive contractual cash flows (“hold to
collect model”). This model, under which the concept of “holding” is relatively similar to holding to maturity,
remains valid if disposals occur under the following conditions:

the disposals are due to an increase in credit risk;

the disposals occur just before maturity and at a price that reflects the contractual cash flows that are
still owed;

other disposals may also be compatible with the “hold to collect” model’s objectives if they are infrequent
(even if their value is significant) or if their value is insignificant when considered both individually and
overall (even if they are frequent).
For Groupe BPCE, the “hold to collect” model applies to financing activities (excluding the loan syndication
activity) carried out by Retail Banking, Corporate & Investment Banking and Specialized Financial Services;

-

a mixed-business model under which assets are managed with the objective of both receiving contractual cash
flows and disposing of financial assets (“hold to collect and sell model”).
Groupe BPCE applies the hold to collect and sell model primarily to the portion of portfolio management activities
for securities in the liquidity reserve that is not managed solely under a hold to collect model;

-

a model intended for other financial assets, especially those held for trading, for which the collection of contractual
cash flows is incidental. This business model applies to the loan syndication activity (for the portion of
outstandings to be sold that was identified at the outset) and to the capital market activities carried out primarily
by Corporate & Investment Banking.

Types of contractual cash flows: the SPPI (Solely Payments of Principal and Interest) test
A financial asset is classified as generating solely payments of principal and interest if, on specific dates, it gives rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the outstanding amount due. The SPPI test should be
performed for each financial asset on initial recognition.
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The principal amount is defined as the financial asset’s fair value at its acquisition date. Interest is the consideration
for the time value of money and the credit risk incurred on the principal amount, as well as other risks such as liquidity
risk, administrative costs and the profit margin.
The instrument’s contractual terms must be taken into account to assess whether contractual cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest. All elements that may cast doubts as to whether only the time value of money and
credit risk are represented must therefore be analyzed. For example:
-

events that would change the amount and date of the cash flows;
Any contractual option that creates risk exposure or cash-flow volatility that is not consistent with a basic lending
arrangement, such as exposure to fluctuations in the price of stocks or of a market index, or the introduction of
leverage, would make it impossible to categorize contractual cash flows as SPPI.

-

the applicable interest rate features (for example, consistency between the rate refixing period and the interest
calculation period);
If a clear determination cannot be made through qualitative analysis, a quantitative analysis (a benchmark test)
is carried out. This test involves comparing the contractual cash flows for the asset in question with the
contractual cash flows of a benchmark asset.

-

early redemption and extension conditions.
For the borrower or lender, a contractual option permitting prepayment of financial instruments does not violate
the SPPI test for contractual cash flows if the prepayment amount mainly represents the unpaid amounts of
principal and interest and, if applicable, a reasonable additional compensation for the early termination of the
contract.

If a clear determination cannot be made through qualitative analysis, a quantitative analysis (a benchmark test) is
carried out. This test involves comparing the contractual cash flows for the asset in question with the contractual cash
flows of a benchmark asset.
Furthermore, although they do not strictly meet the criteria for compensation of the time value of money, certain
assets with a regulated rate are considered SPPI if this regulated interest rate provides consideration that corresponds
substantially to the passage of time and presents no exposure to a risk that would be inconsistent with a basic lending
arrangement. That is the case in particular for financial assets representing the portion of Livret A passbook savings
account inflows that is centralized with the CDC's savings fund.
Basic financial assets (those that generate SPPI) are debt instruments such as fixed-rate loans, variable-rate loans
without an interest rate tenor mismatch or that are not linked to a security or to a market index, and fixed-rate or
variable-rate debt securities.
Non-SPPI financial assets include UCITS units and convertible bonds or mandatory convertible bonds with a fixed
conversion ratio.
To qualify as SPPI assets, the securities held in a securitization vehicle must meet specific conditions. The contractual
terms of the tranche must meet the SPPI criteria. The pool of underlying assets must meet the SPPI conditions. The
risk inherent in the tranche must be lower than or equal to the exposure to the underlying assets of the tranche.
A non-recourse loan (e.g., infrastructure financing-type project financing) is a loan secured only by physical collateral.
If there is no possible recourse to the borrower, the structure of other possible recourses or protection mechanisms for
the lender in the event of default must be examined in order to categorize these loans as SPPI assets: acquisition of
the underlying asset, collateral provided (security deposits, margin call, etc.), enhancements provided.
Accounting categories
Debt instruments (loans, receivables or debt securities) may be valued at amortized cost, at fair value through other
comprehensive income recyclable to income or at fair value through profit and loss.
A debt instrument is valued at amortized cost if it meets the following two conditions:
-

the asset is held under a business model where the objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset define it as basic (SPPI) within the meaning of the standard.

A debt instrument is valued at fair value through other comprehensive income if it meets the following two conditions:
-

the asset is held under a business model where the objective is both to collect contractual cash flows and to sell
financial assets; and
the contractual terms of the financial asset define it as basic (SPPI) within the meaning of the standard.

Equity instruments are, by default, recorded at fair value through profit or loss unless they qualify for an irrevocable
option for valuation at fair value through other comprehensive income not recyclable to income (provided they are not
held for trading purposes and accordingly classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss), without
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subsequently being reclassified through profit or loss. If opting for the latter category, dividends continue to be
recognized in income.
All other financial assets are recorded at fair value through profit or loss. These financial assets include financial assets
held for trading purposes, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and non-basic (non-SPPI) assets.
Recognition at fair value through profit or loss as an option for financial assets only applies in the case of the
elimination or significant reduction of an accounting mismatch. This option enables the elimination of accounting
mismatches stemming from the application of different valuation rules to instruments managed in accordance with a
single strategy.
Embedded derivatives are no longer recognized separately to their host contract when these are financial assets, such
that the entire hybrid instrument must now be recognized at fair value through profit or loss.
For financial liabilities, the classification and measurement rules set out in IAS 39 are carried forward to IFRS 9
unchanged, with the exception of those applicable to financial liabilities that the entity chooses to record at fair value
through profit or loss (fair value option), for which revaluation adjustments related to changes in own credit risk are
recorded under gains and losses recognized directly in equity, without being subsequently reclassified through profit or
loss.
The provisions of IAS 39 on the derecognition of financial assets and liabilities remain unchanged in IFRS 9. The
amendment to IFRS 9 of October 12, 2017 clarified the treatment under IFRS 9 of modifications of liabilities
recognized at amortized cost, if the modification does not result in derecognition: the profit or loss resulting from the
difference between the original cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate
must be recognized in profit or loss.

3.1.2 Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at amortized cost include loans and receivables due from credit institutions and customers as well as
securities at amortized cost such as treasury bills and bonds.
Loans and receivables are initially recorded at fair value plus any costs directly related to their issuance, less any
proceeds directly attributable to issuance. On subsequent balance sheet dates, they are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows (payments or receipts) to the
carrying amount of the loan at inception. This rate includes any discounts recorded in respect of loans granted at
below-market rates, as well as any external transaction income or costs directly related to the issue of the loans,
which are treated as an adjustment to the effective yield on the loan. No internal cost is included in the calculation of
amortized cost.
When loans are extended under conditions that are less favorable than market conditions, a discount corresponding to
the difference between the nominal value of the loan and the sum of future cash flows discounted at the market
interest rate is deducted from the nominal value of the loan. The market interest rate is the rate applied by the vast
majority of local financial institutions at a given time for instruments and counterparties with similar characteristics.
IFRS 9 requires that modified contracts for financial assets that are renegotiated, restructured or adjusted (whether
due to financial hardships or not), but not subsequently derecognized, be identified. Any profit or loss must be
recognized as income in the event of modification. The gross carrying amount of the financial asset must be
recalculated so that it is equal to the renegotiated or amended present value of contractual cash flows at the original
effective interest rate. The materiality of the modifications is, however, analyzed on a case by case basis.
The treatment of loans restructured due to financial hardship is identical to IAS 39: a discount is applied to loans
restructured (impaired, Stage 3) following a credit loss event as defined by IFRS 9, to reflect the difference between
the present value of the contractual cash flows at inception and the present value of expected principal and interest
repayments after restructuring. The discount rate used is the original effective interest rate. This discount is expensed
to “Cost of credit risk” in the income statement and offset against the corresponding outstanding on the balance sheet.
It is written back to net interest income in the income statement over the life of the loan using an actuarial method.
The restructured loan is reclassified as performing (not impaired, Stage 1 or Stage 2) based on expert opinion when
no uncertainty remains as to the borrower’s capacity to honor the commitment.
External costs consist primarily of commissions paid to business partners.
Income directly attributable to the issuance of new loans principally comprises set-up fees charged to customers,
rebilled costs and commitment fees (if it is more probable than improbable that the loan will be drawn down).
Commitment fees received that will not result in any drawdowns are apportioned on a straight-line basis over the life
of the commitment.
Expenses and income arising on loans with a term of less than one year at inception are deferred on a pro rata basis
with no recalculation of the effective interest rate. For floating or adjustable rate loans, the effective interest rate is
adjusted at each rate refixing date.
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3.1.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This asset category includes:
•

financial assets held for trading, i.e. securities acquired or issued principally for the purpose of selling them in the
near term;

•

financial assets that the Group has chosen to recognize at fair value through profit or loss at inception using the
fair value option available under IFRS 9. The qualifying criteria used when applying this option are described in
Note 3.1.7 “Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”;

•

non-SPPI debt instruments;

•

equity instruments measured by default at fair value through profit or loss (which are not held for trading
purposes).

These assets are measured at fair value at the date of initial recognition and at each balance sheet date. Changes in
fair value over the period, interest, dividends, and gains or losses on disposals on these instruments are recognized in
“Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss,” with the exception of non-SPPI debt
financial assets whose interest is recorded in “Interest income.”

3.1.4 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are initially recognized at fair value, plus any
transaction costs.
-

Debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income recyclable to income
On the balance sheet date, they are carried at their fair value and changes in fair value (excluding accrued
interest) are recorded under "Gains and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income recyclable to
income” (as the foreign currency assets are money-market assets, changes in the fair value of the foreign currency
component affect income). The principles used to determine fair value are described in Note 3.1.9.
These instruments are subject to IFRS 9 impairment requirements. If they are sold, these changes in fair value are
taken to income.
Interest income accrued or received on debt instruments is recorded under “Interest and similar income” based on
the effective interest rate method.

-

Equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income not recyclable to income
On the balance sheet date, they are carried at their fair value and changes in fair value are recorded under “Gains
and losses recognized directly in other comprehensive income not recyclable to income” (as the foreign currency
assets are not monetary assets, changes in the fair value of the foreign currency component do not affect income).
The principles used to determine fair value are described in Note 3.1.9.
The designation at fair value through other comprehensive income not recyclable to income is an irrevocable option
that is applied on an instrument-by-instrument basis only to equity instruments not held for trading purposes.
Realized and unrealized impairment losses continue to be recorded in equity with no impact on income. These
financial assets are not impaired.
In the event of disposal, these changes in fair value are not transferred to income but directly to retained earnings
under equity.
Only dividends affect income when they correspond to a return on investment. They are recorded in “Net gains or
losses on financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.”

3.1.5 Date of recognition
Securities are recorded in the balance sheet on the settlement/delivery date.
Temporary transfers of securities are also recorded on the settlement/delivery date. For repurchase or reverse
repurchase transactions, a loan commitment given or received, respectively, is recorded between the transaction date
and the settlement/delivery date when such transactions are recorded as “Loans and receivables” or “Liabilities,”
respectively. When such transactions are recorded under “Assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,” the
commitment is recorded as an interest rate derivative.
Rules applicable to partial disposals
The first-in, first-out (FIFO) method is applied to any partial disposals of securities, expect in special cases.

3.1.6 Debt and equity instruments
Financial instruments issued by the Group qualify as debt or equity instruments depending on whether or not the
issuer has a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder of the instrument, or to
exchange the instrument under conditions that are potentially unfavorable to the Group. This obligation must arise
from specific contractual terms and conditions, not merely economic constraints.
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In addition, when an instrument qualifies as equity:




its remuneration is treated as a dividend, and therefore impacts equity, along with the tax relating to this
remuneration;
it cannot be an underlying eligible for hedge accounting;
if the issue is in a foreign currency, the instrument is fixed at its historical value resulting from its conversion to
euros at its initial date of transfer to equity.

Finally, when these instruments are issued by a subsidiary, they are included in “Non-controlling interests.” When their
remuneration is of a cumulative nature, it is charged to “Income attributable to equity holders of the parent” and
increases the income of “Non-controlling interests.” However, when their remuneration is not of a cumulative nature, it
is drawn from retained earnings attributable to equity holders of the parent.
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
These are financial liabilities held for trading or classified in this category on a voluntary basis at initial recognition
using the fair value option available under IFRS 9. The qualifying criteria used when applying this option are described
in Note 3.1.7 “Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.”
These liabilities are measured at fair value at the date of initial recognition and at each balance sheet date. Fair-value
fluctuations over the period, interest, and gains or losses related to these instruments are booked as “Net gains or
losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss,” except for fair-value fluctuations attributable to the
change in own credit risk for financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, which have been booked, since
January 1, 2016, in “Revaluation of own credit risk of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss”
within “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity.” If the liability is derecognized before its maturity (early
redemption, for example), fair value gains or losses attributable to own credit risk are directly transferred to retained
earnings under equity.
Debt securities
Issues of debt securities (which are not classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss or as equity)
are initially recognized at fair value less any transaction costs. They are subsequently measured at amortized cost at
each balance sheet date using the effective interest method.
These instruments are recognized on the balance sheet under “Amounts due to credit institutions”, “Amounts due to
customers” or “Debt securities”.
Subordinated debt
Subordinated debt differs from other debt and bonds in that it will be repaid only after all the senior and unsecured
creditors, but before the repayment of participating loans and securities and deeply subordinated notes.
Subordinated debt which the issuer is obliged to repay is classified as debt and initially recognized at fair value less
any transaction costs. It is subsequently measured at amortized cost at each balance sheet date using the effective
interest method.
Cooperative shares
IFRIC 2 “Cooperative shares in cooperative entities and similar instruments” clarifies the provisions of IAS 32. In
particular, the contractual right of the holder of a financial instrument (including cooperative shares in cooperative
entities) to request redemption does not, in itself, automatically give rise to an obligation for the issuer. Rather, the
entity must consider all of the terms and conditions of the financial instrument in determining its classification as a
debt or equity.
Based on this interpretation, cooperative shares are classified as equity if the entity has an unconditional right to
refuse redemption of the cooperative shares or if local laws, regulations or the entity’s bylaws unconditionally prohibit
or curtail the redemption of cooperative shares.
Based on the existing provisions of the Group’s bylaws relating to minimum capital requirements, cooperative shares
issued by the Group are classified as equity.

3.1.7 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
IFRS 9 allows entities to designate financial assets and liabilities on initial recognition at fair value through profit or
loss. However, an entity’s decision to do so may not be reversed.
Compliance with the criteria stipulated by the standard must be verified prior to any recognition of an instrument using
the fair value option.
In practice, this option may be applied only under the specific circumstances described below:
Elimination of or significant reduction in an accounting mismatch (Financial assets and liabilities)
Applying the option enables the elimination of accounting mismatches stemming from the application of different
valuation rules to instruments managed in accordance with a single strategy.
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Harmonization of accounting treatment for performance management and measurement (Financial
liabilities only)
The option applies for liabilities managed and measured at fair value, provided that such management is based on a
formally documented risk management policy or investment strategy, and that internal monitoring also relies on a fair
value measurement.
This circumstance mainly arises in connection with Natixis’ capital market activities.
Hybrid financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives (Financial liabilities only)
An embedded derivative is a component of a financial or non-financial hybrid (combined) instrument that qualifies as a
derivative. It must be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if the hybrid instrument is
not measured at fair value through profit or loss, and if the economic characteristics and risks associated with the
derivative are not closely related to those of the host contract.
The fair value option may be applied to a financial liability when the embedded derivative(s) substantially modify the
cash flows of the host contract and when the separate recognition of the embedded derivative(s) is not specifically
prohibited by IFRS 9 (e.g. an early redemption option at cost embedded in a debt instrument). The option allows the
entire instrument to be measured at fair value, and therefore avoids the need to extract, recognize or separately
measure the embedded derivative.
This accounting treatment applies in particular to some structured debt issues containing material embedded
derivatives.

3.1.8 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
A derivative is a financial instrument or other contract with all three of the following characteristics:
•

its value changes in response to the change in a specific interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price,
foreign exchange rate, index of prices or rates, credit rating or credit index, or other variable, provided that, in the
case of a non-financial variable, this variable may not be specific to one of the parties to the contract;

•

it requires no initial net investment or an initial net investment that is smaller than would be required for other
types of contracts that would be expected to have a similar response to changes in market factors; and

•

it is settled at a future date.

All derivative financial instruments are recognized on the balance sheet at the trade date and measured at fair value at
inception. They are remeasured at their fair value at each balance sheet date regardless of whether they were
acquired for trading or hedging purposes.
Changes in the fair value of derivatives are recognized in income for the period, except for derivatives qualifying as
cash flow hedges for accounting purposes or as net investment hedges in a foreign currency.
Derivative financial instruments are classified into the following two categories:
Trading derivatives
Trading derivatives are recognized on the balance sheet under “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”
and “Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.” Realized and unrealized gains and losses are taken to
income on the “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” line.
Hedging derivatives
The hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if, at the inception of the hedge, there is formal documentation
of the hedging relationship identifying the hedging strategy, the type of risk hedged, the designation and
characteristics of the hedged item and the hedging instrument. In addition, the effectiveness of the hedge must be
demonstrated at inception and subsequently verified.
Derivatives contracted as part of a hedging relationship are designated according to the purpose of the hedge.
As indicated above, Groupe BPCE used the option available in IFRS 9 not to apply the provisions of the standard
relative to hedge accounting, and to continue to apply IAS 39 for the recognition of these transactions, as adopted by
the European Union, i.e., excluding certain provisions relating to macro-hedging.

FAIR VALUE HEDGES

Fair value hedges are intended to reduce exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset or liability carried on the
balance sheet, or a firm commitment, in particular the interest rate risk on fixed-rate assets and liabilities.
The gain or loss on the revaluation of hedging instruments is recognized in income in the same manner as the gain or
loss on the hedged item attributable to the risk being hedged. The ineffective portion of the hedge, if any, is recorded
in the income statement under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss.”
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Accrued interest on the hedging instrument is taken to income in the same manner as the accrued interest on the
hedged item.
Where identified assets or liabilities are hedged, the revaluation of the hedged component is recognized on the same
line of the balance sheet as the hedged item.
The ineffective portion relating to the dual-curve valuation of collateralized derivatives is taken into account when
calculating the effectiveness of a hedge.
If a hedging relationship ceases (investment decision, failure to fulfill effectiveness criteria, or because the hedged
item is sold before maturity), the hedging instrument is transferred to the trading book. The revaluation difference
recorded in the balance sheet in respect of the hedged item is amortized over the residual life of the initial hedge. If
the hedged item is sold before maturity or redeemed early, the cumulative amount of the revaluation gain or loss is
recognized in income for the period.
CASH FLOW HEDGES

The purpose of cash flow hedges is to hedge the exposure to the variability of cash flow that is attributable to a
particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or with a future transaction (hedge of interest rate risk on
floating-rate assets or liabilities, hedge of conditions relating to future transactions such as future fixed interest rates,
future prices, exchange rates, etc.).
The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is deemed to be an effective hedge is recognized on a
separate line of “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity.” The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the
hedging instrument is recorded in the income statement under “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss.”
Accrued interest on the hedging instrument is taken to income under interest income in the same manner as the
accrued interest on the hedged item.
The hedged items are accounted for using the treatment applicable to their specific asset category.
If a hedging relationship ceases (because the hedge no longer meets the effectiveness criteria, the derivative is sold or
the hedged item ceases to exist), the cumulative amounts recognized in equity are transferred to the income
statement as and when the hedged item impacts profit or loss, or immediately if the hedged item ceases to exist.
SPECIFIC CASES OF PORTFOLIO HEDGING (MACRO-HEDGING)

Documentation as cash flow hedges
Some Group institutions document their macro-hedges on cash flows (hedging of portfolios of loans or borrowings).
In this case, portfolios of assets or liabilities that may be hedged are, for each maturity band:
•

floating-rate assets and liabilities; the entity incurs a risk of variability in future cash flows from floating-rate assets
or liabilities insofar as future interest rate levels are not known in advance;

•

future transactions deemed to be highly probable (forecasts): assuming total outstandings remain constant, the
entity is exposed to the risk of variability in future cash flows on future fixed-rate loans insofar as the interest rate
at which the loan will be granted is not yet known. Similarly, the Group may be exposed to the risk of variability in
future cash flows on the funding that it will need to raise in the market.

Under IAS 39, hedges of an overall net position of fixed rate assets and fixed rate liabilities with similar maturities do
not qualify for hedge accounting. The hedged item is therefore deemed to be equivalent to a share of one or more
portfolios of identified variable-rate instruments (portion of deposit outstandings or variable-rate loans); the
effectiveness of the hedges is measured by creating a mortgage instrument for each maturity band and comparing its
changes in fair value from inception to those for the documented hedging derivatives.
The characteristics of this instrument model those of the hedged item. Effectiveness is then assessed by comparing
the changes in value of the hypothetical instrument with the actual hedging instrument. This method requires the
preparation of a maturity schedule.
The effectiveness of the hedge must be shown prospectively and retrospectively.
The hedge is effective prospectively if, for each target maturity band, the nominal amount of items to be hedged is
higher than the notional amount of the hedging instruments.
The retrospective test calculates the retrospective effectiveness of a hedge initiated at various balance sheet dates.
At each balance sheet date, changes in the fair value of hedging instruments, excluding accrued interest, are
compared with those of hypothetical instruments. The ratio of their respective changes should be between 80% and
125%.
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If the hedged item is sold or the future transaction is no longer highly probable, the cumulative unrealized gain or loss
recognized in equity is transferred immediately to income.
When the hedging relationship ceases, if the hedged item is still shown on the balance sheet, or if it is still highly
probable, unrealized cumulative gains and losses are recognized in equity on a straight-line basis. If the derivative has
not been canceled, it is reclassified as a trading derivative, and changes in its fair value are recognized in income.
Documentation as fair value hedges
Some of the Group’s institutions document their macro-hedging of interest rate risk as fair value hedges by applying
the so-called carve-out arrangements under IAS 39 as adopted by the European Union.
The version of IAS 39 adopted for use by the European Union does not include certain hedge accounting provisions
that appear incompatible with the strategies implemented by European banks to reduce their overall exposure to
interest rate risk. In particular, this “carve-out” allows the Group to make use of hedge accounting for interbank
interest rate risk on customer transactions at fixed rates (loans, savings accounts and demand deposits). The Group
mainly uses plain vanilla interest rate swaps designated at inception as fair value hedges of fixed-rate deposits or
loans.
Macro-hedging derivatives are accounted for in the same manner as derivatives used to hedge the fair value of specific
transactions (micro-hedging).
In a macro-hedging relationship, gains and losses on the revaluation of the hedged item are recorded in “Revaluation
differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios,” under balance sheet assets for hedges of a portfolio of financial
assets and under balance sheet liabilities for hedges of a portfolio of financial liabilities.
The hedges are deemed effective if the derivatives offset the interest rate risk on the underlying fixed-rate portfolio.
The ineffective portion relating to the dual-curve valuation of collateralized derivatives is taken into account.
Effectiveness is tested in two ways:
•

asset-based testing: for plain vanilla swaps designated as hedging instruments at inception, the Group verifies
prospectively at the date the hedging relationship is designated and retrospectively at each balance sheet date that
no over-hedging exists;

•

quantitative testing: for other swaps, the change in the fair value of the actual swap must offset the changes in the
fair value of a hypothetical instrument that exactly reflects the underlying hedged item. These tests are conducted
prospectively at the date the instrument is designated as a hedge and retrospectively at each balance sheet date.

If a hedging relationship ceases, the revaluation adjustment is amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining
term of the initial hedge, if the hedged item has not been derecognized. It is taken directly to income if the hedged
item is no longer recorded in the balance sheet. In particular, derivatives used for macro-hedging may be disqualified
for hedge accounting purposes when the notional amount of the hedged items falls below the nominal amount of the
hedging instruments, for example in the case of the prepayment of loans or the withdrawal of deposits.
NET INVESTMENT HEDGE IN A FOREIGN CURRENCY

The net investment in a foreign operation is the amount of the investment held by the consolidating entity in the net
assets of the operation.
The purpose of a net investment hedge in a foreign currency is to minimize the foreign exchange effect for a
consolidating entity of an investment in an entity whose functional currency is different from the presentation currency
of the consolidating entity’s financial statements. Net investment hedges are accounted for in the same manner as
cash flow hedges.
Unrealized gains and losses initially recognized in equity are taken to income when the net investment is sold in full or
in part (or when partially sold with loss of control).

3.1.9 Determination of fair value
General principles
The fair value of an instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in a
standard arm’s length transaction between market participants at the measurement date.
Fair value is therefore determined using the exit price.
On first recognition, fair value is usually the transaction price and is thus the price paid to purchase the asset or the
price received to assume the liability.
In subsequent measurements, the estimated fair value of assets and liabilities must be based primarily on observable
market data, while ensuring that all inputs used in the fair value calculation are consistent with the price that market
participants would use in a transaction.
In this case, fair value consists of a mid-market price and additional valuation adjustments determined according to
the instruments in question and the associated risks.
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The mid-market price is obtained based on:
•

the instrument’s quoted price, if the instrument is quoted on an active market. A financial instrument is regarded
as quoted on an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer,
broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and these prices represent actual and regularly
occurring transactions on the principal market or, failing that, on the most favorable market, on an arm’s length
basis;

•

if the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is established using valuation techniques. The
techniques used must maximize the use of relevant observable entry data and minimize the use of non-observable
entry data. They may refer to observable data from recent transactions, the fair value of similar instruments,
discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models, proprietary models in the case of hybrid instruments or
non-observable data when no pricing or market data are available.

Additional valuation adjustments include factors related to valuation uncertainties, such as market, credit and liquidity
risks, in order to recognize the costs incurred by a divestment transaction on the primary market. Likewise, an
adjustment (Funding Valuation Adjustment – FVA) for using assumptions to recognize costs related to the financing of
future cash flows of uncollateralized or partially collateralized derivatives is also recorded.
The main additional adjustments are as follows:
BID/ASK ADJUSTMENT – LIQUIDITY RISK

This adjustment is the difference between the bid price and the ask price corresponding with the selling costs. It
reflects the cost requested by a market player in respect of the risk of acquiring a position or of selling at a price
proposed by another market player.
MODEL UNCERTAINTY ADJUSTMENT

This adjustment takes into account imperfections in the valuation techniques used, and in particular risk factors not
considered even though observable market inputs are available. This is the case when the risks inherent in the
instruments differ from those incurred by the observable market data used to determine their valuation.
INPUT UNCERTAINTY ADJUSTMENT

Observing certain prices or inputs used in valuation techniques may be difficult or the price or input may be too
regularly unavailable to determine the selling price. Under these circumstances, an adjustment may be necessary to
reflect the probability that market participants might adopt different values for the same inputs when evaluating the
financial instrument’s fair value.
CREDIT VALUATION ADJUSTMENT (CVA)

This adjustment applies to valuations that do not account for the counterparty’s credit quality. It corresponds to the
risk of loss linked to the risk of default by a counterparty and aims to take into account the fact that the Group may
not recover the full market value of the transactions.
The method for determining the CVA is primarily based on the use of market inputs in connection with professional
market practices, for all segments of counterparties subject to this calculation. In the absence of liquid market inputs,
proxies by type of counterparty, rating and geographic area are used.
DEBIT VALUATION ADJUSTMENT (DVA) AND FUNDING VALUATION ADJUSTMENT (FVA)

The DVA is symmetrical to the CVA and represents the risk of loss, from the counterparty’s perspective, on liability
valuations of financial instruments. It reflects the impact of the Group’s credit quality on the valuation of these
instruments. The DVA is assessed by observing the Group’s “credit” market input. At Natixis, the main contributor for
the Group, this involves the observation of the credit spreads of a sample of comparable banking institutions, taking
into account the liquidity of the spread on Natixis’ CDS during the period. The DVA adjustment is established after
taking into account the funding valuation adjustment (FVA).
The following criteria are used to determine whether or not a market is active:
•

the level of activity and trend of the market (including the level of activity on the primary market);

•

the length of historical data on prices observed in similar market transactions;

•

scarcity of prices recovered by a service provider;

•

sharp bid-ask price spread;

•

steep price volatility over time or between different market participants.
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NATIXIS’ CONTROL SYSTEM (NATIXIS IS THE MAIN CONTRIBUTOR TO THE GROUP’S BALANCE SHEET ITEMS
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE)

The calculation of fair value is subject to control procedures aimed at verifying that fair values are determined or
validated by an independent function.
Fair values determined by reference to external quoted prices or market inputs are validated by an independent unit
(the Market Data Control department). Second-level controls are carried out by the Risk department.
On less liquid markets, other market information, primarily observable data, is used to validate the fair value of
instruments.
The factors taken into account include the following:
•

the origin of the external source (stock market pages, content contribution services, etc.);

•

the consistency of the various sources;

•

the frequency of data feeds;

•

the representative nature of inputs based on recent market transactions.

For fair values determined using valuation models, the control system consists of the independent validation of model
construction and of the inputs included in these models.
This is carried out under the responsibility of the Risk department.
It involves verifying that the model is consistent with and relevant to its intended function (price setting, valuation,
coverage, measurement and control of risk) and the product to which it applies, based on:
•

a theoretical approach: the financial and mathematical foundations of the model;

•

the application of the model: the pricing models used to generate risk and earnings data;

•

the stability of the model under parametric stress;

•

an assessment of the stability and consistency of the numerical methods used;

•

the independent re-implementation of the model as part of algorithm validation;



the comparative analysis of the calibration of model inputs;



an assessment of the modeling risk, particularly the comparative analysis of the model with other valuation
models, in order to ensure the adequacy of the model and the payoff (the formula of positive or negative flows
attached to the product at maturity);



the implementation of an adjustment in respect of modeling risk to account for potential deficiencies in the model
or its calibration;

•

the incorporation of the model into information systems.

The methods for determining fair value are monitored by a number of bodies including the Inputs and Observability
Committee, the Valuation Committee, the Impairment Committee and the Model Validation Committee, which
comprise representatives of the Risk Department, the Finance Department and the Market Data Monitoring and
Valuation Department.

Fair value hierarchy
For financial reporting purposes, IFRS 13 requires fair value measurements applied to financial and non-financial
instruments to be allocated to one of three fair value levels:
LEVEL 1: VALUATION USING PRICES QUOTED ON A LIQUID MARKET

Level 1 comprises instruments whose fair value is determined based on directly usable prices quoted on active
markets.
This mainly includes securities listed on a stock exchange or traded continuously on other active markets, derivatives
traded on organized markets (futures, options, etc.) whose liquidity can be demonstrated, and units of UCITS for
which NAV is determined and reported on a daily basis.
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LEVEL 2: VALUATION USING OBSERVABLE MARKET INPUTS

Level 2 fair value comprises instruments other than those mentioned in Level 1 fair value and instruments measured
using a valuation technique incorporating inputs that are either directly observable (prices) or indirectly observable
(derived from prices) through to maturity. This mainly includes:
Simple instruments:
Most over-the-counter derivatives, swaps, credit derivatives, forward rate agreements, caps, floors and plain vanilla
options are traded in active markets, i.e. liquid markets in which trades occur regularly.
These instruments are valued using generally accepted models (discounted cash flow method, Black & Scholes model,
interpolation techniques), and on the basis of directly observable inputs.
For these instruments, the extent to which models are used and the observability of inputs has been documented.
Instruments measured using Level 2 inputs also include:
•

securities that are less liquid than those classified as Level 1, whose fair value is determined based on external
prices put forward by a reasonable number of active market makers and which are regularly observable without
necessarily being directly executable (prices mainly taken from contribution and consensus databases); where
these criteria are not met, the securities are classified as Level 3 fair value;

•

securities not quoted on an active market whose fair value is determined based on observable market data (for
example, using market data for listed peers or the earnings multiple method based on techniques widely used in
the market);

•

Greek sovereign securities, whose fair value is recorded under Level 2 given the wide bid-ask price spread on
market prices;

•

shares of UCITS whose NAV is not determined and published on a daily basis but is subject to regular reporting or
which offer observable data from recent transactions;

•

debt securities designated at fair value, mainly by Natixis, and to a lesser extent Crédit Foncier. The methodology
used by Natixis to value the “issuer credit risk” component of issues designated at fair value is based on the
discounting of future cash flows using inputs such as yield curves and revaluation spread. For each issue, this
valuation represents the product of the notional amount outstanding and its sensitivity, taking into account the
existence of calls and the difference between the revaluation spread (based on the BPCE cash reoffer curve at June
30, 2018 as for previous closing dates) and the average issue spread. Changes in own credit risk are generally not
material for issues with an initial maturity of less than one year.

Complex instruments:
Certain hybrid and/or long-maturity financial instruments are measured using a recognized model on the basis of
market inputs derived from observable data such as yield curves, implied volatility layers of options, market consensus
data or active over-the-counter markets.
The main models for determining the fair value of these instruments are described below by type of product:


Equity products: complex products are valued using:
–

market data;

–

a payoff, i.e. the formula of positive or negative flows attached to the product at maturity;

–

a model of changes in the underlying asset.

These products can have single or multiple underlyings or be hybrids (fixed income/equity for example).
The main models used for equity products are local volatility models, local volatility combined with Hull & White
1 factor (H&W1F), Tskew and Pskew.
The local volatility model treats volatility as a function of time and the price of the underlying. Its main property is
that it considers the implied volatility of the option (derived from market data) relative to its exercise price.
The local volatility hybrid model, paired with the H&W1F, consists of pairing the local volatility model described
above with a Hull & White 1 factor type fixed-income model, described below (see fixed-income products).
The Tskew model is a valuation model for mono and multi-underlying options. Its principle is to calibrate the
distribution of the underlying asset or assets at maturity to standard option prices.
The Pskew model is similar to the Tskew model. It is used in particular for simple ratchet equity products such as
capped or floored ratchet products.
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Fixed income products: fixed income products generally have specific characteristics which justify the choice of
model. Underlying risk factors associated with the payoff are taken into account.
The main models used to value and manage fixed-income products are Hull & White models (one-factor and twofactor models or one-factor Hull & White stochastic volatility model), the Hunt Kennedy model and the “smiled”
BGM model.
The Hull & White models are simple pricing models for plain vanilla fixed-income products and can be calibrated
easily. Products valued using these models generally contain a Bermudan-type cancellation option (i.e. one that
may be exercised at certain dates set at the beginning of the contract).
SBGM and Hunt Kennedy models are used to value fixed-income products that are sensitive to volatility smiles
(i.e. implied change in volatility relative to the exercise price) and to autocorrelation (or correlation between
interest rates).



Foreign exchange products: foreign exchange products generally have specific characteristics which justify the
choice of model.

The main models used to value and manage foreign-exchange products are local and stochastic volatility models, as
well as hybrid models, which combine modeling of the underlying foreign exchange with two Hull & White 1 factor
models to ascertain the fixed-income factors.
Inputs relating to all such Level 2 instruments were demonstrated to be observable and documented. From a
methodology perspective, observability is based on four inseparable criteria:
•

inputs are derived from external sources (primarily a recognized contributor, for example);

•

they are updated periodically;

•

they are representative of recent transactions;

•

their characteristics are identical to the characteristics of the transaction. If necessary, a proxy may be used,
provided that the relevance of such an arrangement is demonstrated and documented.

The fair value of instruments obtained using valuation models is adjusted to take account of liquidity risk (bid-ask),
counterparty risk, the risk relating to the cost of financing uncollateralized or partially collateralized derivatives, own
credit risk (measurement of liability derivative positions), and modeling and input risk.
The margin generated when these instruments begin trading is immediately recognized in income.
LEVEL 3: VALUATION USING UNOBSERVABLE MARKET INPUTS

Level 3 comprises instruments measured using unrecognized models and/or models based on unobservable market
data, where they are liable to materially impact the valuation. This mainly includes:
•

unlisted shares whose fair value could not be determined using observable inputs;

•

private equity securities not listed on an active market, measured at fair value with models commonly used by
market participants, in accordance with International Private Equity Valuation (IPEV) standards, but which are
sensitive to market fluctuations and whose fair value determination necessarily involves a judgment call;

•

structured securities or securities representative of private placements, held by the Insurance business line;

•

hybrid interest rate and currency derivatives and credit derivatives that are not classified in Level 2;

•

loans in the syndication process for which there is no secondary market price;



loans in the securitization process for which fair value is determined based on an expert appraisal;

•

instruments with a deferred day-one margin;

•

units of UCITS for which the fund has not published a recent NAV at the valuation date, or for which there is a lockup period or any other constraint calling for a significant adjustment to available market prices (NAV, etc.) in
respect of the low liquidity observed for such shares;

•

instruments carried at fair value on the balance sheet and for which data are no longer available due to a freeze in
trading in the wake of the financial crisis. When there is a significant drop in trading in a given market, a valuation
model is used based on the only available relevant data.

Plain vanilla derivatives are also classified as Level 3 fair value when exposure is beyond the liquidity horizon
determined by underlying currencies or by volatility surface (e.g., certain foreign currency options and volatility
caps/floors).

In accordance with the Ministerial Order of February 20, 2007, as amended by the Order of November 23, 2011 on
capital requirements for credit institutions and investment companies and pursuant to the European regulation of
June 26, 2013 (CRR) on the Basel III requirements, for each of the models used, a description of crisis simulations
applied is provided in Chapter 3 “Risk Management.”
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Under IFRS 9, day-one profit should be recognized only if it is generated by a change in the factors that market
participants would consider in setting a price, i.e. only if the model and parameters input into the valuation are
observable.
If the selected valuation model is not recognized by current market practices, or if one of the inputs significantly
affecting the instrument’s valuation is not observable, the trading profit on the trade date cannot be recognized
immediately in the income statement. It is taken to income on a straight-line basis over the life of the transaction or
until the date the inputs become observable. Any losses incurred at the trade date are immediately recognized in
income.
At June 30, 2018, instruments for which the recognition of day-one profit/loss has been deferred mainly included:
•

multi-underlying structured equity and index products;

•

synthetic loans;

•

options on funds (multi-assets and mutual funds);

•

structured fixed income products;

•

securitization swaps.

These instruments are almost all located at Natixis.
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The table below provides the main unobservable inputs and the value ranges for these instruments:
Class of instrument

Main types of products
comprising Level 3
within the instrument
class

Valuation techniques used

Main unobservable data

Unobservable data ranges among
relevant Level 3 products

Tec hnique for estimating defaults given
the c orrelation effec t and rec overy
modeling

Correlation c urve spec ific to the
portfolio underlying the CDO

[5%-95%] (a)

Extrapolation from pric es based on
rec overy assumptions

Rec overy rate

[60%-100%]

Disc ounted expec ted c ash flows based on
early redemption assumptions on the
underlying portfolio

Early redemption rate

[2%-17%]

Interest rate options valuation models

Mean reversion inputs

[1%-5%]

Model representing several yield c urve
fac tors

Mean reversion spread

[0%-30%]

Bivariate standard model to measure the
time value of Spread Loc k options and
replic ation for CMS and TEC Forwards

Spread Loc k c urve, TEC Forward
volatility and TEC-CMS
c orrelation

Spread Loc k:
[-25.72 bp, +31.28 bp]
TEC Volatility:
[12 bp/74 bp]
TEC-CMS c orrelation:
[50%, 90%]

Volatility c ap/floor

Blac k & Sc holes model

Interest rate vol. for c urrenc ies
absent from Totem or long
maturities

Interest rate vol.: [4.82% to 101.36%]

European barrier c all
option,
Asian c all option,
Vanilla digital c all option,
Vanilla European c all
option

Skew Model, Interest rate vol. for c urrent pairs
Loc al volatility model,
absent from Totem or long
Blac k & Sc holes
maturities

ATM vol.: [0.61% to 24%]

CDOs, Index tranc he
Credit derivatives

Private Financ e Initiative
CDS (other than CDS on
sec uritization assets)
Sec uritization swaps
Stic ky CMS/Volatility
Bond
Callable Spread Options
and Corridor Callable
Spread Options

Interest rate derivatives
Spread Loc k Swap and
Spread Loc k Option

Currenc y derivatives

Repos and general c ollateral
TRS

Helvetix derivatives

Fund-based derivatives

Hybrid interest rate/c urrenc y
derivatives
Hybrid equity/interest
rate/forex derivatives

Hybrid interest rate/c redit
derivatives
Equity derivatives

Synthetic modeling of underlying general
TRS and repos indexed to
basket (with repo to estimate) and
a basket of general
ac tuarial valuation for TRS or using a
equities
standard equity/interest rate hybrid model
for the TRS auto c all
Strips of long-term
options, Strips of quanto
Blac k & Sc holes model
options, Strips of digital
options
Options spread and
Gaussian c opula
Digital options spread
Payoffs as Target
Volatility strategy and
CPPI on Mutual Funds
Long-term
PRDC/PRDKO/TARN
struc tures
Long-dated c allable
range ac c rual notes
(15Y) on several asset
c lasses
Long-dated interest rate
and c redit c allable range
ac c rual notes (15Y)
(default event)
Long maturity multiunderlying payoffs

Repo c urve of general baskets

Currenc y/c urrenc y c orrelation
USD/CHF & EUR/CHF long-term
volatility

The approac h used is a hybrid model that
c ombines the loc al volatility-type multiunderlying equity model with a one-fac tor Fund data
Heath-Jarrow-Morton (HJM1F) interest
rate model

General c ollateral repo:
[-0.78% to 1.5%]
EUR/CHF c orrelation: [29%; 41%]
Long-term volatility: [4.7%; 9.5%]
USD/CHF c orrelation: [-76%; -68%]
Long-term volatility: [3.8%-11.8%]

Fund c orrelation - Interest rates: [0% to
25%]

Hybrid c urrenc y/interest rate options
valuation model

Correlation between c urrenc y and
interest rates and long-term
volatility levels

Hybrid models c oupled with equity, forex
and interest rate diffusion

Correlation inputs (equity-forex,
equity-interest rates, interest
rates-forex)

AUD/JPY and USD/JPY c orrelation: [15%50%]
Long-term volatility: [7%-16%]
EQ/FX= [-21.51%, 51%]
EQ/IR= [27%, 41%]
FX/IR= [19%, 35%]

Hybrid models c oupled with interest rate
diffusion and c redit diffusion

Correlation inputs (interest ratec redit and volatility-c redit)

Interest rate/Credit c orrelation: [-15%,
3%]
Credit vol: Struc tured by maturity
([2Y,77.5%],[5Y, 44%],[10Y, 36%])

Volatility options valuation model
inc orporating c orrelation between assets

Correlation inputs

Stoc k/stoc k c orrelation: [14.18 to 92.39]

Policy concerning fair value hierarchy transfers
Transfers between fair value levels are reviewed and validated by ad hoc committees at Natixis comprising
representatives of various functions, particularly Finance, Risk and Business Lines. The committee considers various
indicators of market activity and liquidity as described in the General Principles.
A review is undertaken for any instrument that ceases to meet these criteria or once again complies with the criteria.
Transfers to and from Level 3 are subject to prior validation.
At December 31, 2017, in accordance with this procedure, certain foreign currency options, along with volatility
caps/floors, were transferred to Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy depending in their liquidity horizons, determined by
underlying currencies (see Note 4.3.3).
Instruments affected by the financial crisis
Instruments affected by the financial crisis and carried at fair value on the balance sheet are essentially held by
Natixis, which calculates their fair value using the models described below:
CDS CONTRACTED WITH CREDIT ENHANCERS (MONOLINE INSURERS AND CDPCS)

Since December 31, 2015 the valuation model used to measure write-downs on CDS contracted with monoline
insurers has been similar to the Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA) used for counterparty risk. It also takes into
account the expected amortization of exposures and the counterparty spread implicit in market data.
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OTHER INSTRUMENTS NOT EXPOSED TO US HOUSING RISK MEASURED BY NATIXIS USING A VALUATION MODEL

The section below describes the underlying principles used to value assets resulting from securitization transactions for
which no market prices could be identified and which were therefore measured using valuation models:
Trust Preferred Securities (TruPS) CDOs
The valuation model is based on projected future cash flows and default rates determined according to a statistical
approach that deduces the default probability of banks according to their financial ratios. For other sectors, default
rates are estimated considering the current ratings of assets.
Private Finance Initiative CDS (PFI CDS)
The valuation model used for Private Finance Initiative (PFI) CDS is based on an approach calibrated to the market
prices of underlying PFI bonds and the use of a uniform collection rate.

3.1.10 Impairment or provision for expected credit losses on financial instruments
Impairment of assets at amortized cost and at fair value through other comprehensive income, and
provisioning of loan and guarantee commitments
Debt instruments classified as financial assets at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income,
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not recognized at fair value through profit or loss, as well
as lease receivables, are impaired or covered by a provision for expected credit losses (ECL) as of the date of initial
recognition.
For financial instruments which have not been individually subject to objective evidence of loss, impairments or
provisions for expected credit losses are recorded based on observed past losses but also on reasonable and justifiable
discounted future cash flow forecasts. These financial instruments are divided into three categories depending on the
increase in credit risk observed since their initial recognition. An impairment or a provision is recognized on
outstanding amounts in each category, as follows:
Stage 1 (S1)




these are performing loans for which credit risk has not increased materially since the initial recognition of the
financial instrument;
the impairment or the provision for credit risk corresponds to 12-month expected credit losses;
interest income is recognized through profit or loss based on the effective interest rate method applied to the
gross carrying amount of the instrument before impairment.

Stage 2 (S2)




performing loans for which credit risk has increased materially since the initial recognition of the financial
instrument are transferred to this category;
the impairment or the provision for credit risk is determined on the basis of the financial instrument’s lifetime
expected credit losses;
interest income is recognized through profit or loss based on the effective interest rate method applied to the
gross carrying amount of the instrument before impairment.

Stage 3 (S3)






non-performing loans within the meaning of IFRS 9 are transferred to this category. These are loans for which
there is objective evidence of impairment loss due to an event which represents a credit risk occurring after the
initial recognition of the instrument in question. This category covers, as was the case under IAS 39, receivables
for which an event of default has been identified as defined in Article 178 of the EU regulation of June 26, 2013 on
prudential requirements for credit institutions;
the impairment or the provision for credit risk is calculated based on the financial instrument's lifetime expected
credit losses on the basis of the recoverable amount of the receivable, i.e., the present value of estimated
recoverable future cash flows taking into account the impact of any collateral;
interest income is recognized through profit or loss based on the effective interest rate method applied to the net
carrying amount of the instrument after impairment.

The standard also makes a distinction between purchased or originated credit-impaired (POCI) financial instruments,
which correspond to financial assets purchased or created and already impaired for credit risk at their initial
recognition and for which the entity does not expect to recover all of the contractual cash flows at the date of initial
recognition. On initial recognition, the effective interest rate must be adjusted based on credit quality: estimated
recoverable cash flows take expected credit losses into account. These recoverable cash flows will be re-estimated by
the entity at each reporting date. Any change relative to the level of recoverable cash flows estimated on the initial
recognition date will result in the recognition of an impairment charge or reversal in income and will not affect the
effective interest rate. These assets will be categorized as Stage 3 on initial recognition, with the option of being
transferred to Stage 2 if their credit risk improves.
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For operating lease or lease financing receivables – which fall within the scope of IAS 17 – that are not impaired, the
group has decided not to make use of the option of applying the simplified approach proposed by IFRS 9 §5.5.15
which involves measuring lifetime expected credit losses so as to not have to identify the significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition.
The principles for measuring the increase in credit risk and expected credit losses applicable to most of the Group's
exposures are described below. Only BPCE International and a few Group institution portfolios – representing a limited
volume of exposures – cannot be treated according to the methods described below and are subject to appropriate
valuation techniques.
Other than these few exceptions, the significant increase in credit risk is valued on an individual basis by taking into
account all reasonable and justifiable information and by comparing the default risk on the financial instrument at the
end of the fiscal year with the default risk on the financial instrument at the date of its initial recognition. A
counterparty-based approach (applying the contagion principle to all loans to the counterparty in question) will also be
possible if it gives similar results. The measurement of the increase in the risk should, in most cases, lead to the
recognition of an increase in Stage 2 before the transaction is individually impaired (Stage 3).
More specifically, the change in credit risk is measured on the basis of the following criteria:
-

-

-

Individual Customer, Professional Customer, SME, Public Sector and Social Housing loan books: the
measurement of the increase in credit risk relies on a combination of quantitative and qualitative criteria. The
quantitative criterion is based on the measurement of the change in the probability of default within one year
since initial recognition (probability of default measured as a cycle average). Complementary qualitative
criteria are used to classify as Stage 2 all contracts with payments more than 30 days past due, rated at-risk,
included on a watch list or undergoing adjustments due to financial hardship (forbearance);
For the Large Corporates, Banks and Sovereigns loan books, the quantitative criterion is based on the level of
variation in the rating since initial recognition. The same qualitative criteria as for Individual Customers,
Professional Customers and SMEs apply, as do complementary criteria based on the change in sector rating
and the level of country risk;
For Specialized Financing, the criteria applied vary according to the characteristics of the exposures and the
related ratings system: exposures rated by the tool dedicated to large exposures will be treated in the same
way as Large Corporates; other exposures will be treated in the same way as SMEs.

For all these loan books, the ratings on which the measurement of the increase in risk relies correspond to the ratings
produced by internal systems when they are available, as well as on external ratings, particularly when an internal
rating is not available.
The standard provides that the credit risk of a financial instrument has not increased materially since its initial
recognition if this risk is considered to be low at the end of the fiscal year. This provision is applied to certain
investment-grade debt securities held by Corporate & Investment Banking.
Financial assets where there is objective evidence of impairment loss due to an event which represents a known
counterparty risk and which occurs after their initial recognition are considered as impaired and are classified as
Stage 3. Identification criteria for impaired assets are similar to those under IAS 39 and are aligned with the default
criterion in prudential terms.
Accordingly, loans and receivables are considered as impaired and are classified as Stage 3 if the following two
conditions are met:




there is objective evidence of impairment on an individual or portfolio basis: there are “triggering events” or “loss
events” identifying counterparty risk occurring after the initial recognition of the loans in question. On an
individual basis, probable credit risk arises from default events defined in Article 178 of European regulation 5752013 dated June 26, 2013 on prudential requirements for credit institutions. Objective evidence of impairment
includes any payments that are past due by at least three months, or regardless of whether any payment has
been missed, the observation of financial hardship experienced by the counterparty leading to the expectation that
some or all of the amounts owed may not be recovered or to the initiation of legal proceedings;
these events are liable to lead to the recognition of incurred credit losses, that is, expected credit losses for which
the probability of occurrence has become certain.

Debt instruments such as bonds or securitized transactions (ABS, CMBS, RMBS, cash CDOs) are considered impaired
and are classified as Stage 3 when there is a known counterparty risk.
The Group uses the same impairment indicators for Stage 3 debt securities as those used for individually assessing the
impairment risk on loans and receivables, irrespective of the portfolio to which the debt securities are ultimately
designated. For perpetual deeply subordinated notes that meet the definition of financial liabilities within the meaning
of IAS 32, particular attention is also paid if, under certain conditions, the issuer may be unable to pay the coupon or
extend the issue beyond the scheduled redemption date.
Impairments for expected credit losses on Stage 3 financial assets are determined as the difference between the
amortized cost and the recoverable amount of the receivable, i.e., the present value of estimated recoverable future
cash flows, whether these cash flows come from the counterparty's activity or from the potential activation of
guarantees. For short-term assets (maturity of less than one year), there is no discounting of future cash flows.
Impairment is determined globally, without distinguishing between interest and principal. Expected credit losses
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arising from Stage 3 off-balance sheet commitments are taken into account through provisions recognized on the
liability side of the balance sheet. Specific impairment is calculated for each receivable on the basis of the maturity
schedules determined based on historic recoveries for each category of receivable.
For the purposes of measuring expected credit losses, pledged assets and other credit enhancements that form an
integral part of the contractual conditions of the instrument and that the entity does not recognize separately are
taken into account in the estimate of expected cash flow shortfalls.
Expected credit losses on financial instruments classified as Stage 1 or Stage 2 are measured as the product of several
inputs:
-

-

Flows expected over the lifetime of the financial instrument, discounted on the valuation date - these flows are
determined according to the characteristics of the contract, its effective interest rate and the level of early
repayment expected on the contract;
Loss given default (LGD);
Probabilities of default (PDs), for the coming year in the case of Stage 1 financial instruments and until the
contract’s maturity in the case of Stage 2 financial instruments.

The Group draws on existing concepts and mechanisms to define these inputs, and in particular on internal models
developed to calculate regulatory capital requirements and on projection models used in the stress test system.
Certain adjustments are made to comply with the specifics of IFRS 9:
-

-

-

IFRS 9 parameters therefore aim to provide an accurate estimate of expected credit losses for accounting
provision purposes, whereas prudential parameters are more cautious for regulatory framework purposes.
Several of the safety buffers applied to the prudential parameters are therefore restated;
IFRS 9 parameters must allow expected credit losses to be estimated until the contract’s maturity, whereas
prudential parameters are defined to estimate 12-month expected losses. Twelve-month parameters are thus
projected over long periods;
IFRS 9 parameters must be forward-looking and take into account the expected economic environment over the
projection period, whereas prudential parameters correspond to the cycle’s average estimates (for PD) or
bottom-of-the-cycle estimates (for LGD and the flows expected over the lifetime of the financial instrument). The
PD and LGD prudential parameters are therefore also adjusted based on this expected economic environment.

Parameters are adjusted to economic conditions by defining three economic scenarios over a three-year period. The
variables defined in each of these scenarios allow for the distortion of the PD and LGD parameters and the calculation
of an expected credit loss for each economic scenario. Parameters for periods longer than three years are projected on
the principle of a gradual return to their long-term average. The models used to distort the PD and LGD parameters
rely on those developed as part of the stress test system for the purpose of ensuring consistency. These economic
scenarios are associated with probabilities of occurrence, ultimately making it possible to calculate an average
probable loss used as the IFRS 9 impairment amount.
These scenarios are defined using the same organization and governance as that defined for the budget process,
requiring an annual review based on proposals from the economic research department and approval by the Executive
Management Committee. To ensure consistency with the budget scenario, the central scenario corresponds to the
budget scenario. Two variants – an optimistic view and a pessimistic view – are also developed around this scenario.
The likelihood that the scenarios will occur is reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Group's Watch List and Provisions
Committee. The parameters thus defined allow expected credit losses for all rated exposures to be valued, regardless
of whether they belong to a scope approved using an internal method or they are processed using the standard
method for the calculation of risk-weighted assets. Conservative default rules are applied to unrated exposures (the
stakes are not material for the Group). These rules involve assigning the highest rating on the internal scale in the
absence of a rating on approval and the lowest rating on the scale before the at-risk stage in the absence of a rating to
date.
The mechanism for validating IFRS 9 parameters is fully integrated in the validation mechanism for existing models
within the Group. The validation of parameters follows a review process by the independent internal validation of
models unit, the review of this work by the Group model committee and monitoring of recommendations issued by the
validation unit.
Collective provisions may be defined by the different Group institutions, corresponding to “sector” provisions. Group
entities are therefore responsible for assessing the consistency of provisions determined for the Group with the local
and sector characteristics of their portfolio and for defining additional sector provisions if necessary. The few portfolios
not covered by the methodologies described below (not material at the Group level) may also result in collective
measurements.
For debt instruments recognized on the balance sheet in the financial assets at amortized cost category, impairments
are recorded against the line on which the asset was initially shown for its net amount (regardless of whether the
asset is S1, S2 or S3). Impairment charges and reversals are recognized in the income statement under “Cost of credit
risk.”
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For debt instruments recognized on the balance sheet in the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income category, impairments are carried on the liabilities side of the balance sheet at the other comprehensive
income recyclable to income level, with a corresponding entry on the income statement under “Cost of credit risk”
(regardless of whether the asset is S1, S2 or S3).
For loan and financial guarantee commitments given, provisions are recorded on the liabilities side of the balance
sheet under “Provisions” (irrespective of whether the commitment given is S1, S2 or S3). Additions to/reversals from
provisions are recognized in the income statement under “Cost of credit risk.”

3.1.11 Reclassification of financial assets
Fewer financial assets are reclassified under IFRS 9 than under IAS 39. It is therefore no longer possible to reclassify a
security at amortized cost just because of market illiquidity. A reclassification is possible only if management has made
a strategic decision to change the business model. Such cases are therefore very limited (e.g., sale of a business
division resulting in the transfer of the relevant assets to the workout portfolio, business restructuring, etc.).
In that case, the reclassification is forward-looking and does not entail any reclassification that would affect prior
periods.

3.1.12 Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
A financial asset (or group of similar financial assets) is derecognized when the contractual rights to the asset’s future
cash flows have expired or when such rights are transferred to a third party, together with virtually all of the risks and
rewards associated with ownership of the asset. In such case, rights and obligations created or retained as a result of
the transfer are recorded in a separate line under financial assets and liabilities.
When a financial asset is derecognized, a gain or loss on disposal is recorded in the income statement reflecting the
difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the consideration received.
In the event that the Group has neither transferred nor retained virtually all of the risks and rewards, but has retained
control of the asset, the asset continues to be recognized on the balance sheet to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement.
In the event that the Group has neither transferred nor retained virtually all of the risks and rewards and has not
retained control of the asset, the asset is derecognized and all of the rights and obligations created or retained as a
result of the transfer are recorded in a separate line under financial assets and liabilities.
If all the conditions for derecognizing a financial asset are not met, the Group keeps the asset in the balance sheet and
records a liability representing the obligations arising when the asset is transferred.
The Group derecognizes a financial liability (or a part of a financial liability) only when it is extinguished, i.e. when the
obligation specified in the contract is discharged, terminated or expires.
Repurchase agreements
Securities sold under repurchase agreements are not derecognized in the vendor’s accounts. A liability representing
the commitment to return the funds received is identified and recognized under “Securities sold under repurchase
agreements”. This debt is a financial liability recorded at amortized cost or at fair value through profit or loss when this
liability is considered part of a trading business model.
The assets received are not recognized in the purchaser’s books, but a receivable is recorded with respect to the
vendor representing the funds loaned. The amount disbursed in respect of the asset is recognized under “Securities
bought under repurchase agreements”. On subsequent balance sheet dates, the securities continue to be accounted
for by the vendor in accordance with the rules applicable to the category in which they were initially classified. The
receivable is valued according to methods specific to its category: at amortized cost when classified in “Loans and
receivables,” or at fair value through profit or loss when it is considered part of a trading business model.

Outright securities lending
Securities loaned under outright securities lending transactions are not derecognized in the vendor’s accounts. They
continue to be recognized in their original accounting category and are valued accordingly. For the borrower, the
securities borrowed are not recognized.
Transactions leading to substantial changes in financial assets
When an asset is subject to substantial changes (in particular following a renegotiation or a remodeling due to financial
difficulties) there is derecognition, as rights to initial cash flows have essentially expired. The Group considers that this
is the case for:
•

changes leading to a change of counterparty, especially if the new counterparty has a very different credit quality
than the previous counterparty;

•

changes intended to move from a very structured to simple indexing, as the two assets are not exposed to the
same risks.

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 226

Transactions leading to substantial changes in financial liabilities
A substantial change to the terms of a lending instrument must be recorded as the extinguishment of former debt and
its replacement with a new debt. The amendment to IFRS 9 of October 12, 2017 clarified the treatment under IFRS 9
of modifications of liabilities recognized at amortized cost, if the modification does not result in derecognition: the
profit or loss resulting from the difference between the original cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate must be recognized in profit or loss. To assess the substantial nature of the change,
IFRS 9 includes a threshold of 10% based on discounted cash flows, integrating potential costs and fees: when the
difference is greater than or equal to 10%, all of the costs or fees incurred are recognized as profit or loss on debt
extinguishment.
The Group may consider other changes to be substantial, such as a change of issuer (even within the same group) or
a change in currency.

3.1.13 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
In accordance with IAS 32, the Group offsets financial assets and liabilities, and a net balance is presented on the
balance sheet, on the twofold condition that it has the legally enforceable right to offset the recorded amounts, and
the intention either to settle the net amount or to simultaneously realize the asset and settle the liability.
Transactions on derivatives and repurchase agreements carried out with clearing houses, whose operating principles
meet the two criteria mentioned above, are offset in the balance sheet (see Note 4.13).

3.2

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND ASSOCIATED LIABILITIES

Where a decision is made to sell non-current assets and it is highly probable that the sale will occur within 12 months,
these assets are shown separately on the balance sheet on the “Non-current assets held for sale” line. Any liabilities
associated with these assets are also shown separately on the balance sheet on the “Liabilities associated with noncurrent assets held for sale” line.
Once classified in this category, non-current assets are no longer depreciated/amortized and are measured at their
lowest carrying amount or at fair value less sales costs. Financial instruments continue to be measured in accordance
with IFRS 9.

3.3

INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES

Interest income and expenses are recognized in the income statement on all financial instruments measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. The same is true for interest income and expenses relating to
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and to loan commitments, and accrued interest on
hedging derivatives.
Interest income also consists of interest on non-SPPI debt instruments not held under a trading model as well as
interest on the related economic hedges (classified by default as instruments at fair value through profit or loss).
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the
expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
The effective interest rate calculation takes account of all transaction fees paid or received as well as premiums and
discounts. Transaction fees paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of the contract, such
as loan set-up fees and commissions paid to financial partners, are treated as additional interest.
The Group has chosen the following option to account for negative interest:


when income from a financial asset debt instrument is negative, it is deducted from interest income in the income
statement;
when income on a financial liability debt instrument is positive, it is deducted from interest expenses in the
income statement.



3.4

COMMISSIONS ON SERVICES

Commissions are analyzed to separately identify their different items (or performance obligations) and to assign the
appropriate share of revenues to each item. Each item is then recorded in the income statement by type of service
provided, and according to the method used to recognize the associated financial instrument:
•

commissions payable on recurring services are deferred over the period in which the service is provided (payment
processing, securities deposit fees, etc.);

•

commissions payable on occasional services are recognized in full in income when the service is provided (fund
transfers, payment penalties, etc.);

•

commissions payable on execution of a significant transaction are recognized in full in income on completion of the
transaction.
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When there is some uncertainty about the amount of a commission (incentive fee in asset management, variable
financial engineering commission, etc.), only the amount that the Group is already certain to receive, given the
information available at the end of the fiscal year, is recognized.
Fees and commissions that form an integral part of the effective yield on an instrument, such as fees on loan
commitments given or loan set-up fees, are recognized and amortized as an adjustment to the effective interest rate
over the estimated term of the applicable loan. These fees and commissions are recognized as “Interest income”
rather than “Fee and commission income.”
Fiduciary and similar fees and commissions are those that result in assets being held or invested on behalf of
individual customers, pension schemes or other institutions. Trust-management services mainly cover asset
management business and custody services on behalf of third parties.

3.5

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

The method used to account for assets and liabilities relating to foreign currency transactions entered into by the
Group depends upon whether the asset or liability in question is classified as a monetary or a non-monetary item.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the
Group entity on whose balance sheet they are recognized, at the exchange rate prevailing at the balance sheet date.
All resulting foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in income, except in two cases:
•

only the portion of the foreign exchange gains and losses calculated based on the amortized cost of financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income is recognized in income, with any additional gains and losses
being recognized in “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity”;

•

foreign exchange gains and losses arising on monetary items designated as cash flow hedges or as part of a net
investment in a foreign operation are recognized in “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity.”

Non-monetary assets carried at historical cost are translated using the exchange rate prevailing at the transaction
date. Non-monetary assets carried at fair value are translated using the exchange rate in effect at the date on which
the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange gains and losses on non-monetary items are recognized in income if
gains and losses relating to the items are recorded in income, and in “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity” if
gains and losses relating to the items are recorded in “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity.”

3.6

FINANCE LEASES AND SIMILAR TRANSACTIONS

Leases are analyzed to determine whether in substance and economic reality they are finance leases or operating
leases.

3.6.1 Finance leases
A finance lease is a lease that transfers to the lessee substantially most of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset. It is treated as a loan granted by the lessor to the lessee in order to finance the purchase of an
asset.
IAS 17 gives five examples of situations that lead to a lease being classified as a finance lease:
•

the lease transfers ownership of the asset to the lessee by the end of the lease term;

•

the lease provides the lessee with the option to purchase the asset at a price that is expected to be sufficiently
below the fair value at the date the option becomes exercisable for it to be reasonably certain, at the inception of
the lease, that the option will be exercised;

•

the lease term is for the major part of the economic life of the asset even if there is no transfer of ownership;

•

at the inception of the lease, the present value of the minimum lease payments amounts to at least substantially
all of the fair value of the leased asset; and

•

the leased assets are of such a specialized nature that only the lessee can use them without major modifications.

IAS 17 also describes three indicators that may also individually or collectively lead to a lease being classified as a
finance lease:
•

if the lessee can cancel the lease, and if the lessor’s losses associated with the cancellation are borne by the
lessee;

•

gains or losses from the change in the fair value of the residual value accrue to the lessee; and

•

the lessee has the ability to continue the lease for a secondary period at a rent that is substantially lower than the
market rent.

At the inception of the contract, the finance lease receivable is recorded on the lessor’s balance sheet in an amount
equal to the net investment in the lease, which corresponds to the minimum payments receivable from the lessee
discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease plus any unguaranteed residual value accruing to the lessor.
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IAS 17 requires unguaranteed residual values to be reviewed on a regular basis. If there is a reduction in the
estimated guaranteed residual value, the income allocation over the lease term is revised (calculation of a new
payment schedule) and a charge is recorded in order to correct the financial income already recorded.
Impairments on finance leases are determined in accordance with IFRS 9 using the same method as that described for
financial assets at amortized cost (Note 3.1.10) and are recognized under “Cost of credit risk.”
Finance lease income corresponding to interest is recognized in the income statement under “Interest and similar
income.” It is recognized based on a pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the
finance lease, using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The rate of return implicit in the lease is the discount rate
that makes the following two items equal:
•

the present value of the minimum lease payments receivable by the lessor plus the non-guaranteed residual value;

•

and the initial value of the asset (i.e. fair value at the inception of the lease, plus any direct initial costs comprising
expenses incurred specifically by the lessor to set up the lease).

In the lessee’s financial statements, lease financing agreements with purchase options are treated as the purchase of
an asset financed by a loan.

3.6.2 Operating leases
A lease which is not considered to be a finance lease is automatically classified as an operating lease.
Assets provided under operating leases are shown in the balance sheet under property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets in the case of equipment leases, and investment property in the case of property leases. Lease
income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, under “Income and expenses
from other activities.”

3.7

INSURANCE BUSINESSES

As indicated above, on November 3, 2017, the European Commission adopted the amendment to IFRS 4 applying
IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” with IFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” with specific provisions for financial conglomerates,
applicable as of January 1, 2018.
As Groupe BPCE is a financial conglomerate, it elected to apply this provision to its insurance businesses, which
continue to be covered by IAS 39.
Financial assets and liabilities of insurance businesses are therefore recognized in accordance with the provisions of
IAS 39. They are classified into categories defined by this standard, which calls for specific approaches to
measurement and accounting treatment.
Pending amendments to IFRS 4, insurance liabilities continue to be measured broadly in line with French GAAP.
In accordance with Phase I of IFRS 4, insurance contracts are classified into three categories:
•

policies that expose the insurer to a significant insurance risk within the meaning of IFRS 4: this category
comprises policies covering provident insurance, pensions, property and casualty and unit-linked savings carrying a
minimum guarantee. These policies will continue to be measured under the rules provided under local GAAP for
measuring technical reserves;

•

financial contracts such as savings contracts that do not expose the insurer to a significant insurance risk are
recognized in accordance with IFRS 4 if they contain a discretionary profit-sharing feature, and will continue to be
measured in accordance with the rules for measuring technical reserves provided under local GAAP;

•

financial contracts without a discretionary profit-sharing feature, such as unit-linked policies without a non-unitlinked component and without a minimum guarantee, are accounted for in accordance with IAS 39.

Most financial contracts issued by Group entities contain discretionary profit-sharing features.
The discretionary profit-sharing feature grants life insurance policyholders the right to receive a share of the financial
income generated, in addition to guaranteed benefits. For these contracts, in accordance with shadow accounting
principles defined by IFRS 4, the provision for deferred profit sharing is adjusted to include the policyholders’ share in
the unrealized capital gains or losses on financial instruments measured at fair value in application of IAS 39. The
share of the gains or losses attributable to policyholders is determined on the basis of the characteristics of contracts
likely to generate such gains or losses.
Any change in deferred profit sharing is taken to equity where it results from changes in the value of available-for-sale
financial assets and to income where it arises from changes in the value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.
At each balance sheet date, the Group assesses whether its recognized insurance liabilities are adequate, based on the
estimated present value of future cash flows from its insurance policies and investment contracts containing a
discretionary profit sharing feature. The liability adequacy test shows the economic value of the liabilities
corresponding to the average derived from stochastic analyses. If the sum of the surrender value and deferred profit
sharing is lower than the fair value of the technical reserves, the shortfall is recognized in income.
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Groupe BPCE has decided to apply the option available under ANC recommendation no. 2017-02 of presenting the
insurance businesses separately on the balance sheet and income statement.
The “Insurance business investments” line on the assets side of the balance sheet includes insurance business assets
representative of:
-

financial investments (i.e., in financial instruments) including advances to policyholders;
financial investments in unit-linked products;
derivatives;
revaluation differences on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios.

The other balances related to the insurance business are aggregated with the balances related to the other balance
sheet items by type.

On the liabilities side of the balance sheet, the “Liabilities related to insurance policies” line consists of:
-

the technical reserves of insurance companies (as defined in Appendix A to IFRS 4);
insurance and reinsurance liabilities, including amounts due to policyholders;
insurance-related derivatives;
shares of the revaluation on interest rate risk-hedged portfolios;
the deferred profit-sharing liability.

On the income statement, the “Net income from insurance businesses” line includes:
-

-

-

-

revenues from the insurance businesses, which consist of premiums written and the change in unearned premium
reserves for insurance policies and investment contracts containing a discretionary profit-sharing feature within
the meaning of IFRS 4;
investment income net of expenses:
. investment income including income from investment properties;
. investment expenses, and other financial expenses excluding financing expenses;
. capital gains and losses on the sale of investments including on investment properties;
. depreciation, amortization and impairment reversals on investments (including investment properties) and
other assets (including assets provided under operating leases ), recognized at amortized cost;
. the change in fair value of investments (including investment properties) recognized at fair value through
profit or loss.
amortization of acquisition costs;
the external costs of benefits and claims paid on policies which include paid benefits and claims on insurance
policies and on investment contracts containing a discretionary profit-sharing feature (paid benefits and claims,
changes in technical reserves), including policyholder compensation (deferred profit-sharing), as well as changes
in the value of investment contracts, particularly for unit-linked policies;
income from reinsurance cessions, defined as the sum of ceded premiums, net of ceded claims and benefits paid
and commissions;
where applicable:
. net gains or losses resulting from the derecognition of financial assets at amortized cost;
. net gains or losses resulting from the reclassification of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

3.7.1 Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables due from credit institutions and customers and certain securities not listed in an active market
are recorded in “Insurance business investments.”
Loans and receivables are initially recorded at fair value plus any costs directly related to their issuance, less any
proceeds directly attributable to issuance. On subsequent balance sheet dates, they are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows (payments or receipts) to the
value of the loan at inception. This rate includes any discounts recorded in respect of loans granted at below-market
rates, as well as any external transaction income or costs directly related to the issue of the loans, which are treated
as an adjustment to the effective yield on the loan. No internal cost is included in the calculation of amortized cost.
When loans are extended under conditions that are less favorable than market conditions, a discount corresponding to
the difference between the nominal value of the loan and the sum of future cash flows discounted at the market
interest rate is deducted from the nominal value of the loan. The market interest rate is the rate applied by the vast
majority of local financial institutions at a given time for instruments and counterparties with similar characteristics.
A discount is applied to loans restructured following a loss event as defined by IAS 39, to reflect the difference
between the present value of the contractual cash flows at inception and the present value of expected principal and
interest repayments after restructuring. The discount rate used is the original effective interest rate. This discount is
expensed to “Cost of credit risk” (for the insurer's net share) in the income statement and offset against the
corresponding outstanding on the balance sheet. It is written back to net interest income in the income statement over
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the life of the loan using an actuarial method. The restructured loan is reclassified as performing based on expert
opinion when no uncertainty remains as to the borrower’s capacity to honor the commitment.
External costs consist primarily of commissions paid to third parties in connection with the arrangement of loans. They
essentially comprise commissions paid to business partners.
Income directly attributable to the issuance of new loans principally comprises set-up fees charged to customers,
rebilled costs and commitment fees (if it is more probable than improbable that the loan will be drawn down).
Commitment fees received that will not result in any drawdowns are apportioned on a straight-line basis over the life
of the commitment.
Expenses and income arising on loans with a term of less than one year at inception are deferred on a pro rata basis
with no recalculation of the effective interest rate. For floating or adjustable rate loans, the effective interest rate is
adjusted at each rate refixing date.

3.7.2 Securities
Securities recorded as assets are classified into four categories as defined by IAS 39:
•

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

•

available-for-sale financial assets;

•

loans and receivables;

•

held-to-maturity financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This asset category includes:
•

financial assets held for trading, i.e. securities acquired or issued principally for the purpose of selling them in the
near term; and

•

financial assets that the Group has chosen to recognize at fair value through profit or loss at inception using the
fair value option available under IAS 39.

The qualifying criteria used when applying this option are described in Note 3.7.3 “Financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss.”
These assets are measured at fair value at the date of initial recognition and at each balance sheet date. Changes in
fair value over the period, interest, dividends, gains or losses on disposals on these instruments are recognized in “Net
income from insurance businesses.”
Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are all securities not classified in the other categories.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognized at fair value, plus any transaction costs.
On the balance sheet date, they are carried at their fair value and changes in fair value are recorded under “Gains and
losses recognized directly in equity” (except for foreign currency money-market assets, for which changes in the fair
value of the foreign currency component affect income).
If they are sold, these changes in fair value are taken to income.
Interest income accrued or received on fixed-income securities is recorded under “Net income from insurance
businesses.” Income from variable-income securities is recorded under “Net income from insurance businesses.”
Loans and receivables
The portfolio of loans and receivables included in “Insurance business investments” comprises non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and which are not quoted in an active market. In addition, these assets
must not be exposed to a risk of material losses unrelated to a deterioration in their credit quality.
Some securities not quoted in an active market may be classified in this portfolio. These are initially recognized at fair
value, plus any transaction costs and less any transaction income. Securities classified in this category comply with the
rules for recognition, measurement and impairment applicable to loans and receivables.
When a financial asset recorded under loans and receivables is sold before its maturity, the income from the disposal
is recorded under “Net income from insurance businesses.”
Held-to-maturity financial assets
Held-to-maturity (HTM) financial assets are securities with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the
Group has the intention and ability to hold until maturity.
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IAS 39 does not permit the sale or transfer of these securities before maturity except in certain specific circumstances.
In the event that the securities are sold before maturity, all held-to-maturity assets must be reclassified and the heldto-maturity category cannot be used during the current year or the following two years. Exceptions to the rule apply in
the following cases:
•

a material deterioration in the issuer’s credit quality;

•

a change in tax regulations canceling or significantly reducing the tax exemption on interest earned on investments
held-to-maturity;

•

a major business combination or significant withdrawal of activity (sale of a sector, for example) requiring the sale
or transfer of held-to-maturity investments in order to maintain the entity’s existing situation in terms of interest
rate risk or its credit risk policy;

•

a change in legal or regulatory provisions significantly modifying either the definition of an eligible investment or
the maximum amount of certain types of investment, requiring that the entity dispose of a held-to-maturity asset;

•

a significant increase in capital requirements forcing the entity to restructure by selling held-to-maturity assets;

•

a significant increase in the risk weighting of held-to-maturity assets in terms of prudential capital regulations.

In the exceptional cases described above, the income from the disposal is recorded under “Net income from insurance
businesses.”
The hedging of these securities against interest rate risk is not permitted. However, hedges against exchange rate risk
or the inflation component of certain held-to-maturity financial assets are allowed.
Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognized at fair value at inception, plus any transaction costs directly
attributable to their acquisition. They are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, including any premiums, discounts and acquisition fees, where material.

3.7.3 Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
The amendment to IAS 39 adopted by the European Union on November 15, 2005 allows entities to designate financial
assets and liabilities on initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. However, an entity’s decision to designate
a financial asset or liability at fair value through profit or loss may not be reversed.
Compliance with the criteria stipulated by the standard must be verified prior to any recognition of an instrument using
the fair value option.
In practice, this option may be applied only under the specific circumstances described below:
Elimination of or significant reduction in an accounting mismatch
Applying the option enables the elimination of accounting mismatches stemming from the application of different
valuation rules to instruments managed in accordance with a single strategy. This treatment applies in particular to
unit-linked policy assets and liabilities.
Harmonization of accounting treatment for performance management and measurement
The option applies for a group of assets and/or liabilities managed and measured at fair value, provided that it is
based on a formally documented risk management or investment strategy, and information about the Group is also
reported internally on a fair value basis.
Hybrid financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives
An embedded derivative is a component of a financial or non-financial hybrid (combined) instrument that qualifies as a
derivative. It must be separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if the hybrid instrument is
not measured at fair value through profit or loss, and if the economic characteristics and risks associated with the
derivative are not closely related to those of the host contract.
The fair value option may be applied when the embedded derivative(s) substantially modify the cash flows of the host
contract and when the separate recognition of the embedded derivative(s) is not specifically prohibited by IAS 39 (e.g.
an early redemption option at cost embedded in a debt instrument). The option allows the entire instrument to be
measured at fair value, and therefore avoids the need to extract, recognize or separately measure the embedded
derivative.
This treatment applies in particular to certain financial instruments containing material embedded derivatives
(convertible bonds, indexed bonds and structured securities).

3.7.4 Impairment of financial assets
Impairment of securities
An impairment loss is recognized on an individual basis against securities, with the exception of securities classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, when there is objective evidence of impairment resulting from one
or more loss events having occurred since the initial recognition of the asset.
Different rules are used for the impairment of equity instruments and debt instruments.
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For equity instruments, a lasting decline or a significant decrease in value are objective indicators of depreciation.
A decline of over 50% or lasting for over 36 months in the value of a security by comparison with its historical cost is
an objective indicator of permanent impairment, leading to the recognition of an impairment loss in income.
In addition, these impairment criteria are also supplemented by a line-by-line review of the assets that have recorded
a decline of over 30% or for more than six months in their value by comparison with their historical cost or if events
occur that are liable to represent a material or prolonged decline. An impairment charge is recorded in the income
statement if the Group determines that the value of the asset will not be recovered in its entirety.
For unlisted equity instruments, a qualitative analysis of their situation is carried out.
Impairment losses recognized on equity instruments may not be reversed and nor may they be written back to
income. Losses are recorded under “Net income from insurance businesses.” A subsequent increase in value is taken
to “Gains and losses recognized directly in equity” until disposal of the securities.
Impairment losses are recognized on debt instruments such as bonds or securitized transactions (ABS, CMBS, RMBS,
cash CDOs) when there is a known counterparty risk.
The Group uses the same impairment indicators for debt securities as those used for individually assessing the
impairment risk on loans and receivables, irrespective of the portfolio to which the debt securities are ultimately
designated. For perpetual deeply subordinated notes, particular attention is also paid if, under certain conditions, the
issuer may be unable to pay the coupon or extend the issue beyond the scheduled redemption date.
In the event of an improvement in the issuer’s financial position, impairment losses taken on debt instruments must
be written back to the income statement. Impairment losses and write-backs are recorded in “Cost of credit risk” (for
the insurer’s net share).

Impairment of loans and receivables
IAS 39 defines the methods for calculating and recognizing the impairment of loans.
A loan or receivable is deemed to be impaired if the following two conditions are met:




there is objective evidence of impairment on an individual basis: there are “triggering events” or “loss events”
identifying counterparty risk occurring after the initial recognition of the loans in question. On an individual level,
the criteria for deciding whether or not a credit risk has been incurred include, in particular, the existence of past
due payments;
these events are liable to lead to the recognition of incurred losses.

Impairment is determined as the difference between the amortized cost and the recoverable amount of the receivable,
i.e. the present value of estimated recoverable future cash flows taking into account the impact of any collateral.
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3.8

CONTRIBUTIONS TO BANKING RESOLUTION MECHANISMS

The procedure for financing the deposit and resolution guarantee fund had been changed by a Ministerial Order dated
October 27, 2015. For the Deposit Guarantee Fund, the cumulative amount of contributions made to the fund by the
Group for deposit, collateral and securities guarantee mechanisms is €18 million. Contributions (which are nonrefundable in the event of a voluntary withdrawal of approval to operate) represent €3 million. Contributions paid in
the form of partner or association certificates and cash security deposits recognized as assets on the balance sheet
total €15 million.
Directive 2014/59/EU (BRRD – Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive), which establishes the framework for the
recovery and resolution of banks and investment firms, and European regulation 806/2014 (SRM regulation)
established the introduction of a resolution fund as of 2015. In 2016, this fund became a Single Resolution Fund (SRF)
between the member States participating in the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM). The SRF is a resolution
financing mechanism available to the resolution authority (Single Resolution Board). The latter may use this fund when
implementing resolution procedures.
In accordance with delegated regulation 2015/63 and implementing regulation 2015/81 supplementing the BRRD
directive on ex-ante contributions to financing mechanisms for the resolution, the Single Resolution Board set the level
of contributions to the Single Resolution Fund for 2018. The amount of contributions paid by the Group for the
fiscal year totaled €278 million, of which €236 million recognized as an expense and €42 million in cash security
deposits recognized as assets on the balance sheet (15% of funds in cash security deposits). The cumulative amount
of contributions recognized as assets on the balance sheet totaled €134 million at June 30, 2018.
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Note 4
4.1

Notes to the balance sheet

FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss comprise instruments held for trading, including
derivatives; certain assets and liabilities that the Group has chosen to recognize at fair value, at their date of
acquisition or issue, using the fair value option available under IFRS 9; and non-SPPI assets.

4.1.1 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets in the trading book mainly include proprietary securities transactions, repurchase agreements and
derivative instruments contracted by the Group to manage its risk exposure.
6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Financial assets mandatorily at fair
value through profit or loss

Other financial
assets
Financial
assets held for mandatorily at fair
value through
trading
profit or loss (1)

in millions of euros
Treasury bills and equivalent
Bonds and other debt securities
Debt securities
Loans to credit institutions excluding repurchase agreements
Loans to customers excluding repurchase agreements
Repurchase agreements (2 )
Loans
Equity instruments
Trading derivatives (2)
Security deposits paid
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(1)

(2)

9,696
9,708
19,404
54
4,249

Total

Financial assets mandatorily at
fair value through profit or loss

Financial
assets
designated
at fair value

Financial
assets held
for trading

Other financial
assets
mandatorily at
fair value
through profit or
loss

Financial
assets
designated at
fair value
through profit
or loss – fair
value option

Total

3,869
3,869
1,270
2,143

9,696
13,576
23,272
1,324
6,392

10,096
8,115
18,211
104
4,317

0
3,727
3,727
1,320
2,528

10,097
11,842
21,938
1,424
6,845

77,787
82,090

3,413

77,787
85,503

83,415
87,836

3,848

0

83,415
91,683

32,450
51,131
15,625

838
///
///

33,289
51,131
15,625

28,033
50,985
15,350

908
///
///

///
///
///

28,942
50,985
15,350

200,700

8,120

208,820

200,415

8,483

0

208,898

Consisting of non-SPPI assets that fall outside the scope of a trading activity including UCITS units presented in bonds and other
debt securities (€2,944 million at June 30, 2018). Loans to customers include, among others, certain contracts for structured loans
to local authorities and fund units;
Furthermore, this information is presented in consideration of netting effects, in accordance with IAS 32 (see Note 4.13).

4.1.2 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities in the trading book include liabilities arising from short-selling transactions, repurchase agreements
and derivative instruments.

23,799

6/30/2018
Financial
liabilities
designated at
fair value
through profit
or loss
///

23,799

25,790

50,906

///

50,906
138
120
24,285
100

50,869
55
2
303
///

///
178
9
22,690
103

50,869
232
11
22,993
103

///
///

98,586
11,633
///

///
///
3,352

98,586
11,633
3,352

Financial
liabilities issued
for trading
in millions of euros
Short sales
Trading derivatives (1 )
Interbank term accounts and loans
Customer term accounts and loans
Unsubordinated debt securities
Subordinated debt
(1 )

Repurchase agreements
Security deposits received
Other

TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS
(1)

Total

302
///

138
120
23,983
100

95,209
12,079
///

4,180

95,209
12,079
4,180

28,521

210,816

182,295

Financial
liabilities
issued for
trading

1/1/2018
Financial
liabilities
designated
at fair value
through
profit or loss
///

187,238

26,332

Total

25,790

213,570

This information is presented in consideration of netting effects, in accordance with IAS 32 (see Note 4.13).

These liabilities are measured at fair value on the reporting date with changes in value, including coupon, recorded in
the “Net gains or losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss” line on the income statement, with
the exception of changes in fair value attributable to own credit risk associated with financial liabilities designated at
fair value through profit or loss, which are recognized in “Revaluation of own credit risk on financial liabilities
recognized at fair value through profit or loss” due to application of IFRS 9.
Revaluations in respect of own credit risk totaled €73 million at June 30, 2018 versus €314 million at January 1, 2018.
Under IFRS 9, the change, i.e., €240 million in first-half 2018, is presented in gains and losses not recyclable to
income recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
Liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss consist primarily of issues originated and structured by Natixis
for customers whose risks and hedges are managed collectively. These issues include embedded derivatives for which
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changes in value are offset, except for those allocated to own credit risk, by those of the derivative instruments
hedging them economically.
Financial liabilities accounted for under the fair value option also consist of structured debt issues and structured
deposits containing embedded derivatives.

4.2

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
6/30/2018
Standard debt
instruments held
under a hold to
collect and sell
model

Total

25
13,848
///

///
///
1,134

25
13,848
1,134

13,873
(1)

1,134
///

15,007
(1)

(93)

(112)

(205)

in millions of euros
Loans or receivables due from customers
Debt securities
Equities and other equity securities (1)
Fair value of financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income
Impairments for expected credit losses
Gains and losses recognized directly in equity on
financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (before tax) (2)
(2)

1/1/2018

Equity
instruments
designated at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

Equity
Standard debt
instruments
instruments held
designated at
under a hold to
fair value
collect and sell
through other
model comprehensive
income
25
14,727

Total

///
///
1,177

25
14,727
1,177

14,752
(12)

1,177
///

15,929
(12)

(73)

(113)

(186)

Equities and other equity securities include strategic equity interests and certain long-term private equity securities. As these
securities are not held for sale, their classification as equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income is appropriate for this type of security.
The cumulative amount of changes in fair value reclassified under “Retained earnings” in first-half 2018 was €1 million.
Groupe BPCE also recognized €49 million in dividends on these securities in income in first-half 2018.

(3)

Including the portion attributable to non-controlling interests (€4 million at June 30, 2018, compared with €11 million at December
31, 2017).

Debt instruments recorded under financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income can be broken
down into:




Stage 1: €13,826 million, net of impairment (a non-material amount),
Stage 2: €43 million, net of impairment (- €1 million),
Stage 3: €4 million, net of impairment (a non-material amount).

At January 1, 2018, they broke down as follows:




Stage 1: €14,033 million, net of impairment (- €2 million),
Stage 2: €713 million, net of impairment (- €10 million),
Stage 3: €6 million, net of impairment (a non-material amount).
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Change in impairments for expected credit losses on debt instruments at fair value through other
comprehensive income

in millio ns o f euro s

Impairments at January 1, 2018

Stage 1

Stage 2

(2)

(10)

Stage 3

TOTAL
(12)

Production and acquisition

0

Derecognition and redemption

10

10

Transfers between stages
Other changes
Impairments at June 30, 2018

4.3

0
2

(1)

1

0

(1)

(1)

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

4.3.1 Fair value hierarchy of financial assets and liabilities
The following statement provides a breakdown of financial instruments by type of price and valuation model:

in millions of euros
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Currency derivatives
Credit derivatives
Other derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Held for trading (1)
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Currency derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Economic hedging
Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Non-standard
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Non-trading
Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Interest rate derivatives
Currency derivatives
Hedging derivatives
(1)

Price quoted in an
active market
(Level 1)
15,134
0
15,134
32,347
32,347
792
3
470

320
48,273
0
0
0
0
0
2,236
2,236
2,236
295
295
295
13,576
13,576
5
5
13,581

6/30/2018
Measurement
techniques using
observable data
(Level 2)
98,878
94,747
4,132
104
104
48,298
30,695
3,584
13,389
384
246
147,280
348
289
59
348
2,308
1,947
361
2,308
6
6
6
255
255
179
179
434
6,710
1,220
7,930

Measurement
techniques using
unobservable data
(Level 3)

TOTAL

3,107
2,969
138
0
0
1,586
213
272
940
160
1

117,119
97,715
19,404
32,450
32,450
50,676
30,911
4,326
14,329
544
565

4,692
107
97
8
3
107
2,738
1,465
1,272
2,738
537
537
537
41
25
17
950
950
992

200,245
455
386
8
62
455
7,282
3,413
3,869
7,282
838
838
838
13,873
25
13,848
1,134
1,134
15,007
6,710
1,220
7,930

Excluding economic hedging

The breakdown of insurance business investments by fair value level at June 30, 2018 is presented in Note 6.1.2.

Price quoted in an
active market
(Level 1)

Measurement
techniques using
observable data
(Level 2)

Measurement
techniques using
unobservable data
(Level 3)

TOTAL

in millions of euros
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Debt securities
Derivatives
- Interest rate derivatives
- Equity derivatives
- Currency derivatives
- Credit derivatives
- Other derivatives
Other financial liabilities

23,528
499
0
205
0
0
294
9

94,521
47,843
30,177
4,910
11,999
431
327
12,069

1,261
1,969
240
432
1,065
232
0
0

119,310
50,311
30,417
5,546
13,064
662
621
12,078

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Held for trading (1)
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Currency derivatives
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Economic hedging
Debt securities
Other financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Fair value option
Interest rate derivatives
Currency derivatives
Hedging derivatives

24,036
0
0
0
0
0
3,545
3,545
0
0
0

154,433
130
96
34
130
23,971
636
24,606
7,443
2,605
10,048

3,230
465
465
(0)
465
371
0
371
0
0
0

181,699
595
561
34
595
24,341
4,180
28,522
7,443
2,605
10,048
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4.3.2 Analysis of financial assets and liabilities classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
Gains and losses recognized during the
In the income statement
On
in equity
transactions
On
removed
transactions
from the
in progress
balance
at the sheet at the
reporting
reporting
date
date
1/1/2018

in millions of euros
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Currency derivatives
Credit derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Held for trading (3)
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives
Equity derivatives
Currency derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Economic hedging
Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - Fair value option
Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Non-standard
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Non-trading
Debt instruments
Loans due from credit institutions and customers
Debt securities
Equity instruments
Equities and other equity securities
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Derivatives
Currency derivatives
Hedging derivatives

2,723
2,582
141
2,219
307
561
1,140
212

53
63
(10)
(469)
17
(411)
(99)
24

4,942
70
64

(416)
(18)
(30)
11
1
(18)

6
70
4
4
4
2,147
1,504
643
2,147
1,068
1,068
1,068
425
25
399
1,121
1,121
1,546
5
5
5

Transactions carried out

665
665
(126)
3
(33)
(20)
(76)

4,565
4,493
73
373
1
305
66
1

(4,931)
(4,868)
(63)
(208)
(32)
(149)
(26)
(1)

539

4,938

(5,139)

(34)
(96)
61
(34)
(4)
(4)
(4)
(2)
(2)

4
(1)
5
4
10
10
10

(5)
(5)
(7)

5
5
5
(5)
(5)
(5)

172
70
102
172
21
21
21

(3)
(148)
(148)
(151)

12
12
12

From and to
another level

(3)
(3)
(88)
(88)

Other
changes

3,108
2,970
139
1,585
213
273
940
160

36

4,693
108
98
8
3
108

(121)
(116)

(8)
(8)
(8)
365
365

160
160
160

Transactions carried out
during the period

365
(370)
(370)
(370)
(58)
(58)
(14)
(14)
(72)

62
62
62

6/30/2018

36
35
1
(116)
5

(91)
56
64
(3)
(4)
56
4
4
4
62
49
13
62
(4)
(4)
(4)

(138)
(61)
(77)
(138)
(184)
(184)
(184)
(321)
1
(322)
(82)
(82)
(403)

(3)

In the income statement
On
transactions
On
removed
transactions
from the
in progress
balance
at the sheet at the
reporting
reporting
date
date
1/1/2018

To another
reporting
category

Purchases/
Sales/
Issues Redemptions

Gains and losses recognized during the
period

in millions of euros

Transfers during the period

2,738
1,830
907
2,738
537
537
537
41
24
16
951
951
992

Transfers during the period

in equity

Purchases/
Sales/
Issues Redemptions

To another
reporting
category

From and to
another level

(90)

Other
changes

6/30/2018

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Debt securities

1,097

61

(79)

1,200

(1,019)

Derivatives

2,088

368

(289)

203

(211)

(100)
(100)

(1)

2

14

(18)

250

341

(144)

115

(129)

(1)

432

1,168

(29)

(8)

27

(4)

(89)

1,065

57

(139)

47

(60)

3,185

429

(368)

(90)

3,230

459

(69)

Credit derivatives

326

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - Held for trading (3)
Derivatives
Interest rate derivatives

456

Equity derivatives
Debt securities
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Fair value option

(6)

1,403

(1,230)

459

(69)

241

231
(100)
75
79

3

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss – Economic hedging

(5)

1,969

344

Equity derivatives
Currency derivatives

(4)

1,260

Interest rate derivatives

465
466

(3)
(69)

75

465

468

2

3

(102)

371

468

2

3

(102)

371

The main impacts recognized in the income statement are mentioned in Note 5.3;
Including €75 million in reclassifications of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income to the “Financial
assets held for sale” aggregate under IFRS 5. Other changes include, in particular, the impact of changes in the consolidation scope
and foreign exchange differences;
Excluding economic hedging.
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4.3.3 Analysis of fair value hierarchy transfers
Period ending 6/30/2018

in millions of euros

From

Level 1

Level 2

Level 2

Level 3

To

Level 2

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

FINANCIAL ASSETS
Debt instruments

162

Debt securities

263

162

263

2

126

Equities and other equity securities

2

126

Derivatives

8

43

Equity instruments

Interest rate derivatives

5

121

5

Equity derivatives

4

43

Currency derivatives

121

Other derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Held
for trading*

4
172

432

Debt instruments

5

121

160

Debt securities
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss – Nonstandard

160
160

Debt instruments
Debt securities
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

42

521

42

521

42

521
Period ending 6/30/2018

in millions of euros

From

Level 1

Level 2

Level 2

Level 3

To

Level 2

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

15

23

1

90

12

22

1

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Debt securities
Derivatives
Equity derivatives
Currency derivatives
Other derivatives
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss –
Held for trading*

3
15

1
23

1

Derivatives

1

Interest rate derivatives
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss –
Economic hedging

1

(*)

1
89

90

1

Excluding economic hedging

4.3.4 Sensitivity of Level 3 assets and liabilities to changes in the principal assumptions
At June 30, 2018, Natixis calculated the sensitivity of the fair value of financial instruments measured using
unobservable inputs. With the aid of probable assumptions, this sensitivity was used to estimate the impacts of
market fluctuations in uncertain economic environments. This estimate was performed using:


a “standardized (1)” variation in unobservable inputs related to assumptions of additional valuation
adjustments for fixed income, currency and equity instruments. The resulting sensitivity was €24 million;



a flat rate of +/-50 basis points applied to the margin used to discount the expected flows of TruPS CDOs;

i.e. the sensitivity impact would result in an improvement in value of €8 million, should the inputs mentioned
above improve, or a decrease in value of €8 million if the same inputs deteriorate.

(1)

I.e. the standard deviation of consensus prices used to measure the inputs.
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4.4

ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST

These are SPPI financial assets held under a hold to collect model. Most loans originated by the Group are
classified in this category. Information about credit risk is provided in Note 6.1.

4.4.1 Securities at amortized cost

in millions of euros
Treasury bills and equivalent
Bonds and other debt securities
Impairments for expected credit losses
TOTAL SECURITIES AT AMORTIZED COST

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

4,316

8,993

11,601

7,067

(141)

(137)

15,776

15,923

The fair value of securities at amortized cost was €14,828 million at June 30, 2018.
Debt securities at amortized cost can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €15,126 million, net of impairment (-€6 million),



Stage 2: €492 million, net of impairment (-€8 million),



Stage 3: €158 million, net of impairment (-€127 million).

At January 1, 2018, debt securities at amortized cost broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €15,265 million, net of impairment (-€5 million),



Stage 2: €483 million, net of impairment (-€13 million),



Stage 3: €175 million, net of impairment (-€119 million).

At June 30, 2018, the portfolio of securities at amortized cost included €140 million in purchased or originated
credit-impaired assets (net amount, after a -€31 million impairment).

Change in impairments for expected credit losses on debt securities at amortized cost

in millio ns o f euro s

Impairments at January 1, 2018

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

(5)

(13)

(119)

(137)

Production and acquisition

0

Derecognition and redemption

0

Transfers between stages
Other changes
Impairments at June 30, 2018

7

(14)

(7)

(1)

(2)

6

3

(6)

(8)

(127)

(141)
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4.4.2 Loans and receivables due from credit institutions at amortized cost

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

8,750

6,540

Current accounts with overdrafts
Repurchase agreements

2,133

1,725

108,629

105,181

Other loans or receivables due from credit institutions

1,094

1,378

Security deposits paid

3,345

3,548

Accounts and loans (1 )

Impairments for expected credit losses
TOTAL

(53)

(68)

123,898

118,304

(1)

Livret A, LDD and LEP savings accounts centralized with Caisse des Dépôts et Consignations and recorded under “Accounts
and loans” amounted to €289 million at June 30, 2018 versus €297 million at January 1, 2018.

The fair value of loans and receivables due from credit institutions at amortized cost was €125,427 million at
June 30, 2018.
Receivables arising from transactions with the networks amounted to €109,644 million at June 30, 2018.

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions at amortized cost can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €122,614 million, net of impairment (a non-material amount),



Stage 2: €1,284 million, net of impairment (-€4 million),



Stage 3: €0 million, net of impairment (-€49 million).

At January 1, 2018, loans and receivables due from credit institutions at amortized cost broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €117,072 million, net of impairment (-€3 million),



Stage 2: €1,232 million, net of impairment (-€4 million),



Stage 3: €0 million, net of impairment (-€61 million).

Change in impairments for expected credit losses on loans and receivables due from credit
institutions at amortized cost

in millions of euros

Impairments at January 1, 2018

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

(3)

(4)

(61)

(68)

Production and acquisition

(1)

Derecognition and redemption

1

(1)
13

14

Transfers between stages

1

1

Other changes

2

(1)

(1)

0

0

(4)

(49)

(53)

Impairments at June 30, 2018

2
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4.4.3 Loans and receivables due from customers at amortized cost
in millions of euros

6/30/2018

Current accounts with overdrafts
Other facilities granted to customers
- Loans to financial sector customers

1/1/2018

5,170

4,888

166,620

166,792

6,726

5,913

- Short-term credit facilities

31,809

29,884

- Equipment loans

26,413

27,180

- Home loans

58,910

58,706

- Export loans

3,471

3,198

- Repurchase agreements

6,992

7,471

12,031

11,998

- Finance leases
- Subordinated loans
- Other loans
Other loans or receivables due from customers
Security deposits paid
Gross loans and receivables due from customers
Impairments for expected credit losses
TOTAL

184

184

20,084

22,258

8,705

7,859

67

43

180,563

179,582

(3,332)

(3,791)

177,231

175,791

The fair value of loans and receivables due from customers was €178,774 million at June 30, 2018.
Loans and receivables due from customers at amortized cost can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €134,691 million, net of impairment (-€152 million),



Stage 2: €36,529 million, net of impairment (-€397 million),



Stage 3: €6,011 million, net of impairment (-€2,783 million).

At January 1, 2018, loans and receivables due from customers at amortized cost broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €115,510 million, net of impairment (-€183 million),



Stage 2: €54,040 million, net of impairment (-€497 million),



Stage 3: €6,241 million, net of impairment (-€3,111 million).

At June 30, 2018, loans and receivables due from customers included €605 million in purchased or originated
credit-impaired assets (net amount, after a -€174 million impairment).

Change in impairments for expected credit losses on loans and receivables due from customers at
amortized cost

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

(183)

(497)

(3,111)

(3,791)

Production and acquisition

(40)

(19)

(31)

(90)

Derecognition and redemption

23

45

216

284

51

(41)

10

in millio ns o f euro s

Impairments at January 1, 2018

Transfers between stages
Other changes
Impairments at June 30, 2018
(1)

48

23

184

255

(152)

(397)

(2,783)

(3,332)

Changes in first-half 2018 related to implementation of IFRS 5 stood at +€46 million for Stage 1, +€28 million for Stage
2 and +€318 million for Stage 3.
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4.5

ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER ASSETS

in millions of euros
Collection accounts
Prepaid expenses
Accrued income
Other accruals
Accrued income and prepaid expenses
Settlement accounts in debit on securities transactions
Other debtors
Other assets
TOTAL ACCRUED INCOME AND OTHER ASSETS

6/30/2018
323
314
818
1,960
3,415
388
16,182
16,570
19,985

1/1/2018
229
210
465
2,026
2,929
308
15,239
15,547
18,476

4.6 GOODWILL
Goodwill related to operations for first-half 2018 is analyzed in respect of the note regarding the scope of
consolidation.
in millions of euros

H1 2018

Opening net value
Acquisitions (1 )

3,728

3,803

65

193

Impairment

(66)

Reclassifications and other movements
Foreign exchange rate adjustments
Closing net value
(3)

(4)

Fiscal year 2017

(2 )

(57)
38
3,774

(202)
3,728

Including €10 million in goodwill recorded on the acquisition of Vermilion, €37 million for the acquisition of Fenchurch and
€18 million in goodwill recorded on the acquisition of Alter CE (Comitéo);
Including -€51 million related to the reclassifications to the “Financial assets held for sale” aggregate under IFRS 5 (€21 million for Axeltix, -€9 million for Selection 1818 and -€21 million for Banque Malgache de l’Océan Indien (BMOI));
In addition, a -€9 million adjustment was made within the one-year allocation period including -€10 million for Investors
Mutual Limited.

At June 30, 2018, gross goodwill stood at €4,157 million and total impairment stood at €383 million.
As there was no indication of impairment, no impairment tests were performed at June 30, 2018 with the
exception of the “Equity interests (Coface)” CGU.
Since the spot price of the share declined and the valuation of the “Equity interests (Coface)” CGU is sensitive
to this input, an impairment test was performed. At June 30, 2018, no additional impairment was recorded as a
result of this test.
Certain goodwill items recognized in the United States gave rise to tax amortization over 15 years leading to a
difference between the carrying amount of the goodwill and its tax base. This difference in treatment generated
a deferred tax liability of €321 million at June 30, 2018 compared with €311 million at December 31, 2017.
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Breakdown of goodwill

Carrying amount
6/30/2018

in millions of euros
BPCE International

1/1/2018

7

28

Fidor Bank AG

82

82

Crédit Foncier

13

13

Other

5

4

Other networks

107

127

Specialized Financial Services

181

163

Insurance
Equity interests (Coface)

93

93

281

281

Retail Banking and Insurance

662

664

Asset & Wealth Management

2,984

2,987

Corporate & Investment Banking
TOTAL GOODWILL

4.7

128

77

3,774

3,728

AMOUNTS DUE TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS AND CUSTOMERS

These liabilities, which are not classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are carried at
amortized cost under “Amounts due to credit institutions” or “Amounts due to customers.”

4.7.1 Amounts due to credit institutions and similar items
in millions of euros
Demand deposits
Repurchase agreements
Accrued interest

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

22,360

22,365

3,443

4,097

4

4

25,807

26,465

Term deposits and loans

79,975

80,270

Repurchase agreements

6,164

5,385

Amounts due to credit institutions – repayable on demand

Accrued interest

1

Amounts due to credit institutions – repayable at agreed maturity dates
Security deposits received (1 )
TOTAL AMOUNTS DUE TO CREDIT INSTITUTIONS
(1)

86,139

108
85,763

1,356

1,148

113,302

113,376

Guarantees received that were recorded under accrual accounts at December 31, 2017 were reclassified at January 1, 2018
to loans and receivables due from credit institutions or to assets at fair value through profit or loss depending on the
associated business model (see Note 4.1.2).

The fair value of amounts due to credit institutions was €113,730 million at June 30, 2018.
Amounts payable arising from transactions with the networks amounted to €43,439 million at June 30, 2018.
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4.7.2 Amounts due to customers
in millions of euros

6/30/2018

Current accounts in credit

23,429

1/1/2018
23,516

Livret A savings accounts

258

Regulated home savings products

256

269

Other regulated savings accounts

1,373

1,745

Accrued interest
Regulated savings accounts
Demand deposits and loans
Term accounts and loans

6

2

1,893

2,273

6,770

8,455

17,846

19,535

Accrued interest
Other customer accounts

257

87

87

24,702

28,077

6,673

5,977

Term
Accrued interest

(4)

Repurchase agreements

6,669

5,977

Other amounts due to customers

3,030

2,347

Security deposits received
TOTAL AMOUNTS DUE TO CUSTOMERS

201

587

59,925

62,778

The fair value of amounts due to customers was €59,613 million at June 30, 2018.

4.8

DEBT SECURITIES

Debt securities are classified based on the nature of the underlying, with the exception of subordinated notes
presented under “Subordinated debt.”

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

121,914

130,674

79,474

66,617

Other debt securities that are neither non-preferred nor subordinated

1,808

1,720

Non-preferred debt

9,437

4,856

212,633

203,867

Bonds
Interbank market instruments and negotiable debt securities

Total
Accrued interest
TOTAL DEBT SECURITIES

1,607

2,062

214,240

205,929

The fair value of debt securities was €216,159 million at June 30, 2018.
A new category of liabilities eligible for the numerator in the TLAC (Total Loss Absorbing Capacity) calculation
has been introduced by French law and is commonly referred to as “senior non-preferred debt”. These liabilities
have a ranking between the ranking of own funds and other “senior preferred” debt.
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4.9

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Collection accounts

964

1,501

Prepaid income

359

304

Accounts payable

1,429

1,177

Other accruals

4,988

3,575

7,740

6,556

Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Settlement accounts in credit on securities transactions

313

310

13,324

12,487

Other liabilities

13,637

12,797

TOTAL ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

21,377

19,353

Other payables

4.10 PROVISIONS
Provisions are detailed in the table below, with the exception of provisions for expected credit losses on loan
and guarantee commitments, which are detailed in Note 9.

in millions of euros
Provisions for employee benefit
commitments (2)
Provisions for restructuring costs
Legal and tax risks
Loan and guarantee commitments (3)
Provisions for regulated home savings
products
Other operating provisions
TOTAL PROVISIONS
(4)

(5)
(6)

1/1/2018

Increase

Use

Reversals
unused

Other
changes (1)

6/30/2018

904
45
1,128
245

48
1
32
145

10
(8)
(24)
(154)

(93)
(10)
(45)
(21)

(48)
41
(14)

821
28
1,131
201

3
676
3,002

84
310

(60)
(236)

(34)
(204)

(32)
(53)

3
634
2,819

Other changes include the variation in revaluation differences on employee benefits (-€26 million before tax) as well as the
impacts of the reclassification of the provisions of BPCE International’s African subsidiaries to liabilities held for sale (IFRS
5: -€30 million) and foreign exchange rate adjustments for +€25 million;
Including €751 million for post-employment defined-benefit plans and other long-term employee benefits;
Provisions for loan and guarantee commitments are detailed in Note 9.

4.11

SUBORDINATED DEBT

Subordinated debt differs from other debt and bonds in that it will be repaid only after all the senior and
unsecured creditors, but before the repayment of participating loans and securities and deeply subordinated
notes.
The table below shows subordinated debt at amortized cost presented in the “Subordinated debt” line under
liabilities as well as subordinated debt at fair value through profit or loss included in the “Financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss” line.
in millions of euros
Subordinated debt designated at fair value through profit and loss
SUBORDINATED DEBT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Term subordinated debt
Perpetual subordinated debt
Subordinated debt and similar
Accrued interest
Revaluation of hedged items
SUBORDINATED DEBT AT AMORTIZED COST
TOTAL SUBORDINATED DEBT
(2)

6/30/2018
100
100
16,073
312
16,385
353
262
17,000
17,100

1/1/2018
100
100
15,933
312
16,245
322
489
17,056
17,156

Including €638 million for the insurance entities at June 30, 2018, versus €639 million at December 31, 2017.

Dated subordinated debt consists mainly of term subordinated debt. Perpetual subordinated and deeply
subordinated debt consists mainly of perpetual subordinated loans. Within this subordinated debt, the perpetual
subordinated loans are fully subscribed for by Natixis and the term subordinated notes by BPCE SA.
The fair value of subordinated debt was €17,626 million at June 30, 2018.
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Changes in subordinated debt and similar during the year
in millions of euros

1/1/2018

Subordinated debt designated at fair value through profit and loss

Issuance

(1)

Redemption (2)

Other changes

6/30/2018

100

SUBORDINATED DEBT AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

100

100

Term subordinated debt

100

15,933

Perpetual subordinated debt

(67)

206

16,073

312

312

SUBORDINATED DEBT AT AMORTIZED COST

16,245

(67)

206

16,385

SUBORDINATED DEBT AND SIMILAR

16,345

(67)

206

16,485

(1)

No redeemable subordinated notes were issued in first-half 2018;
Redemptions of subordinated loans and notes mainly concerned the maturity in 2018 of subordinated notes issued by the
Banque Populaire banks for €221 million and by BPCE SA for €54 million.

(2)

Deeply subordinated notes qualifying as equity instruments are presented in Note 4.14.2.

4.12 ORDINARY SHARES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS ISSUED
Nominal amount (in millions of euros) (1 ))
Issuing
entity

Amount (in original
currency)

Redemption
option date

Interest step-up
date

Rate

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

BPCE

8/6/2009

EUR

374 million

9/30/2019

9/30/2019

12.5%

374

374

BPCE

8/6/2009

USD

444 million

9/30/2019

9/30/2019

12.5%

309

Issue date Currency

TOTAL
(2)

683

Nominal amount translated into euros at the exchange rate in force at the date of classification as equity.

Issues of perpetual deeply subordinated notes are recognized in equity due to the discretionary nature of their
remuneration.

4.13 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial assets and liabilities were offset on the balance sheet in accordance with IAS 32. Under this standard,
a financial asset and financial liability are offset and a net balance is recorded in the balance sheet if and only
if:
•

the Group has the legally enforceable right to offset the recorded amounts; and

•

it has the intention either to settle the net amount or to simultaneously realize the asset and settle the
liability.

Within Groupe BPCE, most offset amounts are the result of repurchase agreements and derivatives transactions
largely carried out by Natixis with clearing houses, which fulfilled the requirements of IAS 32:
•

for OTC derivatives, this involves the effects of the currency offset between asset valuations and liability
valuations of the derivatives;

•

for asset switch transactions that have similar nominal amounts and identical maturities and currencies, the
Group presents them as a single financial asset or liability;

•

for listed derivatives, the positions recorded under the respective asset and liability items for:

•

–

index options and futures options are offset by maturity and by currency,

–

equity options are offset by ISIN code and maturity date;

for repurchase agreements, the amount recorded in the balance sheet corresponds to the net value of
repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements that:
–

are entered into with the same clearing house,

–

have the same maturity date,

–

involve the same custodian,

–

are denominated in the same currency.
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309
683

Financial assets and liabilities “Under netting agreements not offset in the balance sheet” comprise transactions
under netting agreements or similar agreements, but that do not meet the restrictive netting criteria set by
IAS 32. This is particularly the case for derivatives or OTC repurchase agreements subject to master
agreements under which the net settlement criteria or realization of a simultaneous settlement of the asset and
liability cannot be demonstrated or for which the offsetting right can only be exercised in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy by one of the parties to the agreement.
For these instruments, the “Related financial assets and financial instruments received as collateral” and
“Related financial liabilities and financial instruments pledged as collateral” columns include in particular:
•

•

for repurchase agreements:
–

loans or borrowings resulting from reverse repurchase agreements with the same counterparty, and
securities pledged or received as collateral (for the fair value of said securities),

–

margin calls in the form of securities (for the fair value of said securities);

for derivatives, the fair values of the reverse transactions with the same counterparty, as well as the margin
calls in the form of securities.

Margin calls received or paid in cash are shown in the “Margin calls received (cash collateral)” and “Margin calls
paid (cash collateral)” columns.

4.13.1 Financial assets
Financial assets under netting agreements offset in the balance sheet

in millions of euros
Derivatives (trading and hedging)
Repurchase agreements
Financial assets at fair value
Repurchase agreements
(loans and receivables portfolio)
TOTAL

Gross amount
of financial
assets
77,933
98,647
176,580

6/30/2018
Gross amount
of financial Net amount of
liabilities offset financial assets
in the balance
shown in the
sheet
balance sheet
18,872
59,061
20,860
77,788
39,731
136,849

9,825
186,405

700
40,431

9,125
145,973

1/1/2018
Gross amount
Gross
of financial Net amount of
amount of
liabilities financial assets
financial
offset in the
shown in the
assets balance sheet balance sheet
77,224
17,426
59,798
44,551
8,465
36,098
121,775
25,891
95,884
62,972
184,747

6,459
32,350

56,513
152,397

Financial assets under netting agreements not offset in the balance sheet
6/30/2018

1/1/2018

Net amount of
financial
assets shown
in the balance
sheet

Related
financial
liabilities and
financial
instruments
received as
collateral

Margin calls
received (cash
collateral)

Derivatives

59,061

29,539

9,377

Repurchase agreements

86,912

84,596

145,973

114,134

in millions of euros

TOTAL

9,377

Net amount of
financial
assets shown
Net in the balance
exposure
sheet

Related
financial
liabilities and
financial
instruments
received as
collateral

Margin
calls
received
(cash
collateral)

Net
exposure
18,452

20,145

59,798

31,468

9,878

2,316

92,599

86,504

12

6,083

22,461

152,397

117,972

9,890

24,535
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4.13.2 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities under netting agreements offset in the balance sheet
6/30/2018
Net amount
Gross amount
of financial
of financial
liabilities
Gross amount assets offset shown in the
of financial in the balance
balance
liabilities
sheet
sheet

in millions of euros
Derivatives (trading and hedging)

Gross
amount of
financial
liabilities

1/1/2018
Gross
amount of
financial
assets offset
in the
balance
sheet

Net amount
of financial
liabilities
shown in the
balance
sheet
61,047

79,826

18,872

60,954

78,473

17,426

116,069

20,860

95,209

43,431

8,465

34,966

Financial liabilities at fair value

195,894

39,731

156,163

121,904

25,891

96,013

Repurchase agreements
(liabilities portfolio)
TOTAL

16,977
212,871

700
40,431

16,277
172,440

85,527
207,431

6,459
32,350

79,068
175,081

Repurchase agreements

Financial liabilities under netting agreements not offset in the balance sheet
6/30/2018

in millions of euros
Derivatives
Repurchase agreements
TOTAL

Net amount of
financial
liabilities
shown in the
balance sheet

1/1/2018

Related
financial
assets and
financial
instruments
posted as
collateral

Margin
calls paid
(cash
collateral)

Net
exposure

Net amount
of financial
liabilities
shown in the
balance
sheet

Related
financial
assets and
financial
instruments
posted as
collateral

Margin
calls paid
(cash
collateral)

Net
exposure

60,954

29,439

10,774

20,741

61,047

31,880

10,767

18,400

111,486

108,793

17

2,676

114,034

104,021

2

10,011

172,440

138,232

10,791

23,417

175,081

135,901

10,769

28,411
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Note 5
5.1

Notes to the income statement

INTEREST AND SIMILAR INCOME AND EXPENSES

This line item comprises interest income and expenses, calculated using the effective interest method, on
financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized cost, which include interbank and customer items, the
portfolio of securities at amortized cost, debt securities and subordinated debt.
Interest income also consists of interest on non-SPPI debt instruments not held under a trading model as well
as interest on the related economic hedges (classified by default as instruments at fair value through profit or
loss).
It also includes interest receivable on fixed-income securities classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income and hedging derivatives, it being specified that accrued interest on cash flow
hedging derivatives is taken to income in the same manner and period as the accrued interest on the hedged
item.
H1 2018
Interest
expenses

Interest
income

in millions of euros
Loans or receivables due from credit institutions

(1 )

Loans or receivables due from customers
Debt securities
Total financial assets at amortized cost (excluding finance leases)

598

///

598

2,383

///

2,383

313

///
///

313
3,294

3,294
181
90
90
141
///

Finance leases
Debt securities
Total financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Non-standard financial assets not held for trading
Amounts due to credit institutions

Net

(2)
///
///
///
(407)

179
90
90
141
(407)

Amounts due to customers

///

(381)

(381)

Debt securities and subordinated debt

///

(2,187)

(2,187)
(2,975)

Total financial liabilities at amortized cost
Hedging derivatives
Economic hedging derivatives
Other interest income and expenses
Total interest income and expenses

///

(2,975)

1,912

(1,751)

112

(58)

54

0

(64)

(64)

5,730

(4,850)

880

Interest income in first-half 2018 included €154 million in interest income related to Stage 3 financial assets.

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
H1 2017
Income

in millions of euros
Loans and receivables due from customers

Expense

Net

3,123

(828)

2,295

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions

741

(524)

217

Finance leases

212

///

Debt securities and subordinated debt
Hedging derivatives
Available-for-sale financial assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets

///

TOTAL INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSES

5.2

212
(2,233)

2,112

(1,727)

385

536

///

536

63

///

63

Impaired financial assets
Other interest income and expenses

(2,233)

///
5

(48)

6,792

(5,360)

(43)
1,432

FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSES

Fees and commissions are recorded based on the type of service rendered and on the method of accounting for
the financial instrument to which the service relates.
This line includes mainly fees and commissions receivable or payable on recurring services (payment
processing, custody fees, etc.) and occasional services (fund transfers, payment penalties, etc.), fees and
commissions receivable or payable on execution of significant transactions, and fees and commissions
receivable or payable on trust assets managed on behalf of the Group’s customers.
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However, fees and commissions that form an integral part of the effective yield on a contract are recorded
under “Net interest income.”
H1 2018
Income

in millions of euros
C ash and interbank transactions

3

Net

(25)

(22)

C ustomer transactions

472

(10)

Financial services

253

(382)

Sales of life insurance products
Payment services
Securities transactions
Trust management services

2

Expense

Net

(22)

(20)

462

524

(4)

(129)

230

(388)

520
(158)

87

///

87

92

///

92

(35)

180

280

(121)

159

106

(93)

13

137

(107)

1,793

1,646

1,793
92

(92)

Other fee and commission income/(expense)

72

(600)

3,093

(1,236)

5.3

Income

215

Financial instruments and off-balance sheet transactions
TOTAL FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME AND EXPENSES

H1 2017

Expense

(528)
1,857

30
1,646

108

(77)

144

(489)

3,163

(1,208)

31
(345)
1,955

NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

This item includes gains and losses (including the related interest) on financial assets and liabilities classified as
held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss.
“Gains and losses on hedging transactions” include gains and losses arising from the revaluation of derivatives
used as fair value hedges, as well as gains and losses from the revaluation of the hedged item in the same
manner, the revaluation at fair value of the macro-hedged portfolio and the ineffective portion of cash flow
hedges.

H1 2018

in millions of euros
Gains and losses on financial instruments mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

(1 )

Gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair value through profit or loss
Gains and losses on hedging transactions
- Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges (CFH)
- Ineffective portion of fair value hedges (FVH)
Changes in fair value of fair value hedges
Changes in fair value of hedged items
Gains and losses on foreign exchange transactions
Total net gains and losses on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
(2)

811
241
(14)
(17)
3
(245)
248
82
1,120

including foreign exchange economic hedging.

“Gains and losses on financial instruments mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss” in firsthalf 2018 mainly included:





Impairments taken against the fair value of CDS entered into with monoline insurers: a decrease of
€40 million in cumulative impairments in H1 2018, versus a decrease of €10 million (income) in
cumulative impairments in H1 2017 (excluding the foreign exchange effect), bringing cumulative
impairments to €23 million at June 30, 2018 versus €61 million at June 30 2017;
The -€14 million change in the fair value of derivatives due to the difference in impairments for
counterparty risk (Credit Valuation Adjustment – CVA), in the amount of +€29 million due to the
consideration of non-performance risk in the valuation of derivative financial liabilities (Debit Valuation
Adjustment – DVA), and in the amount of -€15 million due to the inclusion of an adjustment for funding
costs (Funding Valuation Adjustment – FVA).

“Gains and losses on hedging transactions” consist mainly of gains and losses recorded in the event of overhedging in interest rate macro-hedging transactions, i.e., -€50 million in first-half 2018 in light of the partial
dedesignation of hedging relationships or due to the measured ineffectiveness. This over-hedging is caused
mainly by the significant renegotiations or prepayments of loans observed in the current low interest rate
environment.
First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
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H1 2017

in millions of euros
Gains and losses on financial instruments held for trading

1,338

Gains and losses on financial instruments designated at fair value
through profit or loss

496

Gains and losses on hedging transactions

6

- Ineffective portion of fair value hedges

8

- Ineffective portion of cash flow hedges

(2)

Gains and losses on foreign exchange transactions

(6)

TOTAL NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

5.4

1,834

NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

in millions of euros
Net gains or losses on debt instruments
Net gains or losses on equity instruments (dividends)
Total gains and losses on financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income

H1 2018
3
49
52

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
in millions of euros

H1 2017

Gains or losses on disposal

244

Dividends received

122

Permanent impairment of variable-income securities

(15)

TOTAL NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
FINANCIAL ASSETS

351

5.5

NET GAINS OR LOSSES ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT AMORTIZED COST

Net gains or losses in first-half 2018 resulting from the derecognition of instruments at amortized cost included
€2 million in losses recorded following the sale of financial assets at amortized cost and €4 million in gains
related to the derecognition of financial liabilities at amortized cost.

5.6

INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES

This item mainly comprises:
•

income and expenses on investment property (rental income and expense, gains and losses on disposals,
depreciation, amortization and impairment);

•

income and expenses on operating leases;

•

income and expenses on real estate development activities (revenues, purchases used).

H1 2018
in millions of euros

Income

Expense

Net
(1)

Income and expenses from real estate activities

2

(1)

Income and expenses from leasing transactions

66

(48)

18

Income and expenses from investment property

6

(10)

(4)

Other banking income and expenses
TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES

658

(387)

271

732

(446)

286

Income and expenses from insurance businesses are presented in Note 6.2.
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First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
H1 2017
in millions of euros

Income

Expense

Net

5,875

(6,198)

(323)

Income and expenses from real estate activities

168

(205)

(37)

Income and expenses from leasing transactions

68

(28)

40

345

(210)

135

6,456

(6,641)

(185)

Income and expenses from insurance activities

Other banking income and expenses
TOTAL INCOME AND EXPENSES FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES

5.7

OPERATING EXPENSES

Operating expenses include mainly payroll costs (wages and salaries net of rebilled amounts), social security
charges, and employee benefit expenses such as pension costs. Operating expenses also include the full
amount of administrative expenses and external services costs.

in millions of euros
Payroll costs
Taxes other than on income

H1 2018

H1 2017

(2,487)

(2,432)

(1 )

(392)

(389)

(1,246)

(1,187)

Other administrative costs

(1,638)

(1,576)

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

(4,125)

(4,008)

External services and other operating expenses

(2)

5.8

Taxes other than on income included, in particular, the contribution to the SRF (Single Resolution Fund) for an annual
amount of €236 million (versus €200 million in 2017) and the systemic risk tax for an annual amount of €25 million
(versus €39 million in 2017).

COST OF CREDIT RISK

This item includes net impairment and provision charges for credit risk.
It covers both loans and receivables and fixed-income securities classified at amortized cost or at fair value
through other comprehensive income, as well as the loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that
are not recognized at fair value through profit or loss. Credit losses related to other types of instruments
(derivatives or securities designated at fair value through profit or loss) recorded as a result of default by credit
institutions are also included under this item.
Irrecoverable loans not covered by provisions for impairment are loans that were not covered by impairment
provisions in Stage 3 and that are permanently lost before being provisioned in Stage 3.
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Cost of risk for the period
in millions of euros

H1 2018

Net charge to provisions and provisions for impairment

(101)

Recoveries of bad debts written off

6

Irrecoverable loans not covered by provisions for impairment

(48)

TOTAL COST OF CREDIT RISK

(143)

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
in millions of euros

H1 2017

Net charge to provisions and provisions for impairment

(253)

Recoveries of bad debts written off

10

Irrecoverable loans not covered by provisions for impairment

(42)

TOTAL COST OF RISK

(285)

Cost of risk for the period by type of asset
in millions of euros

H1 2018

Interbank transactions

27

Customer transactions

(172)

Other financial assets

2

TOTAL COST OF CREDIT RISK

(143)

First-half 2017 data prepared in accordance with IAS 39
in millions of euros

H1 2017

Interbank transactions

(1)

Customer transactions

(280)

Other financial assets

(4)

TOTAL COST OF RISK

(285)

5.9 INCOME TAX

in millions of euros
Current income tax expense

H1 2018

H1 2017

(7)

(201)

Deferred taxes

(376)

(204)

INCOME TAX

(383)

(405)
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Reconciliation between the tax charge in the financial statements and the theoretical tax charge

Net income (attributable to equity holders of the parent)
C hange in the value of goodwill
Non-controlling interests
Share in net income of associates
Income taxes
INCOME BEFORE TAX AND CHANGES IN THE VALUE OF GOODWILL (A)
Standard income tax rate in France (B)
Theoretical income tax expense (income) at the tax rate applicable in
France (AxB)
Impact of the change in unrecognized deferred tax assets and liabilities
Effects of permanent differences (1)
Reduced rate of tax and tax-exempt activities
Difference in tax rates on income taxed outside France
Tax on prior periods, tax credits and other tax
Other items
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (INCOME) RECOGNIZED
EFFECTIVE TAX RATE (INCOME TAX EXPENSE DIVIDED BY TAXABLE INCOME)
(2)

H1 2018
in millions of
euros
533

tax rate

394
(115)
383

H1 2017
in millions of
euros
415
266
(123)
405

1,195

963
34.43%

(411)
(38)
(125)
92
58
41
(383)

tax rate

34.43%
(332)

3.2%
10.5%
(7.7%)
(4.9%)
(3.4%)
32.1%

(41)
(95)
(6)
41
18
10
(405)

4.3%
9.9%
0.6%
(4.3%)
(1.9%)
(1%)
42.1%

Permanent differences include mainly the impacts of the SRT (systemic risk tax) and the contribution to the SRF (Single
Resolution Fund), consisting of non-deductible expenses (see Note 5.7).
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Note 6

Insurance businesses

Groupe BPCE decided to maintain the provisions of IAS 39 for the recognition of its insurance business
investments.

NOTE 6.1

NOTES TO THE BALANCE SHEET

6.1.1 Insurance business investments
in millions of euros

6/30/2018

Real estate investment

1/1/2018

1,293

1,312

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

24,417

22,048

Available-for-sale financial assets

47,604

46,430

Loans and receivables due from credit institutions
Loans and receivables due from customers
Held-to-maturity financial assets
Share of reinsurers and retrocessionaires in liabilities related to insurance policies
and financial contracts
Receivables arising from insurance or accepted reinsurance transactions
Receivables arising from ceded reinsurance transactions
Deferred acquisition costs
TOTAL INSURANCE BUSINESS INVESTMENTS

6.1.1.1

10,312

1,562

1,885

12,474

11,394

1,544

1,425

63

30

709

697

100,552

96,051

6/30/2018
5,283
5,283
21
1
1,341
295
201
2,104
15,171
19,112
24,417

1/1/2018
30
4,310
4,340
214
1
204
243
2,011
15,035
17,493
22,048

Available-for-sale financial assets

in millions of euros
Bonds
Equities
UC ITS
Available-for-sale financial assets, gross
Impairments of debt instruments
Impairments of equity instruments (1)
TOTAL AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
(2)

518

10,135

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

in millions of euros
Bonds
UC ITS
Financial assets held for trading
Trading derivatives
Hedging derivatives
Bonds
Equities
UC ITS
Loans and receivables due from customers
Investments backed by unit-linked policies
Financial assets designated at fair value
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

6.1.1.2

751

6/30/2018
40,323

1/1/2018
39,178

2,270
5,224
47,817
(24)
(189)
47,604

2,168
5,283
46,629
(15)
(184)
46,430

In first-half 2018, permanent impairment of variable-income securities stood at €15 million. This expense was 89% offset
by the profit-sharing mechanism. The first-half 2018 expense can be broken down into an additional impairment loss on
previously impaired securities for €12 million and an allowance for newly impaired securities for €3 million.
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6.1.1.3

Loans and receivables

in millions of euros
Loans and receivables due from credit institutions

6/30/2018
751

Loans and receivables due from customers (1 )
TOTAL LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
(2)

1/1/2018
518

10,135

10,312

10,886

10,830

Including €10,019 million for guarantee deposits made for the acceptance of reinsurance treaties (€10,258 million at
January 1, 2018).

The fair value of loans and receivables stood at €11,120 million at June 30, 2018.

6.1.1.4

Held-to-maturity financial assets

in millions of euros
Treasury bills and equivalent
Bonds and other fixed-income securities
Gross amount of held-to-maturity financial assets
Impairment
TOTAL HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS

6/30/2018
1,037
527
1,564
(1)
1,562

1/1/2018
1,083
804
1,887
(2)
1,885

The fair value of held-to-maturity financial assets amounted to €1,813 million at June 30, 2018.

6.1.2 Fair value hierarchy of insurance business investments
6/30/2018

in millions of euros
ASSETS
Securities held for trading
Equities and UCITS
Financial assets held for trading
Interest rate derivatives
Currency derivatives
Equity derivatives
Other derivatives
Derivatives not eligible for hedge accounting (positive fair value)
Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Bonds
Equities and UCITS
Investments backed by unit-linked policies
Loans and receivables
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
Interest rate derivatives
Hedging derivatives
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Investments in associates
Other available-for-sale securities
Bonds
Equities and UCITS
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Measurement
Measurement
Price quoted in techniques using techniques using
an active market observable data
unobservable
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
data (Level 3)
5,187
5,187
5,187
8
3

96
96
96
4
3
1

16,900

1
8
599
192
407
3,648
2,104
6,351
1
1
6,456

39,534
33,999
5,535
39,534

5,193
4,032
1,161
705

11
178
89
89
11,524
11,702

1
1,060
1,060

1,060

1,061
239
2,638
2,268
370
2,877

Total
5,283
5,283
5,283
5
10
4
1
21
1,837
1,341
496
15,172
2,104
19,113
1
1
24,417
239
47,365
42,199
7,066
47,604
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Analysis of insurance business investments classified in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy
Gains and losses recognized during
the period
In the income statement
On
transaction
On s removed
transaction
from the
s in
balance
progress at
sheet at
the
the
reporting
reporting
date
date
1/1/2018

in millions of euros

Transactions carried out
during the period

in equity

Purchases/
Sales/
Issues Redemptions

Transfers during
the period

To another
reporting
category

From and
to another
level

Other
changes

6/30/2018

ASSETS
Credit derivatives

1

1

Derivatives not eligible for hedge accounting (positive fair
value)

1

1

Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Bonds
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit
or loss
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR
LOSS
Investments in associates
Other available-for-sale securities
Bonds
Equities and UCITS

1,461

(13)

(2)

(363)

(23)

1,060

1,461

(13)

(2)

(363)

(23)

1,060

1,461

(13)

(2)

(363)

(23)

1,060

1,462

(13)

(2)

(363)

(23)

1,061

209

1

3

(1)

239

3,345

4

(2)

(13)

373

(105)

(954)

2,954

4

(2)

(10)

360

(91)

(948)

(2)

(10)

391

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

27

3,554

(3)
5

13
400

(14)
(105)

(1)

(10)

2,638
2,268

(6)

(10)

370

(954)

(10)

2,877

Analysis of fair value hierarchy transfers

6/30/2018

in millions of euros

From

Level 1

Level 2

Level 2

Level 3

To

Level 2

Level 1

Level 3

Level 2

ASSETS
Securities designated at fair value through profit or loss

23

Bonds

23

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss

23

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

23

Other available-for-sale securities
Bonds

725
706

Equities and UCITS
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

19

620

1,573

606

1,553

19

19

14

20

725

19

620

1,573

6.1.3 Liabilities related to insurance policies

in millions of euros
Technical liabilities related to insurance policies
Technical liabilities related to unit-linked insurance policies
Technical liabilities related to insurance policies
Technical liabilities related to financial contracts with a discretionary profit-sharing
feature
Technical liabilities related to unit-linked financial contracts
Technical liabilities related to financial contracts
Deferred profit-sharing liability
Liabilities arising from insurance or accepted reinsurance transactions
Liabilities arising from ceded reinsurance transactions
Trading derivatives
Other liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES RELATED TO INSURANCE POLICIES

6/30/2018
41,423
11,695
53,118

1/1/2018
38,908
10,256
49,164

20,151
4,168
24,319
2,863
9,680
240
19
32

20,227
3,974
24,201
3,275
9,530
181
183
18

90,271

86,552

6.1.4 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Information required under IFRS 7 on financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss is presented in Note
4.1.2.

6.1.5 Amounts due to credit institutions and customers
Information required under IFRS 7 on amounts due to credit institutions and customers is presented in Note
4.7.
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6.1.6 Debt securities
Information required under IFRS 7 on debt securities is presented in Note 4.10.

6.1.7 Subordinated debt
Information required under IFRS 7 on subordinated debt is presented in Note 4.13.

6.1.8 Deferred profit-sharing
in millions of euros
Deferred profit-sharing liability
TOTAL DEFERRED PROFIT-SHARING (1)
of which deferred profit-sharing fully consolidated in equity
(1)

6/30/2018
2,863
2,863
2,033

1/1/2018
3,275
3,275
2,308

By convention, net deferred profit-sharing is presented as a negative figure when it is an asset.

6.2

NOTES TO THE INCOME STATEMENT

6.2.1 Net income from insurance businesses
in millions of euros
Premiums written
Change in unearned premium income
Earned premiums
Revenues and other income from insurance activities
Investment income
Investment expenses
Capital gains and losses on disposal of investments (net of reversals, write-downs and amortization)
Change in fair value of investments carried at fair value through profit or loss
Change in write-downs on investments
Investment income (net of expenses)
Amortization of acquisition costs
Claims and benefits expenses
Income from reinsurance cessions
Expenses from reinsurance cessions
Income and expenses net of reinsurance cessions
NET INCOME FROM INSURANCE BUSINESSES

H1 2018
7,569
(173)
7,396
87
897
(49)
95
(162)
(24)
758
21
(6,789)
1,709
(1,736)
(27)
1,446

6.2.2 Transition between the presentation applicable to insurance companies and to
banks
The statement shown below provides a transition between the financial statements of insurance companies
included in the scope of consolidation and their translation into the financial statements of BPCE SA group in
accordance with the presentation applicable to banks.

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 259

Banking format June 2018
Net banking income
Net insurance
income
in millions of euros
Earned premiums
Revenues or income from other activities
Other operating income
Net financial income before finance costs
TOTAL REVENUE FROM ORDINARY ACTIVITIES
Claims and benefits expenses
Expenses from other activities
Net income from reinsurance cessions
Policy acquisition costs
Administrative expenses
Other operating income and expenses/recurring
TOTAL OTHER RECURRING INCOME AND EXPENSES
OPERATING INCOME

7,396
87
758
8,241
(6,789)
(27)
21

(6,795)
1,446

Other net banking
income items
(excl. net
insurance income)
(49)
31
16
5
3
54
9
(396)
(222)
(36)
(591)
(588)

Operating
expenses

Gross operating
income

8
(7)
1
(60)
(6)
(108)
(181)
(137)
(492)
(491)

7,347
118
24
756
8,245
(6,795)
(6)
(18)
(483)
(403)
(173)
(7,878)
367

Insurance format
H1 2018

Other items

(2)
(2)
(2)

7,347
118
24
756
8,245
(6,795)
(6)
(18)
(483)
(403)
(175)
(7,880)
365
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Note 7
7.1

Partnerships and associates

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

The Group’s main investments in joint ventures and associates are as follows:

in millions of euros
CNP Assurances (group)

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

2,571

2,657

Socram Banque
Natixis group equity interests
Other
Financial sector companies

TOTAL INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

7.2

76

719

732

18

20

3,383

3,485

Other
Non-financial companies

75

134

138

134

138

3,517

3,623

SHARE IN NET INCOME OF ASSOCIATES

in millions of euros
CNP Assurances (group)
Natixis group equity interests
Socram Banque
Other
Financial sector companies

H1 2018

H1 2017

108

106

10

13

1

1

(8)

1

111

121

Other

4

2

Non-financial companies

4

2

115

123

SHARE IN NET INCOME OF ASSOCIATES
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Note 8

Segment reporting

BPCE SA group redefined its business lines in the TEC 2020 strategic plan presented on November 29, 2017,
notably making the decision to split up the Investment Solutions, Corporate & Investment Banking and
Specialized Financial Services division. The Investment Solutions sub-division’s Insurance business line and the
Specialized Financial Services sub-division were transferred to the Retail Banking and Insurance division.
The Group now has three core business divisions:
Retail Banking and Insurance, which includes:
•

Specialized Financial Services (SFS), a Natixis business line encompassing specialized financing
activities (factoring, leasing, consumer credit, sureties and financial guarantees), payments and
financial services;

•

Insurance, a Natixis business line serving the Groupe BPCE networks and their customers;

•

Other networks, which comprise Crédit Foncier group, BPCE International (BPCE I) and Banque
Palatine.

Asset & Wealth Management, a Natixis business line consisting of:
•

Asset Management, which operates on several international markets, combining expertise in
investment management and distribution;

•

Wealth Management, with Natixis Wealth Management, which offers wealth management and financing
solutions for large private-sector investors.

Corporate & Investment Banking, a division of Natixis:
•

Corporate & Investment Banking advises and supports corporates, institutional investors, insurance
companies, banks and public sector entities.

The Corporate Center, which primarily includes:
•

the Group’s central institution and holding companies;

•

Natixis’ equity interests in Coface, Corporate Data Solutions, Natixis Algérie and Natixis Private Equity;

•

unlisted investments and cross-business activities;

•

items related to goodwill impairment and the amortization of valuation differences, as these items form
part of the Group’s acquisition and investment strategy;



the contribution to the Single Resolution Fund and the Deposit Guarantee Fund.

As of the publication of the 2017 half-year results, the presentation of the business divisions reflects these
segment reporting amendments, in addition to changes in the capital allocation standards applied by Natixis
(Basel III average RWA increased to 10.5% versus 10% previously) and in the rate of return on capital
(lowered to 2% from 3% previously).
Segment reporting for BPCE SA group in previous periods has been restated accordingly.
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Results by division
Retail Banking and
Asset & Wealth
Corporate & Investment
Insurance *
Management
Banking
in millions of euros
H1-18
H1-17
H1-18
H1-17
H1-18
H1-17
Net banking income
1,770
1,740
1,596
1,448
1,904
1,990
Operating expenses
(1,190)
(1,175)
(1,078)
(1,039)
(1,112)
(1,121)
Gross operating income
579
565
517
408
791
869
Cost/income ratio
67.3%
67.5%
67.6%
71.8%
58.4%
56.3%
Cost of risk
(69)
(172)
(1)
0
(68)
(78)
Share in income of equity-accounted associates
4
8
0
0
6
5
Gains or losses on other assets
(18)
2
(0)
9
3
(0)
Income before tax
497
403
516
418
733
796
Income tax
(174)
(174)
(145)
(145)
(198)
(245)
Non-controlling interests
(86)
(56)
(163)
(110)
(157)
(161)
Net income attributable to equity holders of the parent
237
173
209
163
378
390
*Excluding the Banque Populaire banks, Caisses d’Epargne and their consolidated subsidiaries

Corporate Center
H1-18
374
(915)
(541)
ns
(5)
105
6
(435)
134
11
(290)

H1-17
209
(834)
(624)
ns
(36)
110
18
(531)
159
62
(311)

BPCE SA group
H1-18
5,643
(4,296)
1,347
76.1%
(143)
115
(9)
1,310
(383)
(394)
533

H1-17
5,387
(4,169)
1,218
77.4%
(285)
123
30
1,086
(405)
(266)
415

Results of the Retail Banking and Insurance sub-divisions

in millions of euros
Net banking income
Operating expenses
Gross operating income
Cost/income ratio
Cost of risk
Share in income of equity-accounted associates
Gains or losses on other assets
Income before tax

Banque
Caisses
Populaire
d’Epargne
banks
H1-18 H1-17 H1-18 H1-17
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-0.077 -0.081
0
0
-0.077 -0.081

0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0

Specialized Financial
Services
H1-18
733
(495)
238
67.6%
(7)
0
1
232

H1-17
691
(461)
230
66.7%
(35)
0
0
195

Insurance
H1-18
397
(226)
170
57.1%
0
3
0
173

Other networks
H1-17
368
(231)
137
62.7%
0
7
0
144

H1-18
640
(469)
171
73.3%
(62)
1
(18)
92

H1-17
681
(483)
198
70.9%
(137)
1
2
64

Retail Banking and
Insurance
H1-18
1,770
(1,190)
579
67.3%
(69)
4
(18)
497
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H1-17
1,740
(1,175)
565
67.5%
(172)
8
2
403

Note 9

Commitments

The amounts shown correspond to the nominal value of commitments given.

9.1

LOAN COMMITMENTS

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

950

544

Loan commitments given to:
credit institutions
customers
- Credit facilities granted
- Other commitments
TOTAL LOAN COMMITMENTS GIVEN

68,106

63,806

65,494

58,555

2,612

5,251

69,056

64,350

46,350

41,477

Loan commitments received from:
credit institutions
customers
TOTAL LOAN COMMITMENTS RECEIVED

46

6

46,396

41,483

Loan commitments given can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €59,980 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €36 million),



Stage 2: €8,936 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €64 million),



Stage 3: €140 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €11 million).

At January 1, 2018, loan commitments given broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €46,314 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €38 million),



Stage 2: €17,796 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €89 million),



Stage 3: €240 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €16 million).

At June 30, 2018, loan commitments given included €105 million in commitments provisioned on their
origination or acquisition (exposure, gross of provisions, of €1 million).

Change in provisions for expected credit losses on loan commitments given

in millio ns o f euro s

Provisions at January 1, 2018

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

38

89

16

143

Production and acquisition

8

Derecognition and redemption

(3)

(5)

Transfers between stages

12

(12)

Other changes

(19)

(8)

(5)

(32)

36

64

11

111

Provisions at June 30, 2018

8
(8)
0
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9.2

GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

Guarantee commitments are off-balance sheet commitments.

in millions of euros

6/30/2018

1/1/2018

6,466

6,162

Guarantee commitments given to:
credit institutions
customers (1 )
TOTAL GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS GIVEN

26,676

25,676

33,142

31,838

19,016
89,778

17,372
87,476

108,794

104,848

Guarantee commitments received from:
credit institutions
customers
TOTAL GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS RECEIVED
(2)

The guarantees given by CEGC (a subsidiary of Natixis) in connection with its activity are treated as insurance policies for
accounting purposes, in accordance with IFRS 4 “Insurance contracts.” They are recorded on the liabilities side of the
balance sheet and are not included in guarantees given to customers shown in the table above.

Guarantee commitments given can be broken down into:


Stage 1: €27,040 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €10 million),



Stage 2: €5,957 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €24 million),



Stage 3: €145 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €56 million).

At January 1, 2018, guarantee commitments given broke down as follows:


Stage 1: €18,447 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €18 million),



Stage 2: €13,215 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €30 million),



Stage 3: €176 million (exposure, gross of provisions, of €54 million).

At June 30, 2018, guarantee commitments given included €5 million in commitments provisioned on their
origination or acquisition (exposure, gross of provisions, of €1 million).

Change in provisions for expected credit losses on guarantee commitments given

in millio ns o f euro s

Provisions at January 1, 2018

Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

TOTAL

18

30

54

102

17

11

(15)

(27)

56

90

Production and acquisition

4

1

Derecognition and redemption

(1)

(5)

Transfers between stages

1

(2)

Other changes

(12)

Provisions at June 30, 2018

10

24

5

(1)
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Note 10

Scope of consolidation

10.1 CHANGE IN SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION IN FIRST-HALF 2018

The main changes in the scope of consolidation during the first half of 2018 are
presented below:
Change in the Group’s ownership interest in Natixis
Following a number of transactions in its own shares, the Group's stake in Natixis stood at 71.03% at June 30,
2018 (versus 71.02% at December 31, 2017). The impact on equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
was not material.
Acquisition of a controlling interest in subsidiaries
On June 30, 2018, Natixis finalized the acquisition of Fenchurch Advisory Partners (“Fenchurch”), a specialist
corporate finance advisory firm exclusively focused on the financial services sector. With the transaction now
complete, the Group holds 51% of the capital, exercises control under IFRS 10 and fully consolidates this
entity. The Group also holds options to buy out the non-controlling interests valued at €28 million at June 30,
2018.
This acquisition generated partial goodwill of €37 million.
In first-half 2018, Natixis also finalized the acquisition of the Vermilion Partners group, a specialist in crossborder transactions involving China and in advising on both inbound and outbound M&A transactions. With the
transaction now complete, the Group holds 51% of the capital of Vermilion Partners, exercises control under
IFRS 10 and fully consolidates this entity. The Group also holds options to buy out the non-controlling interests
valued at €15 million at June 30, 2018.
This acquisition generated partial goodwill of €11 million.
Lastly, Natixis also finalized the acquisition of Alter CE (Comitéo), a specialist in online services for works
councils. With the transaction now complete, the Group holds 70% of the capital of Alter CE, exercises control
under IFRS 10 and fully consolidates this entity. The Group also holds options to buy out the non-controlling
interests valued at €9 million at June 30, 2018.
This acquisition generated partial goodwill of €18 million.

10.2 SECURITIZATION TRANSACTIONS
Securitization is a financial engineering technique that aims to enhance balance sheet liquidity. From a technical
perspective, assets to be securitized are grouped according to the quality of the associated collateral or
guarantees, and sold to special purpose entities that finance their acquisition by issuing securities underwritten
by investors.

Entities created specifically for this purpose are consolidated if the Group exercises control over them. Control
is assessed according to the criteria provided in IFRS 10.

Deconsolidating securitization transactions carried out with full or partial derecognition
As a reminder, Crédit Foncier entered into two public securitizations backed by home loans (Crédit Foncier
Home Loans No. 1 in May 2014 and Crédit Foncier Home Loans No. 2 in August 2015).
As a receivables manager, Crédit Foncier does not have the ability to use its power to influence the variability of
returns. Therefore, it does not control the securitization funds within the meaning of IFRS 10, and the funds are
not consolidated.
However, given its ongoing ties with CFHL-2, the criteria needed to establish full derecognition of assets under
IFRS 9 are not entirely met. As a result, the transaction is deconsolidating in accordance with IFRS 10, and
partially derecognized in accordance with IFRS 9.
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The transferred assets are recognized in proportion to Crédit Foncier’s continued involvement. As a result, the
Group continues to recognize the maximum loss associated with each of the residual ties to the fund (swaps,
clean-up calls, management fees) in balance sheet assets.
These adjustments led to the recognition of total assets of €80 million and total liabilities of €38 million at June
30, 2018.
The fair value of these residual ties is remeasured at each reporting date.
For first-half 2018, the net impact of the CFHL-2 transactions was +€2 million.
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Statutory auditors’ report on the half-yearly financial report

5.4

Deloitte & Associés
6 place de la Pyramide
92908 Paris La Défense Cedex

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Audit
63, rue de Villiers
92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine Cedex

Mazars
61, rue Henri Regnault
92075 Paris La Défense Cedex

This is a free translation into English of the statutory auditors’ review report on the half-yearly
financial information issued in French and is provided solely for the convenience of Englishspeaking users. This report includes information relating to the specific verification of information
given in the Group’s half-yearly management report. This report should be read in conjunction
with, and construed in accordance with, French law and professional standards applicable in
France.

Statutory Auditors’ Review Report
on the Half-yearly Financial Information
For the period from January 1 to June 30, 2018

BPCE
50, avenue Pierre Mendès France
75013 Paris

To the Shareholders
In compliance with the assignment entrusted to us by your Annual General Meetings and
in accordance with the requirements of article L. 451-1-2-III of the French Monetary and
Financial Code ("Code monétaire et financier"), we hereby report to you on:
-

the review of the accompanying condensed half-yearly consolidated financial
statements of BPCE SA group, for the period from January 1 to June 30, 2018,

-

the verification of the information presented in the half-yearly management report.

These condensed half-yearly consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of
the Management Board. Our role is to express a conclusion on these financial statements
based on our review.
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I. Conclusion on the financial statements
We conducted our review in accordance with professional standards applicable in France.
A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons
responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other
review procedures. A review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in
accordance with professional standards applicable in France and consequently does not
enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that
might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.
Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that
the accompanying condensed half-yearly consolidated financial statements are not
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with IAS 34 - standard of the IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union applicable to interim financial information.
Without prejudice to the conclusion expressed above, we draw your attention to the
accounting changes related to the first application of IFRS 9 (financial instruments) and
IFRS 15 (revenue from contracts with customers) as described in the notes to the
financial statements (part 5.3.6 and part 5.3.7 – note 2.2 “standards”).
II. Specific verification
We have also verified the information presented in the half-yearly management report on
the condensed half-yearly consolidated financial statements subject to our review. We
have no matters to report as to its fair presentation and consistency with the condensed
half-yearly consolidated financial statements.

Paris La Défense and Neuilly-sur-Seine, August 3rd, 2018
French original signed by
The Statutory Auditors

Deloitte & Associés

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Audit

Sylvie Bourguignon

Mazars

Charles de Boisriou
Nicolas Montillot
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6.

Statutory Auditors

6.1

Staturoy auditors

BPCE’s Statutory Auditors are responsible for auditing the individual financial
statements of BPCE and the consolidated financial statements of Groupe BPCE and
BPCE SA group. At June 30, 2018, the Statutory Auditors were:
PricewaterhouseCoopers
Audit

Deloitte & Associés

Mazars

63, rue de Villiers

Tour Majunga

61, rue Henri-Regnault

92208 Neuilly-sur-Seine
Cedex

6 place de la Pyramide

92075 Paris-La Défense
Cedex

92908 Paris La Défense
Cedex

PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit (672006483 RCS Nanterre), Deloitte et Associés
(572028041 RCS Nanterre) and Mazars (784824153 RCS Nanterre) are registered as
Statutory Auditors, members of the Compagnie Régionale des Commissaires aux
Comptes de Versailles and under the authority of the Haut Conseil du Commissariat
aux Comptes.
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS AUDIT
The Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting of BPCE of May 22, 2015, voting under the
conditions of quorum and majority applicable to Ordinary General Shareholders’
Meetings, resolved to renew the term of PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit for a period of
six fiscal years, i.e. until the Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting to be held in
2021, convened to approve the financial statements for the year ending
December 31, 2020.
PricewaterhouseCoopers Audit is represented by and Nicolas Montillot.
Substitute: Jean-Baptiste Deschryver, residing at 63, rue de Villiers, 92208 Neuillysur-Seine Cedex, for a period of six fiscal years, i.e. until the Ordinary General
Shareholders’ Meeting to be held in 2021, convened to approve the financial
statements for the year ending December 31, 2020.
DELOITTE & ASSOCIÉS
The Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting of BPCE of May 22, 2015, voting under the
conditions of quorum and majority applicable to Ordinary General Shareholders’
Meetings, resolved to appoint Deloitte & Associés for a period of six fiscal years,
i.e. until the Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting to be held in 2021, convened to
approve the financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2020.
Deloitte & Associés is represented by Sylvie Bourguignon.
Substitute: BEAS, represented by Damien Leurent, located at 6 place de la Pyramide
92800 Puteaux, for a period of six fiscal years, i.e. until the Ordinary General
Shareholders’ Meeting to be held in 2021, convened to approve the financial
statements for the year ending December 31, 2020.
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MAZARS
The Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting of BPCE of May 24, 2013, voting under the
conditions of quorum and majority applicable to Ordinary General Shareholders’
Meetings, resolved to appoint Mazars for a period of six fiscal years, i.e. until the
Ordinary General Shareholders’ Meeting to be held in 2019, convened to approve the
financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2018.
Mazars is represented by Charles de Boisriou.
Substitute: Anne Veaute, residing at 61, rue Henri-Regnault, 92075 Paris-La Défense
Cedex, for a period of six fiscal years, i.e. until the Ordinary General Shareholders’
Meeting to be held in 2019, convened to approve the financial statements for the year
ending December 31, 2018.
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7.

Additional information

7.1

Documents on display

This document is available from the “Investors” section of the Group’s website
(www.groupebpce.fr), or from the AMF website (www.amf-france.org).
Any person wanting further information about Groupe BPCE may, with no commitment
and free of charge, request documents by post at the following address:
BPCE
Département Émissions et Communication Financière
50, avenue Pierre Mendès-France
75013 Paris
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8.

Person responsible
Document

for

the

update

to

the

Registration

Laurent Mignon
Chairman of the BPCE Management Board

8.1

Statement by the person responsible

Laurent Mignon, Chairman of the BPCE Management Board.
STATEMENT BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE
I hereby declare that, to the best of my knowledge after having taken all reasonable
measure to this end, the information contained in the present update to the Registration
Document is in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its
import.
I hereby certify that, to the best of my knowledge, the condensed financial statements
for the most recent half-year of Groupe BPCE and the BPCE SA group have been
prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards and give a true and fair
picture of the financial position and the assets and liabilities of the company and all
entities in the Group's scope of consolidation, and that the half-year management report
accurately reflects the highlights of the first six months of the reporting year and their
impact on the financial statements, as well as a description of the main risks and
uncertainties for the remaining six months of the year.
I have obtained a letter from the Statutory Auditors certifying the completion of their
work, in which they state that they have verified the information on the financial position
and the consolidated accounts as set out in this update, and that they have read the
Registration Document and its updates in their entirety.

Paris, August 30, 2018
Laurent Mignon
Chairman of the BPCE Management Board
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9.

Cross-reference table

Items in Appendix 1 pursuant to EC
regulation No. 809/2004
1

2017
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Registration First update update filed
Document
filed with with the AMF
filed with
the AMF on
on August
the AMF on
May 31,
30, 2018
March 28,
2018
2018

Persons responsible

610

119

273

2

Statutory Auditors

349;
449;
502;
513-514

85-86

270-271

3

Selected financial information

3.1

Historical financial information selected by
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10-11

16-63

65-97
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periods

16-63

65-97

3.2

NA

4

Risk factors
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5
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233
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Principal activities
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433435

6.3
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6.4
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6.5
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16-30

7
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7.1

Description of the Group

6.1

NA

NA

44

79
118-119 ;
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4-9
44
4; 330-349;
446-448;
484-488

7.2
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8
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8.1

Existing or planned material tangible fixed 287-288;
assets
408; 489

8.2

Environmental issues that may affect the

516-563
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Items in Appendix 1 pursuant to EC
regulation No. 809/2004

2017
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filed with
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2018
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issuer’s utilization of tangible fixed assets
9

Operating and financial review

9.1

Financial condition

211-234;
238-241;
358-361;
458-465

65-97

103 ; 187

Operating income

240;
360;
464; 468

19; 33; 66

9.2
10
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11; 35; 67

105-106 ;
189-190

Information on the issuer’s capital
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131-141;
230;
242243;
295;
362-363;
414;
493494

Sources and amounts of issuer’s cash
10.2 flows

244; 364

Information on the issuer’s borrowing
10.3 requirements and funding structure

187;
294;
493

107 ; 191
217;
413;

35

28-30

Information regarding any restrictions on
the use of capital resources that have
affected or could affect the issuer’s
10.4 operations

NA

NA

NA

Information regarding the expected
sources of funds needed to fulfill
commitments referred to in points 5.2
10.5 and 8.1

NA

NA
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11

Research and development, patents
and licenses

193; 463

12

Trend information

234; 463

13

Profit forecasts and estimates

NA

14

Administrative, management and
supervisory bodies and senior
management

14.1 Administrative bodies

34-85

Conflicts of interest involving the
administrative, management and
supervisory bodies and senior
14.2 management

36-37; 108109

15

NA

6-10

6-9

Remuneration and benefits

86-96; 100Amount of remuneration paid and benefits 107;
318;
15.1 in kind
436;
462;
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Board practices

Date of expiration of the current term of
16.1 office

38; 40

Service contracts with members of the
16.2 administrative bodies

36-37; 108109; 599

Information about the issuer’s Audit
16.3 Committee and Remuneration Committee

39-40;
83

Compliance with the country of
incorporation’s corporate governance
16.4 regime

32-33

17

6-9

9-10

7-8

33; 48

44-64 ; 6598 ; 177178 ;
262-263

64-84

101-182 ;

Employees

17.1 Number of employees

571

17.2 Shareholdings and stock options

95-96

Arrangements allowing employees to
17.3 purchase shares in the issuer

596

18

78-

6-10

Major shareholders

Shareholders with over 5% of the issuer’s
18.1 capital or voting rights
596
Different types of shareholder voting
18.2 rights

595-596

18.3 Control of the issuer

595-596

Any arrangement, known to the issuer,
which may at a subsequent date result in
a change
18.4 in control of the issuer

596

19

Related-party transactions

318-319;
436

20

Financial information concerning the
issuer’s assets and liabilities,
financial position and profits and
losses

20.1 Historical financial information

10-11

20.2 Pro forma financial information

219-231;
315-316;
433-435

20.3 Financial statements

237-506
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2017
Second
Registration First update update filed
Document
filed with with the AMF
filed with
the AMF on
on August
the AMF on
May 31,
30, 2018
March 28,
2018
2018
185-267

Auditing of historical annual financial
20.4 information

350-357;
450-457;
503-506

183-184 ;
268-269

20.5 Age of latest financial information

237

20.6 Interim financial information

NA

20.7 Dividend policy

8; 461; 464;
493-494;
590

20.8 Legal and arbitration proceedings

190-192

16-63; 64-84

31-34

Significant change in the issuer’s financial
20.9 or trading position
597
21

Additional information

21.1 Share capital

592-596

21.2 Memorandum and articles of association

590-591

22

Material contracts

597

23

Information from third parties, expert
statements and declaration of any interest

24

Documents on display

612

Information on holdings

326-349;
443-448;
462;
483488

25

87

NA

NA

NA

118

272
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BPCE
A French limited company (Société Anonyme)
governed by a Management and Supervisory Board
with a capital of €157,697,890

GROUPE BPCE – Second update to the 2017 Registration Document - 278

